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 Lord Mayor –  
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    REF:  CM305/13    File:  CP-914.05.001 

ITEM 1 DISCUSSION PAPER  - "ILLAWARRA OVER THE NEXT 20 YEARS" - 
AUGUST 2013 

On 19 August 2013, the NSW Minister for Planning and Infrastructure released the 
“Illawarra over the next 20 Years: A Discussion Paper August 2013” for review and 
comment. 

This discussion paper is the first step in preparing the new Illawarra Regional Growth 
Plan. The Illawarra Regional Growth Plan will form an integral part of the NSW 
Government’s proposed new planning system and will set the vision and planning 
framework for urban growth within the Illawarra Region for the next 20 years. 

This report summarises the key themes in respect to the discussion paper and 
includes a draft submission which has been prepared in response to the discussion 
paper for Council’s endorsement. 
 

Recommendation 

The draft submission on the “Illawarra over the next 20 Years: A Discussion Paper 
August 2013” (Attachment 1) be endorsed for finalisation by the General Manager and 
submission to the NSW Department of Planning and Infrastructure. 
 

Attachments 
Draft submission on the “Illawarra over the next 20 Years: A Discussion Paper August 
2013”. 

Report Authorisations 
Report of: Renee Campbell, Manager Environment Strategy and Planning 
Authorised by: Andrew Carfield, Director Planning and Environment – Future, City 

and Neighbourhoods 

Background 
The White Paper and the associated Planning Bill 2013 introduced a hierarchy of 
strategic plans that are proposed to form the basis of the new planning system, namely: 

• Planning Policies; 
• Regional Growth Plans; 
• Sub-regional Delivery Plans; and 
• Local Plans. 

Under the proposed new planning system, Regional Growth Plans are proposed to 
implement the following transformative changes: 
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• A framework for economic growth, environmental management and social well-
being; 

• A focus on integrated infrastructure and land use decisions; 
• Housing and employment targets, including the spatial distribution to sub-regions or 

Councils; 
• Policies of interest to the state to achieve strategic outcomes; 
• Identification of city and region shapers to deliver transformational change; 
• Developed as a whole of government policy through the new Chief Executive 

Officer’s Group, in liaison with Local Government; 
• Developed with close community engagement and participation; and 
• Transitioning relevant aspects of existing regional plans and strategies to Regional 

Growth Plans. 

The Discussion Paper indicates that the Illawarra Region will have a single Illawarra 
Regional Growth Plan. The Illawarra Regional Growth Plan will establish the vision, 
growth strategy and planning policies for each region to deal with housing, employment, 
infrastructure, environmental and conservation objectives. 

The Illawarra Regional Growth Plan will be underpinned by a detailed evidence base 
which will demonstrate the proposed solutions and outline any competing interests or 
issues between objectives for community consideration. 

The Illawarra Regional Growth Plan will inform the preparation of Subregional Delivery 
Plans and / or Local Plans as well as Regional Infrastructure Plans. The Illawarra 
Regional Growth Plan will highlight regional priorities and policies that are to be 
implemented through either Subregional Delivery Plans or the Local Plan.  

The Illawarra Regional Growth Plan will be developed by the NSW Department of 
Planning and Infrastructure, in partnership with relevant state government agencies and 
the three local councils within the region. The Illawarra Regional Growth Plan will be 
ultimately made by the Minister for Planning and Infrastructure, taking into account a 
whole of government approach. 

Proposal 
The “Illawarra over the next 20 Years: A Discussion Paper” represents the first step in 
preparing the new Illawarra Regional Growth Plan. The Illawarra Regional Growth Plan 
will form an integral part of the NSW Government’s proposed new planning system and 
will set the vision and planning framework for urban growth within the Illawarra Region 
for the next 20 years.  

The “Illawarra over the next 20 Years: A Discussion Paper” indicates that the Illawarra 
Region includes the three local government areas (LGAs) of Wollongong, Shellharbour 
and Kiama, which cover a combined total area of 1,124 square kilometres.  
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The Discussion Paper seeks views on what strategies and actions will be required to 
achieve balanced urban growth whilst protecting the Illawarra’s environment and to 
meet the region’s housing and employment challenges over the next 20 years. 

The future Illawarra Regional Growth Plan will replace the current “Illawarra Regional 
Strategy 2006-31” and will set the regional planning framework for urban growth and the 
delivery of infrastructure, in association with Regional Infrastructure Plan(s), as 
proposed under the new planning system. 

The new Illawarra Regional Growth Plan will aim to guide future planning and 
investment decisions covering housing, economic development and employment, open 
space, provide efficient transport networks across the region as well as provide critical 
infrastructure for key priority growth areas and key projects such as the revitalisation of 
Wollongong City Centre or the Port of Port Kembla etc. 

It is recommended that Council endorse the submission on the “Illawarra over the next 
20 Years: A Discussion Paper August 2013”. 

Consultation and Communication 
The Discussion Paper was placed on public exhibition between 19 August 2013 and 11 
November 2013. The Regional Office of the NSW Department of Planning and 
Infrastructure held a total of five (5) public meetings on the Discussion Paper across the 
three (3) LGAs in the region, between 9 October 2013 and 30 October 2013. The 
Department has also held several round table / briefing sessions with key industry 
groups, for example, Destination Wollongong and local tourism representatives. 

In addition, the Illawarra Regional Director of the NSW Department of Planning and 
Infrastructure presented the Discussion Paper to a Councillor Briefing Session on 10 
October 2013. 

Conclusion 

Under the new planning system, the future Illawarra Regional Growth Plan will set the 
regional planning framework and direction for urban growth and infrastructure provision 
within the region. Responding to this Discussion Paper is an important way in which 
Council can express its views on how the Illawarra Regional Growth Plan should be 
drafted. 
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    REF:  CM306/13    File:  CCL-160.25.010 

ITEM 2 
REGIONAL PARTNERSHIP AGREEMENT - ILLAWARRA ABORIGINAL 
COMMUNITY 

 The Regional Partnership Agreement 2011-2014 (RPA) is presented to Council 
recommending that Wollongong City Council become a signatory to the Agreement. 
The Executive Management Committee at its meeting on 29 October 2013 supported 
Council’s interest to become a signature to the RPA.   

In becoming a signatory to the RPA, Council would demonstrate its active participation 
and partnership with Aboriginal communities and other levels of Government to 
improve service delivery and to work towards “Closing the Gap” and addressing the 
Council of Australian Government (COAG) priorities.  It allows Council to have 
representation on the Regional Partnership Agreement Steering Committee.  
 

Recommendation 

Wollongong City Council become a signatory to the Regional Partnership Agreement 
2011-2014 between the Illawarra Aboriginal Community, the Australian Government 
and the State Government of New South Wales. 
 

Attachments 

Regional Partnership Agreement 2011-2014 
 

Report Authorisations 

Report of: Tanya Buchanan, Manager Community, Cultural and Economic 
Development 

Authorised by: Greg Doyle, Director Corporate and Community Services – Creative 
Engaged and Innovative City 

Background 

The RPA was initially developed by the Illawarra Aboriginal Community Based Working 
Group (IACBWG) and the Australian Federal Government through the then Department 
of Families, Community Services and Indigenous Affairs (FaCSIA) and NSW State 
Government through the then Aboriginal Affairs NSW, the Department of Premier and 
Cabinet and sixteen (16) Illawarra Aboriginal Community organisations. 

The RPA is an established framework to carry forward work done by Aboriginal 
organisations that are signatories to the RPA.  The RPA links the roles and 
responsibilities of Federal and State Government agencies to the local Aboriginal 
governance structures where discussions can occur in relation to service delivery 
issues. 
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The goals of the RPA are to: 

1 Make a contribution to meeting the Closing the Gap targets, particularly in the 
areas of education and economic participation. 

2 Improve service delivery by Government Departments and agencies. 
3 Increase the capacity of the Illawarra Aboriginal community to address issues that 

are contributing to the gap in Aboriginal disadvantage. 

The Chairperson of the Illawarra Regional Partnership Agreement Steering Committee, 
Mr Darrell Brown, has written to Council and made a formal request for Wollongong City 
Council to become a signatory to the RPA.  In the letter he outlines that he is seeking 
Council to become a party to the RPA in the “spirit of partnership and to implement 
whole of Government practice for the benefit of local Illawarra Aboriginal communities”. 

The RPA geographically aligns with the boundary of the Illawarra Local Aboriginal 
Lands Council. Four Councils fall within this boundary and these are Wingecarribee, 
Kiama, Shellharbour and Wollongong.  Wingecarribee Council became a signatory to 
the RPA on the 26 March 2013. Kiama and Shellharbour Councils intend to become 
signatories at an event to be held on the 13 November 2013.  

Council has been advised that the RPA Steering Committee will roll over this current 
Agreement beyond 2014. 

Proposal 

It is proposed that Wollongong City Council become a signatory to the RPA.  Only 
signatories to the RPA can have a representative on the Regional Partnership 
Agreement Steering Committee.  As such Council can be an active participant in actions 
and activities that work towards achieving the goals of the RPA. 

Consultation and Communication 

Wollongong City Council Aboriginal Reference Group has been consulted and supports 
Council becoming a signatory to the Agreement. 

Legal services of Council have been consulted and reported that no issues of concern 
or conflicts of interest could be identified nor does it commit Council to any specific 
actions if Council were to become a signatory to the RPA. 

Planning and Policy Impact 

By becoming a signatory to the RPA it would be a demonstration of Council achieving 
Wollongong 2022 Community Strategic Plan Community Goal 3:  Wollongong is a 
creative, vibrant city; Objective 3.4 Strong diverse local cultures thrive. 
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It would be seen by the Aboriginal communities of the Illawarra as an active 
demonstration of the spirit of partnership by Council working constructively to achieve 
Community Goal 4: We are a connected and engaged community; Objectives 2 - Our 
residents feel an increased sense of community and Objective 4.4 - Our local Council 
has the trust of the community. 

Financial Implications 

The RPA does not request or require any additional funding from Council. 

Conclusion 

Wollongong City Council through Wollongong 2022 Community Strategic Plan has 
shown it is committed to supporting diverse cultures, connecting and engaging with its 
community.  The Regional Partnership Agreement 2011-2014 is a document which 
outlines good will and a partnership approach that Council can undertake with the 
Aboriginal community of the Illawarra and Aboriginal communities specifically from 
within its Local Government Area. 

By Council becoming a signatory to the Regional Partnership Agreement 2011-2014 it is 
an active demonstration of Council working in the “spirit of partnership” which the 
Illawarra Regional Partnership Agreement Steering Committee is seeking on behalf of 
Illawarra Aboriginal communities. 

Council’s role in the RPA and Steering Committee would be to continue to advocate and 
plan for services and facilitate partnerships with the Aboriginal community of 
Wollongong so that their needs are met by all levels of Government through the RPA.  
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    REF:  CM307/13    File:  IW-110.01.018 

ITEM 3 
FUNDING AGREEMENT FOR ROUND 2 OF THE LOCAL 
INFRASTRUCTURE RENEWAL SCHEME 

 Council has been successful in gaining a three per cent interest (3%) rate subsidy for a 
$4.305 million loan under round 2 of the NSW Government’s Local Infrastructure 
Renewal Scheme (LIRS) to undertake a $5.505m program of renewal and 
augmentation works at the Berkeley Community Centre, Corrimal District Library and 
Community Centre and the Thirroul Beach Pavilion and Kiosk. 

This report seeks delegation to finalise and execute the LIRS2 Funding Agreement 
and to negotiate and finalise a loan agreement for the subsidised loan. 
 

Recommendation 

1 The information contained in the report relating to the Local Infrastructure 
Renewal Scheme borrowing program be received. 

2 Council borrow an amount of $4.305M at a fixed rate over a 9.5 year term with a 
quarterly repayment schedule. 

3 Council’s General Manager be delegated authority to negotiate appropriate loan 
terms in accordance with this report and resolution. 

4 Authority be granted to affix the Common Seal of Council to the loan documents 
and any other documents required to give effect to the loan agreement. 

5 The General Manager be delegated the authority to finalise the terms of the 
Funding Agreement with the NSW Premier and Cabinet – Division of Local 
Government. 

6 Authority be granted to affix the Common Seal of Council to the Local 
Infrastructure Renewal Scheme documents and any other documents required to 
give effect to this agreement.  

 

Attachments 

There are no attachments for this report. 

Report Authorisations 

Report of: Mike Dowd, Manager Infrastructure Strategy and Planning 
Authorised by: Mike Hyde, Director Infrastructure and Works – Connectivity, Assets 

and Liveable City 
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Background 

As part of its NSW 2021 State Plan, the NSW Government committed to increasing 
expenditure on critical infrastructure.  One of the strategies to achieve this objective is 
the implementation of Local Infrastructure Renewal Scheme (LIRS) which provides the 
opportunity for councils to access interest subsidies for the purpose of funding 
infrastructure backlogs.  The subsidy aims to provide an incentive to councils to make 
greater use of debt funding to accelerate investment in infrastructure backlogs and 
augment funding options already available to councils. The LIRS Round 2 provides a 
three percent (3%) interest subsidy for this purpose.   

Council has successfully applied for the 3% interest subsidy on a $4.305M loan under 
LIRS2 that will be used over a five year period to accelerate the delivery of $5.505m 
program of major building renewal and augmentation works at three sites as 
summarised below: 

1. Corrimal District Library and Community Centre (including works in Memorial 
Park) with an estimated cost of $995,000. The project includes: 

 The expansion of the kitchenette and lighting upgrade 
 Renewal of the main kitchen 
 Library lighting upgrades as well as replacement of shelving and the 

circulation desk  
 Internal and external painting  
 Replacing floor coverings 
 Relocation of Corrimal Pensioners and Superannuants Association 

(CPSA) group to the CDL&CC  
 Demolition of the un-repairable Senior Citizen’s buildings in Memorial 

Park and rehabilitation of the site. 

2. Berkeley Community Centre with an estimated cost of $2,062,000. The project 
includes: 

 Refurbishment of the existing building structure including bathrooms 
 Reconfiguration and expansion of office spaces  
 Security upgrades 
 A new car park 
 An external play facility  
 Relocation of services from the Berkeley Neighbourhood Centre 
 Demolition of the un-repairable Berkeley Neighbourhood Centre and 

rehabilitation of the site 

3. Renewal and Adaptive re-use of the Thirroul Beach Pavilion and Kiosk with an 
estimated cost of $2,448,000. These works included: 

 Structural repairs to  the Pavilion and former caretakers cottage 
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 Expansion of the Kiosk are to allow increased service 

 Security and access upgrades 

 Improvements to external access paths to the kiosk 

 Renewal of change room and toilet facilities 

The total works program, loan and subsidy were not included in the 2012-17 Delivery 
Program and 2013-14 Annual Plan; however, the Council contribution  of $1.2m is 
available from the Capital Budget between 2013/14 and 2016/17 as components of the 
works are included on the program for phased implementation.  The loan allows for the 
acceleration of the delivery program, reduction in staging costs and reduction in 
programming risk.  

Proposal 

LIRS Funding Agreement 

Council officers have been negotiating some terms in the draft Funding Agreement with 
the NSW Premier and Cabinet – Division of Local Government, to ensure fairness and 
deliverability.  

The last area of concern, regarding the application of the Goods and Services Tax to 
the subsidy amount, has now been resolved with all other areas of contractual risk being 
manageable, as for the existing agreement for LIRS1. 

In order to execute the agreement, the final funding agreement is to be signed by the 
General Manager and Lord Mayor with the Common Seal of Council affixed. 

Loan Agreement 

It is proposed that Council borrow the $4.305M in the current year at best value from 
one of the four major banks.  A request has been made for indicative quotations to 
borrow $4.305M at a fixed rate over a 9.5 year term based on a quarterly repayment 
schedule from the following banks. 

Pricing is indicative and is based on rates as at 24 October 2013 and will be subject to 
change as each quote will be re-priced at the exact date the deal is executed. 

Based on this initial quotes, the 3% interest subsidy will reduce the amount of interest 
payable on the loan by approximately $678,886 over the full term. 

Fixed or Variable Rate 
The decision on whether to enter into a fixed or variable loan is difficult given the 
volatility of the current financial landscape and differing views of economists.  The ANZ 
recently forecast that the cash rate will increase in the medium term with an official cash 
rate of 4% predicted during 2015 and 2016 (reference:  Business Insider, 18 October 
2013, reported by Owen Raskiewicz), the NAB forecasts rates to remain stable at 2.5% 
throughout 2013 with potential cuts in 2014 (reference: NAB Market Update and 
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Investment Solutions – October 2013) while the Westpac’s Bill Evans predicts that a 
rate cut is now likely in February 2014. It is noted that the official cash rate is historically 
low and while there is a high level of uncertainty, it is considered that although there is 
potential for rates to drop further in the short term, it is more likely that rates will return to 
higher levels during the 9.5 year term of the loan.  Overall, a recommendation to fix the 
interest rate of the loan has been made.  This will provide cost certainty to the budgeting 
process throughout the term of the loan and subsidy.  Variability will remain on the 
income side of the analysis as revenues from unexpended loans will vary over time. 

Consultation and Communication 

The program of works was the subject of community consultation via the Annual 
Planning process. 

The Finance Division provided advice on the costs and implications of the loan. 

Planning and Policy Impact 

This report relates to the commitments of Council as contained within the Strategic 
Management Plans: 

Wollongong 2022 Community Goal and Objective – This report contributes to the 
Wollongong 2022 Objective 4.3 Residents have easy and equitable access to 
information resources and services under the Community Goal 4: We are a Connected 
and Engaged Community.  

It specifically addresses the Annual Plan 2013-14 Key Deliverables Develop an asset 
rationalisation plan for community buildings at Berkeley, Warrawong and Corrimal. 
which forms part of the Five Year Action to Review community facilities and consider 
rationalisation, replacement or refurbishment to achieve facilities that are strategically 
located, good quality and meet identified community need contained within the Delivery 
Program 2012-17. 

Risk Assessment  

There is a risk that the final interest rate offered by the successful bank may be higher 
that the initial quote. The capital contingencies over the period 2013/14 to 2016/17 are 
sufficient to fund any reduction in the subsidy amount and/or accelerate loan 
repayments as necessary to maintain the effective subsidy amount. 

The consolidation and acceleration of these works into a three site program of works 
reduces Council’s implementation and costs risks by providing whole of program 
funding that includes project management and design costs. 
 



 
Ordinary Meeting of Council 11 November 2013   11 

 

 

 

Financial Implications 

The total works program, loan and subsidy were not included in the adopted estimates 
within the 2012-17 Delivery Program and 2013-14 Annual Plan; however, the Council 
contribution  of $1.2m is available from the Capital Budget between 2013/14 and 
2016/17 as components of the works are included in the funded works program for 
phased implementation. 

The required changes to the Budget to reflect the loan and interest subsidy will be 
introduced through the September 2013 Quarterly Review process. 

The required changes to the Capital Budget will be introduced, in stages, over the term 
of the agreement, 2013/14 to 2016/17, in accordance with the required expenditure 
projections. 

Conclusion 

The use of subsidised debt funding available under  LIRS, to accelerate the delivery of 
significant asset renewal and improvement programs for community facilities provides 
Council with another means of reducing: 

 The funding gap for renewal programs 

 Construction and costs risks associated with multi-year staged 
implementation 

 The duration of community exposure to physical risk at the sites  

 Impacts on the current and future community of declining asset serviceably 
and competition for limited funding. 
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    REF:  CM308/13    File:  CCL-160.25.002 

ITEM 4 CREATION OF ALCOHOL FREE ZONES IN NORTHERN ILLAWARRA 

 A Notice of Motion was supported at Council’s meeting of 14 October 2013.  The 
Motion requested a report be prepared for the Council meeting of 11 November 2013 
that: 

1 Investigates creating an Alcohol Free Zone (AFZ) in the Northern Illawarra (from 
the Royal National Park to the Seacliff Bridge) in response to community 
concerns with regards to street drinking, with the object of the Alcohol Free Zone 
being an early intervention measure in order to prevent the escalation of street 
drinking to incidences involving serious crime.  

2 This Notice of Motion requested the report investigate the possibility of creating 
Alcohol Free Zones, with time constraints and limits, across the whole Local 
Government Area.  

This report responds to the Notice of Motion. 
 

Recommendation 

The Northern Illawarra area (from the Royal National Park to the Seacliff Bridge) be 
identified for review and inclusion in the Alcohol Free Zone re-establishment report due 
for submission to Council in September 2014. 
 

Attachments 

1 Ministerial Guidelines on Alcohol Free Zones 
2 Council Policy Establishment and Maintenance of Alcohol Free Zones on Public 

Roads 
3 Wollongong Alcohol Free Zone Maps 2010-2014 
 

Report Authorisations 

Report of: Tanya Buchanan, Manager Community, Cultural and Economic 
Development 

Authorised by: Greg Doyle, Director Corporate and Community Services – Creative 
Engaged and Innovative City 

Background 

Process for Establishing an Alcohol Free Zone 

The process for establishing an Alcohol Free Zone (AFZ) is set out in the Ministerial 
Guidelines on Alcohol Free Zones (Attachment 1). These requirements are detailed in 
Council’s Establishment and Maintenance of Alcohol Free Zones on Public Roads 



 
Ordinary Meeting of Council 11 November 2013   13 

 

 

Policy (Attachment 2). These guidelines have been prepared under section 646(1) of 
the Local Government Act and provide Councils with detailed procedures to follow. The 
principal object of an Alcohol Free Zone, which applies to roads, footpaths and car 
parks, is to prevent disorderly behaviour caused by the consumption of alcohol in public 
areas in order to improve public safety. To validly establish an Alcohol Free Zone a 
Council must comply with the procedures in sections 644 to 644C of the Local 
Government Act as well as those set out in the Ministerial Guidelines. 

The introduction of an AFZ will impose restrictions on the personal freedom of citizens. 
Therefore, as stated in the AFZ Guidelines, a proposal for an Alcohol Free Zone or 
Zones must be supported by evidence and must reflect the fact that irresponsible 
behaviour arising from the consumption of alcohol is occurring on those roads and 
footpaths and in those public car parks included in the proposal. This could involve 
instances of obstruction, littering, the actual commission of, or Police intervention to 
avoid the commission of, more serious offences under the Law Enforcement (Powers 
and Responsibilities) Act 2002, Summary Offences Act 1988 or the Crimes Act 1900, 
such as malicious damage, etc.  

Current AFZs in LGA 

Wollongong City Council currently has seven active Alcohol Free Zones established 
across our LGA. These AFZs are located in parts of Helensburgh, Thirroul, Corrimal, 
Wollongong, Dapto, Berkeley and Warrawong, each with a lifespan of four years and 
can be reviewed in Attachment 3. All Alcohol Free Zones are due to expire in 
September 2014. Consultation and processes for re-establishment will commence early 
in 2014 with a report seeking Council resolution to be presented to Council between 
August and September 2014. 

In the Wollongong LGA all Alcohol Free Zones are enforced by NSW Police, therefore 
their support is imperative. Any new proposals and the re-establishment of existing 
AFZs are reviewed in partnership with each relevant Police Command. Areas of 
concern, in relation to alcohol consumption in public areas, can be raised by an 
individual or a community group to NSW Police or Council. These concerns will be 
tabled at the Community Safety Reference Group. When valid reasons and evidence 
are presented in accordance with the Ministerial Guidelines for Alcohol Free Zones, the 
establishment of an AFZ will be proposed, relevant procedures followed, and a Council 
resolution sought. In light of protocols for re-establishing existing AFZs that are due to 
expire in 2014, a request for information about new areas of concern was raised at 
recent Safety Reference Group meetings on 8 August 2013 and 10 October 2010. No 
new areas of concern were raised by NSW Police.   

Northern Illawarra 

On 14 October 2013 the Council Motion suggested an AFZ be considered in the 
northern suburbs of Wollongong (from the Royal National Park to the Seacliff bridge), as 
an early intervention measure in order to prevent the escalation of street drinking. 
Support from a local residents group was also tabled where concerns were raised about 
regular ‘get-togethers at Bald Hill, Bulgo and Otford lookouts’.  
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Helensburgh Police advise that they monitor this area on Friday and Saturday nights 
and have a lack of evidence to support this request. Further clarification with 
Wollongong Licensing Police indicate there is currently a lack of evidence relating to the 
consumption of alcohol, ‘street drinking’, to support the need for implementing an 
Alcohol Free Zone in this area. This lack of evidence appears in both recorded incidents 
and the number of issues reported to NSW Police via the telephone.  

Correspondence received in relation to this proposed AFZ suggests there are other 
issues of concern impacting the amenity of this area. Other issues raised relate to 
vehicle congestion, vehicle noise and additional litter that can sometimes be left behind 
from the influx of visitors, particularly over the holiday period, which is often the case for 
many tourist places along our coastline. The Ministerial Guidelines on AFZs states that 
‘it is not appropriate to consider an Alcohol Free Zone for reasons that are unrelated to 
the irresponsible behaviour of drinkers, for example, the congregation of drinkers where 
irresponsible behaviour does not occur, general conduciveness to business or tourist 
activities or the personal beliefs of particular citizens’. Given the lack of current evidence 
the Northern Illawarra area (from the Royal National Park to the Seacliff Bridge) will be 
identified for review and inclusion in the AFZ re-establishment report due for submission 
to Council in September 2014. 

Whole Local Government Area (LGA) 

The Council Motion of 14 October 2013 also requested investigating the possibility of 
creating an Alcohol Free Zone, with time constraints and limits, across the whole Local 
Government Area. In reference to the Ministerial Guidelines adequate reasons for 
implementing a blanket zone would need to be presented. Support from both 
Wollongong Area Command and Lake Illawarra Area Command would be required to 
support this endorsement as the enforcement of Alcohol Free Zones is conducted by 
NSW Police. The Ministerial Guidelines also identifies that ‘there are legal issues that 
need to be considered by Councils when such ‘whole-town’ zones are proposed, as 
some relevant areas of a town will not be public roads, footpaths or public car parks’. 
Further time would be required to investigate these potential concerns. 

Wollongong LGA over the past five years has experienced a trend and average annual 
percentage decline of -10.1% for alcohol related non-domestic violence assault 
incidents between January 2008 and December 2012. (Source: BOCSAR from December 
2012 recorded crime extract Dg13/11169). The lowest number of alcohol related non-
domestic violence assault incidents was recorded in 2012 compared to the previous five 
years. While education and strategies to help reduce alcohol related crime remain a key 
priority for NSW Police and local stakeholders, this reduction in crime may not support 
the proposal for introduction of an LGA wide AFZ.  

The implications of an LGA wide AFZ are significant and would require, as previously 
mentioned, stated reasons for requesting a blanket zone and strong support from both 
Wollongong Area Command and Lake Illawarra Area Command. Currently, no support 
exists from either Command for this approach. 
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Proposal 

Council review the northern suburbs area over the next six months utilising the existing 
mandated approach to planning and managing AFZ’s outlined in the Council Policy 
Establishment and Maintenance of Alcohol Free Zones on Public Roads. Should valid 
evidence for an AFZ be presented in this time period, in conjunction with NSW Police 
support, the proposal to establish an AFZ should be considered in accordance with the 
Council Policy and Guidelines. 

This recommendation is based on Council currently not having valid evidence to support 
the establishment of an Alcohol Free Zone in the Northern Illawarra (from the Royal 
National Park to the Seacliff Bridge), or the entire LGA in accordance with the Local 
Government Act and Ministerial Guidelines. 

A summary of the review and relevant evidence from the northern suburbs will be 
presented in the Council report due to be submitted in September 2014. This planned 
report will outline the review of all Council’s AFZs and seek Council resolution on their 
re-establishment, prior to their expiration of 30 September 2014. Should the proposal to 
establish an AFZ in the northern suburbs, or parts of this area, have sufficient evidence 
the proposed establishment will be presented in this report. 

In reviewing any proposed AFZs Council must follow procedures identified in the 
Ministerial Guidelines on establishing an Alcohol Free Zone and comply with procedures 
in Sections 644 and 644C of the Local Government Act. It is also proposed that the 
existing Council Policy will be reviewed at the time of the review of the AFZ’s as per the 
Policy Review Schedule.  

Consultation and Communication 

Wollongong Police (inclusive of Police stationed at Helensburgh) 

Wollongong Licensing Police 

Wollongong City Council Departments: 

- City Works and Services, City Works North 
- Recreation Services 
- Communications 
- Jeff Reilly, General Counsel. 

Planning and Policy Impact 

This report relates to the commitments of Council as contained within the Strategic 
Management Plans: 

Wollongong 2022 Community Goal and Objective – This report contributes to the 
Wollongong 2022 Objective 5.4 Community safety is improved, under the Community 
Goal 5 We are a healthy community in a liveable city.  
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It specifically addresses the following strategies which form part of the Five Year 
Delivery Program 2012-17: 

5.4.1 Partnerships continue to strengthen and achieve a safe and accessible 
community. 

5.4.2 Local crime continues to be prevented and levels of crime reduced. 

Financial Implications 

Managing the administration of Council’s current AFZs carries a cost of approximately 
$7,500 per year. Any additional zones will add to administration and signage coats, 
where every four years the following tasks are undertaken as part of the re-
establishment process for each zone - audits, community consultation, public 
notification, amendments to existing signs and new signs. 

Implementing an LGA-wide AFZ would introduce further costs and require an intensive 
engagement and consultation process with an ongoing education campaign. The 
estimated cost for this is $20,000 with additional funds required for advertising. As 
signage is the key tool used by NSW Police to enforce an AFZ further funding would be 
required for new signage. It is estimated the minimum of 20 signs across the LGA would 
cost $15,000. Therefore, at a minimum, it is estimated the set up cost to implement an 
LGA-wide AFZ would be $35,000. Should time limits be set in various areas, more signs 
would be required impacting further on this. 

Conclusion 

Council has a well-developed Policy that guides the planning and management of AFZs. 
Council is committed to working in partnership alongside NSW Police with the priority to 
reduce alcohol related crime. Establishing an AFZ can be one strategy among many to 
help reduce the consumption of alcohol on public roads and footpaths. The Councillor 
Notice of Motion presented on 14 October 2013 to investigate creating an Alcohol Free 
Zone (AFZ) in the Northern Illawarra (from the Royal National Park to the Seacliff 
Bridge), in response to community concerns with regards to street drinking, has 
currently presented insufficient evidence to support its creation. This is in accordance 
with protocols identified in the Ministerial Guidelines on Alcohol Free Zones. The 
northern suburbs area will be identified for review and inclusion in the AFZ re-
establishment report due for submission to Council in September 2014.  

The request to investigate the possibility of an LGA-wide AFZ was presented with the 
Notice of Motion. An LGA wide AFZ would have broad implications and additional costs. 
It appears there may be a lack of evidence to currently support this notion. Further 
explanation and stated reasons would need to be presented to Council that align clearly 
with the objectives of the Ministerial Guidelines for AFZs. Support from both Wollongong 
Area Command and Lake Illawarra Area Command would also need to be evident.  
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    REF:  CM294/13    File:  GI-80.07.03.001 

ITEM 5 
POLICY REVIEW - PAYMENT OF EXPENSES AND PROVISION OF 
FACILITIES TO LORD MAYOR AND COUNCILLORS   

 Section 252 of the Local Government Act 1993 requires Council to adopt a policy on 
the payment of expenses and provision of facilities to the Lord Mayor and Councillors 
within five months after the end of each year. 

A review of the existing policy was undertaken and a number of minor changes were 
proposed.  These changes were considered by Council at its meeting on 9 September 
2013 when a draft amended policy incorporating the changes was adopted in principle 
subject to it being placed on public exhibition. 

At the conclusion of the consultation period no submissions were received and the 
amended policy is submitted to Council for adoption. 
 

Recommendation 

Council adopt the Revised Payment of Expenses and provision of Facilities to Lord 
Mayor and Councillors Policy, as publicly exhibited. 
 

Attachments 

Revised Payment of Expenses and Provision of Facilities to Lord Mayor and Councillors 
Policy 

Report Authorisations 

Report of: Lyn Kofod, Manager Governance and Information 
Authorised by: Greg Doyle, Director Corporate and Community Services - Creative, 

Engaged and Innovative City 

Background 

Council is required to adopt a policy concerning the payment of expenses incurred, or to 
be incurred by, and the provision of facilities to, the Lord Mayor and Councillors in 
relation to discharging the functions of civic office. 

This policy is required to be reviewed on an annual basis to ensure accountability and 
transparency in the reasonable and appropriate provision of expenses and facilities to 
Mayors and Councillors in New South Wales. 

At the Council meeting on 9 September 2013 the following amendments were endorsed 
in principle subject to public exhibition: 
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(a) Approval Arrangements 

i) Attendance at community functions must be requested by way of submission 
of an application form to the Lord Mayor and approved by the Lord Mayor 
and noted by the General Manager.  The policy already specified that 
attendance at dinners and other non-Council functions were required to be 
authorised by the Lord Mayor and noted by the General Manager. By 
extending this requirement to attendance at community functions, it takes a 
consistent approach to the management of attendance at similar events; and 

ii) Removal of the requirement for the General Manager to “note” any 
application to attend a Dinner or other non-Council function or event.  This 
has been amended to be by approval by the Lord Mayor only, bringing it into 
alignment with the approval process for other similar types of applications 
from Councillors that require only the approval of the Lord Mayor. The 
General Manager must still note any application that would otherwise be the 
subject of a report to an open meeting of Council, where report is not 
possible. 

(b) Allowances and Expenses 

i) We recommend inclusion in this section that Council will reimburse 
reasonable incidental personal out of pocket expenses incurred by 
Councillors when attending meetings relating to official Council business; 
and  

ii) With regard to unsubstantiated incidental expenses such as refreshments 
and parking meter fees, that Council will reimburse reasonable incidental 
expenses “up to a value equivalent to the current Australian Taxation Office 
Taxation Determination on the reasonable travel and overtime meal 
allowance expense amounts for the current income year”.  Rather than 
specifying the dollar amount and TD reference, which changes each year 
and at times throughout the year.   

By referring to the most current and up to date taxation determination 
released by the ATO, payments will at all times be up to date.  For example, 
the ATO currently considers $18.20 to be a reasonable amount to reimburse 
for incidental expenses for the 2013-2014 financial year.  This amount is 
listed in TD 2013/16. 

 (c) Reimbursement and Reconciliation of Expenses and Payments in Advance 

The amended policy removes the option of lodging a petty cash claim form for 
expenses less than $50.00.  It reinforces that the most appropriate way to request 
reimbursement of expenses is by lodging a Reimbursement of Expenses claim 
form or alternatively, seeking reimbursement as part of the Monthly Claim for 
Reimbursement of Expenses process. 
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(d) Spouse and Partner Expenses 

A clarifying statement that spouse and partner expenses paid by Council at the 
Local Government NSW Annual Conference includes the official conference 
dinner, welcome reception and any official function hosted by Wollongong City 
Council at the conference. 

Background:  Up to 2011 the Local Government NSW (formerly known as the 
NSW Local Government Association) Annual Conference included a partner 
registration fee that automatically allowed attendance at the official conference 
dinner and welcome reception.  Conferences since 2012 have not requested a 
registration fee, rather give partners the opportunity to attend one or both official 
conference events and only pay for what is attended.  The partner registration 
fee, when applicable, would be paid by Council. 

(e) Newspapers 

The option has been included for a subscription to the digital edition of the 
Illawarra Mercury instead of a daily newspaper delivery. 

f) Insurance Expenses and Obligations 

Updating of references to insurance benefits consistent with current insurance 
policy coverage.   

g) Legal Expenses and Obligations 

i) Updating of references to insurance benefits consistent with current 
insurance policy coverage; and 

ii) Amendment of the Request for Reimbursement procedure, including that all 
requests and approvals must be evidenced in writing prior to the expenses 
being incurred. 

h) Council at its meeting of 9 September 2013 resolved that costs of telephone calls 
be calculated quarterly rather than monthly, with call costs not exceeding $300 
per quarter, excluding GST. 

Consultation and Communication 

The draft revised policy was placed on public exhibition for a period of 28 days.  Two 
notices were placed in the Wollongong Advertiser calling for submissions from the 
community.  It was also placed on the Community Engagement page of Council’s 
website, with a link appearing on the home page of the website. 

Planning and Policy Impact 

Section 252 of the Local Government Act 1993 requires the policy to be reviewed within 
five months after the end of each year.  Council must give public notice of Council’s 
intention to adopt or amend the policy allowing at least 28 days for the receipt of public 
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submissions even if Council proposes to adopt a policy that is the same as the existing 
policy. 

Within 28 days of adopting the policy, and no later than 30 November, Council must 
forward to the Division of Local Government a copy of the policy together with a copy of 
the public notice and each submission received and Council’s response to each 
submission. 

This report contributes to the Wollongong 2022 Objective ‘our local Council has the trust 
of the community’ under the Community Goal ‘we are a connected and engaged 
community’. 

It specifically addresses the Annual Plan 2013-14 Key Deliverable Report on the 
Corporate Governance Health Checklist to Council which forms part of the Five Year 
Action Ensure policies and procedures are regularly reviewed, updated and promoted 
contained within the Delivery Program 2012-17. 
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    REF:  CM296/13    File:  GI-50.01.01.003 

ITEM 6 POLICY REVIEW - PUBLIC ACCESS FORUM 

 The Public Access Forum Policy has been reviewed following the adoption of an 
amended Community Engagement Policy in April 2013 and in order to reflect current 
practices. 

The amended Public Access Forum Policy is submitted for consideration and adoption. 
 

Recommendation 

The amended Public Access Forum Policy be adopted. 
 

Attachments 

Draft amended Public Access Forum Policy 

Report Authorisations 

Report of: Lyn Kofod, Manager Governance and Information 
Authorised by: Greg Doyle, Director Corporate and Community Services – Creative, 

Engaged and Innovative City 

Background 

The Public Access Forum Policy was last reviewed in March 2012.  

On 8 April 2013 Council considered and adopted an amended Community Engagement 
Policy.  The purpose of this policy is to affirm Council’s positive commitment to effective 
community engagement of which Council has a strong track record. 

Proposal 

The Public Access Forum Policy indicates that an applicant may address Council in 
relation to any matter that falls within the jurisdiction and Charter of Council as outlined 
in the Local Government Act 1993 or a report which is currently before Council for 
determination. 

However the policy also identifies a number of exclusions, one of which relates to 
matters that have been the subject of public consultation.  In order to align this policy 
with the Community Engagement Policy the following change is proposed: 

‘All matters where there have been opportunities, through Council run engagement 
activities, for community members to publicly address a formal Council or Agency 
hearing and have views recorded for public record.  These opportunities would include 
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but not be limited to public meetings, public hearings and meetings of the Independent 
Hearing and Assessment Panel.’ all matters which have been the subject of official 
public consultative forums such as Formal and Informal Facilitation meetings, public 
meetings and public hearings. ‘Official’ forums will have provided an invitation to both 
the objectors and supporters of a matter to come together at a formal meeting in an 
attempt to resolve contentious issues. 

The remaining two changes are as follows: 

Minutes  

At each Council meeting following the conclusion of the Public Access Forum it has 
been general practice for Council to resolve that the speakers be thanked for their 
presentation and invited to table their notes. As such the following change is proposed: 

‘Wherever possible, speakers should provide the Minute Clerk with a written summary 
of their presentation, prior to commencement of the meeting.’ Following the Council 
meeting, the written summary will be referred to the appropriate Division for notation.   

Application Form 

The Application Form has been amended to ensure that an applicant is aware that the 
meeting is being broadcast over the internet and that the information disclosed will be 
broadcast and available to the public. The relevant Clause is as follows with the 
proposed addition in blue: 

‘In submitting this application, I understand and agree to abide by the conditions of the 
Public Access Forum Policy of Wollongong City Council. I also note that Council 
meetings are broadcast live via the internet and I consent to my image and address 
being broadcast to the public and any personal or health information I disclose during 
my address will be broadcast as part of the Council meeting, with the broadcast stored 
and made available to the public for later viewing.’ 

The proposed changes are considered of a minor nature and submitted for 
endorsement. 

Consultation and Communication 

The Manager Governance and Information and the Engagement Coordinator have been 
consulted in the review of this policy which was endorsed by the Executive Management 
Committee on 22 October 2013. 

Planning and Policy Impact 

Wollongong 2022 Community Goal and Objective – This report contributes to the 
Wollongong 2022 Objective ‘residents are able to have their say through increased 
engagement opportunities and take an active role in decisions that affect our City’ under 
the Community Goal ‘we are a connected and engaged community’.  
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It specifically delivers on core business activities as detailed in the Governance and 
Administration Service Plan 2013-14. 

Conclusion 

The changes to the Public Access Forum Policy recommended in this report will clarify 
the intent of the policy, confirm current processes and ensure that an applicant is aware 
of and accepts the webcasting process in relation to the broadcasting of images and the 
disclosure of personal information during the address. 
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    REF:  CM300/13    File:  GI-50.01.01.003 

ITEM 7 
POLICY REVIEW - PUBLIC LIABILITY INSURANCE FOR LESSEES AND 
LICENSEES OF COUNCIL OWNED OR CONTROLLED LAND, 
BUILDINGS AND PUBLIC ROADS 

 The Public Liability Insurance for Users of Council Owned Sporting Facilities Policy 
has been reviewed and expanded to include all Council owned or managed properties 
and is submitted to Council for consideration. 
 

Recommendation 

The draft Public Liability Insurance for Lessees and Licensees of Council Owned or 
Controlled Land, Buildings and Public Roads Policy be adopted. 
 

Attachments 

1 Marked up version of original Public Liability Insurance for Lessees and Licensees 
of Council Owned or Controlled Land, Buildings and Public Roads Policy with 
amendments. 

2 Draft proposed Public Liability Insurance for Lessees and Licensees of Council 
Owned or Controlled Land, Buildings and Public Roads Policy. 

Report Authorisations 

Report of: Peter Coyte, Manager Property and Recreation 
Authorised by: Greg Doyle, Director Corporate and Community Services – Creative, 

Engaged and Innovative City 

Background 

The Public Liability Insurance for Users of Council owned Sporting Facilities Policy was 
adopted by Council in 2002 for application to Council’s sporting facilities.  However, as 
the principles of this policy apply to all leases, licences or event bookings on Council 
land, this policy has been expanded accordingly to incorporate all Council owned or 
controlled land including Crown land and public roads (Council lands). 

The policy requires all lessees and licensees of Council lands to hold a current public 
and product liability insurance policy for an amount of $10 million or other amount as 
advised by Council from time to time. This policy must be current and renewed annually 
and copies forwarded to Council upon renewal. 

The policy also provides that in the event of an insurance policy not being obtained, or 
evidence provided to Council confirming the policy being current, breach action will be 
taken to terminate the agreement or in the event of seasonal/casual bookings, the 
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licensee will be refused use of the facility until evidence of a current policy is provided to 
Council. 

In applying this policy to casual users of Council land (seasonal sporting bookings, 
event organisers etc), only the following events will be exempt. 

- Family picnic; 
- Weddings, Christenings etc; and 
- Naming Ceremonies. 

Proposal 

It is proposed that the Public Liability Insurance for users of Council owned Sporting 
Facilities Policy be renamed as Public Liability Insurance for Lessees/Licensees of 
Council owned or Controlled Land, Buildings and Public Roads Policy and be adopted 
by Council to apply to all lessees and licensees of Council land. 

Consultation and Communication 

This policy has been reviewed in consultation with Council’s Risk Insurance Team 
Leader and has been endorsed by EMC at its meeting on 25 June 2013. 

Planning and Policy Impact 

This report relates to the commitments of Council as contained within the Strategic 
Management Plans: 

Wollongong 2022 Community Goal and Objective – This report contributes to the 
Wollongong 2022 Objective-  “Well maintained assets that meet the needs of current 
and future communities are provided” under the Community Goal “We are a healthy 
community in a liveable city”.  

It specifically delivers on core business activities as detailed in the Property Services 
Service Plan 2013-14. 

Risk Assessment 

This policy has been extended to cover all lessees and licensees of Council land to 
minimise liability on Council. 

Conclusion 

This policy reinforces the current practice of requiring all lessees and licensees of 
Council land to hold current public and product liability insurance. 
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    REF:  CM301/13    File:  GI-50.01.01.003 

ITEM 8 
POLICY REVIEW - LAND AND EASEMENT ACQUISITION AND 
DISPOSAL 

 The Land Acquisition and Disposal Policy has been reviewed and will also incorporate 
reference to easements. 

The reviewed policy, renamed as Land and Easement Acquisition and Disposal Policy, 
is referred to Council for consideration. 
 

Recommendation 

The revised Land and Easement Acquisition and Disposal Policy be adopted. 
 

Attachments 

1 Marked up version of original Land Acquisition and Disposal Policy with 
 amendments.   
2 Proposed revised Land and Easement Acquisition and Disposal Policy. 

Report Authorisations 

Report of: Peter Coyte, Manager Property and Recreation 
Authorised by: Greg Doyle, Director Corporate and Community Services – Creative, 

Engaged and Innovative City 

Background 

The Land Acquisition and Disposal Policy was adopted by Council in March 2010 and 
has been reviewed to set out in more detail the legislative requirements relating to land 
acquisition and disposals by Council and to ensure transparency in all property 
transactions. 

The policy has also been expanded to include reference to acquisition and 
extinguishment of easements over private property that benefits Council. 

Proposal 

The revised Land and Easement Acquisition and Disposal Policy be adopted.  

Consultation and Communication 

This revised policy was endorsed by EMC at its meeting on 30 July 2013. 
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Planning and Policy Impact 

This report relates to the commitments of Council as contained within the Strategic 
Management Plans: 

Wollongong 2022 Community Goal and Objective – This report contributes to the 
Wollongong 2022 Objective “Well maintained assets that meet the needs of current and 
future communities are provided” under the Community Goal “We are a healthy 
community in a liveable city”.  

It specifically delivers on core business activities as detailed in the Property Services 
Service Plan 2013-14. 

Risk Assessment 

This policy has been reviewed to minimise any risk to Council in dealing with property 
matters relating to sale and acquisition. 

Financial Implications 

The policy establishes guidelines and procedures to ensure that Council achieves best 
value for money in property transactions. 

Conclusion 

This policy establishes the framework to guide Council in negotiating land and 
easement acquisitions and the sale of Council land. 
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    REF:  CM304/13    File:  GI-70.001 

ITEM 9 
REVIEW OF AUDIT COMMITTEE AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 
COMMITTEE CHARTERS 

 The Charters for the Audit and Corporate Governance Committees have been 
reviewed in order to define and update a number of current processes, including a 
remuneration review process for independent members and to bring them into line with 
the standard corporate template.  A review of the terms of appointment for the 
independent members of the two Committees has also been undertaken and one 
change proposed. 

The amended Charters are submitted for Council’s consideration. 
 

Recommendation 

1 The draft Amended Charters for the Audit and Corporate Governance 
Committees be adopted. 

2 The fee payable to the independent members of the Audit and Corporate 
Governance Committees be increased by 2.5% for the period 1 January 2014 to 
30 June 2014. 

3 Ms Kylie McRae be appointed to the Audit Committee and retain the position of 
Chairperson for a further period expiring October 2014. 

 

Attachments 

1 Draft Amended Audit Committee Charter 
2 Draft Amended Corporate Governance Committee Charter 

Report Authorisations 

Report of: Lyn Kofod, Manager Governance and Information 
Authorised by: Greg Doyle, Director Corporate and Community Services – Creative, 

Engaged and Innovative City 

Background 

The Audit and Corporate Governance Committees have been operating effectively since 
2008 and regular reviews of the Committee Charters have been undertaken to ensure 
that they reflect current responsibilities, functions and processes. 
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Proposal 

The latest review of the Charters has resulted in numerous administrative changes 
together with the following key amendments: 

 Composition of the Committee 

o Inclusion of the appointment authority. 

o Incorporation of the process to be undertaken as a result of a vacancy 
for an independent Committee member. 

o Updating the names of ex-officio members of the Committees. 

 Term of Appointment – indicating that an initial appointment of an independent 
member will be for three years with the member being eligible for reappointment 
for an additional term of three years. After this period Expressions of Interest 
are to be invited to fill the vacancy. 

 Agenda and Business Papers – inclusion of reference to the Professional 
Conduct Coordinator’s report. 

 Remuneration and Expenses – the fee payable to independent Committee 
members has not been reviewed since the Committees were established in 
2008.  

It is proposed that the fee be subject to annual review and the fee be in accordance with 
any percentage increase in the fee payable to Councillors as determined by the Local 
Government Remuneration Tribunal. Over the last two years this has resulted in an 
annual increase of 2.5% and it is proposed that this increase be effective as from 1 
January 2014. 

MEMBERSHIP 

Since the Audit and Corporate Governance Committees were established in 2008 there 
have been a number of resignations and extensions to the terms of appointment for 
various independent Committee members. Current membership is: 

AUDIT COMMITTEE 

 K McRae (Chairperson) - appointed October 2008, tenure expires  
October 2013; 

 J Mitchell – appointed June 2011, tenure expires October 2014; 

 B Ward – appointed February 2012, tenure expires February 2015 
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE 

 J Bond (Chairperson) – appointed October 2008, tenure expires  
October 2014; 

 K McRae – appointed October 2008, tenure expires October 2015; 

 R Clifton – appointed July 2012, tenure expires October 2015 

In view of the proposal for the term of appointment to be for a maximum of six years and 
noting that the Audit Committee Chairperson’s tenure is due to expire on 31 October 
2013 it is recommended that Ms McRae be reappointed for a further period expiring on 
31 October 2014.  

Consultation and Communication 

The General Manager, Director Corporate and Community Services, Manager 
Governance and Information, Governance Officer and the Chairpersons of the Audit and 
Corporate Governance Committees have been consulted in the review of the two 
Charters and the preparation of this report and concur with the actions proposed. 

Planning and Policy Impact 

This report relates to the commitments of Council as contained within the Strategic 
Management Plans: 

Wollongong 2022 Community Goal and Objective – This report contributes to the 
Wollongong 2022 Objective ‘our local Council has the trust of the community’ under the 
Community Goal ‘we are a connected and engaged community.’  

It specifically addresses the Annual Plan 2013-14 Key Deliverables ‘support the 
effective operation of the Audit and Corporate Governance Committees’ which forms 
part of the Five Year Action ‘ensure policies and procedures are regularly reviewed, 
updated and promoted’ contained within the Delivery Program 2012-17. 

Financial Implications 

The fee payable to independent Committee members has remained at $3,000 per 
annum for the Chairperson and $2,000 for Committee members since inception in 2008 
and up to 30 June was paid as an annual fee. 

From the 1 July 2011 this fee whilst remaining the same reverted to a meeting fee of 
$750 for the Chairperson and $500 for a Committee member. 
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The adoption of an annual review process for the fee payable to independent members 
of the Audit and Corporate Governance Committees as outlined in this report will result 
in the following rounded fees: 

Audit Committee     4 meetings per annum 
 

Chairperson    $770.00 per meeting 
Independent member (2)  $515.00 per member per meeting 

Corporate Governance   4 meetings per annum 
 

Chairperson    $770.00 per meeting 
Independent member (2)  $515.00 per member per meeting 

 

For the period 1 January to 30 June 2014, two meetings per Committee remain and the 
additional funding required, amounting to $200.00, will be met from within existing 
budget allocations.  

Conclusion 

The draft Amended Charters of the Audit and Corporate Governance Committees will 
assist Council and Committee members in dealing with the appointment of Committee 
members and their terms of appointment and provide independent members with a 
process for review of their remuneration and are recommended for adoption.  
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    REF:  CM297/13    File:  28.15.01.086 

ITEM 10 PROPOSED SALE OF PORTION OF ELLEN STREET, WOLLONGONG 

 On 24 May 2011, Council resolved to close the portion of Ellen Street, Wollongong on 
the northern side between Auburn Street and Keira Street, as shown shaded on the 
attachment to this report.  Upon closure, negotiations be entered into with the adjoining 
land owners and any sale agreed upon be the subject of further reports to Council. 

Agreement has been reached with the owner of No 27 Auburn Street for the portion of 
Ellen Street adjoining that property (shown hatched on the attachment).  This report 
seeks approval to the sale of the land. 
 

Recommendation 

1 Council authorise the sale of the portion of Ellen Street, Wollongong, shown 
hatched on the attachment to this report, to the adjoining landowner, or their 
nominee, on the following conditions: 

 a Purchase price of $250,000 (GST inc). 

 b Each party be responsible for their own legal costs. 

2 Authority be granted to affix the Common Seal of Council to the plan of survey, 
Section 88B Instrument and transfer documents and any other documentation 
required to give effect to this resolution. 

 

Attachments 

Plan of land proposed to be sold 

Report Authorisations 

Report of: Peter Coyte, Manager Property and Recreation 
Authorised by: David Farmer, General Manager 

Background 

On 24 May 2011, Council resolved to close the portion of Ellen Street, Wollongong on 
the northern side between Auburn Street and Keira Street, as shown shaded on the 
attachment to this report. 

The report went on to say that upon closure of the portion of road, negotiations be 
entered into with the adjoining landowners and any sale agreed upon be the subject of 
further reports to Council. 
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Council officers obtained a market valuation (on a before and after basis) from Martin 
Morris and Jones, Valuers and following negotiation with the owner of No 27 Auburn 
Street, agreement has been reached for the sale of the portion of Ellen Street adjoining 
that property for $250,000 (GST inc).  This amount exceeds that contained in the 
valuation advice received by Council. 

The subject land is not developable in its own right and the adjoining landowner is 
considered to be the only purchaser of the land.  In addition, the land is affected by a 
stormwater drain which will require the creation of an easement over it.  Taking these 
factors into account, the agreed amount is considered to be fair and reasonable. 

As Council initiated this road closure process, it is considered reasonable that each 
party be responsible for their own legal costs. 

Proposal 

It is proposed that the portion of Ellen Street adjoining No 27 Auburn Street be 
transferred to the owner of that property for $250,000 (GST inc), with each party being 
responsible for their own legal costs in the matter. 

Consultation and Communication 

Martin Morris and Jones, Valuers 

Owner of No 27 Auburn Street, Wollongong 

Planning and Policy Impact 

Wollongong 2022 Community Goal and Objective – This report contributes to the 
Wollongong 2022 Objective “Provide statutory services to appropriately manage and 
maintain our public spaces” under the Community Goal “We are a healthy community in 
a liveable city”. 

It specifically delivers on core business activities as detailed in the Property Services 
Service Plan 2013-14.  

Financial Implications 

The sum of $250,000 (GST inc) has been negotiated for the sale of the portion of road 
reserve in Ellen Street adjoining No 27 Auburn Street with each party being responsible 
for their own legal costs. 
  

Conclusion 

As Council has already resolved to close the subject portion of road reserve and the 
purchase price agreed upon exceeds the advice received from Council’s valuer, it is 
recommended the sale of the land to the adjoining owner be approved. 
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    REF:  CM299/13    File:  PR-005.01.077 

ITEM 11 
PROPOSED ACQUISITION OF PORTION OF LOT 1 DP 1064703 NO 
220 LAWRENCE HARGRAVE DRIVE, COALCLIFF FOR ROAD 
WIDENING PURPOSES 

 As part of the Grand Pacific Walk, Council is proposing to construct a pedestrian 
refuge and bus bay in Lawrence Hargrave Drive at Coalcliff to assist pedestrians to 
cross the road to Coalcliff Railway Station. 

To facilitate this work, the acquisition of a portion of Lot 1 DP 1064703 No 220 
Lawrence Hargrave Drive is required. 

This report seeks approval to the acquisition. 
 

Recommendation 

1 Council authorise the acquisition of the portion of Lot 1 DP 1064703 No 220 
Lawrence Hargrave Drive, Coalcliff shown hatched on the attachment to this 
report, subject to the following conditions: 

a Purchase price of $16,250 (GST exc). 

b  Council be responsible for all costs including valuation, survey, plan 
lodgement, transfer, legal costs and the cost of reinstatement of fencing to 
the new boundary, if required. 

2 Upon completion of the acquisition, the land be dedicated as public road in 
accordance with Section 10 of the Roads Act 1993. 

3 Authority be granted to affix the Common Seal of Council to the transfer 
documents and any other documentation required to give effect to this resolution. 

 

Attachments 

Plan of land proposed to be acquired. 

Report Authorisations 

Report of: Peter Coyte, Manager Property and Recreation 
Authorised by: Greg Doyle, Director Corporate and Community Services – Creative, 

Engaged and Innovative City 
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Background 

As part of the Grand Pacific Walk, Council is proposing to construct a pedestrian refuge 
and bus bay in Lawrence Hargrave Drive at Coalcliff to assist pedestrians to cross the 
road to Coalcliff Railway Station. 

To facilitate this work, the acquisition of a portion of Lot 1 DP 1064703  
No 220 Lawrence Hargrave Drive is required to widen the road. 

A valuation was obtained from Opteon (South East Regional NSW) Pty Ltd Valuers of 
the portion of land required.  An offer of $16,250 (GST exc) was made which has been 
accepted by the land owner. 

Under the provisions of the Land Acquisition (Just Terms Compensation) Act 1991, 
Council is responsible for all costs in the matter, including valuation, survey, plan 
lodgement, transfer and legal costs and the cost of the reinstatement of fencing to the 
new boundary, if required. 

Proposal 

It is proposed to acquire a portion of Lot 1 DP 1064703 No 220 Lawrence Hargrave 
Drive, Coalcliff, as shown hatched on the attachment to this report, for road widening 
purposes to allow the construction of a pedestrian refuge and bus bay. 

Upon acquisition, the land will be dedicated as public road in accordance with Section 
10 of the Roads Act 1993. 

Consultation and Communication 

Infrastructure Division has requested this acquisition. 

Opteon (South East Regional NSW) Pty Ltd Valuers 

Land owner of No 220 Lawrence Hargrave Drive, Coalcliff 

Planning and Policy Impact 

This acquisition is in accordance with Council policy “Land Acquisition and Disposal”. 

Wollongong 2022 Community Goal and Objective – This report contributes to the 
Wollongong 2022 Objective “Well maintained assets that meet the needs of current and 
future communities are provided” under the Community Goal “We are a healthy 
community in a liveable city”.  

It specifically delivers on core business activities as detailed in the Property Services 
Service Plan 2013-14. 
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Financial Implications 

The valuation from Opteon (South East Regional NSW) Pty Ltd assessed the amount of 
compensation payable by Council for the acquisition of the land.  An offer of $16,250 
(GST exc) was made for the land which has been accepted by the landowner.  Council 
will also be responsible for all costs in the matter, including valuation, survey, plan 
lodgement, transfer, legal costs and the cost of reinstatement of fencing to the 
boundary, if required. 

Funds for this acquisition, including the cost of the reinstatement of fencing and other 
costs, are available in the current budget. 

Conclusion 

As the subject portion of land is required to facilitate the construction of the pedestrian 
refuge and bus bay, it is recommended the acquisition be approved as set out in this 
report. 
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    REF:  CM303/13    File:  FI-230.01.117 

ITEM 12 
TENDER T13/12 – CLEANING SERVICES AT BEATON PARK LEISURE 
CENTRE 

 This report recommends acceptance of a tender for Cleaning Services at Beaton Park 
Leisure Centre in accordance with the requirements of the Local Government Act 1993 
and the Local Government (General) Regulation 2005.  The tender is to provide after 
hours’ cleaning services to the Leisure Centre.  Council has historically contracted 
cleaning services at Beaton Park Leisure Centre. 

Nineteen (19) tenders were received and the report recommends Council accept the 
tender submitted by Solo Services Group. 
 

Recommendation 

1 In accordance with the Local Government (General) Regulation 2005, Clause 178 
(1) (a), Council accept the tender of Solo Services Group for Cleaning Services at 
Beaton Park Leisure Centre, in the sum of $61,169 per annum, excluding GST. 

2 Council delegate to the General Manager the authority to finalise and execute the 
contract and any other documentation required to give effect to this resolution. 

3 Council grant authority for the use of the Common Seal of Council on the contract 
and any other documentation, should it be required, to give effect to this 
resolution. 

 

Attachments 

There are no attachments for this report. 

Report Authorisations 

Report of: Peter Coyte, Manager Property and Recreation 
Authorised by: Greg Doyle, Director Corporate and Community Services – Creative, 

Engaged and Innovative City 

Background 

Council has historically been contracting cleaning services at Beaton Park Leisure 
Centre.   

Tenders were invited by the open tender method with a close of tenders of 10.00 am on 
Tuesday, 24 September 2013. 

Nineteen tenders were received by the close of tenders and all tenders have been 
scrutinised and assessed by a Tender Assessment Panel comprising representatives of 
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Property and Recreation, Finance, Governance and Information, and City Works and 
Services Divisions. 

The Tender Assessment Panel assessed all tenders in accordance with the following 
assessment criteria as set out in the formal tender documents: 

1 Cost to Council – 30%. 

2 Demonstrated experience and satisfactory performance in undertaking cleaning of 
a multipurpose leisure facility of this size – 25%. 

3 Provision of detailed WHS Management Systems and procedures – 15%. 

4 Demonstrated staff qualifications and experience to facilitate the regular cleaning of 
a multi-purpose leisure facility of this size – 10%. 

5 Experience in the implementation of environmental management policies and 
procedures – 10%. 

6 Demonstrated experience in providing cleaning services to leisure facilities out of 
hours – 5%. 

7 Demonstrated Strengthening of Local Economic Capacity – 5%. 

The Tender Assessment Panel utilised a weighted scoring method for the assessment 
of tenders which allocates a numerical score out of five in relation to the level of 
compliance offered by the tenders to each of the assessment criteria as specified in the 
tender documentation.  The method then takes into account pre-determined weightings 
for each of the assessment criteria which provides for a total score out of five to be 
calculated for each tender.  The tender with the highest total score is considered to be 
the tender that best meets the requirements of the tender documentation in providing 
best value to Council.  Table 1 below summarises the results of the tender assessment 
and the ranking of tenders. 

Table 1 – Summary of Tender Assessment 

Tenderer Ranking 
Solo Services Group 1 
Quad Services 2 
Four Star Cleaning 3 
Northern Contract Cleaning 4 
Solution Cleaning Services 5 

Proposal 

Council authorise the engagement of Solo Services Group to carry out the Cleaning 
Services at Beaton Park Leisure Centre in accordance with the scope of works and 
technical specifications developed for the project. 

The recommended tenderer has satisfied the Tender Assessment Panel that it is 
capable of undertaking the works to Council’s standards and in accordance with the 
technical specification. 
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Referees nominated by the recommended tenderer have been contacted by the Tender 
Assessment Panel and expressed satisfaction with the standard of work and methods of 
operation undertaken on their behalf. 

Consultation and Communication 

1 Members of the Tender Assessment Panel consisting of representatives from 
Property and Recreation, Finance, Governance and Information, and City Works 
and Services Divisions; and 

2 Nominated referees. 

Planning and Policy Impact 

This report relates to the commitments of Council as contained within the Strategic 
Management Plans: 

Wollongong 2022 Community Goal and Objective – This report contributes to the 
Wollongong 2022 Objective ‘Participation in recreation and lifestyle activities is 
increased’ under the Community Goal ‘We are a healthy community in a liveable City’.   

It specifically delivers on core business activities as detailed in the Leisure Services 
Service Plan 2013-14. 

Risk Assessment 

The risk in accepting the recommendation of this report is considered low based on the 
following: 

 This tender process has fully complied with Council’s tendering procedures and the 
Local Government Act 1993; and 

 The recommended tenderer, Solo Services Group, has successfully completed a 
number of projects of similar size and scope for other like facilities. 

Financial Implications 

It is proposed that the total project be funded from the following source/s as identified in 
the Management Plan 2013/2014 – 2015/2016 Centre Operational Budget. 

Conclusion 
 

Solo Services Group has submitted an acceptable tender to carry out the Cleaning 
Services at Beaton Park Leisure Centre.  Council should endorse the recommendations 
of this report.    
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    REF:  CM295/13    File:  FI-230.01.125 

ITEM 13 
TENDER T13/21 MT KEIRA REMEDIATION WORKS STAGE 4A - 
SPECIALISED GEOTECHNICAL WORKS 

 This report recommends acceptance of a tender for the provision of specialised 
geotechnical remediation works for Mt Keira Road, Mt Keira in accordance with the 
requirements of the Local Government Act 1993 and the Local Government (General) 
Regulation 2005. 

The purpose of the tender is to reduce slope instability risk to an acceptable level to 
allow road upgrade works to take place and subsequently re-open the road to traffic.   

Three tenders were received and the report recommends Council accept the tender 
submitted by Specialised Geo Pty Ltd. 
 

Recommendation 

1 In accordance with the Local Government (General) Regulation 2005, Clause 178 
(1) (a), Council accept the tender of Specialised Geo Pty Ltd for provision of road 
remediation geotechnical works to Mt Keira Road, Mt Keira, in the sum of 
$1,086,195.00, excluding GST. 

2 Council delegate to the General Manager the authority to finalise and execute the 
contract and any other documentation required to give effect to this resolution. 

3 Council grant authority for the use of the Common Seal of Council on the contract 
and any other documentation, should it be required, to give effect to this 
resolution. 

 

Attachments 

There are no attachments for this report. 

Report Authorisations 

Report of: Glenn Whittaker, Manager Project Delivery  
Authorised by: Mike Hyde, Director Infrastructure and Works – Connectivity, Assets 

and Liveable City 

Background 

In 1997, seven sites were identified along Mt Keira Road, which presented a high risk to 
the public due to rock falls or slope stability.  In 2000, Council progressively commenced 
work on the highest priority sites, however funds were diverted to Harry Graham Drive 
(as the next highest priority site) following a geotechnical failure on this road. 

Council recommenced work on the stabilisation of Mt Keira Road in 2010 however a 
review of the geotechnical risks identified an unacceptable risk to the travelling public in 
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an area below the Scout Camp access road and in December 2012 Council resolved to 
keep the road closed. 

Council engaged the services of a specialised geotechnical consultant to investigate 
and prepare designs which addressed the slope instability of both the upper slope and 
the lower embankments.  These stabilisation works will allow later road upgrade works 
to take place and subsequently re-open the road to traffic with an acceptable level of 
risk.  This tender includes both fixed price and variable price components as follows: 

 A fixed schedule of works for the scaling and stabilisation of the upper cliff face. 
 A provisional schedule of work covering the stabilisation of the lower embankment 

which is included in the total contract sum but can be approved by Council at any 
time while the contractor is completing the fixed schedule of works. 

 A schedule of rates for work additional to that specified but which is made 
necessary as the site is cleared and inspected in more detail. 

Due to the very specialised nature of the contractor’s workforce and equipment used for 
completing the stabilisation works, Council will separately tender the road reconstruction 
works which will be programmed to immediately follow these contract works. 

Tenders were invited by the open tender method with a close of tenders of 10.00 am on 
Tuesday, 8 October 2013. 

Three tenders were received by the close of tenders and all tenders have been 
scrutinised and assessed by a Tender Assessment Panel comprising representatives of 
the Finance, Governance and Information and Project Delivery Divisions. 

The Tender Assessment Panel assessed all tenders in accordance with the following 
assessment criteria as set out in the formal tender documents: 

1 Mandatory Criteria 
 Referees 
 Financial Capacity - tenderers may be required to provide the information 

required by an independent financial assessment provider engaged by 
Council to provide an assessment of the financial capacity of the tenderer. 

 Demonstrated experience in elevated, high risk geotechnical stabilisation 
works. 

2 Assessable Criteria and Weightings 
 Cost to Council – 40% 
 Demonstrated strengthening of local economic capacity – 5% 
 Demonstrated experience and satisfactory performance in undertaking 

projects of similar size and scope – 20% 
 Staff qualifications and experience – 15% 
 Demonstrated WHS Management System, Environmental and Quality 

management policies and procedures – 10% 
 Project schedule - 5% 
 Project risk assessment – 5% 
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The Tender Assessment Panel utilised a weighted scoring method for the assessment 
of tenders which allocates a numerical score out of 5 in relation to the level of 
compliance offered by the tenders to each of the assessment criteria as specified in the 
tender documentation.  The method then takes into account pre-determined weightings 
for each of the assessment criteria which provides for a total score out of 5 to be 
calculated for each tender.  The tender with the highest total score is considered to be 
the tender that best meets the requirements of the tender documentation in providing 
best value to Council.  Table 1 below summarises the results of the tender assessment 
and the ranking of tenders. 

Table 1 – Summary of Tender Assessment 
 

Tenderer  Ranking 

Specialised Geo Pty Ltd 1 

Sporting Services (Construction) Pty Ltd t/a Pan Civil 2 

PJ Warner Pty Ltd 3 

 

Proposal 

Council should authorise the engagement of Specialised Geo Pty Ltd to carry out the 
works in accordance with the scope of works and technical specifications developed for 
the project. 

The recommended tenderer has satisfied the Tender Assessment Panel that it is 
capable of undertaking the works to Council’s standards and in accordance with the 
technical specification. 

Referees nominated by the recommended tenderer have been contacted by the Tender 
Assessment Panel and expressed satisfaction with the standard of work and methods of 
operation undertaken on their behalf. 

 

Consultation and Communication 

1 Members of the Tender Assessment Panel consisting of representatives from the 
Finance, Governance and Information and Project Delivery Divisions. 

2 Nominated Referees 

3 External Consultants – Douglas Partners – geotechnical consultant 

Planning and Policy Impact 

This report relates to the commitments of Council as contained within the Strategic 
Management Plans: 
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Wollongong 2022 Community Goal and Objective – This report contributes to the 
Wollongong 2022 Objective 6.2 that Wollongong is supported by an integrated transport 
system under the Community Goal 6 that we have sustainable, affordable and 
accessible transport.  

It specifically delivers on core business activities as detailed in the Infrastructure 
Planning and Support Service Plan 2013-14. 

 

Risk Assessment 

The risk in accepting the recommendation of this report is considered low based on the 
following –  

 This tender process has fully complied with Council’s tendering procedures and the 
Local Government Act 1993. 

 The recommended tenderer, Specialised Geo Pty Ltd has successfully completed a 
number of projects of similar size and scope for other government authorities and 
one previous project for Council. 

 

Financial Implications 

It is proposed that the total project be funded from the following source/s as identified in 
the Management Plan – 
 

2013-2014 Capital Budget B11832 – Mt Keira Geotechnical Works 

Due to the nature of the stabilisation works there may be additional necessary 
geotechnical works that arise as clearing works are undertaken. Specialised Geo Pty 
Ltd has included a schedule of rates in their tender submission which will be used for 
the assessment of these works if required. 

 

Conclusion 

Specialised Geo Pty Ltd has submitted an acceptable tender to carry out the works.  
Council should endorse the recommendations of this report to allow this road to be 
reopened. 
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    REF:  CM298/13    File:  FI-914.05.001 

ITEM 14 
ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 
2013 - POST ADVERTISING 

 This report is provided to formally present Council’s Financial Statements for the year 
ended 30 June 2013, together with the Auditor’s Reports to the public, in accordance 
with section 419 of the Local Government Act 1993 (as amended). 
 

Recommendation 

The audited Financial Statements for the year ended 30 June 2013, together with the 
Auditor’s Reports, be presented to the public. 
 

Attachments 

Annual Financial Statements for the Year Ended 30 June 2013 

Report Authorisations 

Report of: Brian Jenkins, Manager Finance 
Authorised by: Greg Doyle, Director Corporate and Community Services – Creative, 

Engaged and Innovative City 

Background 

Council’s Auditors, Hill Rogers Spencer Steer, addressed the Council meeting of 
14 October 2013, outlining the financial result for the year ended 30 June 2013 as 
reflected in the Financial Statements.  Council resolved that the audited Financial 
Statements and the Auditor’s Report be presented to the public at this Council meeting. 

Public Notice of the presentation of the audited Financial Statements at this meeting 
was given in The Advertiser on 9 and 30 October 2013 and was also on Council’s web 
site from 9 October 2013.  The public notice was in accordance with Section 418 of the 
Local Government Act 1993 (as amended). 

Copies of the audited Financial Statements are available for inspection by members of 
the public at Council’s Administration Building and any person can make written 
submissions to Council with respect to the Statements within the next seven day period.  
Any submissions received will be subsequently reported to Council. 

Proposal 

The audited Financial Statements for the year ended 30 June 2013, together with the 
Auditor’s Reports, be presented to the public at this Council meeting 
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Consultation and Communication 

The Audit Manager and staff of Hill Rogers Spencer Steer have been consulted 
throughout the preparation of the Annual Financial Statements.   

The Executive, Senior Managers and relevant senior officers were requested to ensure 
that all appropriate information, with regards to 2012/13 transactions relating to their 
area/s of responsibility, had been either entered into the financial records or disclosed. 

The Annual Financial Statements were presented to the Audit Committee on 
3 September 2013 and to Council on 14 October 2013. 

Planning and Policy Impact 

This report relates to the commitments of Council as contained within the Strategic 
Management Plans: 

Wollongong 2022 Community Goal and Objective – This report contributes to the 
Wollongong 2022 Objective our local council has the trust of the community under the 
Community Goal we are a connected and engaged community.  

It specifically delivers on core business activities as detailed in the Financial Services 
Service Plan 2013/14. 

Risk Assessment 

The Annual Financial Statements are required to be prepared in accordance with the 
Local Government Act 1993 (as amended), the Local Government Code of Accounting 
Practice and Financial Reporting, and the Australian Accounting Standards.  Council 
has professionally qualified staff to ensure compliance with the reporting requirements.  
Council staff has also undertaken additional training in specialised areas.  A higher level 
of assurance is attained from Hill Rogers Spencer Steer’s external audit. 

Further to this, Council’s Executive and Senior Management and relevant senior officers 
each signed a document giving the necessary assurances that: 

1 No matters or occurrences have come to their attention in respect to their areas 
of responsibility, that would materially affect the Financial Statements or 
disclosures therein, or which are likely to materially affect the future results or 
operations of the Council. 
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2 Should any such matters or occurrences come to their attention after the date of 
signing the document, the Manager Finance will be immediately advised. 

Consequently, there is considered to be a low risk of any material errors or omissions in 
reporting. 

Conclusion 

The audited Financial Statements for the year ended 30 June 2012, together with the 
Auditor’s Reports, are available for presentation to the public at this meeting. 
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    REF:  CM302/13    File:  IW-909.008 

ITEM 15 
MINUTES OF THE CITY OF WOLLONGONG TRAFFIC COMMITTEE 
ELECTRONIC MEETING HELD 11 OCTOBER 2013 

 An electronic meeting of the City of Wollongong Traffic Committee was held on 
11 October 2013 to consider the traffic management plan (TMP) for the planned 
demolition of the Port Kembla Copper Stack.  The TMP includes the implementation of 
an exclusion zone with road closures of Darcy and Military Roads, Wentworth, Church, 
Marne, Reservoir, Electrolytic and Fitzwilliam Streets and Second Avenue and 
Gloucester Boulevarde, which must be determined by Council. 

With respect to the City of Wollongong Traffic Committee Minutes of 11 October 2013, 
Item 1 recommends Council approve the temporary regulation of traffic on public roads 
for works or events by independent parties. 
 

Recommendation 

1 In accordance with the powers delegated to Council, the minutes and 
recommendations of the City of Wollongong Traffic Committee electronic meeting 
held on 11 October 2013 in relation to Regulation of Traffic be adopted. 

2 Council’s adoption be conditional on approval of the Port Kembla Stack 
Demolition Management Plans by the Department of Planning and Infrastructure. 

 

Attachments 

1 Traffic management plan for proposed demolition of Port Kembla Copper Stack 
2 Council’s standard conditions for road closures 

Report Authorisations 

Report of: Mike Dowd, Manager Infrastructure Strategy and Planning  
Authorised by: Mike Hyde, Director Infrastructure and Works – Connectivity, Assets 

and Liveable City 

Background 

Port Kembla Copper have prepared documentation seeking to address the 
requirements of the Major Project approval consent conditions for the demolition of the 
Port Kembla Stack. 

These documents are currently in the final review stage by the Department of Planning 
and Infrastructure, and have been exhibited for public comment. 
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One of the required documents is the Traffic Management Plan for the road closures 
associated with the demolition.  The TMP, as provided for public exhibition, has been 
sent to the Wollongong Traffic Committee for endorsement and subsequent adoption by 
Council, to support the Department’s considerations of the submitted Management 
Plans. 
 
PORT KEMBLA 

1 Traffic management for proposed demolition of Port Kembla Copper Stack – 
(TMP Ref:  Z13/212084 – Attachment 1) 

 Port Kembla Copper proposes to demolish the copper stack at Port Kembla on a 
weekday, to be set following approval of documentation by the Department of 
Planning and Infrastructure.  The company proposes an exclusion zone around its 
site and in order to manage the exclusion zone during the demolition process, a 
number of road closures are also required. 

 Port Kembla Copper has submitted a traffic management plan to Council for the 
closure of Darcy and Military Roads, Wentworth, Church, Marne, Reservoir, 
Electrolytic and Fitzwilliam Streets and Second Avenue and  
Gloucester Boulevarde.  The closures are under the supervision of the NSW Police 
and will take effect from 7 am to 1 pm on the day. 

 PROPOSAL SUPPORTED (UNANIMOUSLY): 

 The road closures be approved in accordance with the submitted traffic 
management plan and Council’s standard conditions for road closures. 
(Attachment 2). 

Planning and Policy Impact 

This report relates to the commitments of Council as contained within the Strategic 
Management Plans: 

Wollongong 2022 Community Goal and Objective – This report contributes to the 
Wollongong 2022 Objective 5.5 Participation in recreational and lifestyle activities is 
increased under the Community Goal 5 – We are a healthy community in a liveable city.  
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Minute No. 

 

 
 DISCLOSURES OF INTEREST  

 Councillor Martin declared a non-significant, non-pecuniary interest in 
Items 1, 2 and 6 due to her employment with the Department of Planning 
and Infrastructure.  Councillor Martin advised that in her position, she does 
not work on matters relating to Wollongong. 

 
 

Councillor Merrin declared a non-significant, non-pecuniary interest in 
Item 1 as she runs a small bed and breakfast in the village of Austinmer.  
She advised that she would remain in the Chamber during debate and 
voting on the Item as she has been providing feedback and discussion on 
this matter since 2002 and she commenced her bed and breakfast in 2008.  
 
 
Note:  During debate on Item B, Councillor Takacs declared a non-
pecuniary, non-significant interest in the matter (refer to Item B).  

 
 
 
 
 PRESENTATION – CERTIFICATE OF ACHIEVEMENT – THE BLUE MILE  

 Councillor Connor tabled a Certificate of Achievement presented to Council 
at the recent Regional Achievement and Community Awards.  Council was 
a State Finalist for the Crown Land’s Crown Reserve Trust Corporate 
Managers’ Award for the work undertaken with respect to the Blue Mile.  He 
advised that there were 10 categories throughout the night with over 
400 nominations, and Council was one of the top 3.   

 
 
 
 
 PRESENTATION – EXCELLENCE IN PROPERTY AWARD – NORTH 

BEACH BATHERS’ PAVILION   
 The Lord Mayor advised that Council was recognised recently for work 

undertaken at the North Beach Bathers’ Pavilion.  The Lord Mayor tabled 
the Preston Rowe Paterson Local Government 2013 – Excellence in 
Property Award presented to Council by the Australian Property Institute.  
He extended congratulations to staff and all others involved in the project.  
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 CONFIRMATION OF MINUTES OF ORDINARY MEETING OF COUNCIL 
HELD ON MONDAY, 14 OCTOBER 2013   

222 COUNCIL’S RESOLUTION - RESOLVED UNANIMOUSLY on the motion 
of Councillor Brown seconded Councillor Connor that the Minutes of the 
Ordinary Meeting of Council held on Monday, 14 October 2013 (a copy 
having been circulated to Councillors) be taken as read and confirmed. 

 
 
 

 PUBLIC ACCESS FORUM – SUPPORT FOR NOTICE OF  MOTION – 
JOES BAY BOARDWALK  

 Ms C Gerloff advised of her support to postpone the construction of the 
proposed Joes Bay Boardwalk due to the lack of community consultation.  
Ms Gerloff said that the Lake Illawarra Authority had stated from the outset 
that it had overwhelming positive support for the boardwalk; however, she 
advised that no evidence could be found to support this statement.   

 
Mr C Wilton, on behalf of the Save Lake Illawarra Action Group, felt that the 
notice of motion in relation to this matter should be passed because there 
had not been proper public consultation by the Lake Illawarra Authority on 
the boardwalk.  The proposal was passed by the Authority and it was then 
put to the public without a ‘do nothing’ option.  The community had to 
choose the best from all the bad options.  

In conclusion, Mr Wilton advised that the financial position of the Authority 
was very much unknown. If this project were to go ahead there would be 
implications for Council, as the Authority was being wound up. 

 
 
 

 PUBLIC ACCESS FORUM – DRAFT PLANNING PROPOSAL FOR 
BRICKYARD POINT HEADLANDS HOTEL  

 Dr S Allen advised that Council in its report has not addressed many 
concerns raised in submissions.  Examples  included: access to and 
amenity and scenic quality of the public park, relations to character and 
structure of Austinmer, permitting domination of the headland,  carrying 
capacity of the site, sustainability of planning proposal and he said that 
option 4 was the least preferred by the community.  Concerns dealt with by 
Council were addressed inadequately by simple dismissive argument.  
Examples include: not sympathetic to surrounding residential area, 
Aboriginal heritage, not implementing Coastal Policy, and Coastal Design 
Guidelines for Austinmer; a low density village.  
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He felt that Council was proposing to irreversibly change the character and 
structure of Austinmer from a low scale, low density coastal village 
surrounded by an undeveloped foreshore, to a low to medium scale coastal 
settlement with a highly developed foreshore.  Council had not established 
the planning context for the transition of Austinmer, a context that orients 
planning controls for individual lots within the settlement.  This context 
refers to character and structure, scenic qualities, natural, cultural, 
recreational and economic attributes of Austinmer, Aboriginal cultural 
places, values and customs etc. In conclusion, Dr Allen felt that changes to 
planning controls oriented by this planning context would ensure the 
protection and enhancement of the natural and built character of Austinmer.  

 
 
 
 

223 COUNCIL’S RESOLUTION - RESOLVED UNANIMOUSLY on the motion 
of Councillor Brown seconded Councillor Colacino that all speakers be 
thanked for their presentation and invited to table their notes. 

 
 
 
 
 ITEM A – LORD MAYORAL MINUTE - COAL SEAM GAS MINING - 

DRINKING WATER CATCHMENTS   

224 COUNCIL’S RESOLUTION - RESOLVED UNANIMOUSLY  on the motion 
of Councillor Bradbery that – 

1 The Lord Mayor and General Manager seek a meeting with the NSW 
Premier and the relevant Minister(s) to request an extension of the 
proposed Coal Seam Gas Exclusion Zones, to include the Sydney 
Drinking Water Catchment - Special Areas, and that the concerns of 
Wollongong City Council be expressed to the above in writing also, as 
well as local State Members of Parliament. 

2 A copy of Council’s submission, as well as a copy of tonight’s 
resolution of Council, be provided to Upper and Lower House 
Members of State Parliament. 

Variation The variations moved by – 

• Councillor Martin (the addition of the words ‘as well as Local State 
Members of Parliament’ to Part 1);  and, 

• Councillor Curran (the addition of Part 2), 

were accepted by the mover and seconder. 
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 DEPARTURE OF COUNCILLOR 

 During discussion and prior to voting on Item B, Councillor Colacino 
departed and returned to the meeting, the time being from 7.16 pm to 
7.19 pm. 

 
 
 
 

 DISCLOSURE OF INTEREST 

 Councillor Takacs declared a non-significant, non-pecuniary interest in 
Item B as he is a board member of a community organisation which rents 
premises from the (former) Lake Illawarra Authority.   

 
 
 
 
 ITEM B – NOTICE OF MOTION - COUNCILLOR CRASNICH - 

POSTPONEMENT OF CONSTRUCTION OF JOES BAY BOARDWALK   

225 COUNCIL’S RESOLUTION - RESOLVED on the motion of 
Councillor Crasnich seconded Councillor Dorahy that – 

1 Council write to The Hon. Andrew Stoner MP, Minister for Trade and 
Investment and Minister for Regional Infrastructure and 
Services, seeking a postponement of the decision to construct the 
Joes Bay Boardwalk at a cost of between $500,000 and $750,000, 
until the Estuary Management Committee is established. 

2 Council request full disclosure of all Lake Illawarra Authority financial 
reports and audits, including audits undertaken by NSW Treasury, for 
2010-2011, 2011-2012 and 2012-13 financial years.  

Variation The variation moved by Councillor Curran (the addition of Part 2) was 
accepted by the mover and seconder. 

In favour Councillors Merrin, Blicavs, Dorahy, Colacino, Crasnich, Curran and Petty 
Against Councillors Kershaw, Connor, Brown, Martin, Takacs and Bradbery 
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 ITEM C - MATTER LAID ON THE TABLE 9 SEPTEMBER 2013 - 

REVISED GRAFFITI MANAGEMENT POLICY  

 A PROCEDURAL MOTION was MOVED UNANIMOUSLY by 
Councillor Kershaw seconded Councillor Brown that Item C be taken off the 
table. 

226 COUNCIL’S RESOLUTION - RESOLVED UNANIMOUSLY on the motion 
of Councillor Kershaw seconded Councillor Martin that the matter be 
deferred pending a further report to the Council meeting of 
25 November 2013. 

 
 
 
 

 CALL OF THE AGENDA  

227 COUNCIL’S RESOLUTION – RESOLVED UNANIMOUSLY on the motion 
of Councillor Brown seconded Councillor Dorahy that the staff 
recommendations for Items 2, 6, and 8 to 20 inclusive, be adopted as a 
block. 

 
 
 
 

 DEPARTURE OF COUNCILLOR 

 During debate and prior to voting on Item 1, Councillors Crasnich and 
Blicavs departed and returned to the meeting, the times being from 7.39 pm 
to 7.41 pm, and 8.08 pm to 8.10 pm, respectively. 

 
 
 
 

 ITEM 1 - DRAFT PLANNING PROPOSAL FOR BRICKYARD POINT 
HEADLANDS HOTEL  

 A PROCEDURAL MOTION was MOVED by Councillor Takacs seconded 
Councillor Martin that an extension of time be granted to Councillor Merrin 
to address the meeting in relation to Item 1. 

A PROCEDURAL MOTION was MOVED by Councillor Crasnich seconded 
Councillor Blicavs that an extension of time be granted to 
Councillor Colacino to address the meeting in relation to Item 1.  
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228 COUNCIL’S RESOLUTION - RESOLVED on the motion of 
Councillor Colacino seconded Councillor Kershaw that –  

1 The draft Planning Proposal proceed for Brickyard Point (former 
Headlands Hotel site) being Lots 87 to 95 DP9233 on the corner of 
Headland Avenue and Yuruga Street, Austinmer (refer to Attachment 1 
of the report) to amend the Wollongong Local Environmental Plan 
2009 by: 

a Amending the Heights of Buildings map for the area to allow a 
range of heights across the site (refer to Attachment 2 of the 
report); including increase the maximum permissible height from 
9m to 15m in part over Lots 88, 89, 90, and 91 DP9233; decrease 
the maximum permissible height from 9m to 3m over Lots 94 and 
95 DP9233, and retain the remainder of the site at its current 
maximum permissible height of 9m being for Lots 87, 92, 93 and 
part of Lots 88, 89, 90, and 91 DP9233; 

b Moving the Design Excellence Clause from Part 8 – Local 
Provisions Wollongong City Centre to Part 7 Local Provisions 
General, so that it can be applied to the subject site; and 

c Identifying the subject land as a key site on the Key Sites map in 
order to apply the Design Excellence clause. 

2 A Public Hearing not be held for the draft Planning Proposal. 

3 Persons who made submissions be thanked for their input and be 
advised of Council’s decision. 

In favour Councillors Kershaw, Connor, Brown, Martin, Blicavs, Dorahy, Colacino, 
Crasnich and Bradbery 

Against Councillors Takacs, Merrin, Curran and Petty 
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 ITEM 2 - DRAFT PLANNING PROPOSAL TO PERMIT OUTDOOR 

DINING AND DISPLAY OF GOODS ON FOOTPATHS AS EXEMPT 
DEVELOPMENT AND ENABLE OUTDOOR DINING (FOOD AND DRINK 
PREMISES) AS A PERMISSIBLE USE WITHIN THE SP2 ZONE  

 The following staff recommendation was adopted as part of the Block 
Adoption of Items (refer Minute Number 227). 

 COUNCIL’S RESOLUTION –  

1 A draft Planning Proposal be prepared to amend the Wollongong Local 
Environmental Plan by: 

a permitting outdoor dining on the footpath, community land or 
Crown land  as Exempt Development (Schedule 2) provided it is 
part of an adjacent lawfully approved food and drink premises;  

b permitting the display of goods on the footpath, community land 
or Crown land as Exempt Development (Schedule 2) provided it 
is part of an adjacent lawfully approved shop; and 

c including food and drink premises as a permissible use (with 
development consent) in the SP2 Infrastructure zone. 

2 The draft Planning Proposal be forwarded to the NSW Department of 
Planning and Infrastructure for a Gateway determination and 
requesting authorisation for the General Manager to exercise plan 
making delegations in accordance with Council’s resolution of 26 
November 2012. 

3 If approved, the draft Planning Proposal be exhibited for a minimum 
period of twenty eight (28) days. 

 
 
 

 ADJOURNMENT OF MEETING 

 A PROCEDURAL MOTION was MOVED by Councillor Merrin seconded 
Councillor Martin that the meeting adjourn for a five minute break.  At this 
stage, the time being 8.24 pm, the meeting was adjourned. 

The meeting resumed at 8.29 pm with all Councillors in attendance, with the 
exception of Councillor Merrin who returned to the meeting at 8.31 pm, 
during debate and prior to voting on Item 3. 
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 DEPARTURE OF COUNCILLOR 

 During debate and prior to voting on Item 3, Councillor Crasnich departed 
and returned to the meeting, the time being from 8.37 pm to 8.39 pm. 

 
 
 
 ITEM 3 - KEIRA STREET PRECINCT MASTER PLAN  

229 COUNCIL’S RESOLUTION - RESOLVED UNANIMOUSLY  on the motion 
of Councillor Brown seconded Councillor Blicavs that –  

1 The Keira Street Precinct Plan be adopted to allow the completion of 
the detailed construction designs and submission to NSW Roads and 
Maritime Services for final approval. 

2 The adopted Precinct Plan be made available to the community. 

3 The Precinct Plan be implemented in stages and coordinated with the 
development works at Wollongong Central.  

4 This matter return to Council via a report, 12 months after the 
construction work on Stage 1 has been completed, to review the 
provision of space available to outdoor dining and pedestrian amenity 
in the precinct and the block further south to Burelli Street. 

5 Council Officers immediately investigate options for a blister treatment 
outside the restaurants on the eastern side of Keira Street, near the 
Mall (opposite the western blister).  

Variation The variations moved by – 

• Councillor Blicavs (the addition of Part 5); and, 
• Councillor Merrin (the addition of the words ‘and the block further 

south to Burelli Street to Part 4), 

were accepted by the mover and seconder. 
 
 
 

 DEPARTURE OF COUNCILLOR 

 During debate and prior to voting on Item 4, Councillor Curran departed and 
returned to the meeting, the time being from 8.50 pm to 8.51 pm. 
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 ITEM 4 - WOLLONGONG CITY CENTRE ACCESS AND MOVEMENT 

STRATEGY 2013  

230 COUNCIL’S RESOLUTION - RESOLVED UNANIMOUSLY  on the motion 
of Councillor Blicavs seconded Councillor Colacino that – 

1 Council endorse the “Wollongong City Centre Access and Movement 
Strategy – 2013”. 

2 A Workshop be held with Councillors by the end of February 2014 to 
develop an engagement and implementation process for the Strategy. 

3 A further detailed review of the Strategy be undertaken by the end of 
2016, following completion of the City Centre revitalisation in 2015, 
and this review include the option of a shared space. 

4 References to any Ajax Avenue extension be described as a possible 
treatment to be considered in conjunction with other alternatives, to be 
reviewed at a future stage following studies into traffic generated by 
developments at the Innovation Campus and adjacent industrial 
precinct. 

Variation The variation moved by Councillor Brown (the addition of Part 4) was 
accepted by the mover and seconder. 

 
 
 
 
 ITEM 5 - EXHIBITION OF GRAND PACIFIC WALK MASTERPLAN AND 

STAGE ONE IMPLEMENTATION PLANS  

 A PROCEDURAL MOTION was MOVED by Councillor Petty seconded 
Councillor Curran that the matter lay on the table.  The PROCEDURAL 
MOTION on being put to the vote was LOST. 

231 COUNCIL’S RESOLUTION – RESOLVED UNANIMOUSLY  on the motion 
of  Councillor Colacino seconded Councillor Blicavs that –  

1 Council endorse public exhibition of the Grand Pacific Walk Draft 
Masterplan and Stage One Implementation documentation for a period 
of 28 days. 

2 Council receive a future report providing the outcomes from the public 
exhibition and finalised Masterplan for Council adoption. 
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 ITEM 6 - DRAFT PLANNING AGREEMENT - PARKING AT WARATAH, 

BOOMERANG AND PARKES STREETS, HELENSBURGH  
 The following staff recommendation was adopted as part of the Block 

Adoption of Items (refer Minute Number 227). 

 COUNCIL’S RESOLUTION –  

1 Council endorse entering into a Planning Agreement for the provision 
of twenty (20) car parking spaces, drainage and a pedestrian footpath 
in Waratah, Boomerang and Parkes Streets, Helensburgh, required by 
Helensburgh Workers’ Sports and Social Club, generally in 
accordance with the terms of the draft Planning Agreement 
(Attachment 3 of the report). 

2 Authority be delegated to the General Manager to finalise and execute 
the Planning Agreement with the proponent, generally in accordance 
with the terms of the draft Planning Agreement attached to the report. 

 
 
 
 
 ITEM 7 - FRAUD AND CORRUPTION CONTROL PLAN  

232 COUNCIL’S RESOLUTION - RESOLVED UNANIMOUSLY  on the motion 
of Councillor Brown seconded Councillor Curran that the Fraud and 
Corruption Control Plan be adopted, subject to - 

1 An amendment to page 1:  Point 1 of the Objectives to read ‘To 
demonstrate the commitment of the Lord Mayor, Councillors, General 
Manager, Executive and Senior Management to combat fraud and 
corruption’. 

2 An additional reference in Section 9 to indicate that if the General 
Manager is the subject of any investigation the Lord Mayor will be 
responsible for authorising any investigation (consistent with the 
Procedure for the Administration of the Codes of Conduct). 

Variation The variation moved by Councillor Curran (the addition of Part 2) was 
accepted by the mover. 

 
 
 



 
Minutes of Ordinary Meeting of Council 28 October 2013   11

 

Minute No. 

 

 
 ITEM 8 - POLICY REVIEW - PUBLIC ACCESS TO COUNCIL 

INFORMATION AND DOCUMENTS  
 The following staff recommendation was adopted as part of the Block 

Adoption of Items (refer Minute Number 227). 

 COUNCIL’S RESOLUTION – The revised Public Access to Council 
Information and Documents Policy be adopted. 

 
 

 
 ITEM 9 - POLICY REVIEW - CODE OF MEETING PRACTICE  
 The following staff recommendation was adopted as part of the Block 

Adoption of Items (refer Minute Number 227). 

 COUNCIL’S RESOLUTION -  

1 The draft amended Code of Meeting Practice be adopted in principle. 

2 The draft amended Code of Meeting Practice be placed on public 
exhibition for a period of 28 days. 

3 A further report be submitted to Council following the closure of the 
advertising period and consideration of submissions.  

 
 
 
 
 ITEM 10 - POLICY REVIEW - REDUCTION OR WAIVER OF HIRE FEES 

FOR COMMUNITY ROOMS AND HALLS UNDER DIRECT CONTROL OF 
COUNCIL  

 The following staff recommendation was adopted as part of the Block 
Adoption of Items (refer Minute Number 227). 

 COUNCIL’S RESOLUTION - Council adopt the revised Reduction or 
Waiver of Hire Fees for Community Rooms and Halls Under the Direct 
Control of Council Policy. 
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 ITEM 11 - POLICY REVIEW - ALLOCATION OF COMMUNITY 

FACILITIES TO COMMUNITY GROUPS  
 The following staff recommendation was adopted as part of the Block 

Adoption of Items (refer Minute Number 227). 

 COUNCIL’S RESOLUTION - Council adopt the revised Allocation of 
Community Facilities to Community Groups Policy. 

 
 
 
 
 ITEM 12 - REVOCATION OF POLICY - SIGNAGE TO ENHANCE 

COMMUNITY SAFETY  
 The following staff recommendation was adopted as part of the Block 

Adoption of Items (refer Minute Number 227). 

 COUNCIL’S RESOLUTION - Council policy ‘Signage to Enhance 
Community Safety’ be revoked. 

 
 
 
 
 ITEM 13 - PROPOSED NAMING OF ROADS AT CLEVELAND  
 The following staff recommendation was adopted as part of the Block 

Adoption of Items (refer Minute Number 227). 

 COUNCIL’S RESOLUTION - Action be taken under Section 162 of the 
Roads Act 1993 to give formal notice of the proposal to name: 

1 The portion of road from the eastern end of Fairwater Drive to the 
roundabout, shown hatched on the attachment to the report, as 
“Fairwater Drive”. 

2 The portion of road from the roundabout to Cleveland Road, shown 
crosshatched on the attachment to the report, as “Daisy Bank Drive”. 
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 ITEM 14 - PROPOSED ACQUISITION OF PORTION OF LOT 12 
DP 229044 NO 30 DARKES ROAD, DAPTO FOR ROAD WORKS  

 The following staff recommendation was adopted as part of the Block 
Adoption of Items (refer Minute Number 227). 

 COUNCIL’S RESOLUTION -  

1 Council authorise the acquisition of the portion of Lot 12 DP 229044 
No 30 Darkes Road, Dapto, shown hatched on the attachment to the 
report, subject to the following conditions: 
a Purchase price of $36,000 (GST exc). 
b Council be responsible for all costs including valuation, survey 

and legal costs and the cost of reinstatement of fencing to the 
new boundary. 

2 Upon the acquisition being finalised, the subject portion of Lot 12 DP 
229044 be dedicated as public road in accordance with Section 10 of 
the Roads Act 1993. 

3 Authority be granted to affix the Common Seal of Council to the 
transfer documents and any other documentation required to give 
effect to this resolution. 

 
 
 ITEM 15 - TENDER T13/18 - PROVISION OF CONSTRUCTION 

SERVICES TO CONSTRUCT BRIDGE OVER MULLET CREEK AT 
CLEVELAND ROAD, DAPTO INCLUDING  RELOCATION OF SERVICES 

 The following staff recommendation was adopted as part of the Block 
Adoption of Items (refer Minute Number 227). 

 COUNCIL’S RESOLUTION -  

1 In accordance with the Local Government (General) Regulation 2005, 
Clause 178 (1) (a), Council accept the tender of Abergeldie 
Contractors Pty Ltd for the construction of a bridge over Mullet Creek, 
Dapto including the relocation of services, in the sum of $1,774,809.09 
excluding GST. 

2 Council delegate to the General Manager the authority to finalise and 
execute the contract and any other documentation required to give 
effect to this resolution. 

3 Council grant authority for the use of the Common Seal of Council on 
the contract and any other documentation, should it be required, to 
give effect to this resolution. 
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 ITEM 16 - QUARTERLY REPORT ON DEVELOPMENT APPLICATIONS 

INVOLVING VARIATIONS TO DEVELOPMENT STANDARDS  

 The following staff recommendation was adopted as part of the Block 
Adoption of Items (refer Minute Number 227). 

 COUNCIL’S RESOLUTION - Council note the report. 

 
 
 
 ITEM 17 - SEPTEMBER 2013 FINANCIALS  
 The following staff recommendation was adopted as part of the Block 

Adoption of Items (refer Minute Number 227). 

 COUNCIL’S RESOLUTION – 

1 The report be received and noted. 

2 Proposed changes in the Capital Works Program be approved. 

 
 
 
 ITEM 18 - STATEMENT OF INVESTMENTS - SEPTEMBER 2013  
 The following staff recommendation was adopted as part of the Block 

Adoption of Items (refer Minute Number 227). 

 COUNCIL’S RESOLUTION - Council receive the Statement of Investments 
for September 2013. 

 
 
 
 ITEM 19 - MINUTES OF ELECTRONIC MEETING OF THE CITY OF 

WOLLONGONG TRAFFIC COMMITTEE HELD 2 OCTOBER 2013  
 The following staff recommendation was adopted as part of the Block 

Adoption of Items (refer Minute Number 227). 

 COUNCIL’S RESOLUTION - In accordance with the powers delegated to 
Council, the electronic minutes and recommendations of the City of 
Wollongong Traffic Committee meeting held on 2 October 2013 in relation 
to Regulation of Traffic be adopted. 
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 ITEM 20 - TABLING OF ANNUAL RETURNS OF DISCLOSURE OF 
INTERESTS AND OTHER MATTERS  

 The following staff recommendation was adopted as part of the Block 
Adoption of Items (refer Minute Number 227). 

 COUNCIL’S RESOLUTION -  

1 Council note the tabling of the Returns of Disclosures of Interests and 
Other Matters as required by Section 450A of the Local Government 
Act 1993. 

2 The Division of Local Government be advised of the failure of a total of 
three employees to lodge their Annual Returns and the applicable 
circumstances in each case.  

 
 
 
   
THE MEETING CONCLUDED AT 9.41 PM. 
 
Confirmed as a correct record of proceedings at the Ordinary Meeting of the Council of 
the City of Wollongong held on 11 November 2013. 
 
 
 
 
 

Chairperson 
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“The Illawarra over the next 20 Years: A Discussion Paper” 
August 2013 
1. Setting the Scene 

General Comments 

The Discussion Paper (page 5) indicates that the Illawarra Region involves the three (3) Local 
Government Areas (LGAs) of Wollongong, Shellharbour and Kiama. Council supports this defined 
regional boundary given that the Illawarra Region is characterised by a relatively narrow urban area 
bounded by the Royal National Park to the north, the Tasman Sea to the east, the Illawarra 
Escarpment to the west and the outskirts of Gerringong and Gerroa to the south. 

The resident population of the three (3) LGAs within the region regularly commute between the three 
(3) LGAs for employment, retail, health, social, leisure and recreational activities and needs.  
Wollongong is the regional city for the Illawarra and provides the region’s higher level administrative 
and health services (including Wollongong Hospital) which serve the population of the three (3) 
respective LGAs. 

For a number of services, the three (3) Councils in the Illawarra Region have shared resources and 
collaborated to undertake co-ordinated regional projects. These include projects such as the 
development of the Illawarra Biodiversity Strategy and the Illawarra Regional Food Strategy.  The 
management of noxious weeds is also undertaken on a regional basis through the Illawarra District 
Noxious Weeds Authority. 

Therefore, Council is of the view that the Illawarra Regional Growth Plan should comprise the three 
(3) LGAs of Wollongong, Shellharbour and Kiama.  

The Wollongong LGA is a significant driver of the region, covering 63.5% of the region’s geographic 
area, containing 69.7% of the region’s population and providing 79.4% of the jobs within the region. 
The Wollongong LGA generates Gross Regional Product (GRP) of $11.8 billion per annum which 
represents more than two-thirds (67%) of the Illawarra’s GRP of $18 billion per annum. In terms of the 
whole of NSW, Wollongong contributes 2.6% of the Gross State Product (GSP) and the Illawarra 
represents 3.9% of the total GSP. Looking ahead, Wollongong LGA is projected to generate between 
$14 billion to $16 billion GRP by 2022. 

Therefore, it is important that the new Illawarra Regional Growth Plan recognises the City’s 
importance and supports the development and implementation of strategies to meet housing and jobs 
growth while at the same time protecting regionally significant vegetation and the environment. 

It is equally important that the Illawarra Regional Growth Plan does not become a defacto Local Plan 
for the Wollongong LGA. In Council’s view, the Illawarra Regional Growth Plan should concentrate on 
setting the broader vision and direction for the region and focus on key regional projects, set housing 
and employment targets as well as protect regionally significant vegetation and strategic agricultural 
lands and leave local planning decisions to the three (3) Councils to implement through their Local 
Plans. 

Council notes that the Discussion Paper (page 5) acknowledges that the NSW Government 
recognises that past practices and approaches to regional strategic planning have not delivered the 
necessary housing starts and economic activity needed for the Illawarra. Council looks forward to the 
opportunity of working with the NSW Government in developing and implementing a sustained 
housing and jobs growth plan for the Illawarra Region. 
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2. Making NSW Number One 

General Comments 

Council supports the creation of the Illawarra Regional Growth Plan to deliver the strategic vision and 

planning framework for the region, in order to promote and deliver more housing and to drive 

economic growth across the region. In this regard, Council notes that the outcomes and objectives of 

the new Illawarra Regional Growth Plan will align with the following NSW Government policies, 

namely: 

• NSW 2021; 

• the State Infrastructure Strategy; 

• the Long Term Transport Master Plan; and  

• the Regional Action Plan for the Illawarra / South Coast. 

In terms of the State Infrastructure Strategy Council is concerned that the Maldon – Dombarton rail 

freight line is recommended to be constructed by the private sector or the Australian Government in 

the next 10 – 20 years. In Council’s view, the construction of the Maldon – Dombarton rail line is 

critical to the future economic growth of the Port of Port Kembla and the industrial areas within 

Wollongong LGA and hence, should be a key priority infrastructure project, funded jointly by the 

Australian Government and the NSW Government. The Maldon – Dombarton rail line should be fast-

tracked for construction within the next 5 years. 

The NSW Government should also work constructively with the Australian Government and the 

Australian Rail Track Corporation to improve additional freight capacity in the Moss Vale – Unanderra 

rail line, in the interim, until such time as the Maldon – Dombarton rail line is completed. 

Council also notes that the Planning Bill 2013 for the new planning system was introduced by the 

NSW Government into State Parliament on 22 October 2013. The Planning Bill 2013 introduces a 

hierarchy of strategic plans which will form the basis of the new planning system, namely: 

• State Planning Policies; 

• Regional Growth Plans; 

• Subregional Delivery Plans; and 

• Local Plans. 

The Discussion Paper for the new Illawarra Regional Growth Plan has been prepared in the absence 

of the proposed higher order State Planning Policies.   At this stage it is unclear how the new Illawarra 

Regional Growth Plan will align with the new State Planning Policies. In Council’s view, the new State 

Planning Policies should be released as a soon as practicable to allow the development of the 

Illawarra Regional Growth Plan to reflect the objectives and strategies of the higher order planning 

policies. 

We also note the Illawarra Regional Transport Plan and the Regional Growth Infrastructure Plans 

have not been released.  In Council’s view, the draft Illawarra Regional Growth Plan should be 
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developed at the same time as the draft Illawarra Regional Transport Plan and draft Regional Growth 

infrastructure Plans. This would provide for consistency between the various Plans and ensure that all 
government agencies are appropriately funded to deliver on the actions and infrastructure 

requirements identified in these Plans. Without this consistency and commitment to funding, the Plans 

are likely to fail to deliver on their objectives. 

3. Shaping the Illawarra 

General Comments 

In Council’s view, the scope of the Regional Growth Plan needs to be clearly defined. The Illawarra 

Regional Growth Plan should not take the place of local planning. The strategies and directions in the 

Regional Growth Plan should only relate to truly regional projects and should set an overarching 

strategy for the region, with key regional projects, environments and heritage sites/areas identified. 

Further, Council considers that the Department should review each of the Community Strategic Plans 

for the three (3) Councils within the Illawarra Region and draw out the key regional projects from 

these plans, so that the Regional Growth Plan is a truly regional document. 

4. Housing our growing population 

General Comments 

It is acknowledged that the provision of additional housing is an important priority for the NSW 

Government, in order to support increased housing choice and to promote improved housing 

affordability and economic growth. However, the provision of additional housing within the region 

needs to be accompanied by additional local employment opportunities and needs to be serviced by 

both State and local infrastructure at the time development occurs. 

The Discussion Paper indicated that the Illawarra Region was predicted to have a total population 

increase of 52,300 people by 2031 and that Wollongong City LGA would have a population increase 

of 34,800 people by 2031.  

However, it is noted that after the release of the Discussion Paper, the Department has now published 

more updated population and housing projections for the Illawarra Region. The revised projections 

reduce Wollongong’s expected population increase to 2031 by 1900 people with the revised total 

population increase being 32,900 people.  The revised projections for the Illawarra Region however 

suggest an increase of 12,300 people above the Discussion Paper original projections of 52,300. This 

will equate to a revised total population increase of 64,600 people within the entire Illawarra Region 

by 2031, with the majority of the 12,300 population increase change being attributed to within 

Shellharbour City LGA. 

The revised population projections for the Wollongong LGA reduces the resultant dwelling projections 

by 2,700 downwards from the estimated 21,200 dwellings in the Discussion Paper to a revised total of 

18,500 dwellings (current update) within Wollongong LGA by 2031.  
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The revised population and dwelling numbers for Wollongong LGA represent a significant reduction in 

the estimates contained in the current Illawarra Regional Strategy (2007), which estimated a 

population increase of 37,270 persons and 26,300 dwellings in Wollongong LGA by 2031. 

In Council’s view, the Discussion Paper should have provided a range of alternate population 

scenarios based on different intrastate and interstate migration, housing demand, employment and 

infrastructure provision scenarios. Council is of the view that if the NSW Government committed to 

additional rail services and the duplication of the South Coast line, in order to improve rail travel times 

between Wollongong and the Sydney CBD, it is likely that the Illawarra would see increased intrastate 

migration. This would especially apply to people currently living in Sydney but seeking a more 

affordable housing option within the Illawarra, than the Sydney Metropolitan Region. 

The draft Illawarra Regional Growth Plan should include aspirational population figures for 

Wollongong LGA and the wider Illawarra Region, in attempt to stimulate economic and employment 

growth within the region through net migration increases and government relocation strategies from 

Sydney to the Illawarra. 

Council Response to Discussion Paper Questions 

1. How should the Plan focus on providing services and infrastructure to support 
balanced growth for the Region? 

The provision of services and infrastructure to support balanced urban growth needs to be based on 

clear data evidence and requires a whole of government approach towards planning and delivery. 

The NSW Department of Planning and Infrastructure will need to work together with the three (3) 

Councils and other state government agencies, in order to produce a truly integrated plan for 

balanced urban growth within the region.  

The Discussion Paper recognises that the planning system is insufficient on its own to deliver good 

housing, transport and employment outcomes (page 27). Therefore, cooperation with the 

development industry, community and especially other state government departments / agencies is 

vital. 

A major priority of Wollongong City Council and the NSW Department of Planning and Infrastructure 

is the efficient and sustainable delivery of the West Dapto Urban Release Area. However, to support 

sustainable urban growth, the infrastructure and growth of other areas within the Wollongong Local 

Government Area, particularly the Wollongong City Centre, also needs to be a priority supported by 

studies, resources and properly costed infrastructure plans. 

The draft targets for housing delivery in Wollongong over the next 20 years show a 50/50 split in 

detached housing and medium density and high density dwellings. Greenfield development, whilst 

extremely significant, cannot be expected to provide for the entirety of Wollongong’s housing needs 

over the next 20 years. Therefore, regional and local planning must also focus on how to best support 

infill and centre-based development across the city, considering housing demand trends and 

projections. 
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In Council’s view, more medium density housing along bus and rail transport corridors such as 

Wollongong City Centre and northwards to Thirroul is likely to be required, in order to cater for the 

expected population increase to 2031. The Regional Growth Plan needs to provide improved 

transport infrastructure as well as improved servicing, such as bus / rail timetabling to encourage the 

take-up of medium density housing along transport corridors. 

2. How should the Plan distribute housing targets across the Illawarra’s local 
government areas? 

An observation on the Discussion Paper is the inconsistency between the projected household types 

described in paragraph 3 of page 12, and the estimated breakdown of housing types needed, 

described in paragraph 5. The estimated housing type breakdowns (% of detached, medium density, 

high density needed) rely on historic housing preferences and do not seem to relate to the expected 

demographic changes described in paragraph 3. For example, if there is an increase in lone person 

households will historic housing preferences (based on a lower proportion of lone person preferences) 

cater to the needs and wants of these households? Other research would suggest lone person 

households may in many cases prefer smaller dwellings provided within medium and higher density 

dwelling types. 

It appears these historic preferences translate to the dwelling projections in Table 1, page 13. There is 

concern that if these projections are made into targets, housing supply will not match the needs of 

changing demographics. There is also the question of whether the Region wants to actively promote 

attraction or retention (for example university graduates) of certain demographic groups to live in the 

area. 

In the past 5 years the rate of new housing construction has slowed, affected by low take up rates and 

difficulties in bringing new houses to the market. The reasons for this and the relationship between 

housing and jobs needs to be further explored.  Economic activity and local jobs are key drivers in the 

demand for housing. By increasing job availability in the region we would increase demand for 

housing, which could then impact upon our demographic make-up.   

It is suggested that in order to impose targets on housing and housing types, the methodology in 

adopting such targets and reasons for such targets need to be clearly shown and justified. There is a 

need for more information on market and consumer choice of where people want to live. Further 

consultation with all Councils in the region, industry and the community would provide valuable data 

to inform decisions around housing targets.  

3. Should the plan encourage more medium density and multi-unit housing to be built, 
and if so, where or along which corridors? 

The Illawarra Regional Strategy (2007) promoted a housing supply mix of 50% low density, 35% 

medium density and 15% high density housing. A comparison of the 2011 and 2006 ABS census data 

reveals that new housing in the Wollongong LGA has been provided very close to the target 

proportions of the Illawarra Regional Strategy with 60.5% low density, 20.8% medium density and 
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19.1% high density dwellings being constructed. It is acknowledged that there has been an 

undersupply in medium density product, which may be related to financial lending constraints 

following the Global Financial Crisis (GFC). 

Apart from the West Dapto, Tallawarra and then Calderwood Release Areas, Wollongong LGA has 

little option but to increase housing density to accommodate its population growth into the future. 

Therefore, Wollongong City Council is supportive of encouraging medium density and multi-unit 

housing to be built in locations close to transport, shops, essential services and recreation.  

Planning for higher density housing along transport corridors such as railways and bus routes is only 

efficient if the means of transport is suitable for the activities of people living nearby. For example, if 

trains are infrequent, do not link efficiently to popular or useful destinations or rail stations are 

inaccessible or perceived as unsafe, it is unlikely that medium density development will be desirable 

on the basis of access to transport, until improvements to infrastructure are made. Situations such as 

these highlight the importance of cross-departmental and integrated planning.  

There is more work to be done in planning the delivery of medium-density and multi-unit housing in 

strategic locations.  The Wollongong City Centre should be of particular focus, given its Regional City 

status and potential to deliver higher density housing close to services and transport. 

In this regard, Council has commenced its Housing Strategy which will consider the future housing 

options for Wollongong LGA, in order to cater for its expected population increase of 32,900 people 

by 2031. The Housing Strategy is, at this stage, anticipated to be completed by mid 2014. In Council’s 

view, key issues identified in the Housing Strategy should be considered in the formulation of the final 

version of the Illawarra Regional Growth Plan (noting that the draft Illawarra Regional Growth Plan is 

currently anticipated to be released in April 2014 before Council’s Housing Strategy is completed). 

Conversations with the community and development industry are also vital in planning for medium 

and higher density development.  

4. How can the Plan help councils to plan for housing delivery? 

The Plan should provide direction for priority infrastructure projects, as well as long-term infrastructure 

plans and areas for employment growth, which can be used as an evidence base for assumptions on 

future housing demand and areas well-suited to encouraging medium-density development.  

The Plan can identify relationships or partnerships between state agencies and local councils that 

need to be established to deliver great outcomes. 

5. Should the Plan identify a role for the NSW Government to be more actively involved in 
the delivery of housing? 

The NSW Government can be more actively involved in the delivery of housing and infrastructure by 

providing data and information easily across state departments and to local councils and by ensuring 

planning strategies are adequately linked to transport, health, industry and other State level plans. 
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The NSW Government can assist local planning strategies through setting up industry forums, holding 

meetings or workshops with several departments and service/housing providers.  

In Wollongong, a significant opportunity exists for a partnership between Housing NSW, the 

Department of Planning and Infrastructure and Wollongong City Council to investigate and co-

ordinate re-development of key sites owned by Housing NSW which are reaching the end of their 

useful life. The land in attractive locations owned by Housing NSW is considered a significant 

resource that could deliver additional, well-designed affordable housing and communities for the 

future. 

6. How can the Plan ensure a sufficient supply of affordable housing? 

As above, there are significant opportunities to engage with NSW Housing to redevelop or Masterplan 

areas within their ownership for redevelopment. These sites could produce a mix of social housing, 

affordable housing and market priced dwellings. 

Student accommodation is another important feature of housing demand relevant to Wollongong, and 

this demographic generally require affordable housing close to transport and services. This is an 

issue that has not been raised in the Discussion Paper.  

Housing affordability is a significant issue for the Illawarra and NSW.  

In 2006, 81% of very low income private renters in Wollongong missed out on affordable housing. 

This 81% equates to 3200 dwellings.  Low income private renters were better placed to find affordable 

rental properties with a true shortage of 1100 households in the Wollongong area (AHURI May 2011).  

In 2011, the Department established the Affordable Housing Taskforce and hosted the Affordable 

Housing Forum. Council officers participated in one of the Taskforce Working Groups. However, the 

working group has not met for over a year.  Additionally, it is understood that the Taskforce prepared 

a draft report, but it has not been released. It will be difficult for the Regional Growth Plan to take a 

position on Housing Affordability, until a State-wide approach is determined. 

The Housing section of the Discussion Paper should have included discussion on the housing 

affordability issue since it is a significant issue in the region. State Government support and 

coordination across different state departments is essential for local councils to be confident in 

investigating and implementing mechanisms to encourage or deliver affordable housing. These 

mechanisms range from providing education to community around what affordable housing is, 

producing good design guidelines and demystifying density; to establishing public-private partnerships 

to deliver affordable housing developments.  

It is noted, that as part of the Standard LEP Template process, the Department did not support the 

inclusion of floor space bonuses or other initiatives proposed by Councils for Affordable Housing.  

Instead the Department has relied on the provisions of SEPP (Affordable Rental Housing). The 

Regional Growth Plan must identify how the State can support local government initiatives to 

encourage affordable housing. 
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The Department should review different home ownership schemes successfully used in other 

Australian States and how they could be applied to NSW, such as the variety of Keystart Home Loans 

in WA and the Affordable Homes Programs and Share Value Affordable Homes in SA.  Additionally, 

the Affordable Housing Taskforce established in 2011 should release its findings on the feasibility of 

using the Community Land Trust model for New South Wales, in recognition of international housing 

trends. 

Affordable housing targets may be achieved by applying an innovative combination of affordable 

housing test projects, partnerships and joint ventures, affordable housing levies, developer incentives, 

state and commonwealth government incentives, and demonstration financial models. 

5. Providing jobs and economic opportunities 

General Comments 

Jobs growth remains the region’s single biggest challenge. The unemployment figures for June 2013, 

reveal that the Illawarra Region’s unemployment rate of 6.9% outstripped the NSW average of 5.3% 

by 1.6 percentage points. If the percentage remains constant as the population grows, this number 

will increase in real terms. The aspirational reduction in the unemployment rate is supported. 

However, the Discussion Paper does little to guide how the reduction will be achieved.  

The Discussion Paper also fails to properly consider the changing nature of employment within the 

region and appears to place a greater emphasis on tracking and monitoring land for housing, than 

land for employment or job creation. 

In relation to industrial lands whilst the region does have a significant amount of zoned industrial land, 

it now appears that much of it is constrained or has limitations due to servicing issues. This topic was 

the subject of discussion at Council’s Economic Development Advisory Board meeting on 3 

September 2013 which was attended by a representative from the Department. From these 

discussions it would appear timely that some further analysis be undertaken around the future long 

term demand for industrial land.  

The Discussion Paper includes a chart showing the Illawarra’s employment by industry sector (pg 19).  

A time series could be used to show industry sector trends (see example below). In addition a 

comparison with NSW averages would also be useful.  This type of information is important in guiding 

the type of employment land needed for the future. 
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It is important to recognise that if the Region is to meet its projected jobs target, as set out in the 

Illawarra Discussion Paper, most of these jobs will need to come from the commercial and office 

based industry where the jobs per square metre are much higher than those for industrial land. 

Data obtained from REMPLAN (Council’s economic data and planning system) has shown that the 

City Centre of Wollongong employs the largest amount of people in the entire Illawarra region ie 

11,628 employed in the City Centre which increased to 20,810 when the City Centre fringe is taken 

into account (North Wollongong to Coniston and up to the hospital). This is far greater than the 

industrial areas of the region with Port Kembla only employing 7,042 and Unanderra 4,421. 

Just as bringing industrial land to the market requires coordinated effort, so does the release of 

commercial property.  Currently Wollongong has over 180,000 sqm of DA approved ‘A’ grade office 

space within the Wollongong City Centre. For this reason Council is in active discussions with the 

NSW Government regarding the relocation of government agencies to Wollongong as part of the 

NSW Government Decade of Decentralisation Strategy.   

Consideration should also be given to whether the Department’s Employment Lands Guidelines for 

the Illawarra (February 2008) needs revision. 
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Council Response to Discussion Paper Questions 
1. What could the Plan do to make the Region’s economy more resilient and adaptable to 

current economic challenges? 

As per the Draft Wollongong Economic Development Strategy 2013-23, Jobs growth remains the 

region’s single biggest challenge. This is reflected by the 20,000 workers commuting out of the region 

daily and unemployment figures for June 2013, which reveal that the Illawarra Region’s 

unemployment rate of 6.9% outstripped the NSW average of 5.3% by 1.6 percentage points.  

The Illawarra Regional Growth Plan should reinforce the regions current diversification from a heavy 

industry to a services industry. The Plan should align with the priority industry sectors that have been 

identified in Wollongong City Council’s Draft Economic Development Strategy 2013-23. These 

include: Advanced manufacturing, Business/Shared Services, Creative Industries, Education & 

Research, Health and Aged Care, Information Technology and Communications, Logistics, Mining 

Technologies and Services, Superannuation Administration and Tourism. Any barriers to these 

industries should also then be identified and infrastructure needs addressed. 
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2. How can the Plan improve local employment? 

The Illawarra Regional Growth Plan should support the State Government’s Decade of 

Decentralisation Strategy to encourage the relocation of more NSW Government jobs to the Illawarra. 

With Wollongong’s close proximity to Sydney, its existing labour force through graduates of UOW and 

the Commuter Pool and below average staff turnover rates, Wollongong can offer the State 

Government many advantages in addition to being a lower cost option than Sydney. The State 

Government’s recent investment in its DataCentre in Wollongong could also support additional jobs 

for the region. Pillar Administration can be used as an example of successful government relocation. 

Pillar relocated from Sydney to Wollongong over 10 years ago at which time they employed 350 staff, 

Pillar now employ 650 staff and have lower than industry average staff turnover rates.  

The Illawarra Regional Growth Plan needs to address the region’s commuter population. According to 

REMPLAN (Council’s economic data and planning system), 27,660 workers living in Wollongong 

commute to other Local Government Areas (LGAs) daily. This is made up of 14,708 workers 

commuting to Sydney daily. The top 5 Sydney LGAs Wollongong workers are commuting to are 

presented below in table 1. 

Table 1 – Breakdown of Commuters Working in Sydney 

Top 5 Sydney LGAs Number Percentage of Sydney Commuters 

Sydney (C) 3236 22% 

Sutherland Shire (A) 2761 18.8% 

Campbelltown (C) - NSW 1129 7.7% 

Wollondilly (A) 920 6.3% 

Botany Bay (C) 680 4.6% 

Others 5982 40.7% 

Total 14708 100.0% 

 

As reflected above in table 1, 22% of Wollongong workers commuting to Sydney are working in 

Sydney LGA where business costs are significantly higher than in Wollongong.   

The industries in which Wollongong commuters are employed are presented in Table 2.  

  



 

13 
 

Table 2– Outbound Workers Industry of Employment 

Industry Live in Wollongong (C) (Jun 
2013), work elsewhere 

Percentage 

Construction 3077 11.1% 

Health Care & Social Assistance 2826 10.2% 

Education & Training 2766 10.0% 

Public Administration & Safety 2580 9.3% 

Manufacturing 2330 8.4% 

Retail Trade 2300 8.3% 

Transport, Postal & Warehousing 2034 7.4% 

Professional, Scientific & Technical 
Services 

1637 5.9% 

Accommodation & Food Services 1288 4.7% 

Mining 1122 4.1% 

Administrative & Support Services 1043 3.8% 

Other Services 990 3.6% 

Financial & Insurance Services 957 3.5% 

Wholesale Trade 919 3.3% 

Information Media & Telecommunications 491 1.8% 

Arts & Recreation Services 472 1.7% 

Electricity, Gas, Water & Waste Services 418 1.5% 

Rental, Hiring & Real Estate Services 290 1.0% 

Agriculture, Forestry & Fishing 118 0.4% 

Total 27660 100.0% 
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As identified in the above table, the industries in which commuters are employed in are diverse. 

Construction, health care & social assistance and education & training are the three largest employers 

of Wollongong commuters. Public administration & safety and professional services also account for a 

significant proportion, with public administration employing 9.3% of Wollongong’s commuters. When 

you add professional services, administrative services, other services, financial and insurance 

services and information media and telecommunications; another 5118 workers or 18.5% of 

commuters are accounted for, demonstrating the significant proportion of commuters engaged in 

professional services. 

The Department in conjunction with the local Councils should also consider the future long term 

demand for employment land in the Illawarra, including industrial land. 

3. How can the Plan ensure investment in infrastructure supports economic growth? 

The region has suffered from a lack of infrastructure funding over the past decade. Private investment 

in commercial office space has suffered the most since the Global Financial Crisis (GFC). In the 

Wollongong CBD the only new commercial buildings that have been built in recent years have been 

ones for owner occupiers that are the AHM and ING (OnePath) buildings. Since the GFC commercial 

finance has tightened requiring developers to secure 70 percent pre-committed tenants. The only way 

to achieve such pre-tenant commitments is to secure a government tenant which has been the case 

with the new Australian Taxation Office. Wollongong has a less than one percent vacancy in A Grade 

commercial space due to the lack of availability. There is currently 180,000 sqm of DA approved 

commercial space that is awaiting development.  The Plan needs to investigate ways in which to 

stimulate private investment and unlock some of these developments. 

Investment in the servicing of industrial lands is also required. With all previous reports and audits 

indicating that there is a surplus of industrial lands there needs to be strategies identified that could 

unlock these parcels of land. The servicing of these lands will need significant investment but without 

government funding the Plan needs to identify what other means it can access and whether it will 

provide the required return on investment. 

‘Employment lands’ is the term most commonly used to describe industrial lands despite the economy 

moving towards a serviced based industry and the Wollongong CBD employing the most amount of 

people in the entire Region with 11,628 jobs expanding to 20,810 when taking into account the CBD 

fringe, hence forming the most significant employment locality in the region.  

Key employment generating infrastructure projects should also be identified and prioritised in order of 

greatest economic impact such as the Maldon Dombarton Rail Link and other employment generating 

projects. 
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4. What could be included in the Plan so that the Illawarra’s centres can better support 
residential and employment growth, as well as meet community expectations about 
services and facilities that are available? 

Over the last 12 months, Council has completed studies of the Warrawong, Figtree and Unanderra 

Town Centres and has adopted implementation strategies.  A key action for the Unanderra Town 

Centre is the provision of universal access at Unanderra Rail Station, which is clearly a State 

Government responsibility. The support of the RMS is required for a number of actions at all three 

centres. These strategies have been developed with input from the State agencies and now require 

the State to support this implementation, which in turn will provide for residential and employment 

growth, increased safety and amenity. 

Council is also working towards making the Wollongong CBD a vibrant, liveable centre. This includes 

increasing the number of residents and businesses in the city centre to ensure street activation day 

and night. The key to success for the activation of the City Centre will be further population growth 

within the Wollongong CBD. 

Council has initiated a Live Music Taskforce and is commencing an Evening Economy Strategy to 

further develop the City Centre and build on the strong private sector investment over the last 12 

months with the opening of 10 new small bars, cafes and galleries. 

Over the next 12 months, Council will also be reviewing the Corrimal Town Centre, with the 

assistance of relevant State agencies and community input. 

5. What roles should the Plan define for the Region’s centres, in particular Wollongong 
CBD, the Innovation Campus and Shellharbour City Centre? 

The Plan should support Wollongong City Council’s planning processes for the Wollongong City 

Centre such as the Wollongong City Centre Master Plan and the review of the Wollongong 

Revitalisation Strategy. It is not the role of the Regional Growth Plan to have specific controls for 

these places, which should be part of the Local Plans. 

Part of the future success of Illawarra both socially and economically will be determined by its ability 

to deliver on best practice urban design outcomes both in Wollongong City Centre and the outer 

urban centres. The importance of active street frontages, vibrant spaces, increased residential density 

and a diverse evening economy will culminate to deliver centres where people want to live, want to 

play and most importantly want to work.  

As workplace habits change and retail environments move online, our centres and these factors 

become increasingly important. The Plan must allow our centres to shift away from the traditional 

monofunctional place focused on a single area of a person’s life; be that work, living, or 

retail/entertainment - into multifunctional places that combine these offerings so that our centres are 

active and vibrant. 



 

16 
 

There is a significant amount of investment currently coming in to our city for large scale construction 

projects. This can partly be attributed to a renewed focus on getting the street level components of 

our city right first. The city has seen more than 10 small bars, cafes and galleries open in a matter of 

months. 

This renewed focus on energy in our city centre is acting as a catalyst for other operators with 

Council’s Economic Development team currently taking enquiries and working closely with a number 

of small business operators looking to get involved with Wollongong’s ever growing and thriving 

cosmopolitan scene. The flow on effects are significant in the development industry. 

6. Providing Efficient Transport Networks 

General Comments 

The Discussion Paper (page 21) acknowledges that “The Illawarra’s transport network connects the 

industrial, commercial and residential areas of the Region to Sydney, the Southern Highlands and the 

South Coast. The network provides an essential link for passenger, tourist and freight movements 

within the Illawarra and those destined for Sydney and regional centres of NSW.” 

The Discussion Paper (page 21) states that “public transport use can increase if we make the most of 

the existing network. Improved bus services must be able to compete with private car use and we 

need to provide better access to rail services and improve the integration of services.” 

Notwithstanding this, the Discussion Paper provides little detail on the NSW Government’s plans to 

improve public transport services, especially rail services. Instead, the Discussion Paper notes past 

infrastructure investments. 

In this regard, Council is particularly concerned about the recent rail timetable changes which have 

bypassed or markedly reduced the level of service to important rail stations along the South Coast 

line. The reduction in the frequency of train services is likely to work against both the NSW 

Government’s and Council’s urban consolidation initiatives of increasing medium density housing, 

near railway stations. Limiting rail services is clearly contradictory to the goal of increasing housing 

density along transport corridors into the future. 

In Council’s view, the NSW Government will need to heavily invest in rail infrastructure in the Illawarra 

Region over the next 20 years, so as to encourage greater public transport usage by Illawarra 

residents, commuting to / from Sydney, rather than significant additional car trips being generated. 

The Free Gong Bus Shuttle service for example has proven to be a success for residents within the 

Wollongong LGA. Council acknowledges the role the NSW Government has played in providing this 

bus service. It is noted that housing is more desirable in locations in close proximity to the bus route, 

demonstrating that if a frequent, safe service is available, people will use it. Conversely, the reduction 

in train services may in the medium term, actually reduce the desirability and patronage of the 

passenger rail service. 
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The Discussion Paper (page 21) also acknowledges that the upgrading and improvement to transport 

infrastructure in the Illawarra is important to support the increased use of public transport. In this 

regard, Wollongong and Dapto railway stations will be upgraded as part of the NSW Government’s 

Transport Access Plan. 

The Discussion Paper (page 21) also notes that the Illawarra Region is home to 185,000 private 

vehicles (or 1.7 vehicles per household). The Discussion Paper states that the NSW Government is 

working with Wollongong City Council and Shellharbour City Council to assess the impacts of land 

releases in West Dapto, Tallawarra and Calderwood on local and state road networks.  

Council’s traffic model for the West Dapto, Calderwood and Tallawarra developments demonstrates 

that upgrades to the F6 freeway by the RMS, the provision of public transport and upgrades to Dapto 

Rail Station are required to support the urban development in these areas. The Regional Growth Plan 

should include these necessary infrastructure upgrades. 

The Discussion Paper (page 21) also states that “work is continuing to further refine the design, timing 

and funding arrangements for the delivery of required road infrastructure works. Previously identified 

regional road upgrades to support this growth include the widening of the F6 and sections of the 

Princes and Illawarra Highways and a number of new ramps and interchanges on the F6.” 

Both the Australian and NSW Governments have committed to jointly fund an upgrade to Mount 

Ousley Road that will add slow vehicle climbing lanes between Picton Road and Bulli Tops. This is 

considered a critical infrastructure project given the increase in heavy vehicle traffic to / from the Port 

of Port Kembla and other industrial areas in the region. However, the Discussion Paper fails to 

mention the future Bulli Pass corridor that has been acquired by RMS or when Memorial Drive 

(formerly the Northern Distributor) will be extended to the west of Bulli. 

The Discussion Paper (page 22) states that the NSW Long Term Transport Master Plan, its 

supporting Illawarra Regional Transport Plan and the future Illawarra Regional Growth Plan are being 

developed concurrently so that all the plans work together to improve land use and transport planning 

decision making.  Council supports this approach.  These documents should also be publicly 

exhibited together with the Regional Infrastructure Plan(s). 

Whilst the Discussion Paper (page 8) acknowledges that 17% of the Region’s workers commute to 

Sydney, there is little detail of any plans to improve public transport services, especially rail services 

sufficient to reverse the trend in the increasing rate of private car use by these commuters.  

The decentralisation of government agencies to the Illawarra would in particular provide a number of 

positive outcomes, including: 

i. Social benefits by reducing the number of local residents having to commute to Sydney; 

ii. Economic benefits to relocated government agencies and private sector companies in terms 

of lower wage costs and higher employee retention rates; 

iii. Opportunity to utilise contra-flow rail infrastructure capacity (with reduced rail fares for contra-

flow rail passenger travel similar to or less than off peak fare cost); 
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iv. Extended capacity of Sydney-Wollongong transport infrastructure. 

The flow-on/multiplier effect of such a relocation policy has the potential to provide significant stimulus 

to the Illawarra Regional economy whilst also taking some pressure off demands being placed on 

Sydney’s transport infrastructure. 

Freight Movements 

The Discussion Paper (page 22) acknowledges that “..a more efficient freight network will enable the 

Port of Port Kembla to be a hub for international trade and investment.” 

Freight capacity constraints on the South Coast Line between Wollongong (Port Kembla) and Sydney 

are already impacting on local industry. For example, a national rail operator has recently advised the 

NSW Department of Planning and Infrastructure that a path for a third daily train to carry aggregate 

from a proposed expansion of a Dunmore quarry was not available. This rail network capacity 

constraint on the movement of local freight will result in additional tonnages being carried on-road to 

Sydney. Therefore, additional rail capacity on the South Coast line is urgently required. The limitations 

on rail freight, increases the pressure for increased road freight movements. 

The Discussion Paper (page 22) also states that the “Maldon to Dombarton rail corridor is viewed as a 

potential solution to supporting increased economic activity and a more efficient freight network by 

providing a more direct connection between Port Kembla and Western Sydney. In August 2012, the 

Australian Government announced that approval had been given to release $25.5 million to Transport 

for NSW to complete the planning and detailed design work. Once the pre-construction activities are 

complete, strategies will be developed and discussions held with the Australian Government 

regarding funding for the project.” 

In Council’s view, the fast tracking of the current planning studies into the Maldon to Dombarton rail 

link is critical to the region’s and state’s future freight network and the continued growth of the Port of 

Port Kembla. Therefore, Council requests that this infrastructure project be included in the draft 

Illawarra Regional Growth Plan and that it be identified and properly funded in the future Regional 

Transport Plan and Regional Infrastructure Plan(s). 

Council’s response to Discussion Paper Questions 
1. How can the Plan ensure that land use planning in the Illawarra contributes to the 

efficient movement of people and goods within the region? 

The Discussion Paper fails to mention public transport strategies and plans for the 30,000 new 

dwellings in the West Dapto, Tallawarra and Calderwood Release Areas. This represents a major 

weakness of the Discussion Paper. 

The Discussion Paper however, mentions the NSW Government’s initiatives to plan, fund and deliver 

the necessary road infrastructure to these new areas. However, it is considered the detailed 

strategies or policies committing to achieve the state agreed 15% transport mode shift is critical for 

inclusion in the Regional Growth Plan. 
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Therefore, in Council’s view, the draft Illawarra Regional Growth Plan needs to address the public 

transport strategies / priorities and associated infrastructure requirements for the West Dapto, 

Tallawarra and Calderwood Release Areas as well as identify existing or improved public transport 

strategies for established ‘infill’ areas. 

The Illawarra Regional Growth Plan also needs to be undertaken in conjunction with the Regional 

Transport Plan and the Regional Infrastructure Plan in order to ensure that any infrastructure 

commitments identified in the Regional Growth Plan are properly funded and delivered through the 

Regional Transport Plan and / or Regional Infrastructure Plan. 

2. How can the Plan encourage more people to use alternate forms of transport, such as 
public transport? 

The Illawarra Regional Growth Plan should link with the NSW Government’s Long Term Transport 

Master Plan in order to improve public transport initiatives within the region. 

The Regional Growth Plan needs to work in conjunction with the Regional Transport Plan in 

identifying future infrastructure improvements to the South Coast railway line, including duplication of 

the rail line between Stanwell Park and Thirroul and south to Unanderra, in order to boost passenger 

and freight movement capacity on the line.  

In Council’s view, the duplication of the South Coast line together with increased train services in the 

medium term would make the Illawarra Region a very attractive housing location by providing 

residents improved commuter services between Sydney and the Illawarra. This may in turn 

encourage greater net migration to the Illawarra and would encourage the development of more 

medium density housing within suburbs between Wollongong City Centre and northwards to Thirroul 

in proximity to the rail line over the next 20 years. The duplication of the South Coast rail line would 

also improve additional freight movement capacity for local industries within the region. 

The Regional Growth Plan should also consider an improved bus network around Lake Illawarra, in 

order to encourage urban consolidation along these bus corridors. 

3. How should the Plan best integrate with the Long Term Transport Master Plan and 
facilitate access to major economic hubs such as the Wollongong City Centre, 
Innovation Campus and the Port of Port Kembla? 

The Regional Growth Plan should integrate with the Long Term Transport Master Plan, Regional 

Transport Plan and the Regional Infrastructure Plan and should facilitate improved public transport 

and access arrangements to major economic hubs within the region, including the Port of Port 

Kembla, as well as Port Kembla and Unanderra industrial areas, Wollongong City Centre and the 

Innovation Campus.  

The Regional Growth Plan should also ensure that the free shuttle bus service to the Wollongong City 

Centre and the Innovation Campus is maintained for the next 20+ years, in order to encourage public 

transport usage to / from these economic hubs and continued investment in the locality. 
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4. How can the Plan integrate transport and land use planning to efficiently connect the 
Illawarra to other regions? 

In Council’s view, the fast tracking of the Maldon to Dombarton rail link is critical to the region’s and 

state’s future freight network and the continued growth of the Port of Port Kembla. Therefore, Council 

considers that the construction of the Maldon - Dombarton freight line should be expedited. This 

project should be included in the draft Illawarra Regional Growth Plan and also identified as one of the 

key infrastructure projects for the region and properly funded in the associated Regional Transport 

Plan and Regional Infrastructure Plan(s). 

Enhanced road links to and from the Southern Highlands/Goulburn/Canberra as well as the South 

Coast are also urgently required, on both user safety and economic grounds. 

The strengthening of the role of the Illawarra Regional Airport at Albion Park Rail is also 

recommended in the Regional Growth Plan. 

The Regional Growth Plan should be tied to complementary infrastructure contributions plans such as 

the Draft Illawarra State Infrastructure Contributions Plan. The contributions plan must be supported 

by a strong funding commitment from the NSW Government to ensure that public transport and road 

infrastructure commitments are delivered on time. 

7. Providing the Infrastructure We Need 

General Comments 

The Discussion Paper (page 24) indicates that the “NSW Government is committed to planning for 

and delivering infrastructure for the Illawarra Region. Through the long term lease of the Port of Port 

Kembla, a $100 million of the proceeds will be directed to local infrastructure investment.” 

However, Council reiterates its previous comments to the NSW Government that it considers that the 

$100 million allocated from the proceeds of the port lease should be spent on infrastructure projects 

within the three (3) LGAs in the Illawarra Region only. 

The Discussion Paper (page 24) also notes that “the Port of Port Kembla directly and indirectly 

sustains over 3,500 jobs and contributes $418 million to the regional economy each year. The port is 

the only port in NSW that is capable of receiving motor vehicles and continues to play an important 

role in the export of coal (average 14 million tonnes per year) and grain (average of 1.2 million tonnes 

per year) and provides opportunities for the carriage of iron ore and the shipment of steel and steel 

products.”  

In this regard, Council considers that the Port of Port Kembla will remain a key employer in the region 

for the next 20+ years. Therefore, Council reiterates its comments that the duplication of the South 

Coast rail line together with the construction of the Maldon – Dombarton freight line should be major 

rail infrastructure project priorities for the region. This would improve freight handling capacities to / 

from the port and provide significant flow on benefits to other industries connected to the port. 
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The Discussion Paper (page 24) states that the “Wollongong City Centre is the Region’s commercial 

hub and accounts for over 19,000 jobs in business services, health, retail and tourism. The centre is 

expected to accommodate an additional 10,000 jobs by 2031.  

The revitalisation of the Wollongong City Centre will support and enhance commercial business 

opportunities which are particularly important given that demand for office space in the Wollongong 

CBD has been on the rise, especially for A-grade office space. 

Plans for the revitalisation of the Wollongong City Centre are consistent with NSW 2021 to build 

liveable centres that are great places to live and work. Funding for revitalisation works has been 

committed from the Australian Government ($5 million) and Wollongong City Council ($10 million) with 

the completed works aiming to create a modern and vibrant city centre to attract investment and 

people into the City.” 

In this regard, Council acknowledges the continued support of the NSW Government towards the 

revitalisation of Wollongong City Centre. 

The proposed growth in the Region needs to be supported by physical and social infrastructure. The 

Discussion Paper lists current and known initiatives, but fails to mention existing knowledge gaps.  

For example, what is the capacity of existing infrastructure in developed suburbs – what is the 

capacity of the existing water supply and sewerage systems, road network and public transport 

systems. Without this knowledge, how can “growth corridors” be properly evaluated.  Which locations 

have capacity, as opposed to which locations need substantial, costly infrastructure upgrades to 

support additional housing or employment. 

In terms of Social and Health infrastructure, it is noted that NSW Health’s Illawarra Shoalhaven Local 

Health District Health Care Services Plan is for the period 2011-2022, whereas the needs for the 

expected population growth to 2031 needs to be considered. In 2012, NSW Health closed the 

Emergency Department at Bulli Hospital. On the positive side, a number of private operators are 

seeking to establish private hospitals to supplement the provision of State Health services. 

1. How can the Plan ensure essential infrastructure is in place at the right time to support 
economic development and new housing? 

The Regional Growth Plan should be aligned with the Regional Infrastructure Plan and the Regional 

Transport Plan, in order to ensure that infrastructure is programmed and delivered at the same time 

as new subdivision / housing is developed. 

The Regional Growth Plan should also be aligned with relevant infrastructure contributions plans, 

including the Illawarra State Contributions Plan. The contributions plans should identify the 

infrastructure to be provided and the contributions / funding proposed by each level of government. 

2. How can the Plan support key economic infrastructure such as the port, transport 
corridors and freight routes in a more proactive way? 
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The Regional Growth Plan needs to be developed in conjunction with the Regional Transport Plan 

and the Regional Infrastructure Plan so that key infrastructure can be properly funded and delivered 

when necessary to support key economic drivers such as the Port of Port Kembla, Wollongong City 

Centre, Innovation Campus etc.  

In Council’s view, the construction of the Maldon – Dombarton rail line is critical infrastructure which 

will markedly improve freight movements to /from the Port of Port Kembla and the industrial areas of 

Port Kembla, Unanderra and Kembla Grange. 

The duplication of the South Coast rail line is also recommended in order to improve passenger train 

services as well as provide a catalyst to increased medium density housing developments around 

railway stations between Wollongong and Thirroul over the next 20+ years.  

The Regional Growth Plan together with the Regional Transport Plan should identify public transport 

initiatives for the new release areas of West Dapto, Tallawarra and Calderwood. 

The Regional Growth Plan in conjunction with the Regional Transport Plan and Regional 

Infrastructure Plan should also prioritise the construction and appropriate funding of the extension of 

the F6 from the Oak Flats Interchange to the Yallah Interchange, in order to redress potential road 

congestion issues emerging from the new West Dapto and Calderwood release areas. 

3. Should the Plan guide greater involvement from the private sector in infrastructure 
provision. If so, how? 

Yes. A framework for why, how and what the private sector should have the opportunity to be involved 

in is positive. However, there must be clear regulation/control to ensure that the standard of 

infrastructure that is provided by the private sector caters for agreed long term capacity and is not 

delivered in a manner that minimises upfront capital cost and increases the future maintenance costs 

to government. 

If a clear list of infrastructure along with potential funding mechanisms is developed between State 

and Local Government, the private sector would be able to respond to this in a similar manner to a 

Local Infrastructure Contributions Plan. In this situation, the private sector will have the ability to 

provide an infrastructure item at a time that is better aligned to their development programs. Sufficient 

flexibility would need to be allowed for the private sector to be able to suggest alternate proposals to 

meet the outcomes sought by the infrastructure. This would include ensuring that the amended 

Planning Legislation does not restrict the use of Voluntary Planning Agreement that can assist in 

facilitating private sector involvement. 

4. Should the Plan consider new funding mechanisms for major infrastructure? If so, 
what could these mechanisms be? 

Yes. Appropriate new funding mechanisms should be investigated. In the same way that tolls are 

utilised for major road projects, the concept of funding a proportion of the cost of infrastructure directly 

from the users/beneficiaries of the infrastructure is positive. For example, if upgrades to Mount Ousley 
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Road are undertaken to accommodate the increased freight movements to / from the port than a 

proportion of the cost could be collected through fees associated to the use of the port by logistics 

companies and the port operators who both directly benefit from the increased freight movements in 

and out of the port. 

Any new funding mechanism for major infrastructure should not involve cost shifting onto local 

government. 

8. Providing access to a great lifestyle 

General Comments 

The Discussion Paper (page 27) indicates that “housing affordability and social equity are among the 

more challenging issues to be addressed through a strategic land use and planning framework that: 

• Ensures the design of new estates is sustainable and caters for the future needs of the 

community. 

• Provides sufficient zoned and serviced land in locations desired by the market to allow enough 

housing to be developed to meet demand. 

• Ensures that the renewal of centres and neighbourhoods provides for more diversity and 

enhances access to services and social opportunities. 

• Understands the relationship between housing supply and demand in providing for affordable 

housing. 

• Provides the right mix of conditions to encourage employment and economic development.” 

Council fully agrees with the commentary in the Discussion Paper (page 27) that housing affordability 

represents a major concern for the Illawarra Region, given the following: 

• Fifty-four per cent of low income households in the region were in rental stress and 49 per cent 

were in house purchase stress in 2006. 

• In December 2011, only five per cent of purchase stock was affordable for low income 

households and only 35 per cent was affordable for moderate income households. At the same 

time, only 42 per cent of rental stock was affordable for low income households. 

In response, the Discussion Paper (page 27) indicates that a key response to address housing 

affordability is to ensure an adequate supply of land for a range of housing. There are also a number 

of different social and community housing providers attempting to provide affordable housing to those 

in need in the region. 

The Discussion Paper (page 27) acknowledges that neighbourhood planning principles have been 

followed by councils to support the development of new suburbs and revitalised centres, including 

WCC’s development of the Warrawong Regional Centre Study and Revitalisation Strategy which will 

guide long term development in the centre to deliver jobs, housing and public areas that encourage 

community interaction. 
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However, the Discussion Paper fails to mention the work of the Affordable Housing Taskforce. In 

Council’s view, the findings and conclusions of the Affordable Housing Taskforce should be 

considered in the formulation of the draft Illawarra Regional Growth Plan. 

The Regional Growth Plan should also acknowledge the recreational, environmental and social 

values and economic benefits that the escarpment and beaches play across the region and how 

these landscapes foster a unique lifestyle opportunity for residents within the Illawarra. The Regional 

Growth Plan should also target tourism programs which promote these natural attributes.  

The Regional Growth Plan should also identify key parks within the region since parks play a 

significant role in contributing to a ‘great lifestyle’ for residents and tourists. Parks provide the 

following benefits: 

• Economic benefits: provide ecosystem services to sustain life, improves economic 

competitiveness, adds value to localities, supports recreation and tourism industries. 

• Health benefits: physical and psychological. 

• Amenity benefits: improves regional and local liveability, provides a focus/identity to town 

centres. 

• Cultural benefits: expresses cultural diversity and identity. 

• Education benefits: creates opportunities to socialise, learn to be healthy and learn about 

natural and cultural heritage. 

• Environmental benefits: contributes to clean air and water, protects biodiversity and provide an 

understanding of nature. 

The NSW Government could promote alignment to the Premier’s Council for Active Living NSW 

Active Living Principles to deliver ‘great lifestyle’. These principles are based on: 

• Walkability & Connectivity; 

• Active Travel Alternatives; 

• Legibility; 

• Quality Public Domain; and 

• Social Interaction & Inclusion. 

Additionally, reference should be made to the Healthy Spaces & Places National Guide (Planning 

Institute of Australia) with regards to land use planning. These design principles should be supported 

by NSW Government as the standards for development in the Illawarra to foster ‘great lifestyles’. 

Council Response to Discussion Paper Questions 

1. How can the Plan address disadvantage in specific places and which places should be a 
priority? 

The “disadvantage” term is not defined in the Discussion Paper. However, in Council’s view, the 

Regional Growth Plan should set the framework for targeted infrastructure, affordable housing, 

employment and community services / programs, in order to address socio-economic disadvantage in 
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specific suburbs within the region. The Regional Growth Plan should identify disadvantaged suburbs 

within the region, based upon their Socio –Economic indexes for Area (SEIFA) score. In this regard, a 

number of suburbs in Wollongong LGA are ranked high in NSW’s most disadvantaged suburbs, 

namely: Warrawong, Cringila, Bellambi, Koonawarra, Berkeley, Unanderra, Brownsville and Fernhill. 

 

The Regional Growth Plan should address disadvantage (defined by SEIFA Index scores) by 

ensuring regional infrastructure, transport networks, affordable housing and job opportunities are 

strategically planned in places within or near these disadvantaged suburbs. The appropriate location 

of regional services and facilities to areas of low SEIFA scores will provide improved and equitable 

access and contribute to addressing disadvantage aspects of these places. 

 

2. Should the Plan set targets and service standards for levels of service, or are there other 
ways to improve access to opportunities? 
 

The Regional Growth Plan should set targets and service standards which are measurable, realistic 

and achievable. Targets and service standards should use recognised regional and state social 

indicators. It is recommended that the indicators be modelled on the indicators identified in each 

Council’s Community Strategic Plan. 

 

Any decisions on standards of levels of service need to be made by NSW government agencies, 

Councils and the non-government service providers. Setting targets at the start of the planning cycle 

will only be effective if these levels of service are regularly monitored and updated throughout the life 

of the Regional Growth Plan. 

 

3. How can the Plan better promote cultural opportunities across the Illawarra? 

Council fully supports any state government initiatives towards the investment in cultural 

infrastructure. The Regional Growth Plan should also recognise the socio-economic benefits of 

cultural activities. The Regional Growth Plan should further recognise the strong role that cultural 

opportunities play in terms of improvements to the wellbeing of residents.  

4. How can the Plan ensure an adequate supply of adaptable and accessible housing for 
older people? 

A whole-of-government approach is required between the three tiers of government and the public 

and private housing sector, in order to address the supply of adaptable and accessible housing for the 

elderly.  

The Regional Growth Plan should specifically identify the NSW Government’s role in providing 

adaptable and accessible housing for older people with funding commitments for this housing form 

also being identified in the Regional Infrastructure Plan.  

The Regional Growth Plan should also commit to suitable public transport infrastructure being 

provided to suburbs where there is a high number of aged and disabled housing, in order to provide 
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daily access by elderly residents to shopping, medical and recreational facilities. In this regard, the 

Regional Growth Plan should encourage new adaptable and accessible housing to be primarily 

located in areas either close to major commercial centres or close to high frequency public transport 

services. 

5. How can the Plan help local Councils manage and adapt recreational facilities and open 
space? 

The Regional Growth Plan should help local Councils manage and adapt recreational facilities and 

open space through: 

• A commitment to building partnerships between state government agencies (e.g. Department of 

Education and Training and the impact their approach towards fencing off public schools from 

community use or Housing NSW and the need for them to plan in partnership with local 

Councils). 

• Support funding initiatives for regionally significant sporting and recreation facilities. 

• Reinforce the need for parks, community, sporting facilities and open spaces to be strategically 

incorporated into the Region’s planning (i.e. as important as transport planning). 

The Regional Growth Plan should also draw upon the National Urban Policy Principles with specific 

reference to the principle of ‘Equity’ (improving the quality of the public domain and public health 

outcomes) and ‘Affordability’ (enhancing access to cultural, sporting and recreational activity). 

9. Protecting Our Environment and Building Resilience to Natural Hazards 

General Comments 

The Discussion Paper suggests that a large proportion of the Illawarra’s environment is already 

protected. Whilst not specified, we assume this is referring to escarpment and other lands zoned E2. 

This statement fails to recognise the threat to these areas from a range of sources including potential 

future development and catchment disturbance, and the introduction of weeds and pest animals. 

A large part of the E2 zoned land in the Wollongong Local Government Area is drinking water 

catchment special areas. The protection of these important environmental E2 zoned lands is 

significantly weakened by the State Environmental Planning Policy (Mining, Petroleum Production and 

Extractive Industries) 2007 which permits coal seam gas mining in sensitive water catchment areas.  

Council has made numerous representations to the State government seeking to protect the Sydney 

Drinking Water Catchment from coal seam gas mining activities. The Regional Growth Plan should 

recognise the importance of these lands to the region’s and state’s economy by excluding coal seam 

gas mining from these areas. 

In terms of pest animals, wild deer are a significant biodiversity and social issue for the Illawarra. With 

increased urban development, a large wild deer population is increasingly likely to come into contact 

with urban areas. The management of deer should be identified as a regional issue in the new plan. 
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The action should be to support landscape wide deer control efforts such as that currently being 

undertaken by the Northern Illawarra Wild Deer Management Program. 

The Discussion Paper identifies the importance of environmental outcomes and indicates that the 

Illawarra Biodiversity Strategy, Illawarra Natural Resource Management Action Plan and LEPs seek 

to support growth whilst preserving key environmental assets like biodiversity corridors across the 

Region. Biodiversity corridors and the ownership and management of these lands is also discussed.  

In some cases, there is inherent conflict in the identification of lands for future urban growth and their 

importance from a biodiversity perspective. The Regional Growth Plan should seek to resolve this 

conflict wherever possible through supporting strategies such as Biocertification where a ‘neutral or 

beneficial’ outcome is achieved for biodiversity with the potential for funding for the ongoing 

management of these preserved lands, while at the same time facilitating the supply of housing in 

areas earmarked for development. 

The Regional Growth Plan should support and reinforce the strategies and actions of existing 

documents such as the Illawarra Biodiversity Strategy, the Illawarra Escarpment Strategic 

Management Plan, and the Pest Animal Management Policy and Management Plans. The Illawarra 

Biodiversity Strategy in particular was developed by the three (3) Illawarra Councils (Wollongong City 

Council, Shellharbour City Council and Kiama Council) in 2011 since it has long been recognised in 

the Illawarra that investment in natural resource management and environmental management is best 

managed at a regional level. The Strategy consolidates the Illawarra Councils commitments to a 

range of higher order targets set at the national, state and regional level, and these should be 

recognised in the Regional Growth Plan.  The Plan should recognise the need for connectivity of high 

conservation vegetation of the escarpment and coastal plain to be preserved and maximised.  Priority 

vegetation community types and Endangered Ecological Communities (EECs), such as those flagged 

in the Illawarra Biodiversity Strategy 2011, should also be flagged in the Regional Growth Plan as 

high priority.  

The Discussion Paper outlines the need to identify and mitigate the impacts of natural hazards.  

Climate change brings new and significant pressures as a result of a range of physical changes to the 

environment, including changes to average temperatures, rainfall, rising sea levels, increased 

incidence of storm events, and bushfire. It is well recognised that areas of high biodiversity, with more 

resilient ecosystems are better able to adapt and respond to change and disturbance. 

Council challenges the view of the NSW Government that the best response to a changing climate is 

to ensure that local communities have the best available tools to assess climate risks.  Instead, 

Council suggests the State government is better placed to analyse scientific data and provide 

consistency in the interpretation of this information (eg. Sea Level Rise benchmarks).  This will allow 

local government to focus its resources on managing the response to these risks at a local/regional 

level.   
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Council Response to Discussion Paper Questions 

1. How can the Plan ensure appropriate environmental management in the Region while 
still meeting the housing and economic needs of a growing population?  

Increasing densities around existing town centres and transport nodes will assist in meeting the 

housing and economic needs of a growing population while minimising conflict with important 

environmental lands. For greenfield development, the Regional Growth Plan should support strategies 

such as biocertification which identifies areas of high environmental value for conservation and 

protection and areas suitable for urban development.  

2. What kind of mechanisms for the management of environmental values on private lands, 
such as escarpment areas, should be included in the plan?  

Funded management agreements are the best available mechanism to ensure active management of 

conservation values. They also guarantee a funding stream for future management actions in priority 

conservation sites. 

On private land, development consent is currently often conditioned with Vegetation Management 

Plans to ensure a short term management commitment. The management of important conservation 

areas is however currently limited by the availability of funding and the ability to enforce mechanisms 

to ensure active management is undertaken.  

Ideally, a funding stream or other incentives could be directed to the strategic and active management 

of high conservation value areas to assist private land owners.  

A region wide environmental monitoring program should be established to monitor changes in 

environmental conditions, the same way as the Plan will consider lot yields and viability. 

3. What specific land use responses could be included in the Plan to help mitigate and 
adapt to a changing climate?  

The Plan should identify a consistent, state-wide approach for land use strategies to mitigate and 

adapt to a changing climate.  These strategies should consider the impact of further intensification of 

land in already developed areas that are clearly at risk from a changing climate.  In green-field areas, 

a risk based approach should be used to ensure that land use is consistent with the level of risk. 

Climate change mitigation relates to management and reduction of energy consumption and 

greenhouse gas emissions.  The Regional Growth Plan should identify strategies to be actively 

pursued to reduce corporate and community greenhouse gas emissions.  In 2009, Council prepared a 

Climate Change Adapation Strategy and Action Plan.  This was prepared to provide a coordinated 

and regional approach to tackling the challenges which climate change will present.  The Regional 

Growth Plan should consider the strategies and actions identified in these documents. 
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4. How can the Plan improve the approach to planning and development in areas that could 
be at risk from natural hazards?  

The Discussion Paper suggests that the State will provide expert information and the necessary tools 

to local communities to enable them to understand the impact of natural hazards and a changing 

climate and allow them to undertake appropriate planning and development actions as they see fit.  

However, with this approach, there is a risk of differential treatment across the communities that can 

eventually lead to a fragmentation of the very features that give the Illawarra its unique identity.  

Therefore, some overarching principles are required on how planning and development are to 

address the risks from natural hazards in this region. 

10. Strengthening the Region’s Cultural Heritage 

General Comments 

Council fully agrees with the statement contained in the Discussion Paper (page 31) that there is a 

“need to strengthen the way in which Aboriginal cultural heritage is considered in the planning 

system.”  

The three (3) Councils in the Illawarra Region (ie Wollongong City Council, Shellharbour City Council 

and Kiama Council) jointly developed the regional Aboriginal Cultural Heritage Toolkit. This project 

provided a positive and truly regional approach towards Aboriginal heritage management with the 

framework of the present NSW Aboriginal heritage management process. However, the limitations 

and failings of the present system of Aboriginal heritage management in NSW became evident, during 

the preparation of the regional toolkit. 

Therefore, it is considered that it will be difficult to achieve real improvements to the way Aboriginal 

heritage conservation is dealt with, until such time as a proper review of the current NSW Aboriginal 

heritage management system is undertaken. 

It is noted that the NSW Government is currently in the process of undertaking this review of the 

present Aboriginal heritage management system. Council looks forward to further dialogue with the 

NSW Government regarding this review process. 

The proposal to consider the preparation of a whole of region Aboriginal Heritage Sites Study would 

provide a valuable tool that will address some of the failings of the present system and is supported 

in-principle, provided that this study is adequately resourced and funded by the NSW Government. 

This study will need to have direct input from the local Aboriginal community. 

The Regional Growth Plan should also specifically address European heritage.  

The Regional Growth Plan should celebrate the Illawarra’s unique Aboriginal and European cultural 

heritage and seek economic and tourism opportunities across key historic themes, including: 

• Key Aboriginal heritage sites and stories (Sandon Point, Hill 60, Lake Illawarra, Killalea etc); 
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• Our convict and colonial heritage (Wollongong Harbour, old Wollongong Court House, Little 

Milton and Horsley Homestead); 

• Mining Heritage (Mt Kembla Colliery and Kembla Heights Village, Mt Keira Colliery, and 

others); 

• Steelmaking/industrial heritage (Gleniffer Brae, Port Kembla Harbour and surrounds, Former 

Dapto Smelter Works on Kanahooka Road); 

• Recreational Bathing and Surfing (North Beach Bathers Pavilion Precinct); and 

• Migrant Heritage (Innovation Campus – Former Balgownie Migrant Hostel). 

Wollongong City Council’s Annual Plan identifies the preparation of a feasibility assessment for the 

proposed development of a regional heritage museum. This feasibility assessment is currently under 

way. Therefore, it is recommended that consideration be given to adding the regional heritage 

museum as a strategic aspiration within the Regional Growth Plan. 

Council Response to Discussion Paper Questions: 

1. How could a more strategic approach to including Aboriginal Communities in the 
planning process be supported by Council’s in the new plan? 

It is considered that a complete review of the present Aboriginal heritage management system is 

required as the first step in the process. The present system of Aboriginal heritage management has 

failed to properly conserve significant Aboriginal archaeological and cultural heritage sites.  

The complete review of the current NSW Aboriginal heritage system would ensure that the 

conservation of significant Aboriginal archaeological and cultural heritage sites is better integrated 

with land use decision making. The Regional Growth Plan would then be able to provide an effective 

regional strategy framework for dealing with Aboriginal archaeological and cultural heritage issues. 

2. How Can the Plan Better Support Heritage Conservation? 

The Regional Growth Plan should provide positive strategies for creating further recognition of the 

Illawarra’s valuable heritage and promote projects and programs targeted at developing a heritage 

tourism market. 

Inclusion of strategies relating to: (i) the development of a regional museum (ii) the development of a 

regional heritage tourism and promotions strategy (iii) the encouragement of cultural heritage based 

tourism projects and (iv) adaptive re-use projects and other projects that explore and celebrate the 

history and heritage of the Illawarra should be incorporated in the Regional Growth Plan. 

11.  Maximising the productivity of rural and resource lands 

General Comments 

The Regional Growth Plan needs to support strategic processes which identify regional approaches to 

rural, agricultural and productive land opportunities.  
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The Regional Growth Plan needs to clarify what role agricultural land will have in the future. It is 

important that key agricultural and food production lands within the region are identified and 

preserved. 

As our population grows, there are both challenges and opportunities for local food security and food 

system sustainability. New land release areas in particular, present a complex range of issues arising 

from land use changes and new residential development. The Growth Plan should assist in providing 

a framework for incorporating an awareness of the importance of access to good food, alongside 

other core urban design principles which support health, amenity and wellbeing. The impact of land 

use changes in new land release areas should be understood in terms of food security and the 

Growth Plan should identify options for food production within new urban areas. 

The Regional Growth Plan should support the strategies and actions contained in the Illawarra 

Regional Food Strategy. The Illawarra Regional Food Strategy 2013 was jointly developed by the 

three (3) Illawarra Councils with support from the NSW Government through its Environmental Trust.  

The Strategy provides the policy position, and an overall framework, to progress the goal of food 

security and sustainability in our region.  

With regards to productivity of rural and resource lands, the Discussion Paper (page 32) states that 

the coal seams within the Illawarra Region contain large amounts of coal seam gases, which are now 

attractive targets for gas exploration. The Discussion Paper (page 32) also states that the NSW 

Government is in the process of amending the Mining SEPP to introduce a gateway process that will 

apply to state-significant mining and coal seam gas proposals located on lands mapped as Strategic 

Agricultural Land as well as the establishment of coal seam gas exclusion zones which prohibit coal 

seam gas proposals within a 2 kilometre radius from any residential zone. 

The Discussion Paper (page 32) further states: “Protecting the quality of water is important as 

substantial parts of the Region’s mines are located under Sydney’s drinking water catchment 

including Special Areas (the protected catchments surrounding water storages and critical 

components in the supply of quality bulk water to Sydney). Actions and recommendations of the NSW 

Government’s Strategic Regional Land Use Policies, including the Aquifer Interference Policy, will 

inform the policy response to manage the impacts of coal and coal seam gas activities.” 

However, Council has requested the NSW Government over the last two years to exclude coal seam 

gas proposals from the Sydney Drinking Water Catchment – Special Areas. In this regard, Council at 

its recent Ordinary Meeting of 28 October 2013 considered a Lord Mayoral minute on coal seam gas 

proposals within the drinking water catchments and resolved the following: 

“1. The Lord Mayor and General Manager seek a meeting with the NSW Premier and the 

relevant Minister(s) to request an extension of the proposed Coal Seam Gas Exclusion 

Zones, to include the Sydney Drinking Water Catchment – Special Areas, and that the 

concerns of Wollongong City Council be expressed to the above in writing also, as well as 

local State Members of Parliament. 
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2. A copy of Council’s submission, as well as a copy of tonight’s resolution of Council, 

be provided to Upper and Lower House Members of State Parliament.” 

In light of this, Council strongly urges that the Mining SEPP be amended to extend the coal seam gas 

exclusion zone to include the Sydney Drinking Water Catchment – Special Areas and that the future 

Illawarra Regional Growth Plan also expressly prohibit coal seam gas proposals within the Sydney 

Drinking Water Catchment – Special Areas.  

The Discussion Paper (page 32) also states that the “Illawarra is included in the South Coast 

renewable energy precinct, established in 2009 with five other precincts across NSW to promote and 

encourage renewable energy development in NSW. Recently, the focus in the Illawarra has been on 

linking the manufacturing capabilities in the Region to the demand for products related to the 

renewable energy sector.”  

In this regard, the Regional Growth Plan should encourage alternative energy initiatives and should 

also seek to attract these industries to the Illawarra. 

Council Response to Discussion Paper Questions 

1. What specific mechanisms should be included in the Plan to manage the potential for 
coal and coal seam gas exploration and/or extraction in the Illawarra? 

As indicated above, Council requests that the NSW Government exclude coal seam gas exploration 

and extraction proposals from Sydney’s Drinking Water Catchment – Special Areas.  

Council’s position is summarised in its previous submission to the Coal Seam Gas Inquiry held on 9 

December 2011 

http://www.wollongong.nsw.gov.au/council/meetings/BusinessPapers/Coal%20Seam%20Gas%20Inq

uiry%20Submission.pdf  

In terms of coal mining, the Regional Growth Plan should provide clear assessment guidelines for 

coal mining proposals with regard to protecting drinking water catchments as the highest order 

priority; protecting groundwater systems; protecting threatened flora and fauna species and 

endangered ecological communities, including hanging swamps; minimum noise and dust mitigation 

measures / procedures; minimum amenity protection measures; as well as preferred coal 

transportation by rail, rather than by road. 

The Regional Growth Plan also needs to protect regionally significant biodiversity corridors and 

priority vegetation communities (eg Endangered Ecological Communities) as identified in the Illawarra 

Biodiversity Strategy 2011 and should exclude coal mining and coal seam gas exploration / extraction 

directly below these regionally significant biodiversity corridors and priority vegetation communities. 
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2. What mechanisms other than land use planning could the Plan employ to protect food 
and fibre producing land? 

The Regional Growth Plan should support the strategies and actions contained in the Illawarra 

Regional Food Strategy. 

3. Should the Plan encourage a closer examination and identification of where important 
agricultural resources are located? 

Yes. A review of previous NSW Agricultural land classification mapping should be undertaken as part 

of the formulation of the Regional Growth Plan. As part of this review, Class 1 -3 agricultural lands 

(excluding lands identified in new release areas) should be protected. 

.12. Connecting with Other Regions 

Council Response to Discussion Paper Questions 

1. What are the important connections between the Illawarra and other regions that should 
be included in the Plan? 

The Illawarra Regional Growth Plan should reinforce the important connections between the Illawarra 

Region and the Sydney Metropolitan Region, particularly given the relative proximity of the two 

regions and the current relatively significant proportion of Illawarra residents who commute to the 

Sydney Metropolitan Region, especially the Sydney CBD for their employment. 

Additionally, the Regional Growth Plan should also support continued connections with the South 

Coast Councils, particularly with respect to promoting the Illawarra and South Coast Regions as 

tourism destinations. The Grand Pacific Drive campaign has commenced work on these connections 

and this work should be further enhanced. 

The Regional Growth Plan should also reinforce and enhance the connections between the Illawarra 

and the Southern Highlands Regions. The plan should include enhanced road and rail transport 

linkages between these two regions since this linkage is particularly important for the Illawarra’s 

logistics industry who transport goods between the Illawarra, Canberra and Melbourne and for the 

continued expansion of the Port Kembla port operation. 

2. How can these connections be strengthened for the maximum benefit of the Region? 

The establishment of a regional leader’s meeting (involving key representatives from the NSW 

Department of Premier and Cabinet, Regional Offices of NSW Government, the local Councils, 

Regional Development Australia Illawarra and major private sector industries in the Illawarra) and 

their other regional counterparts may provide a forum for improved linkages between different 

regions, particularly Sydney, the South Coast, Macarthur and the Southern Highlands. 

In terms of physical linkages between Sydney and the Illawarra, this can be strengthened through 

major road and rail upgrades such as the completion of the F6 (M1) extension between Waterfall and 
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Sydney and the duplication of the South Coast rail line. Similarly, the construction of the Maldon – 

Dombarton rail line would provide strengthened connections between the Illawarra and other regions 

in the state. 

3. What infrastructure should be recognised and enhanced by the Plan for its connections 
from the Illawarra to other regions? 

The Regional Growth Plan should identify and support the fast-tracking of the following infrastructure 

projects, to provide suitable connections between the Illawarra and other regions: 

• The upgrading of Mount Ousley Road, to add a slow climbing lane between Picton Road and 

Bulli Tops. 

• The construction of the Maldon – Dombarton rail line, in order to improve freight movements 

between the Illawarra and other regions within the state and interstate. 

• The duplication of the South Coast rail line, in order to improve passenger and freight train 

movements and capacity between the Illawarra and Sydney and to help provide increased 

medium density housing opportunities near railway stations. 

• The provision of additional freight capacity in the Moss Vale – Unanderra rail line, as an interim 

measure, until such time as the Maldon – Dombarton rail line is completed. 

• The completion of access ramps to / from the F6 (M1) at Dapto, in order to improve access to / 

from the existing Dapto and Horsley urban areas and the new release areas of West Dapto, 

Tallawarra and Calderwood. 

• The completion of the F6 (M1) extension link between Waterfall to Sydney, in order to improve 

road linkages between the Illawarra and Sydney. 

• The completion of the F6 (M1) Albion Park Rail bypass between the Yallah interchange and the 

Oak Flats interchange, in order to improve traffic flows along the F6 (M1) between the two 

interchanges. 

 

4. How can the Plan achieve for more sustainable urban centres and jobs growth that 
support improved self-containment? 

The Regional Growth Plan should provide targeted support to the key industries identified in Council’s 

Economic Development Strategy 2013-23, in order to encourage future jobs growth in the Illawarra. 

The NSW Government should also holistically review the competitive advantages the Illawarra has to 

offer and actively consider the relocation of government agencies from Sydney to the Illawarra, as 

part of its decentralisation strategies. Additionally, the NSW Government in collaboration with the local 

Councils should also look at emerging industries nationally and worldwide and consider whether any 

of these industries could be encouraged to relocate to the Illawarra. This would in turn improve jobs 

growth in the Illawarra and support greater self-containment. 

However, Sydney will continue to be a major employment area for a significant proportion of Illawarra 

labour force, until such time as the Illawarra’s economic base diversifies. 
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Therefore, the duplication of the South Coast rail line still remains a critical infrastructure project. The 

duplication of the South Coast rail line would markedly improve passenger and freight train capacity 

on the South Coast line and hence, would help reduce commuter travel times between the Illawarra 

and Sydney. This in turn would encourage increased medium density housing opportunities near 

railway stations, especially between Wollongong and Thirroul and provide an attractive housing option 

for Illawarra residents who commute between the Illawarra and Sydney. This is in turn would achieve 

greater self-containment objectives. 

The duplication of the South Coast line may also encourage net migration from Sydney to the 

Illawarra given the attractive lifestyle that the Illawarra provides and the reduced commuting times 

between the Illawarra and Sydney. 

13. Delivering the Plan 

General Comments 

The Discussion Paper indicates that the Regional Growth Plan will benefit from a clear governance 

framework to oversee the delivery of outcomes, more detailed implementation and reporting 

requirements. This will require commitment from all levels of government and coordination within and 

between government departments to deliver on the commitments identified in the Plan. 

The Discussion Paper suggests that the Regional Growth Plan will contain specific actions and seeks 

feedback on whether each action should have clear accountabilities for delivery in terms of the 

agency responsible, agreed timeframes and performance measures. This represents a key point of 

difference from the Illawarra Regional Strategy, which is more of a guiding policy document where the 

actions are ongoing considerations in plan preparation and/or assessment processes. Clarity on the 

intent of the Regional Growth Plan as a policy setting/strategic guidance document or a document 

intended to contain specific, measurable actions is required. 

If the Regional Growth Plan contains specific actions, what must also be considered is the ability for 

all levels of government to fund these commitments, prior to the Plan being endorsed. Without a clear 

funding model aligned to the Regional Growth Plan and its specific actions, it is likely the Plan will 

increase expectations yet fail to deliver on the commitments it contains. 

This can only be considered through the relevant agency planning and budget setting processes such 

that the commitments identified in the Regional Growth Plan are considered alongside the other 

existing and future commitments of these organisations. Examples at a state level include the 

Regional Infrastructure Plan and the Regional Transport Plan which must align with the Regional 

Growth Plan. Wollongong City Council has a number of endorsed strategies and plans that set 

direction and guide future actions for the organisation. These strategies and plans are brought 

together in Council’s Community Strategic Plan, Delivery Program and Annual Plan and are 

supported by a resourcing strategy which identifies how the overall vision and each action is to be 

funded. The Regional Growth Plan will need to form part of this integrated planning approach to be 

successful. 
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Council understands that the Illawarra Regional Growth Plan will be developed by the NSW 

Department of Planning and Infrastructure in partnership with other state government agencies and 

that no Regional Board is proposed to create or implement the Regional Growth Plan. 

Council also notes recent advice from the Department that no Subregional Delivery Plans are 

envisaged for the Illawarra Region given its relatively compact size. In light of this, the Department is 

seeking advice from the three (3) Councils in the region as to what alternative governance 

arrangements could be put in place so that each Council has input into how the draft Regional Growth 

Plan will be developed and implemented.  

The Discussion Paper suggests that the Regional Growth Plan may establish a governance 

arrangement to formalise the shared responsibility and cooperation between the State and local 

government in the delivery of outcomes for the Region. It is unclear how this governance arrangement 

will operate. Outcomes from the proposed Planning Bills and Local Government Reform are likely to 

impact on the way in which this governance arrangement takes place, and therefore Wollongong City 

Council requests ongoing dialogue with the State government in the establishment of this 

arrangement. 

Council Response to Discussion Paper Questions 

1. Should each action in the Plan have clear accountabilities for delivery in terms of the 
agency responsible and agreed timeframes? 

 
2. Will clear performance measures in the Plan help to test the progress and success of 

each action? 

Each action should identify those agencies responsible for implementation.  As outlined above, the 

development of timeframes and performance measures will depend on the intent of the Regional 

Growth Plan as being either a guiding/policy setting document, or a document which identifies specific 

actions. Funding or funding sources for each action must also be identified. 

3. What kind of integrated monitoring framework should be put in place across the 
Illawarra Regional Growth Plan, the Illawarra Regional Transport Plan and the State 
Infrastructure Strategy? 

A whole of government approach is required to ensure the delivery of these (and other) Plans.  The 

monitoring framework should be aligned with the governance arrangements when these are 

established. 

4. Should an annual Illawarra Regional Growth Plan Update Report be published? 

Yes, although we need to ensure there is no duplication of effort for reporting purposes. Councils are 

required to prepare quarterly updates and an annual review of its Annual Plan under the Integrated 

Planning and Reporting legislation. If actions in the Regional Growth Plan are included in councils 
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Annual Plans, these will be reported on through this existing process. Further consideration of this 

should occur during discussions on the governance arrangements. 
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1. Ovetview

L.L lntroductlon

1,1.1 Communlty proflle: key lssues

The lllawarra region covers the Local Government Areas (LGA) areas of Wollongong,
Shellharbour, Kiama and Wingecarribee.

The traditonal owners of the Wollongong area are the Dharawal (also spelt Tarawal or
Thuruwal) people. The Wodi Wodi is a sub-group of the Dharawal nation who occupied
areas around Lake lllawarra, including Berkeley and Hooka Creek. The Gundungurra people
lived in the area known as the Southern Highlands, The lllawarra region has many different
groups that represent tradítional owners.

The ABS 2006 Census identified 5,268 Aboriginal residents in the lllawarra areat. This
represents L.7%of the total population which is less than the NSW average of 2.Lo/o.

However some areas of the lllawarra have rates higher than the NSW average. For example
the Aboriginal population in Shellharbour is 23% of the total population.

ln 2006 approximately 39o/o of the lllawarra Aboriginal population ín the Greater Wollongong
area was aged less than 18 years. This is a much younger profile than the non-Aboriginal
population. lnfants under five years old were t2o/o of Greater Wollongong's Aboriginal
populatíon in 2006. This proportion is 6% more than in the non-Aboriginal population.
Access to early childhood services continues to be an issue for the community. 5% less
Aboriginal children are in pre-school compared to non-Aboriginal children.

ln 2006 2L% of Great Wollongong Abor¡g¡nal residents aged 15+ completed Year !2
compared lo 37% non-Abori$nal residents (a gap of 15%).

Aboriginal people in the lllawarra region continue to experience higher unemployment rates
than the non-Aboriginal population and are also less likely to be engaged in the fornral
workforce. The 2006 Census found that that Aboriginal employment rates for Wollongong
was 46.10/o compared to 66.5% for the non-Aboriginal population.

Aboriginal unemployment rates are also particularly higher for younger rnembers of the
community. For example in 20OG the unenrployment rate for those aged t5-24 years was
L7o/o higher for Aboriginal young people conrpared to non-Aboriginal young people.

According to 2006 ABS figures, 594 Aboriginal households in Greater Wollongong lived in
public housing which is 24o/o of Abori$nal households. This rate was 3% more than the
proportion of Aboriginal households in public housing across NSW (21%) and 3.6 times the
proportion of other Greater Wollongong households in public housing (7%),
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1.1,2 Communlty structures and the RpA

. ln 2003 the lllawarra AborÍginal Commun ) was
established by Aboriginal elders and com community
members, government representatives an agencies, The
network provides a place to discuss issues of concern to the community and iãentify
appropriate responses from government and non government agencies. Representátives
from this group, known as delegates, attend meetings wíth the NSW Government Senior
Managers group for the lllawarra region and are part of the Regional partnership piáject
Steering Committee.

o The IACBWG meets monthly and includes time for interagency sharing between Aboriginal
community and organisations and non Aboriginal agenciãs. Á Koor¡ time session is hetd at
each meeting for Aboriginal members only.

r The IACBWG also has five people who are nominated as facilitators of the Cluster groups,
These Cluster groups focus on the areas of areas of education and economic deveìopment,
lawandjustíce,housing,socialhealthandwellbeíngandcultureandheritage. Thelroup,
provide reports at the monthly IACBWG meetings and have their own plans,

o Since 2005 the IACBWG has been workíng with the Australian Governrnent through the
Syciney inciigenous coordination Centre and the NSW Government, through Aboriþinat
Affaírs NSW and the NSW Department of Premier and Cabinet, to negotiate a Regìonal
Partnersh ip Agreement.

¡ Extensive community consultation has taken place on the RpA and in 2009 cornmunity
members agreed to work towards a final agreement. While this process has been facilitated
through the IACBWG it was agreed that othèr community input was needed to ensure that
all community perspectives were represented in the finál agreernent. The community
nominated four advocates for the RPA and these people joined a new committee known asthe Delegates, Advocates and Government Steeríng iommittee whose role was to both
support the work of the TACBWG and finalise the RpA.

¡ At the October 2oLo IACBWG meetíng the RPA was endorsed by the Workíng Group ancl a
motion was passed that all lllawarra Aboriginal organisations should be givei ttre
opportunity to endorse the fínal RPA. A process wãs put in place to undeìake consultation
with these groups. This took place in October and Novemb er 2Aß and resulted in 16
different organisatiorrs agreeing to join wíth the IACBWG in becoming signatories to the RpA,
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2.0 Key Principles and Commitments

o NothinÉ in this Agreement detracts from the legitimate aspirations of the Aboriginal people
of the lllawarra region for self determination and self management. Nor does the
Agreement prevent or stop Aboriginal families and communities who are not IACBWG
members from approachíng Governments and negotiating agreements outside of the RPA,

o The economíc, social, cultural and environmental well-being of Aboriginal people in the
lllawarra region can best be achieved where national, state and local prioritÍes are fully
aligned with the aspirations of Aboriginal people at the reg¡onal and community level. This
includes the aspiration for the preservation, maintenance and expression of art, culture and
business from past, present and future.

¡ Abori€linal people have a specific right to be involved in the management and protection of
country and heritage. Governments recognise and will incorporate Aboriginal knowledge,
ínsights, values and involvement in efforts to conserve and protect the environrnent.

o Governance arrangernents involving representation of Aboriginal people and communities
of the lllawarra reg¡on will be reflected in partnership structures. The arrangements will take
into account:

o The roles and responsibilities of government agencies and the local Aboriginal
governance framework;

o Monitoring and reporting arrangements;

o Lines of accountability; and

o Communityconsultative processes.

r This Agreement is a statement of mutual intent to work together to build on local strengths
to address needs in the comrnunity.

Aboriglnal people in the lllawarra reglon assert that there ale two fundarnental ancl lndivlsible
elements to imploving services to Aboriglnal people to achieve better outcomes:

o Paftnerships between Governments and representative groups of Aboriginal people who
identify regional and community circumstances and need; and

. Responsibility of mainstream Departments to provide efficient, effective and culturally
responsible services in accordance with those priorities determined by Aboriginal people
and accountable to them.

The partners agree that servlce dellvery is tho most lmportant aspect of the development of
Abor¡g¡nal people and communitles, unclerpinnlng thelr asplratlons for self determination.

The principles of service delivery arrangenrents are to:

. Build self nranagement and self reliance as a response to Aborigínal community self
deterrnination;

r Develop the capacity of individuals, families and communities for the future;

. lmprove the coordination of services an'rong contributing Depaftnrents;

o lnvest in communities ín accordance with regional and comlnunity plans;

e Foster and support a balance between special initiatives and mainstream services; and

o Strengthen capacity for regional governance.
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These principles and commitments are consistent with those made in the NSW Governments
Aboriginal Affairs Plan: Two Ways Together 2003 - 2Ot2 (TWT) and TWT lllawarra-South East
Regional Action Plan. The NSW State Plan was released in November 2006 by the NSW
Government to deliver better results for the broader NSW community from Government services.
The NSW State Plan contains goals, priorities and targets for NSW Government action over the next
ten years.

The NSW Government is committed to 'Reducing The Gap' and the NSW State Plan has targets
related specifically to Aboriginal people in five initíal focus areas:

1-. Safe Families

2. Education

3. EnvironmentalHealth

4. EconomicDevelopment

5. Building Community Resilience, which suppotts the delivery of the above focus
areas

As part of TWT, an lllawarra - South East Regional Action Plan was developed in 2OO7 and identified
four goals to be addressed at the regional level over the following two years. These are:

. A.borigina! children are better preparecl for school.

. lmplement early intervention and prevention activities that address chronic dísease.

r Safer comrnunities.

¡ Culturally appropríate service delivery.

These principles and commitments also reínforce those made through the Australian Government's
comnritment to Closing the Gap targets (see below), the Seryice Delivery Principles for Services for
lndiflenous Austra/ians (COAG 2008), the Urban and ReflionalSe¡vice Delivery Strategy for
lndi{enous Austra/ians (COAG 2009) and the Overarching Bilateral lndigenous Plan between the
NSW Government and the Australian Government.

The Australian Government is committed to 'Closing the Gap' targets which are to:

. Close the life expectancy gap within a generation.

o Halve the mortality gap for lndigenous children under five within a decade,

o Halve the gap for lndigenous students in reading, writ¡ng and numeracy within a decade.

o Halve the gâp in employtnent outcornes between lndigenous and non-lndigenous
Australians within a decade.

c Within five years all four year olds in remote lndigenous communities have access to quality
early childhood education progranì.

r At least halve the gap for lndigenous students in Year 1-2 or equivalent attainment rates by
2020.
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The agreed COAG priority areas are:

¡ HealthV homes

. Safe communities

o Health

¡ Early childhood

¡ SchoolinÉ

¡ Economicparticipation

¡ Governance and leadership
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3.0 Goals and objectives of the agreement

The goals of the Agreement are to:

. Make a contribution to meeting the Closing the Gap targets, particularly in the areas of
education and economic participation;

. lmprove service delivery by Government Departments and Agencies; and

o lncrease the capacity of the lllawarra Aboriginal community to address issues that are
contributing to the gap in Aboriginal disadvantage,

The objectives of this Agreement are to:

¡ Establish partnership arrangements between Aboriginal people, communities and
Governrnents;

. Worl< collaboratively to implement effective coordination and flexible delivery of services by
Government Departments to improve outcomes for Aborignal people;

o Utilise and support effective mechanisms to enable Aborig¡nal people to participate fully in
determining the need, establishing priorities, participation in decisions regarding the
provision of services, and implementing projects at the community level;

o Assist mainstream Agencies to meet their responsibilities in the provision of standard
services to Aboriginal people and also in the delivery of special programs, services and
initiatives;

r Share responsibility for achieving measurable and sustainable improvements for Aboriginal
people tiving in the region;

. Suppott and strengthen regional and community governance, decision making and
accountability; and

o Further develop community capacíty building.
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4.0 Partles to the agreement

The parties to this Regional Partnership A$reement are:

The lllawarra Aboriginal Community through:

the lllawarra Aborisinal Gommunity Based Working Group and Aboriginal organisations in
the lllawarra region;

the Commonwealth of Australia (Australian Government), represented by the Department of
Families, Housing, Community Services and Abori(inal Affairs (FaHCSIA) through the Sydney
Aboriginal Coordination Centre (Sydney ICC); and

the State of New South Wales (NSW Government) represented by Abor¡ginal Affairs NSW,
Department of Human Services NSW (AANSW).

The Agreement:

. Recognises and respects each of the parties'rights, roles, responsibilities and obligations;

¡ Provides a basis for cooperation and partnership in service delívery between community
and governments;

. Supports ongoing negotiation between the partíes to enhance the management, provision
and delivery of services; and

. Acknowledges the need to identify regional and community priorities, and to build
Government assistance around them,

4,L Roles of the Partles to the Agreement

4,7,,7,lllawarua Aborlglnal Communlty Based Wotklng Group and Aborlglnal organlsatlons

The Aborigínal community parties to the agreement include 16 individual Aboriginal organisations
and the lllawarra Aboriginal Community Based Working Group.

The lllawarra Aboriginal Community Based Working Group is a local participatory mechanism
developed by Abor¡g¡nal people in the Wollongong-Shellharbour-Kíama-Wingecarribee area.

The vision of the lllawarra Aboriginal Conrmunity Based Working Group is to nurture culturally
sensítive Government services through a partnership approach that respects the uniqueness,
authority and integrity of the Aboriginal people in the lllawarra region.

The nrembership of the lllawarra Aboriginal Community Based Working Group is open to
Aboriginal conrmunity members, Aboriginal Elders, Traditional Owners, Aboriginal organisations,
Non Government Organisations and all Government Departments at the local, State and Federal
level.

The nrembers of tlre lllawarra Aboriginal Community Based Working Group and Cluster Groups
engage in regular consultation with Aborisinal people and communities in the lllawarra region.
The lllawarra Aboriginal Community Based Working Group and Cluster Groups are owned by the
Aborig¡nal people and communities of the lllawarra themselves and are of their making,

The aim of the lllawarra Aborisinal Community Based Working Group is to open the lines of
corlmunication between all levels of Government ancJ local Aboriginal people and comtnunities of
the lllawarra region.

o

a

a
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5.0

5.1

4.1,2 The Australlan Government

The Australian Government recognises that Aboriginal people and commurrities must be involved
in deciding on a regional and local basis how Government programs will meet their needs and
how projects will be implemented.

The Australian Government wants to improve the way Government Departments admínister
programs and deliver serv¡ces to Aboriginal people and is seeking coordinated service delivery
based on a 'whole of government' approach.

FaHCSIA through the Sydney ICC will coordinate the Australian Government Departments' input to
the negotiation, development and implementation of the agreed action plans; provide support
and direction in íncreasing community capacity and leadership and nronitoring and evaluating the
effective irnplementation of these plans and agreements.

4.1.3 The NSW Government

The NSW Governnrent is committed to working through partnerships with Aboriginal people and
other Governments to improve outcomes for Aboríginal people, The NSW State Plan and TWT are
the NSW Government's pathways to achieve this.

Aboriginal Affaírs NSW, Department of Human Services NSW (AANSW) with the assistance of the
Department of Premier and Cabinet (DPC) will coordinate State Government aSencies' input to
the negotiation, development and implementation of the agreed action plans, Tlrey will provide
support and direction in increasing community capacity and leadership as well as contributing to
monitoring and evaluating the effective implementation of these plans and agreements.

Opetational Arra ngements

Planning and Resourcing

The attached agreed Action Plans take into account the priority areas set under the Urban and
Re$ional Service Delivery Strate$y for Inditenous Australians and the NSW and Australian
Government cornmitments on Closing the Gap in Aboriginal disadvantage. They are aimed at
securing service improvements in each area through more effective use of existing resources and
identifying new opportunities for meeting the Closing the Gap targets, They do not outline all
investments currently made by Governments such as those delivered through the National
Partnership Agreement on Closing the Gap in Aborigínal Health and core funding to agencies such
as the lllawarra Aboriginal Medical Service and the lllawarra Land Council (see Annex A for a
sr.rnrmary of key initiatives focussing on Closing the Gap in the lllawarra).

The Action Plans guide the ínvestment from the Governments towards achieving the objectives of
this Agreement. Planning arrangements will involve:

¡ Greater coherence and transparency in the way individual Government Depaftments
operate;

. Responsibility and accountability by all parties to the Agreenrent;

r Setting of agreed perfornrance rneasures;

e A balance between nrainstrearn funding, Aboriginal specific programs and services and
local initiatives consistent with the principles of mutual obligation;

e Flexibility of Government Depaftnrents to nreet identified community priorities and needs;
and

o Other stakeltolders fronr local governrìrent, non government and private sectors.

11



The lllawarra Aboriginal Community Based Working Group through the relevant Cluster Groups
has identified actions to respond to specific local priorities, projects and outcomes. The first
Action Plans that form part of this Agreement will particular address issues relating to -

. Leadership and governance

r Reducing the gap in employment outcomes and promoting economic development

¡ Reducing the gap in educational attainment

. Capacity building and access to services such as housing.

5.2 PartnershipStructure

5.2.1 Regional Partnershlp ProJect Steering Commlttee

The Parties agree to commit to developing a partnershíp approach to the implementation of the
Agreement.

The Parties will continue to work through a Regional Partnership Project Steering Commíttee
(RPPSC) where all Parties that are signatory to the Agreement will have representation. The
RPPSC will :

Províde leadership for the agreement ensuring a cohesive approach between partners,
stakeholders and people living in the region;

Establish a productive and collaborative working relatíonship wíth the lllawarra Aboriginal
Community Based Working Group.

. Oversee the implementation of the objectives of the Regional Partnership Agreement and
other agreements;

o Facilitate communication and collaboration between Parties to the Regional Paftnership
Agreement;

. Agree on new priorities and areas for joint action; and

r Oversee the intplementation and performance management of the agreement.

Performance Reporting, Management and Evaluation

An intportant component of the RPA is evaluation and rnonitoring to ensure desired results are
being achieved. Responsibility in thís area is shared between governmerlt agencies, the
organisations actually delivering the service and the community, through the parties signed up to
the agreement. Norntal contractual obligations will apply to funded organisations. The lllawarra
Aboriginal Communíty Based Working Group and Cluster Groups will provide one vehícle through
which the outcomes of the overall RPA will be monítored. The IACBWG will also have
responsibilities in keeping the community inforrned of progress and engaging cor¡nrunities in two-
way feedback on progress or otherwise with initiatrves.

The Pafties agree to report progress against tinreframes, perfonnance indicators and agreed
benchmarl<s for agreed action plans and to provide sufficient infornlation to an agreecl mechanism
established for this purpose,

l'he Parties agreet subject to applicable privacy legislatíon, to collect, provide data and to make
perforntance information available for evaluations, as agreed to, from time to time, and such
permission will not be unreasonably withheld,

a

5.3
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Data collected during, or as part of, an activity carried out under this Agreement will be made
available to all Parties to the Agreement. All Parties will endeavour to comply with the lnformation
Privacy Principles in Section 14 of the Privacy Act 19BB as if they were an 'agency' as defined in the
Act.

lntellectual Property rights are respected under the purposes of this agreement and where
appropriate, release of any information requires endorsement from all Parties to this agreement.

The Parties agree that in the third year of this Agreement's operation, the etfectiveness of this
Agreenrent will be independently reviewed.

5.4 DisputeResolutionArrangements

Where any Party believes there is a dispute in relation to any matter under this Agreement, it shall
then give a written dispute notice to the other Pafties, specifying the nature of the dispute.

Within three weeks of delivery of the dispute notice to the other Parties, the Parties shall meet and
negotiate in good faith over a period of up to three weeks in order to resolve the dispute amicably.

lf the dispute is resolved amicably, then the resolution shall be cornmitted to in writing and
attached as a Schedule to and thereafter become part of this Agreement.

lf the Parties have been unable to resolve the dispute to the satisfaction of all Parties in accordance
with the above process, then the Parties shall appoint a qualifíed independent mediator within four
weeks and the mediator shall endeavour for uþ to three weeks to help the Parties reach agreement
in relation to the dispute.

The mediator will conduct the mediation in accordance with the rules of mediation and the costs of
the nlediator will be paid in equal shares between the parties in dispute, and each Party shall bear
its own costs.

The processes of mediation are to:

L Be voluntary and non-binding on the Paties;

2. Facilitate agreernent between the Parties;

3, Not impose a decision upon the Pafties; and

4, Be confidential.

Where independent mediation fails to resolve a dispute in relation to any matter under this
Agreement, the Parties will apply their best endeavours to amend or renegotiate this Agreement.

Duration and Variation of Agreement

This Agreernent will conlnence on the date of signing by all Parties and will continue for a period of
three years or until all of the Pafties agree to terminate the Agreement or prepare another
document to replace this Agreement.

The Parties tnay agree in writing at any time to change the contents of this Agreentent.

lf any Party wishes to withdraw from this Agreernent, tlrat party will give at least three nrotrths notice
to the other Parties.

6
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Action Area î Leadership and Governance

Action Areas

Project Description:

Develop the leadership and community governance skills of members of the lllawarra Aboriginal Community Based Working group, its Cluster groups and other
Aboriginal commun¡ty groups in the lllawana area. This will be achieved through -

. Employment of a regional coordinator to support the work of the IACBWG and its Cluster groups

. Facilitating access to specialised Aboriginal leadership programs for Aboriginal men, women and young people

Project Rationale:

The Strategic Plan and operating guidelines for the IACBWG have not been updated since 2006. There is a need to strengthen the operations of the IACBWG to
ensure that it continues to be able to effectively advocate for the needs of the lllawarra Aboriginal community, and provide accountabilþ to the community.

There is also a need to bu¡ld the leadership skills of members of the lllawarra Aboriginal community to ensure that they are able to fully participate ín local, State
and National initiatives that are working towards Closing the Gap.

Strategies Lead Agency &
Partners

Targets

Funding of a regional coordinator for the IACBWG to coordinate its responsibilities under the
RPA, its relationships with Government partners and to facilitate processes to improve the
effectiveness of the IACBWG.

ldentification, through consultation with Aboriginal community members, of needs and
opportunities for FaHCSIA leadership progr¿¡ms to be implemented. These leadership programs
will be complemented by opportunities for accredited training in governance and management
(see action area 5).

Employment of a Place Based Project Officer to work with the IACBWG and the community on
governance tssues.

FaHCSIA

FaHCSIA

AANSW

Strategic plan and
operating
guidelines of the
IACBWG are
updated.

No of part¡cipants
in leadership
programs.

Formal recognition
of the IACBWG.

When

, Recruitment taking
i place in 2010.

Needs identified
' within three months
i of s¡gning RPA.

Programs
implemented within

' 12 months.

PosÍtion currently
being recruited.
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Action Atea2: Closing the Gap on Employment Outcomes

Project description:
. To implement strategies to increase employment opportunities for Aboriginal people in the lllawarra Health and Community Services Sector

identify other sectors (s_uch as the green 9_c"g!9!y)glg_e_ll9te_?ggppq{q¡.itie_qtor employment growth for Aboriginal peopleD

Project Rationale: Unemployment is higher among Aboriginal people in the lllawarra compared to non-Aboriginal people. ln 2009 the Education, Employment and
Business Development Cluster group initiated a research project (funded by DEEWR and DoHA) to identify practical actions to increase employment
opportunities in the health and community services sector which is the fastest growing sector in the lllawarra region. This research was completed in June 2010
and identifies a number of key actions to build pathways into employment for Aboriginal people in the health and community services sector. This research has
demonstrated the benefits of takíng an evidence based approach to identifying employment opportunities and a similar approach will be applied to other sectors.

Strategies

An action plan for Phase 2 of the Health and Community service Workforce Project will be
developed and implemented. Th¡s will particularly address the areas of:. lncreasing opportunities for health and community services related work experience and

traineeships for Aboriginal people (including those ìn schools).
. lmproving the marketing of jobs in the health and community sector to the Aboriginal

community.

" lncreasing the opportunities for local health and community services organisations to
develop and implement Aboriginal Employment Strategies.

. lmplementing strategic partnerships between training providers, job service providers
and employers, particularly in the areas of nursing, childcare and aged care.

Lead Agency &
Partners

DEEWR

EEBD Cluster
Group

DoHA

NSW DET-State
Training Services

AANSW

Targets

Meet NSW
Govemment target
of 2o/o.

lncrease in
signatories to job
compacl

Develop and
implement action
plan that promotes
green jobs.

When

Action plan
developed and
funding identified
by June 201 1.

June 2014

December 201 1

lncrease the employment of Aboriginal people in the lllawarra through -
" implementation of the Making it our Business, NSWAboiginal Employment Action Plan,

2009 -2012 and:
. developing and implementing a Job Compact on Aborigìnal Employment

Contrjbute to inítiatives that are developing employment opportunities for Aboriginal people in the
green economy. This work is consistent with recommendations made in the Green Jobs
lllawarra Action Plan (NSW Govt 2009)

DPC

AANSW

EEBD Cluster
Group, RDA

DET, DEBA/R
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Action Area 3: Closing the Gap on Educational Outcomes.

Project Description:

' To deliver effective and responsive education with a focus on improving educational outcomes particularly in the areas of literacy, numeracy, attendance
and retention.

Proiect Rationale: The proportion of the lllawarra Aboriginal population who have only cornpleted Year I is above the NSW aver¿¡ge. While this rate improveJin
Years 9 and 10, it reduces again in Year 11 as many people leave school. ln 2006 there was a gap of 15o/o in school retention rates to year 12 between Aboriginal
and non-Aboriginal people. The Education, Employment and Eusiness Development Cluster group has identified ìmproving educatioñal outcomes as one ofthe
key strategies to build community capacity and economic participation.

Strategies Lead Agency &
Fartners

DEEWR

DET- Schools

AECG

DET

DEEWR (PACE)

EEBD Cluster
group

AECG

DET- Schools

AECG

Community
Support Service

Targets

lncrease in school
retention rates.

When

'2014Expand the number of work experience opportunities and school based traineeships such as
those offered through Project Murra.

To build the relationship between Aboriginal parents and school communities through:. actively promoting the parent resource guide developed by the EEBD Cluster Group
" implementation of a Parent and Community Engagement Project (PaCE) in school:; in

the lllawarra region with a high proportion of Aboriginal students.
. ensuring that culture and heritage issues are addressed appropriately

Provide practical support to ensure that children are supported to stay engaged with schooling.
ïhis support could include -

" activities and programs that engage children within the school, such as breaKast clubs,
homework centres, lunch programs etc,

o ensuring that Aboriginal parents are aware of financial support available to assist with
education.

Reduction ín
Aboriginal youth
unemployment
rates.

Parents engaging
with schools.

lmprovements in
the NAPLAN tests
for Aborþinal
students.

lncrease in school

2014

2014
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Action Area 4: lncrease access to housing for Aboriginal people in the lllawarra reg¡on

Project Description:
To drive innovatlve solutions to meet a range of housing needs for Aboriginal people in the lllawarra. This project is to implement a pilot project for Aboriginal
young peopte with disabilities and develop options for delivery of mid term accommodation to Koori youth.

Proiect Rationale: Access to and appropriateness of housing has a direct impact on the health and wellbeing of Aboriginal people. The Access to Housing cluster
group has identified a hidden need for more suitable accommodation for young Aboriginal people with a disabílity. The ABS 2006 data reports that Aboriginal
people represented 7% of the population of people with disabilities under the age of 20 years. These people with disabilities are often living in overcrowded
conditions and do not always acæss the support services they are eligible for.

ln lllawarra the rate of lndigenous homelessness is 143 per 10,000 persons compared to 31 per 10,000 persons for non lndigenous (NSW Homelessness Action
Plan)

Strategies

To establish an lndependent Living Project for young Aboriginal people with a Disability through
developing a partnership between Aboriginal Housing office, NSW Housing, ADHAC and
FaHCSIA. The Aboriginal Housing Office has made ava¡lable suitable unit accommodation for
this pilot project and support services will be coordinated by ADAHC.

To develop a model of Supported Accommodation for Aboriginal young people through a
partnership with Shellharbour Aboriginal Community Youth Association, Southern Youth and
Family Services and the lllawarra Community Housing Trust.

Lead {gency &
Partners

NSW Housing

Aboriginal
Housing Office

ADHAC

Access to
Housing Cluster
Group

Access to
Housing Cluster
Group

NSW Housing

SACYA

Targets

Pilot project
impfemented.

Model developed
which includes

I funding required
and management
arrangements.

When

Pilot established
December 201 1

I June 2011
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Action Area 5: Strengthening Capacity of Aboriginal Organisations

Project Description:
To implement a program of support and accredited training for Aboriginal community organisations in the areas of govemance, management and/or program
implementation.

Project Rationale: The Urban and Regional Service Delivery Strategy identifies the ìmportance of building the capacity of Aboriginal organisations as one strategy
to increase Aboriginal people's access to effective and culturally appropriate services. Aboriginal organisations are also important avenues to increase
Aboriginal employment opportunities. Many Aboriginal organisations struggle to meet govemance requirements and often also have dilficulties in securing
adequate levels of ongoing funding to enable governance and management structures to be strengthened.

Strategies

a

a

Consult with Aboriginal organisations who express ¡nterest in being part of the program,
to identify areas where support and further development is required to achieve long¡ term
sustainability.

Plan and implement a program of support over a two year period. This support will
include the provision of accredited training in the areas of governance and community
management.

Lead Agencry &
Partners

FaHCSIA

NSW Community
Services

DPC

AANSW

oRrc

lllawarra Forum
lnc

Targets

Needs
assessments
completed and plan
developed.

Plan implemented.

Demonstrated
increase in capacity
of agencies (such
as attracting
additional funding).

lncrease in number
of Aboriginal
people with
management
qualifications.

When

June 2011

2012

2013
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Action Area 6: lncreased access to effective and culturally competent services.

Project Description:
To implement a program of activities that increases Aboriginal people's access to effective services.

Project Rationale: At a recent community consultation meeting (held in May 2010) a number of concerns were raised about barriers to accessing appropriateservices from mainstream agencies. The Urban and Regional Service Delivery Strategy identifies that Govemments need to work in partnership with Aboriginalpeople to ensure government investments in mainstream agencies are delivering effeAïe and accessible services.

Strategies Lead Agency &
Partners

FaHCSIA

DPC

AANSW

Community
Support Service

Targets

Plan developed
and implemented.

When

2012
A reference group comprising representatives from the lAcBWG, Dpc, AANSW, FaHCSIA, the
lllawarra Forum and the ICC will be formed to develop a process for identifying barriers to
services and a plan to address these barriers.
Strategies may include -

' lmplementation of a tool kit that assists agencies to assess their own cultural
competence and issues that need to be addressed.

' lmplementation of cultural respect and cultural competence education and training
programs for mainstream agencies that involve local Aboriginal community membãrs.

' Agency forums/open days that can assist with building trust between Aboiiginal
community and service providers.
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Budget elements zOLO/tl - 2OL3/2OL4

Action Area 1: Leadership and Governance

Coord ination su pport for the IACBWG

Regional planning and meeting support for the IACBWG

Partnership Community and Community Engagement Work
.5fte Partnership Community Project Officer.

Governance, leadershÍp and skill building

Action Area 2: Glosingthe gap in employment

lmplementation of Phase 2 of Health and Community Services
WorKorce Project

Planning of employment oppoftunities in green economy

Making it our Business imptementation plan for NSW Publíc Service
and development of Job Compact.

Australian Government ( Fa HCSIA)
Year 1-: $12{t,000 for regional coordinator (confirmed)
Year 2: $12ii,OOO (proposed)

-Y-ear 
3: $P_q,900 (proposed)

NSW Government:
Year 1$7,OOO a year committed by DPC and MNSW (confirmed)
Year 2 and 3r: $14,000 (proposed)

NSW Government

Austral ia n Govern ment ( FaHCSIA)
Aborig¡nal Leadershíp and Engagement Program

Australian Government (DEEWR)
Project funding to be confirmed.

Austral ian Government ( DEEWR)
Project funding confirmed.

NSW Government
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Action Area 3: Closingithe gap in education

lncrease opportunities for parental engagement in schooling Australian Government ( DEEWR)
Project funding to be confirmed.

School traineeshi ps, Project Murra. Austral ian Government ( DEEWR)
Funding confirmed

Action A¡ea 4= lncrease access to housing for Aboriginal people in the lllawatra re€l¡on

To provide set up support for the lndependent L¡ving Project for young Australian Government (FaHCSfA)
Aboriginal people with a Disability pilot project $2O,OOO for set up costs (confirmed)

Action Area 5: Building capacity of Abor¡g¡nal orgen¡sat¡ons

Aboriginal capacity development project that focuses on working with
small Aboriginal organisations in lllawarra area.

Organisation and strategies to be identified through consultation.

Action Area 6: lncreasing access to effective and culturally competent services

Partnership project between IACBWG, DPC, ICC and lllawarra Forum.
identifying barriers and developing actions.

Com m un ity Su pport Service (th rough I I lawa rra Aborigi na I Corporation)

Austral ian Govern ment (FaH CSIA)
$240,000 over 3 years
$140,000 in Year 1to conduct consultation with Aboriginal
organisations and community groups and to support capacity building
initîatives (confirmed)
$50,000 ayear in subsequent years for capacity building project
(proposed)

Australian Government ( FaHCSIA)
$30,000 (confirmed subject to project plan)

Australian Government ( Fa HCSIA)
$150,000 a year (confirmed)
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Annex A

summary of other key funding ¡n¡t¡atives focussing on closing the Gap

Funding Source Activities

National Partnership on Closing the Gap in
Aboriginal Health Outcomes;

lndigenous Chronic Disease program

National Partnership on Homelessness

National Partnership Agreement for Low Socio
Economic Status School Com m unÍties
National Partnershíp for Literacy and Numeracy
(National Smarter Schools partnerships)

Funding of Aboriginal Health Outreach Officers Ín lllawarra Division of Gps and lllawarra
Aboriginal Medical Service.

lmplementation plans for each of the Smarter Schools Natíonal partnerships include
strategies to suppoft Aborigínal str:dents, teachers, school leaders and school communities.

, Assisting Aboriglinal young peoplie
leav¡ng care (lllawarra)
This project aims to prevent Aboriginal homelessness by assisting 20 young peopte in care
transition to independent living. Under this project additional casé worker positions will be
established in an existíng Aboriginral specific leaving care service provider io assist Abor¡ginal
young people leaving care to movt¡ into appropriate and sustainable accommodation.

Community Builders
(NSW Community Services)

a

a

a

fllawarra Aboriginal corporation: Koori youth culture connect (3 years)
Kiama Council Aboriginal Eingagement project (2 years)
shellharbour council, Aboriginat cutture & Heritage'Toolkit/ protocol' (1year)
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Signatories to the

f llawarua Regional Partnership Agreement
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lllawarra Aboriginal Regional Partnership Agreement

Thls Agreement ls made on the 9th Day of December 2010.

Signed for ancl on behalf of tho Australian Government by:

'Ity.y:--6a*:,

e Hon Jenny Macklin

Minister for Farnilies, Housing,

Community Servíces and lndigenous Affairs

Signed for and on behalf of the New South Wales Government by:

The Hon Paul Lynch

Minister for Aboriginal Affairs
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I
CIP.

lllawarra Aboriginal Regional Partnership Agreement

Thls Agreement is made on the 9th Day of Decembes 2OLO.

Slgned by the followlng lllawara Aborlglnal Gommunity organlsatlons and groups:

Sþnature

P r ¡ nt N a m e : r4 rc, ¡¡/,/^+, 12.., il.n¿. f 5
lllawarra AboÌig¡nal Gommunlty Based
Working Group

KEJ Tradltlonal Elclers Group

sipnature'...ffiç-ç.*- srgnarure

Sitnature

Prînt Name:

Wodl Wodl Tradltlonal Eldets Group

F>

lllawana Local Aborlglnal Land Council

erirt nur"$i7..ñl-(p/..rã{n¿f,.,cr*,d{,<eru!tr,,nt Narne; Lt..t1:1.f.Í.f ,7(...ß"a.,.".sc:r*.*!
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Thls Agreement is made on the 9th Day of December 2010.

lllawarra Koori Men's Group

Signature: Ø/

pri¡tt Name: ...y..ç, ß!7,.1..y'..!..*Ê'
Shellharbour Aborlglnal Community and
Youth Association

Print Name: ¿.*\\q\\<rr\
lllawarra Dubays

Si6!n atu re:,.,LÐ.,;....**=P-'

p ri n t N a m e :.. f$.n;.*gr*9.i.,. ]Iãe¡ -.,t g
Coomaditchie Unitecl Aboriglnal
Colporatlon

Sþnature; Õç-

Print Name: .ft.eo-rr,o,r.
lllawarra Aborig¡nal Medical Service

s,gnature:V\trt-Yõ Si{nature: 4
p r i n t n a m r ----.i C-1,r,...

Kula N'gadu Association
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This Agreement is made on the 9th Day of Decembpr 2OLO.

$Â-, \4
s t Eln a t u r e : . -ß D-tt #rrAJASlÉnature:

Print Name: c\

Kullila Welfare & Aborlglnal Houslng Corp

Sþnature:

Mo., @\' Prlnt Name:

Boolarng Nangamal Abor¡glnal Art &
Culture Studlo
l3o o c,\ø¿ cr u 4r)â4rvtaÍ-
4ß¿>Qtt*,u.r.t^ Co¿,¡cr4+¡ orJ

R.st s I €=¿-

Print Name:

Yunimyna

îtÀW

SiEinature:

Print Name:

Gerringong Aboriglnal Houslng
Corporation

signature: .Î4,,.,

Print Name:

Yamanda Assoclatl

sisnature: 'Áá/y'n,-. b*
,:.:, r 

^,, ".: .S.t:pke 
n....AU^ 

^...
Moyengully

S¡g,nature:

Print Name:

Sandon Point Aboriglnal Tent Emlrassy
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Thls Agreement is made on the Sth Day of March 2OL2.

s¡ginature:

Print Name: ',Szxr>rcA BÆcoK \
GlbberÉunyah Aboriginal Assoicatlon
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Thls Agreement ls made on the 2Lst Day of March 2OL3.

s þ,n at u r e :........ ß . t.. &..L **..- r)

p r t tt t N a m e :....,.. ly/,.., ñ.c*c,Lq.çyÍ:.tç;...'

Koorl Kulcha Assoclatlon lnc



Thls Agreement Is made on the 26tn Day of March 2013.

L L I
P il nt N a m e :ñ :.,(,(.,(..,Ê*(..,1:l ß( k I í
W¡ngecarrlbee Shire Counoll



This Agreement is made on the 8tt'Day of May 2OL3.

M,Sþ,nature:.

Prtnt Name: ß.0( ,.or.r.{-

Families Sharing Culture Aboriginal Gorporation

.tS.':.:tLtz/.
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FOREWORD 
                                           
 
The NSW Government has made clear its determination to tackle the growing 
problem of anti-social behaviour and alcohol-related violence in our community.  
The Government has introduced a comprehensive package of initiatives to help 
address this issue, including amendments to the alcohol-free zone provisions in 
the Local Government Act 1993 to give Police and local council enforcement 
officers more power to enforce alcohol-free zones.   
 
These Ministerial Guidelines have been prepared under section 646(1) of the 
Local Government Act. The Guidelines take effect on 5 February 2009 replacing 
the previous Guidelines issued in 1995.  
 
The principal object of an alcohol-free zone is to prevent disorderly behaviour 
caused by the consumption of alcohol in public areas in order to improve public 
safety. 
 
Alcohol-free zones are most effective if they form part of a larger program in 
which the local community is actively involved directed at irresponsible alcohol 
consumption.  Used in isolation they may only move the problem from one place 
to another. 
 
The Guidelines provide councils with detailed procedures to be followed when 
considering the establishment of alcohol-free zones. The guidelines include 
details on the application process, consultation and operational requirements, as 
well as guidance on enforcing alcohol-free zones. Councils are encouraged to 
establish a good working relationship with their Police local area command to 
enhance the effectiveness of alcohol-free zones. 
 
There is evidence that when alcohol-free zones are established in appropriate 
areas and operated with the required level of resources to promote and enforce 
the zones, they are an effective tool in assisting Police and councils manage 
public safety.  
 
I encourage all councils to consider the appropriate use of alcohol-free zones to 
manage alcohol related anti-social behaviour in their community. 
 

 
The Hon. Barbara Perry, MP 
Minister for Local Government 
5 February 2009 
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Ministerial Guidelines on Alcohol-Free Zones 
 

 

INTRODUCTION 
 
The object of alcohol-free zones is an early intervention measure to prevent the 
escalation of irresponsible street drinking to incidents involving serious crime. 
 
The drinking of alcohol is prohibited in an alcohol-free zone that has been 
established by a council. Public places that are public roads, footpaths or public 
carparks may be included in a zone. Alcohol-free zones promote the use of these 
roads, footpaths and carparks in safety and without interference from irresponsible 
street drinkers. 
 
Any person living or working within an area, the local police or a local community 
group may ask a council to establish an alcohol-free zone or a council itself may 
decide to do so. A proposal to establish an alcohol-free zone must in all cases be 
supported by evidence that the public’s use of those roads, footpaths or public 
carparks has been compromised by street drinkers. For example, there could be 
instances of malicious damage to property, littering, offensive behaviour or other 
crimes. 
 
The council must undertake a consultation process to decide if an alcohol-free zone 
is appropriate. Once established by council resolution, the roads, footpaths and 
public carparks within the zone must be signposted and notice of the zone must 
appear in the local press. The maximum duration of an alcohol-free zone is four 
years, although it may be re-established at the conclusion of the original period, 
following a review by council of its continuing applicability. Alcohol-free zones may 
also be established for special events only. 
 
Alcohol-free zones are enforced by the police or by council enforcement officers 
where the Commissioner of Police gives written authorisation. Any person observed 
to be drinking in an alcohol-free zone may have the alcohol in their possession 
immediately seized and tipped out or otherwise disposed of.  
 
Alcohol-free zones are most effective if they are part of a larger program directed at 
irresponsible alcohol consumption in which the local community is actively involved. 
Used in isolation they may only move the problem from one place to another. 
 
These Ministerial Guidelines provide local councils with detailed procedures which 
must be followed in the establishment of an alcohol-free zone. They supplement the 
relevant provisions of the Local Government Act 1993.  
 
Each of the paragraphs of these Guidelines are accompanied by the relevant section 
reference in the Act. As set out in section 646 of the Local Government Act, the 
Ministerial Guidelines must be used by councils when establishing an alcohol-free 
zone.  
 
The Commissioner of Police may separately issue directions relating to the 
enforcement of alcohol-free zones. 
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GUIDELINES FOR COUNCILS 
 
 
VALID ESTABLISHMENT OF AN ALCOHOL-FREE ZONE 

sections 644, 644A, 644B, 644C and 646 

 
To validly establish an alcohol-free zone a council must comply with the procedures 
in sections 644 to 644C of the Local Government Act as well as those set out in 
these Guidelines. 
 
The Act identifies that alcohol-free zones can be established in those areas which 
have identified problems with regard to street drinking.  
 
 
APPLICATION FOR AN ALCOHOL-FREE ZONE 

section 644 (1) and (2) 

 
One or more of the following people may make application to a local council to 
establish an alcohol-free zone: 

 a person who is a representative of a community group active in the area, 
 a police officer, or 
 a person who lives or works in the area. 

 
An application to the relevant council is to be made in the form set out at Appendix 1 
to these Guidelines. A council may adapt the form, provided the same information is 
required as a minimum. Councils may consider making the application form available 
on their website. 
 
An application fee is not appropriate. 
 
If council receives more than one application referring to the same roads, footpaths 
or public carparks, they may be joined in a single alcohol-free zone proposal.  
 
 
PROPOSAL FOR THE ESTABLISHMENT OF AN ALCOHOL-FREE 
ZONE 

section 644 

 
A council may prepare a proposal for the establishment of an alcohol-free zone. In 
this case, receipt of an application is not necessary as the council itself is initiating 
action for a zone. 
 
A proposal must be prepared in respect of every proposed alcohol-free zone.  
 
An alcohol-free zone is a means by which a council may limit the locations within its 
area where the consumption of alcohol is permitted. Because it will impose 
restrictions on the personal freedom of citizens, a proposal to establish a zone must 
adequately address the following matters: 
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1   Reasons to Support an Alcohol-Free Zone 
 
The irresponsible consumption of alcohol on roads and footpaths and in public 
carparks can compromise their safe use by members of the public without 
interference. Each individual zoning is to be considered according to its particular 
circumstances. 
 
Reasons for supporting alcohol-free zones must be included and must reflect the 
fact that irresponsible behaviour arising from the consumption of alcohol is 
occurring on those roads and footpaths and in those public carparks included in 
the proposal. This could involve instances of obstruction, littering, the actual 
commission of, or police intervention to avoid the commission of, more serious 
offences under the Law Enforcement (Powers and Responsibilities) Act 2002, 
Summary Offences Act 1988 or the Crimes Act 1900, such as malicious damage, 
etc. 
 
It is not appropriate to consider an alcohol-free zone for reasons that are 
unrelated to the irresponsible behaviour of drinkers, for example, the 
congregation of drinkers where irresponsible behaviour does not occur, general 
conduciveness to business or tourist activities or the personal beliefs of particular 
citizens. 

 
2  Location of an Alcohol-Free Zone 
 

An alcohol-free zone may only be established to include a public road, footpath or 
a public place that is a carpark (ie carparks on public land or Crown land). Private 
carparks (being on private land and not under the control of the council) may not 
be included. 
 
Generally, an alcohol-free zone should be as small as is possible and must only 
extend to areas which can be supported by reasons as set out in point 1 above. 
However, larger alcohol-free zones, sometimes known as ‘whole-town’ alcohol-
free zones may be effective in some rural and remote towns where they are 
supported generally by all stakeholder groups in that community. There are legal 
issues that need to be considered by councils when such ‘whole-town’ zones are 
proposed, as some relevant areas of a town will not be public roads, footpaths or 
public carparks.  
 
Large alcohol-free zones need to be established in a way which is 
complementary with public places signposted under section 632 of the Local 
Government Act 1993. It is not usually appropriate to establish an entire local 
government area, or a substantial part of that area, as an alcohol-free zone. 
Similarly, it would usually be inappropriate to zone the greater part of a town, 
suburb or urban area as alcohol-free.  
 
Alcohol-free zones should primarily be located adjacent to outlets supplying 
alcohol where drinkers congregate. In the absence of such an outlet a zoning 
should be considered only in exceptional circumstances. For example, a known 
hot spot for inappropriate street drinking may be in a public carpark adjacent to a 
beach or public reserve, but which is many kilometres from an outlet supplying 
alcohol. 
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Alcohol-free zones and alfresco dining 
In some circumstances an alcohol-free zone may be proposed for an area that 
includes footpath alfresco dining areas for cafés and restaurants which fall within 
the zone. When a council issues a licence for the use of public footpaths for such 
dining use in an alcohol-free zone, it must impose conditions on the licensee (eg 
restaurant operator) about the requirements of the zone, including clear 
delineation and control of the licensed area from the alcohol-free zone.  

 
3  Duration of an Alcohol-Free Zone 
 

An alcohol-free zone may be established for a maximum period of four years. 
Once established, it applies twenty-four hours per day. 
 
Where a problem with irresponsible street drinking exists only in relation to a 
special event within the local area, an alcohol-free zone may be established only 
for that special event. A “special event” is not defined in the Local Government 
Act. It could be applied to any event that is of significance to the local area, for 
example, a local show day, a cultural event such as Tamworth’s Country Music 
Festival, or a particular time of year such as New Year’s Eve celebrations. It is for 
the relevant council to decide what is a “special event” for the purposes of 
establishing an alcohol-free zone. 
 
An alcohol-free zone declared for a special event also has a maximum duration of 
four consecutive years. The proposal and related signage needs to define the 
special event that the alcohol-free zone relates to. 
 
The duration of an alcohol-free zone established prior to 3 December 2008 is not 
extended. 

 
4 Consultation with the Police 
 

In preparing a proposal to establish an alcohol-free zone a council must consult 
with the relevant Police Local Area Commander about the appropriate number 
and location of alcohol-free zones. 

 
 
COUNCIL CONSULTATION WITH INTERESTED PARTIES 

section 644A 

 
After preparing a proposal to establish an alcohol-free zone a council is required to 
undertake a public consultation process. The process under the Act involves all of 
the following: 
 
1.  Publish a notice of the proposal in a newspaper circulating in the area of the 

proposed alcohol-free zone, allow inspection of the proposal and invite 
representations or objections within 30 days from the date of publication. The 
notice should state the exact location of the proposed alcohol-free zone, and the 
place and time at which the proposal may be inspected.  
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2. Send a copy of the proposal to: 
 

a) the Police Local Area Commander and the officer in charge of the police 
station within or nearest to the proposed zone, 

 
b) liquor licensees and secretaries of registered clubs whose premises border 

on, or adjoin or are adjacent to, the proposed zone, 
 
and invite representations or objections within 30 days from the date of sending the 
copy of the proposal, AND 
 
3. Send a copy of the proposal to the NSW Anti-Discrimination Board, if the local 

area is listed in Appendix 2 to these Guidelines, and invite representations or 
objections within 30 days from the date of sending the copy of the proposal. 
Other councils have the option of advising the Board if they wish to seek the 
Board’s views on the proposed alcohol-free zone.  

 
In addition to these statutory requirements there are other consultative avenues that 
may enhance the effectiveness of any alcohol-free zone that is subsequently 
established. Accordingly, a council is also required to: 
 
4.  Send a copy of the proposal to any known organisation representing or able to 

speak on behalf of an identifiable Aboriginal or culturally and linguistically diverse 
group within the local area and invite representations or objections within 30 days 
from the date of sending the copy of the proposal. 

 
A council is to give proper consideration to any representations, submissions or 
objections received and as a result may amend or withdraw a proposal to establish 
an alcohol-free zone. However, any amendment that extends the location of the 
proposed alcohol-free zone must be supported by reasons (as outlined above). 
 
COUNCIL RESOLUTION TO ESTABLISH AN ALCOHOL-FREE ZONE 

section 644B (1) and (2) 

 
After complying with the procedures a council may, by resolution, adopt a proposal to 
establish an alcohol-free zone. The resolution itself will establish the zone. 
 
After resolution, a council’s usual administrative processes would apply in informing 
interested parties including any applicant, the Anti-Discrimination Board (if 
applicable), the relevant police Local Area Commander and officer in charge of the 
local police station (if different), affected liquor licensees and club secretaries and 
other organisations advised of the original proposal. 
 
 
OPERATION OF AN ALCOHOL-FREE ZONE 

section 644B (3) and (4) 

 
A council must publicly advise the establishment of an alcohol-free zone by notice 
published in a newspaper circulating in the area that includes the zone. 
 
An alcohol-free zone will not operate until 7 days after publication of the notice AND 
until the roads, footpaths and public carparks affected are adequately signposted. 
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Signage for Alcohol-Free Zones 
 
A council is required to consult with the police regarding the placement of signs. 
 
As a minimum, signs are to be placed at the outer limits of the zone, at the site of 
specific trouble spots (as indicated by the police) and at other suitable intervals within 
the zone. 
 
Signs designating an alcohol-free zone must indicate that the drinking of alcohol is 
prohibited in the zone. Signs should note that alcohol may be seized and disposed of 
if alcohol is being consumed in the zone. Starting and finishing dates for the 
operation of the zone should also be included. 
 
It is recommended that signs use consistent, easily recognisable symbols and 
include a map of the area defining the location of the zone. Some councils may 
choose to complement erected notices with spray-painted no-alcohol symbols on the 
footpaths.  
 
Graphic representation on signs is an option. However, Standards Australia does not 
have an internationally recognised symbol for alcohol and considers that depiction of 
a bottle, glass AND can would be ideal to avoid confusion. The International 
Organisation for Standardisation (ISO) provides advice on methods that can be used 
to create different types of prohibition signs (ISO 7010-2003 Safety Signs used in 
Workplaces and Public Areas). This can be read with ISO 3864.3-2006 (Design 
Principles for Graphical Symbols for use in Safety Signs) which is used to ensure 
symbols and signs have the intended meaning and can be comprehended by 
persons as they enter the area the sign applies to. The Standard provides sizing 
requirements and font sizes for letters used in symbols. 
 
Councils are encouraged to utilise symbols on their signage which don’t rely on high 
levels of literacy.  
 
The local Aboriginal community may be engaged to design signs which are also 
appropriate for their community. 
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The content of the sign below is considered a minimum standard. 
 
 

  

ALCOHOL-FREE ZONE 
 

 
 

The consumption of alcohol is prohibited 
 

From —-/—-/—- 
 

                        To —-/—-/—- 
 

* 
 

Non-compliance may result in immediate 
seizure and disposal of alcohol 

 

 
* Insert appropriate directional arrow or map 

 
On such signs the dates may be inserted in a manner that allows re-use of the sign, 
provided the dates cannot be removed during the period of operation. 
 
Signs are to be removed as soon as practicable, but no longer than 30 days, after the 
end date of an alcohol-free zone. 
 
 
SUSPENSION OR CANCELLATION OF AN ALCOHOL-FREE ZONE 

section 645 

 
The power to suspend or cancel an alcohol-free zone during its period of operation is 
provided so that a council may respond to more immediate situations that arise within 
the area of the zone. 
 
A council must pass a valid resolution to suspend or cancel a particular alcohol-free 
zone. Such action may be taken as a result of a request received from any person or 
body, or at a council’s own initiative. 
 
Liaison with the local police, before and after the council resolution, is essential to 
ensure that both groups are informed and action is coordinated. Additionally, a 
council may undertake any other consultation that it considers necessary. 
 
A council must publish notice of a suspension or cancellation as required under 
section 645 (1) and (3). In the case of cancellation of an alcohol-free zone the signs 
should be removed immediately. 
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A council is not limited in the reasons for which it may suspend or cancel an alcohol-
free zone. A suspension would not usually be appropriate for any period longer than 
one month, and generally would be of a much shorter duration eg. to accommodate a 
specific community event. Alcohol-free zone signage should be removed for the 
duration of any suspension of the zone. 
 
The four year operation of an alcohol-free zone is not extended by any suspension 
occurring within that period. 
 
 
RE-ESTABLISHMENT OF AN ALCOHOL-FREE ZONE 

section 644B(4) 

 
An alcohol-free zone is essentially a short-term control measure and in many 
instances a zone will achieve the desired objectives within its operational period. 
 
There is no general provision for an alcohol-free zone to be extended. However, the 
roads, footpaths or public carparks comprising a zone may be included in another 
alcohol-free zone of the same or different configuration, immediately following the 
cessation of the existing zone or at any future time. 
 
All the requirements for the valid establishment of a zone apply whether or not any of 
the roads, footpaths or carparks concerned have previously been zoned as alcohol-
free. 
 
Where a proposal for an alcohol-free zone includes roads, footpaths or public 
carparks that have previously been zoned as alcohol-free, a council is to have regard 
to that previous zoning.  
 
The evaluation criteria that councils use when considering the re-establishment of an 
alcohol free zone should include the following: 
 

- what were the factors which originally supported a zoning in that area? 
 

- how successful was the previous alcohol-free zone in achieving a reduction in 
unacceptable street drinking? 

 

- what do police statistics indicate about the value of re-establishing an alcohol-
free zone in that area? 

 

- what other measures may need to be considered (eg a community education 
program) if unacceptable street drinking is still of concern in that area? 

 

- has the community’s perceptions of safety improved? 
 
The re-establishment procedure provides a council with the opportunity to focus 
again on any community problems associated with irresponsible alcohol consumption 
and the range of strategies that may be implemented to address these problems. 
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RECORDING OF ALCOHOL-FREE ZONES 
 
The maintenance of appropriate records is essential for established alcohol-free 
zones. As a minimum, records need to be kept in sufficient detail: 
 
 to document that all the steps for valid establishment have been undertaken 

 to provide for removal of signs at the conclusion of the zone’s operation 

 to identify suspensions or cancellations of alcohol-free zones 

 to avoid overlap in the establishment of alcohol-free zones 

 to provide a reference base where re-establishment of an alcohol-free zone is 
sought. 

 
 
ENFORCEMENT OF ALCOHOL-FREE ZONES 

sections 642 and 648 

 
Alcohol-free zones may be enforced by any officer of the NSW Police Force or an 
enforcement officer. An enforcement officer means an employee of a council 
authorised in writing by the Commissioner of Police to be an enforcement officer for 
the purpose of section 642 of the Local Government Act. 
 
The legislation applies to all persons, including minors. 
 
The power to seize and tip out or otherwise dispose of alcohol without the need to 
issue a warning applies within an alcohol-free zone.  
 
Where a council has authorised enforcement officers, the council will be required to 
adopt a procedure regarding the disposal of any alcohol that is seized. 
 
A Police officer or authorised council enforcement officer may use their discretion to 
issue a warning to a person who is drinking in an alcohol free zone, for example, 
where the person may be unaware of the zone.  
 
It should also be noted that in circumstances where a person does not co-operate 
with a Police officer or authorised council enforcement officer, they can be charged 
with obstruction under section 660 of the Local Government Act which carries a 
maximum penalty of $2,200. 
 
The Commissioner of Police has the power to authorise council officers to enforce 
alcohol-free zones. The Commissioner may delegate his or her authority to Police 
Local Area Commanders. Where councils identify benefits to their communities for 
their officers to enforce alcohol free zones, the general manager will need to liaise 
with the Local Area Commander to ensure that council officers are suitable for this 
enforcement role. 
 
Only authorised employees of a council and not contractors, who may be otherwise 
engaged by a council to provide regulatory services, may be authorised for this 
purpose. 
 
Councils are responsible for ensuring that their authorised enforcement officers have 
appropriate identification to support this enforcement role.  
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Councils with authorised council enforcement officers need to establish a system to 
record the number of occasions that these officers enforce the Alcohol-Free Zone 
legislation in their area. This should include monitoring the number of authorised 
council enforcement officers and how often alcohol is tipped out or otherwise 
disposed of. Councils may from time to time be required to report this data to the 
Department of Local Government to inform the evaluation of the usage of the 
Alcohol-Free Zone powers by councils. 
 
It is important that the Police Local Area Commander and the officer-in-charge of the 
local police station (if different) are involved in the establishment procedure so that 
the zone operates and is enforced most effectively. 
 
 
ALCOHOL-FREE ZONES AND COMMUNITY EDUCATION 

 
As well as the requirement to publish information in the local media about the 
establishment of an alcohol-free zone, the community will be better educated about 
the intent of the alcohol-free zone if a community education campaign is run in line 
with the establishment of the zone. 
 
Councils may wish to engage their local Community Drug Action Team or Drug and 
Alcohol Service within their Area Health Service so that responsible drinking 
messages can be promoted within the community to coincide with the establishment 
of the alcohol-free zone. 
 
Posters and other information about the consequences of irresponsible street 
drinking may be displayed in local licensed premises and bottle shops. Collaboration 
between council, the police and stakeholders including liquor licensees may be 
assisted through a local Liquor Accord. Further information on Liquor Accords is 
available on the Office of Liquor, Gaming and Racing website at 
www.olgr.nsw.gov.au. 
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CONTACTS 
 
 
Department of Local Government 
Level 1, 5 O’Keefe Avenue  
(Locked Bag 3015) 
Nowra, 2541 
 
Telephone: (02) 4428 4100 
 
Website: www.dlg.nsw.gov.au  
 
 
Anti-Discrimination Board 
Level 4, 175 Castlereagh Street,  
Sydney  
(PO Box A2122, Sydney South, 1235) 
 
Telephone: 
General Enquiry Service & Employers Advisory Service (02) 9268 5544 
For rural and regional New South Wales only  1800 670 812  
 
Website: www.lawlink.nsw.gov.au/adb 
 
 
NSW Police Service 
1 Charles Street  
(Locked Bag 5102)  
Parramatta, 2150 
 
Telephone: 1800 622 571 
 
Website: www.police.nsw.gov.au  
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Appendix 1 
 

APPLICATION FOR ALCOHOL-FREE ZONE 
(Local Government Act 1993, section 644) 

 
To .....................................................................................................(Name of Council) 
 
1 I .................................................................................................................................. 

(Full Name) 
 
2 of ................................................................................................................................ 
   (Address)                                                          (Telephone No.) 
 
3 Being (tick appropriate box): 

(a)    a representative of ....................................................................................... 

                   (Name of Community Group in area) 

(b)      a police officer stationed at ........................................................................... 

(c)      a person living in the area 

(d)      a person working in the area at .................................................................... 

.................................................................................................................................... 
(work address) 

 

apply to the Council to establish an alcohol-free zone. 

 
 

4 Roads or parts of roads (‘roads’ includes ‘footpaths’) and/ or public 
carparks to be included in the alcohol-free zone: 

....................................................................................................................................... 

....................................................................................................................................... 

....................................................................................................................................... 

....................................................................................................................................... 
(Specify exactly by referring to street numbers or other landmarks) 
 
 
5 Reasons for requesting the alcohol-free zone: 
....................................................................................................................................... 
....................................................................................................................................... 
....................................................................................................................................... 
....................................................................................................................................... 

(Give details of obstruction, littering, personal injury, property damage, police 
intervention, etc. that have occurred on those roads or in those carparks) 
 
 
Signed............................................... 

Date................................................... 

 
 
Documents supporting the information on this form may be attached. 
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Appendix 2 
 

COUNCILS WHICH MUST CONSULT WITH 
THE ANTI-DISCRIMINATION BOARD 
 
Sixteen councils are required to consult with the NSW Anti-Discrimination Board in 
their establishment of an alcohol-free zone to provide a measure of protection 
against the possibility of a discriminatory impact upon certain groups in the 
community. These councils are: 
 

Blacktown 

Bourke 

Campbelltown 

Dubbo 

Kempsey 

Lake Macquarie 

Liverpool 

Moree Plains 

Newcastle 

Penrith 

Randwick 

Shoalhaven 

South Sydney 

Tamworth 

Walgett 

Wollongong 

 



 
ESTABLISHMENT AND MAINTENANCE OF ALCOHOL-

FREE ZONES ON PUBLIC ROADS AND FOOTPATHS 

COUNCIL POLICY 
 

Adopted by Council:  13 December 1993 P a g e  | 1 Trim No:  Z11/7527 

ADOPTED BY COUNCIL:   13 DECEMBER 1993  
 

BACKGROUND 

The public consumption of alcohol is considered to be undesirable and methods including the creation of Alcohol-
Free zones in public places are considered to benefit the community where such zones are created. 

 

OBJECTIVE 

The main objectives of this policy is to discourage anti-social behaviour which arises from the consumption of 
alcohol on public roads (including footpaths) and to provide a means for assisting the police to control the public 
consumption of alcohol within the City of Wollongong. 

 

 

POLICY STATEMENT 

The establishment of Alcohol-Free zones on public roads and footpaths at particular locations within the City of 
Wollongong is undertaken for the purpose of reducing public consumption of alcohol; also benefiting the community, 
the police, the consumers of the alcohol and property owners. 

 

 

 



ESTABLISHMENT AND MAINTENANCE OF ALCOHOL-FREE 
ZONES ON PUBLIC ROADS AND FOOTPATHS COUNCIL POLICY 
 

Adopted by Council:  13 December 1993 P a g e  | 2 Trim No: Z11/7527 

 

STATEMENT OF PROCEDURES 
1 Upon receipt of an application check that the application is valid in accordance with section 644 of the Local 

Government Act, 1993 (“the Act”). 

2 Acknowledge receipt of the application together with advice summarising the process to be followed and the 
anticipated time frame. 

3 Refer the application to the New South Wales Police Service and Council’s Safe Community Action Team 
for consideration and comment. 

4 Prepare a report to Council, including the recommendations of the New South Wales Police Service and 
Council’s Safe Community Action Team, for consideration and approval in accordance with section 646 of 
the Act. 

5 Advertise the proposal to establish an Alcohol-Free Zone and invite written comments from the public within 
14 days. 

6 Resubmit the proposal to Council for consideration of the representations and objections received. 

7 Following consideration of the representations and objections received, if Council still intends to make the 
appropriate resolution, advice to that effect is to be given to: 

• the Anti Discrimination Board; 

• the Officer in Charge of the Police Station within or nearest to the zone concerned; 

• the occupier of any premises in respect of which a licence is in force under the Liquor Act, 1982 and 
which border on the zone. 

8 Prepare a report including the recommendations of the parties consulted in paragraph 7 hereof and submit 
to Council for final approval. 

9 If Council resolves to establish an Alcohol Free Zone, the following notification thereof is required to be 
given: 

• notify the applicant, local police, adjoining property owner and all persons who have made submissions 
in respect of the proposal. 

• publish an advertisement in the newspaper advising of the establishment of the Alcohol-Free Zone. 

10 Install appropriate signposting of the boundaries of the Alcohol-Free Zone. 

11 Review the Alcohol-Free Zone after expiration of 10 months with a view to its re-establishment for a further 
term. 
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SUMMARY SHEET 

Responsible Division Community Cultural and Economic Development 

Date adopted by Council 13 December 1993 

Date of previous adoptions Not Applicable 

Date of next review October 2014 

Prepared by Manager Community Cultural and Economic 
Development 

Authorised by Director Corporate and Community Services 

 

 

  

 

 



Wollongong LGA – Alcohol Free Zone Maps 2010-2014 

ATTACHMENT 3 
Helensburgh AFZ 
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Thirroul AFZ 
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Corrimal AFZ 
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Wollongong CBD 
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Dapto AFZ 
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Berkeley AFZ 
 

 



Wollongong LGA – Alcohol Free Zone Maps 2010-2014 

Warrawong AFZ 
 

 
 
 
 



 
PAYMENT OF EXPENSES AND PROVISION OF FACILITIES 

TO LORD MAYOR AND COUNCILLORS 
COUNCIL POLICY 

 

Adopted by Council:  [Date] P a g e  | 1 Trim No:  Z13/36387 

ADOPTED BY COUNCIL:   [TO BE COMPLETED BY CORP SUPPORT]  
 

BACKGROUND 
The Local Government Act 1993 requires Council to adopt a policy that allows for Councillors to receive adequate 
and reasonable expenses and facilities to enable them to carry out their civic duties as elected representatives of 
their local communities.      

OBJECTIVE 

The objective of this policy is to ensure that there is accountability and transparency in the payment of expenses 
incurred or to be incurred by Councillors and that these expenses and the facilities provided to Councillors are 
acceptable to and meet the expectations of the local community. 

POLICY STATEMENT 

This policy is to be read in conjunction with Council’s Code of Conduct for Councillors, particularly those provisions 
relating to the use of resources, to ensure that Councillor expenses and facilities are not used inappropriately. 

This policy is consistent with the goals and objectives outlined in the Community Strategic Plan and Council’s core 
values. 
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STATEMENT OF PROCEDURES 
 

PART 1 – INTRODUCTION 

 

Commencement 
This policy commences on [Date to be determined by Council] and replaces the existing policy on the Payment of 
Expenses and Provision of Facilities to the Lord Mayor, Deputy Lord Mayor and Councillors last amended on  
8 April 2013. 

 

Purpose 

• To ensure that there is accountability and transparency in the payment and/or reimbursement of expenses 
incurred or to be incurred by Councillors in carrying out their civic duties; and  

• To ensure that the reimbursement of expenses and facilities provided to assist Councillors to carry out their 
civic duties are appropriate and reasonable. 

 

Objectives 

• To comply with legislative requirements. 

• To ensure that Councillors are not financially or otherwise disadvantaged in undertaking their civic duties. 

 

Availability of Policy 

• Council will ensure that this policy is readily identifiable and available to the community via Council’s website. 

 

Reporting Requirements 

 

Legislative 
Clause 217 of the Local Government (General) Regulation 2005 requires Council to include detailed information in 
its Annual Report about the payment of expenses and facilities to Councillors.  

An annual report is to include the following information: 

• Details (including the purpose) of overseas visits undertaken during the year by Councillors, Council staff or 
other persons while representing the Council (including visits sponsored by other organisations) 

• Details of the total cost during the year of the payment of the expenses of, and the provision of facilities to, 
Councillors in relation to their civic functions (as paid by the Council, reimbursed to the Councillor or reconciled 
with the Councillor), including separate details on the total cost of each of the following: 

o The provision during the year of dedicated office equipment allocated to Councillors on a personal basis, 
such as laptop computers, mobile telephones and landline telephones and facsimile machines installed in 
Councillors’ homes (including equipment and line rental costs and internet access costs but not including 
call costs), 

o Telephone calls made by Councillors, including calls made from mobile telephones provided by Council 
and from landline telephones and facsimile services installed in Councillors’ homes, 

o The attendance of Councillors at conferences and seminars, 

o The training of Councillors and the provision of skill development for Councillors, 
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o Interstate visits undertaken during the year by Councillors while representing the Council, including the 
cost of transport, the cost of accommodation and other out-of-pocket travelling expenses, 

o Overseas visits undertaken during the year by Councillors while representing the Council, including the 
cost of transport, the cost of accommodation and other out-of-pocket travelling expenses, 

o The expenses of any spouse, partner (whether of the same or the opposite sex) or other person who 
accompanied a Councillor in the performance of his or her civic functions, being expenses payable in 
accordance with the Guidelines for the Payment of Expenses and the Provision of Facilities for Mayors 
and Councillors for Local Councils in NSW prepared by the Director-General from time to time, 

o Expenses involved in the provision of care for a child of, or an immediate family member of, a Councillor, 
to allow the Councillor to undertake his or her civic functions. 

 

Council’s Annual Report must also incorporate a copy of this policy. 

 

Council 
A report on Councillor and General Manager expenses will be submitted to each Corporate Governance Committee 
meeting and an audit of Councillor and General Manager expenses will be included in the Internal Audit Plan and 
undertaken every two years. 

 

Legislative Provisions 

This policy has been prepared in accordance with the provisions of Sections 23A, 252, 253 and 254 of the Local 
Government Act 1993 and Clause 403 of the Local Government (General) Regulation 2005 which are detailed 
hereunder: 

 

Local Government Act 1993 

Section 252 of the Act states: 

 

(1) Within 5 months after the end of each year, a council must adopt a policy concerning the payment 
of expenses incurred or to be incurred by, and the provision of facilities to, the mayor, the deputy 
mayor (if there is one) and the other councillors in relation to discharging the functions of civic 
office. 

(2) The policy may provide for fees payable under this Division to be reduced by an amount 
representing the private benefit to the mayor or a councillor of a facility provided by the council to 
the mayor or councillor. 

(3) A council must not pay any expenses incurred or to be incurred by, or provide any facilities to, the 
mayor, the deputy mayor (if there is one) or a councillor otherwise than in accordance with a policy 
under this section. 

(4) A council may from time to time amend a policy under this section. 

(5) A policy under this section must comply with the provisions of this Act, the regulations and any 
relevant guidelines issued under section 23A. 

 

Section 253 of the Act states: 

(1) A council must give public notice of its intention to adopt or amend a policy for the payment of 
expenses or provision of facilities allowing at least 28 days for the making of public submissions. 

(2) Before adopting or amending the policy, the council must consider any submissions made within 
the time allowed for submissions and make any appropriate changes to the draft policy or 
amendment. 

(3) Despite subsections (1) and (2), a council need not give public notice of a proposed amendment to 
its policy for the payment of expenses or provision of facilities if the council is of the opinion that the 
proposed amendment is not substantial. 



PAYMENT OF EXPENSES AND PROVISION OF 
FACILITIES TO LORD MAYOR AND COUNCILLORS COUNCIL POLICY 
 

Adopted by Council:  [Date] P a g e  | 6 Trim No:  Z13/36387 

 

(4) Within 28 days after adopting a policy or making an amendment to a policy for which public notice is 
required to be given under this section, a council is to forward to the Director-General: 

(a) a copy of the policy or amendment together with details of all submissions received in 
accordance with subsection (1), and 

(b) a statement setting out, for each submission, the council’s response to the submission and 
the reasons for the council’s response, and 

(c) a copy of the notice given under subsection (1). 

(5) A council must comply with this section when proposing to adopt a policy each year in accordance 
with section 252(1) even if the council proposes to adopt a policy that is the same as its existing 
policy.  

 

Section 254 of the Act requires that a part of a Council or Committee meeting which considers the adopting 
or amending of this policy must not be closed to the public. 

 

Section 23A of the Act makes provision for the Director-General of the Division of Local Government from 
time to time to prepare, adopt or vary guidelines that relate to the exercise of any of its functions.  It also 
requires that a Council must take the relevant guidelines into consideration before exercising any of its 
functions. 

 

Local Government (General) Regulation 2005 

Clause 403 of the Regulation states that a policy under Section 252 of the Local Government Act 1993 must 
not include any provision enabling a Council: 

 

• To pay any Councillor an allowance in the nature of a general expense allowance, or 

• To make a motor vehicle owned or leased by the Council available for the exclusive or primary use or 
disposition of a particular Councillor other than a Mayor. 

 

Other Government Policy Provisions 

 

This policy has also been prepared in consultation with the following documents: 

 

• The Department of Local Government Guidelines for payment of expenses and provision of facilities 
for Mayors and Councillors which have been issued under Section 23A of the Local Government Act 
1993. 

• Council’s Code of Conduct and in particular sections in relation to Use of Council Resources. 

• ICAC publication – No Excuse for Misuse. 
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Approval Arrangements 

 

• Application to be submitted: 

o Councillor attendance at conferences, seminars, meetings with external parties on official Council 
business, training and skills development sessions, community functions, dinners and other non-
Council functions and the like will be considered following submission of a completed Councillor 
Request to Attend External Event Application prior to the expenses being incurred. 

• Applications for attendance at the following will require report to and determination at an open meeting 
of Council: 

o Applications requiring overseas travel will be determined in open Council. The report to Council 
must detail the purpose of the trip, expected benefits, duration, itinerary, approximate costs and 
nomination/number of Councillors undertaking the trip.  Overseas travel must be approved prior to 
the Councillor/s undertaking the trip.   

o Applications requiring air travel (within Australia) and/or accommodation for greater than one night 
will be determined in open Council. The report to Council must detail the purpose of the trip, 
expected benefits, duration, itinerary, approximate costs and nomination/number of Councillors 
undertaking the trip. The exception being where the Councillor is the appointed Councillor 
representative to an external committee or organisation and travelling within NSW or the ACT - see 
the approval process below. 

• Applications for attendance at the following may be determined by the Lord Mayor (or where the Lord 
Mayor is the applicant, determined by the Deputy Lord Mayor and noted by the General Manager): 

o Applications relating to the Councillor representative to an external committee or organisation 
attending a meeting or function of that committee/organisation within the ACT or New South Wales. 

o Applications requiring single overnight accommodation within the ACT or New South Wales. 

o Attendance at Community Functions, Dinners and Other Non-Council Functions.  

• Applications for attendance at the following must be authorised by the Lord Mayor and noted by the 
General Manager (or where the Lord Mayor is the applicant, determined by the Deputy Lord Mayor and 
noted by the General Manager):  

o All other Applications and where approval at a meeting of Council is not possible or appropriate.  

• Retrospective reimbursement of overseas travel expenses is not allowed unless prior authorisation of 
the travel has been obtained. 

• The use of a Mayoral minute to obtain Council approval for travel is not appropriate as it is not 
consistent with the principles of openness and transparency. 

 

Trim Reference 

 

The Trim container for this policy is GI-80.07.03.001. 

 

 

END OF PART ONE 
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PART 2 – PAYMENT OF EXPENSES 

 

GENERAL PROVISIONS 

 

Allowances and Expenses 

• Council will reimburse reasonable incidental personal out of pocket expenses incurred by Councillors in 
attending Civic Functions, meetings relating to official Council business, seminars, conferences and training 
sessions. 

Incidental expenses include telephone or facsimile calls, laundry and dry cleaning, taxi fares, parking station 
fees and cost of meals not included in registration fees, but excludes tips, and such expenses shall not exceed: 

o $150.00 per day excluding meals or 

o $250.00 per day including meals, of which not more than $150 shall be on meals. 

• Other incidental expenses such as refreshments and parking meter fees, may be incurred and reimbursed 
without substantiation up to a value equivalent to the current Australian Taxation Office Taxation Determination 
on the reasonable travel and overtime meal allowance expense amounts for the current income year. 

 

Payment in Advance 

Councillors may request a payment in advance, up to a maximum of $250 per day, in anticipation of expenses 
being incurred in attending conferences, seminars and training outside the City of Wollongong. 

 

Reimbursement and Reconciliation of Expenses and Payments in Advance 

Councillors are required to complete a Reimbursement of Expenses form for any claims not included on the monthly 
Councillor Claim for Expenses form.  

Unless otherwise stated in this Policy, a claim for reimbursement of expenses and accounting for any payment in 
advance must be substantiated and lodged within 30 days of the costs being incurred.  

 

Community Functions 

Council will provide a budget allocation in the Annual Budget for Councillor attendance at community functions. 

Where a Councillor accepts an invitation to attend a community function in the role of a Councillor, Council shall 
meet all costs associated with such attendance, including entry and hire of special attire but excluding travel costs.   

Dinners and Other Non-Council Functions 

• Council will meet the entry fee associated with the attendance of a Councillor at a dinner or other non- Council 
function which provides briefings to Councillors from key members of the community, politicians and business. 

• Council will not contribute to, or reimburse to a Councillor, any costs associated with attendance at any political 
fundraising event, any donation to a political party or candidate’s electoral fund or for some other private 
benefit. 

 



PAYMENT OF EXPENSES AND PROVISION OF 
FACILITIES TO LORD MAYOR AND COUNCILLORS COUNCIL POLICY 
 

Adopted by Council:  [Date] P a g e  | 9 Trim No:  Z13/36387 

 

Spouse and Partner Expenses 

Council will meet: 

• Reasonable costs of spouses, partners or an accompanying person in attending official Council functions that 
are of a formal or ceremonial nature where the Councillor’s spouse, partner or accompanying person would 
reasonably be expected to attend.  Examples include, but are not limited to Australia Day Award Ceremonies, 
Citizenship Ceremonies, Civic Receptions and Charitable functions at the request of the Lord Mayor. 

• Limited expenses associated with the attendance of the Councillor’s spouse, partner or accompanying person 
at the Local Government NSW Annual Conference.   

These expenses are limited to the cost of the spouse, partner or accompanying person’s registration (including 
the official conference dinner and welcome reception) and official functions hosted by Wollongong City Council 
at the conference.   

Travel expenses, any additional accommodation expenses and the cost of the spouse, partner or 
accompanying person’s tours, etc. will be the responsibility of individual Councillors. 

• Reasonable costs of the spouse, partner or accompanying person of the Lord Mayor (or a Councillor 
representing the Lord Mayor) where the spouse, partner or accompanying person would reasonably be 
expected to attend an official function of Council or accompany the Lord Mayor (or a Councillor representing 
the Lord Mayor) to carry out an official ceremonial duty within NSW or the ACT.   

Such functions include charitable functions to which the Lord Mayor has been invited and award ceremonies 
and other functions to which the Lord Mayor is invited to represent the Council. 

NOTE: The payment of expenses as detailed above is limited to the cost of the ticket, meal and/or the direct cost of 
attending the function.   

Where not provided above, all expenses incurred in relation to the attendance of a spouse, partner or 
accompanying person at any event, function, seminar, conference, business trip and the like, must be met by the 
Councillor or the spouse, partner or accompanying person. 

Peripheral expenses incurred by a spouse, partner or accompanying person such as grooming, special clothing and 
transport are not reimbursable expenses. 

In this section, reference to an “accompanying person” is a person who has a close personal relationship with the 
Councillor and/or provides carer support for the Councillor. 

 

SPECIFIC EXPENSES FOR MAYORS AND COUNCILLORS 

Attendance at Conferences and Seminars   

Councillors will be required to submit a Councillor Request to Attend External Event application in respect of all 
other Conferences and Seminars for approval in accordance with this policy – refer to Approval Arrangements - with 
the exception of those Seminars and training courses included in Council’s Induction Program. 

In determining Council’s delegates to the Local Government NSW Annual Conference the Lord Mayor and Deputy 
Lord Mayor are automatically granted delegate status. 

 

Costs 
• Council will arrange for all bookings and reservations associated with Councillors’ attendance at approved 

external events covered by this policy including those relating to travel, accommodation, official luncheons, 
dinners and tours/inspections considered relevant to the business and interest of Council. 

• All other costs incurred by an individual Councillor except where otherwise stated in this policy, will be the 
responsibility of the individual Councillor. 
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Accommodation 
• Where possible, accommodation is to be booked at the conference venue unless the General Manager 

determines otherwise.   

• In all other cases Council will ensure that reasonable and appropriate accommodation is provided to 
Councillors and in this regard a standard equivalent to 4 Star, where available, is considered appropriate. 

• Preference will be given to accommodation venues providing Government Rates. 

 

Mode of Travel 
• All reasonable travel costs for Councillors whilst on official Council business will be met by Council and will be 

in accordance with the following standards: 

 

New South Wales and Canberra  

Except in exceptional circumstances, the method of transport will be by road: 

 Councillors may request the use of a Council motor vehicle for official business use.  

 Councillors are required to complete the Councillors Motor Vehicle Requisition and must comply with the 
general conditions of the Vehicle Management Policy.  Where a number of Councillors are attending the 
same function, every attempt is to be made to share motor vehicles. 

 A minimum of 48 hours’ notice is required for access to a vehicle for overnight use and 7 days’ notice for 
longer periods. 

 Only where a Council vehicle is not available is a Councillor permitted to use their private vehicle for 
Council purposes.  In such instances, reimbursement will be equivalent to the per kilometre rate as 
specified in the NSW Local Government (State)  Award with the total claim not exceeding the cost of 
return air travel, where available, plus transfer costs.  

 A hire car may be utilised by Council in instances such as travel to and from Sydney airport when a 
number of Councillors are attending a Conference or where a Council vehicle is unavailable. 

 

Australia and New Zealand 

Air travel: 

 Economy class, where air travel time is less than four (4) hours.   

 Premium economy class, where air travel time exceeds four (4) hours.  Where premium economy class is 
unavailable, business class is appropriate. 

 

Overseas 

 Air travel – premium economy, where available; if not available, business class. 

 A Councillor seeking to extend travel for personal reasons whilst overseas on Council business must seek 
the approval of the Lord Mayor prior to making travel arrangements and must meet all additional costs 
associated with the extension. 

 

Travel Arrangements 
All Councillor travel arrangements will be centrally coordinated and booked by a Council officer with Council’s 
approved travel provider or via the internet. 

 

Conference Reports 
After returning from Conferences a Councillor is to provide a written report to Council via the Information Folder 
on an assessment of the event including the benefit to Council and the community and the knowledge gained. 
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No such report is required in respect of the Local Government NSW Annual Conference. 

Each quarter the General Manager shall inform Councillors via the Information Folder of the Conferences 
attended by Councillors and the expenses incurred. 

  

Professional Development 

• All Councillors are expected to attend any Post Election Seminars coordinated by the Division of Local 
Government. 

• Councillors are expected to familiarise themselves with the Councillor Development Strategy which is a joint 
initiative of  the Division of Local Government and the Local Government and Shires Associations of New 
South Wales. 

• Councillors are encouraged to undertake relevant training and skills development as part of the Local 
Government Professional Development Program and other appropriate programs to assist them in carrying out 
their civic duties.  

• Council will include in its annual budget a specific allocation for Councillors training and educational expenses. 
This budget will be increased to provide for additional training following a Council general election or 
introduction of new legislation.  

• Councillors are required to complete the Councillor Request to Attend External Event application for approval 
in accordance with this Policy – refer Approval Arrangements. 

 

Local Travel Expenses – Official Council Business 

• Private Vehicle - If the Lord Mayor or a Councillor is required to use his/her private vehicle, reimbursement will 
be equivalent to the per kilometre rate as specified in the NSW Local Government (State)  Award.  This 
allowance takes into account the use, maintenance and depreciation of the vehicle. 

• Public Transport – Councillors travelling by taxi or other mean of public transport shall be reimbursed for actual 
expenses incurred subject to substantiation within 30 days of the costs being incurred. 

Council will provide Councillors with access to the Wollongong Taxi Service for travel in the Wollongong area 
on Council related business with all costs charged to Council. 

• Official Council Business includes, but is not limited to, attendance at the following: 

 all Council and Committee meetings including Council reference groups and Councillor briefing forums; 

 civic receptions; 

 meetings and inspections; 

 authorised conferences, seminars and training; 

 Independent Hearing and Assessment Panel [IHAP] and/or formal facilitation sessions; 

 meetings of external organisations where the Councillor is an elected Council delegate or alternate 
delegate; 

 where Councillor attendance is required as indicated on the Corporate Diary. 

 

Care and Other Related Expenses 

• Council will provide a child care service during Council and Committee meetings. The cost for the use of this 
service will be in accordance with Council’s Annual Fees and Charges and will be deducted from the 
Councillor’s next monthly fee payment. 

• Council will reimburse Councillors the cost of child care expenses whilst attending the Local Government NSW 
Annual Conference during consideration of conference motions and conference dinner.  All costs are subject to 
substantiation and will be reimbursed with the Councillor’s next monthly fee payment. All other child care 
expenses incurred at the Conference are to be met by the relevant Councillor. 
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• Council will, subject to substantiation, reimburse Councillors for the carer expenses incurred for immediate 
family members in order to allow the Councillor to fulfil his/her Council business obligations up to a limit of 
$2,000 per year.  Examples are care of elderly, disabled or sick family members.  Reimbursement does not 
apply where the care is provided by immediate family members including family, spouse or partner. 

 

Protection Expenses and Obligations 

• Council may assist in providing protection to Councillors from any adverse security breaches to their person or 
property.  Approval of the General Manager must be sought and gained prior to any expenses being incurred 
by Councillors.  

• The General Manager will determine requests after consultation with the NSW Police as to the risk and history 
of the matter. These protection measures may take the form of a security assessment, installation of a security 
system and/or physical monitoring. 

• Council will, subject to substantiation, reimburse Councillors for expenses that they may incur up to a limit of 
$2,000 per year. 

• Should an amount above the $2,000 per year limit be required by any Councillor, the matter will be referred to 
Council for determination after taking advice from the General Manager, Independent Chair of the Corporate 
Governance Committee and/or the Professional Conduct Coordinator. 

 

Insurance Expenses and Obligations 

Councillors are to receive the benefit of insurance coverage effected by Council for: 

(a) Travel and Personal Accident for Councillors and Persons Travelling with Councillors on Council Business 
within Australia (outside of 100km from Wollongong) and Worldwide (subject to policy limitations)  

• Personal injury and capital benefits 

• Medical, evacuation and additional expenses (excluding medical expenses payable within Australia) 

• Evacuation cover (non-medical) 

• Baggage, travellers cheques, travel documents and credit cards, portable computers, display property 
and money 

• Loss of deposits and cancellation charges 

•  Hire car excess expenses 

• Personal liability 

(b) Councillor’s Liability 

Liability to a third party in the form of damages, compensation, interest and costs and defence costs arising 
from an error, mis-statement, misleading statement, omission, neglect or breach of duty, breach of trust or 
other act by a Councillor.  

(c) Public Liability 

Liability to a third party arising out of Councillors’ exercise of their functions as Councillors subject to any 
limitations or conditions of the policy of insurance effected by Council. 

(d) Statutory Liability 

Liability for defence costs and any fine &/or penalty for a wrongful breach as defined: 

Wrongful Breach means any alleged conduct (including any omission) whereby the Councillor allegedly 
contravenes an Act or is involved in the contravention of an Act or commits an offence pursuant to an Act 
and such alleged conduct is prohibited under an Act and is the subject of a penalty under the Act. 
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Legal Expenses and Obligations 

1 Councillors are to receive the benefit of relevant insurance coverage that may be effected by Council for Legal 
Services in the event of: 

(a) An enquiry, investigation or hearing by any of the following: 

• Council’s Conduct Review Committee/Reviewer 

• Independent Commission Against Corruption 

• Office of the NSW Ombudsman 

• Division of Local Government, Department of Premier and Cabinet  

• NSW Police Force 

• Director of Public Prosecutions or 

• Local Government Pecuniary Interest and Disciplinary Tribunal 

into the conduct of a Councillor; or 

(b) Legal proceedings being taken against a Councillor, arising out of or in connection with the 
Councillor's exercise in good faith of his or her functions as a Councillor; 

provided the circumstances of the matter are reported to Council’s relevant insurance provider who in turn 
consents to the legal services and costs. 

Council shall subject to the terms and condition of the insurance coverage reimburse such Councillor, after 
the conclusion of the enquiry, investigation, hearing or proceeding, for expenses properly and reasonably 
incurred, given the nature of the enquiry, investigation, hearing or proceeding, on a Solicitor/client basis, 
provided that: 

(i) approval of the General Manager for the nominated solicitor and their hourly rates is both 
sought and gained in writing prior to legal expenses being incurred. 

(ii) approval of the General Manager for any additional legal expenses is both sought and gained 
in writing prior to those expenses being incurred. 

(iii) the outcome of the legal proceedings is favourable to the Councillor or where an investigator or 
review body makes a finding that is not substantially unfavourable to the Councillor. 

(iv) the amount of such reimbursement shall be reduced by the amount of any monies that may be 
or are recouped by the Councillor on any basis. 

(v) the Councillors' exercise of his or her function, was in the opinion of Council bona fide and/or 
proper; and as a Councillor. 

2 Notwithstanding any other provisions of this Clause the following costs cannot be the subject of 
reimbursement: 

(i) the costs of any action in defamation taken by a Councillor as plaintiff in any circumstances; 

(ii) the costs of a Councillor seeking advice in respect of possible defamation, or in seeking a non-
litigious  

(iii) legal costs for legal proceedings that do not involve a Councillor performing their role as a 
Councillor; 

(iv) legal costs of legal proceedings initiated by a Councillor; 

(v) the costs of defending any matter relating to the eligibility of a Councillor to stand for election. 

 

 

END OF PART 2 
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PART 3 – PROVISION OF FACILITIES 

 

GENERAL PROVISIONS 

 

Provision of Facilities Generally 

The facilities, equipment and services made available under this policy are considered appropriate to support the 
Lord Mayor and Councillors in undertaking their role as elected members of Council. 

 

Private Use of Equipment and Facilities 

Councillors should not generally obtain private benefit from the provision of equipment and facilities, nor from travel 
bonus or any other such loyalty schemes.  However, it is acknowledged that incidental use of Council equipment 
and facilities may occur from time to time. Such incidental private use is not subject to a compensatory payment. 

 

PROVISION OF EQUIPMENT AND FACILITIES FOR COUNCILLORS 

 

Office 

• A furnished Councillors room is provided on the tenth floor of the Administrative Centre for use by all 
Councillors. 

• This office will incorporate two computers configured to Council’s standard operating environment, printing 
facility, telephones and a refrigerator. 

 

Mobile Telephony 

• A Smart Phone with a 1000Mb data allowance will be available to Councillors for official use on request.  

• Council will meet the cost of calls up to a maximum of $300.00 (Plus GST) per quarter with any additional costs 
being borne by the individual Councillor and will be deducted from their next monthly Councillor fee payment. 

• A Councillor may wish to use their private mobile phone in lieu of a Council provided smart phone and in such 
circumstances Council will meet the cost of Council business related calls only, up to a maximum of $300 per 
quarter subject to submission of their monthly telephone account highlighting that expenditure has been 
incurred. The Councillor will be responsible for any mobile phone access plan.  

• International roaming and message bank roaming will be activated when requested by a Councillor proposing 
overseas travel.  However, where the travel is for vacation or personal business purposes all outgoing call 
costs incurred are to be reimbursed to Council by way of deduction from the next Councillor monthly fee 
payment. 

• Each month Councillors will receive a copy of their monthly smart phone account and be required to complete 
an online mobile phone usage declaration. highlighting any personal calls charges to be reimbursed to Council 
by way of deduction from their next monthly Councillor fee payment.  

 

Information Communication Technology 

Council will provide Councillors with a Council specified standard Tablet PC package, printing facility and internet 
access.  

• Councillors will be provided with appropriate induction in the use of the provided equipment. 

• Internet access will be filtered by Council. A 3000Mb data allowance is included with all excess charges being 
reimbursed to Council by way of deduction from their next monthly Councillor fee payment. 
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• Usage of all Council provided technology requires compliance with Council’s Technology Systems Acceptable 
Usage Policy.  Councillors will be required to endorse a copy of the policy indicating that they have read the 
contents and agree to comply with the policy. Any alleged breach will be referred to the General Manager for 
appropriate action. 

• Council will provide support services during business hours, being 8.30am to 5.30pm, to assist Councillors in 
resolving operational issues.  Such support will only relate to Council related services and applications. Non 
Council related applications will not be installed. 

• Councillors will be provided with consumables such as printer cartridges and paper for Council related 
purposes and will be available for collection at Council’s Administrative Centre. 

• Access to a Council supplied email address and Councillor Portal will be provided on the Tablet PC and the 
computers in the Councillors Room on the tenth floor of the Administrative Centre. 

 

Shredder 

A medium duty personal shredder up to a maximum capacity of 10 pages shall be provided to the Lord Mayor and 
Councillors on request. 

 

Newspaper 

One Illawarra Mercury newspaper home delivered Monday to Saturday, and/or subscription to the digital edition of 
the Illawarra Mercury. 

 

Stationery 

Lord Mayor and Councillor stationery, business cards, briefcase, diary and Christmas cards – Lord Mayor (up to 
150 pa) and Councillors (up to 100 pa)  

Council stationery is not to be converted or modified in any way and may only be used for carrying out the functions 
of civic office. 

 

Postage 

All outgoing mail is to be included as part of Council’s daily mail collection by Australia Post and as such needs to 
be delivered to Council’s Administrative Centre. Mail is not permitted to be delivered directly to an individual Post 
Office. 

 

Meals 

Councillors will be provided with a meal and refreshments, excluding alcohol, prior to Council and Standing 
Committee meetings. 

 

Refreshments 

Beverage service in the Councillors’ Room, excluding alcohol. 

 

Use of Motor Vehicle 

• Councillors may request the use of a Council motor vehicle for official business use.  

• Councillors are required to complete a Councillor Motor Vehicle Requisition and must comply with the general 
conditions of the Motor Vehicle Management Policy.  Where a number of Councillors are attending the same 
function, every attempt is to be made to share motor vehicles. 

• A minimum of 48 hours’ notice is required for access to a vehicle for overnight use and 7 days’ notice for longer 
periods. 
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• Only where a Council vehicle is not available is a Councillor permitted to use their private vehicle for Council 
purposes.  In such instances, reimbursement will be equivalent to the per kilometre rate as specified in the 
NSW Local Government (State) Award.  

• Individual drivers are personally liable for all fines resulting from breaches of traffic laws and regulations and 
parking offences when using a Council provided vehicle and when using a private vehicle for Council related 
business. 

 

Parking 

Councillors will be provided with two Wollongong City Council stickers for affixing to their private vehicle to enable 
them to park in the Administrative Centre car park or the Stewart and Corrimal Street car parks free of charge when 
attending the City on Council business.  

 

Lockers 

A locker will be provided for each Councillor. 

 

Insignia of Office 

Councillors will be provided with a jacket and name badge to be worn at civic functions indicating that the wearer 
holds the office of Deputy Lord Mayor and/or Councillor. 

 

Secretarial Support 

Council staff will be available on the tenth floor of Council’s Administrative Centre as required to provide Councillors 
with stenographic and administrative support. 

 

Correspondence 

• Correspondence to individual residents or groups of residents should be directly related to issues concerning 
that resident or group of residents. 

• Correspondence should not refer to the Lord Mayor or Councillor’s political allegiance or non-allegiance to any 
political group, organisation or party. This relates to any hard copy and/or electronic correspondence sent as 
Council business. 

• The Lord Mayor and Councillors should be mindful, particularly in the lead up to elections, that material should 
not directly or indirectly seek to promote the electoral prospects of any individual or group.   

• The content of mass correspondence (more than 50) with residents, which utilise Council resources, facilities 
or funds, should be referred to the General Manager or Public Officer for perusal as to its compliance with the 
above policy, prior to distribution. 

 

PROVISION OF ADDITIONAL EQUIPMENT AND FACILITIES FOR LORD MAYOR 

 

Motor Vehicle 

• A fully serviced and maintained  Holden Caprice or equivalent  for official civic duties and incidental use or a 
credit through a Novated Lease to a similar value. 

• Full private use is available in accordance with the private use provisions contained within Council’s Motor 
Vehicle Policy. 

• Servicing ensures that the vehicle is serviced, cleaned and fuelled ready for daily use. 

• The Lord Mayor is personally liable for all fines resulting from breaches of traffic laws and regulations and 
parking offences incurred whilst driving this vehicle. 
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Office 

• A furnished office suite located on the tenth floor of Council’s Administrative Centre. 

• This office will incorporate a computer configured to Council’s standard operating environment where 
required/requested, telephones, refrigerator and meeting room. 

 

 

Purchase Card 

A Purchase Card will be provided to meet hospitality expenses incurred by the Lord Mayor in discharging his 
functions on behalf of Council. Use of the Purchase Card is to be in accordance with Council’s Purchase Card 
Policy. 

 

Motor Vehicle Parking Space 

A permanent parking space in the basement of Council’s Administrative Centre will be provided to the  
Lord Mayor and Deputy Lord Mayor. 

 

Staff 

• An Executive Officer will provide executive support on a full time basis if required. 

• A Personal Assistant will provide stenographic/clerical support on a full time basis. 

 

Refreshments 

Food and beverage service associated with hosting meetings within the Administration Building, excluding alcohol 

 

Insignia of Office 

• Provision of a jacket, badge and name plates to be worn at civic functions indicating that the wearer holds the 
offices of Lord Mayor and Councillor. 

• Provision of a Lord Mayoral Chain to be worn at civic receptions, citizenship ceremonies and other appropriate 
functions. 

 

MAINTENANCE AND SERVICING OF EQUIPMENT 

• Servicing and repairs to all Council provided equipment will be coordinated through Council’s IT Help Desk 
facility during business hours, being 8.30 am to 5.30 pm,  on the basis of a back-to-base service. 

• All servicing and repairs to any privately owned equipment will be the responsibility of the individual Councillor 
irrespective of whether it is used for Council related business. 

 

 

END OF PART 3 
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PART 4 – OTHER MATTERS 

 

A Acquisition and Returning of Facilities and Equipment by Councillors 

• All equipment provided to Councillors remains the property of Council except where Councillors are 
seeking to purchase equipment in accordance with this policy. 

• Councillors are to return all Council owned equipment to the location nominated by the Manager 
Governance and Information in accordance with the following circumstances: 

 Local Government Election – by 5.00 pm on the day preceding the day of the election.  

 Resignation from Civic Office – by 5.00 pm on the day of resignation. 

 Extended Leave of Absence – where a Councillor has been granted leave of absence for a period 
of more than three (3) months. 

• A Councillor will be provided with the opportunity to purchase Council owned equipment in accordance 
with the following: 

 Where a Councillor has been in office for at least one full term of Council. 

 Where a Councillor has indicated that he/she is not standing for re-election at the next Council 
election. 

 Where a Councillor has been unsuccessful in seeking re-election.  

 The sale price will be determined by the General Manager based on fair market value. 

• The opportunity to purchase Council owned equipment will not be available to a Councillor who – 

 Is disqualified from holding civic office. 

 Is dismissed from civic office or 

 Ceases to hold civic office for any other reason. 

 

B Status of the Policy 

Council may amend this Policy from time to time in accordance with the provisions of Sections 252 and 253 
of the Local Government Act. However Council must adopt such a Policy within 5 months after the end of 
each year as required by Section 252. 

For the purposes of this Policy a ‘year’ is defined as being a financial year. 

 

C Dispute Resolution 

Where an individual Councillor disputes the decision on an expenses claim or the provision of facilities the 
following process will apply: 

• The Councillor must notify the General Manager, in writing, of the details of the claim or request for 
facilities. 

• The General Manager will investigate the issue and inform the Councillor of the decision, in writing, 
within seven (7) days of the request being received. 

• Should the Councillor not accept the General Manager’s decision, the General Manager will submit a 
report to Council outlining the reasons for denying the claim or request. 

• Council’s decision will be final and no further appeal will be permitted. 
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COUNCIL POLICY 
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ADOPTED BY COUNCIL:   [TO BE COMPLETED BY CORP SUPPORT]  
 

BACKGROUND 

This policy has been developed in order to enhance Public consultation and contribution to the decision making of 
Council should enhance the quality of Council’s decisions and are therefore encouraged and facilitated by this policy.      

OBJECTIVE 

The main objectives of this policy are to provide members of the community with the opportunity to address 
Councillors on matters falling within the jurisdiction and Charter of Council as outlined in the Local Government Act 
1993, with the exception of development applications which are undetermined, or have been the subject of official 
consultation forums. 

The Public Access Forum seeks to – 

• improve communication between Council and its residents; 

• assist Council in its decision making processes; 

• provide an opportunity for members of the community to raise relevant issues with Council in a formal meeting 
environment; and 

• assist in portraying Council as an open and accessible organisation. 

POLICY STATEMENT 

Requests to address Council and the conduct of public addresses are to be submitted to Council in accordance with 
the terms contained in the accompanying Statement of Procedures. 
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STATEMENT OF PROCEDURES 

Applications to address Council - 

• must be made in writing on the application form attached to this policy and forwarded to Council, no later than  
12 noon on the working day prior to the day of the meeting; 

• wherever possible, a person or group who supports an opposite view to the applicant must be notified and given 
the opportunity to speak;  

• applications shall state the name and address of the applicant, contact telephone number and the issue to be 
raised; 

• any documentation to be provided to Councillors shall either accompany the application or be available for 
distribution to Councillors prior to the meeting – no written material is able to be circulated during the 
presentation; 

• an application must relate to a matter that falls within the jurisdiction and Charter of Council as outlined in the 
Local Government Act, 1993 or a report which is currently before Council for determination.   

However, this policy excludes the following - 

 all issues relating to development applications which are in the process of being assessed and are 
undetermined, have been considered at an Independent Hearing and Assessment Panel meeting or are 
listed on the Council meeting agenda for determination. Further information in relation to forums for 
development applications can be accessed through the Development Assessment and Compliance 
Notification Policy and the Independent Hearing and Assessment Panel Policy; 

 All matters where there have been opportunities, through Council run engagement activities, for community 
members to publicly address a formal Council or Agency hearing and have views recorded for public record.  
These opportunities would include but not be limited to public meetings, public hearings and meetings of the 
Independent Hearing and Assessment Panel.all matters which have been the subject of official public 
consultative forums such as Formal and Informal Facilitation meetings, public meetings and public hearings.  
‘Official’ forums will have provided an invitation to both the objectors and supporters of a matter to come 
together at a formal meeting in an attempt to resolve contentious issues; 

 all Notices of Rescission and agenda and business paper items ‘laid on the table’; 

 all representations in respect of formal tenders and/or quotations;  

 all matters where legal action has been commenced involving Council and where Council is in receipt of or 
has served: 

– a Statement of Claim 

– a Summons for Information or 

– a Subpoena to attend Court 

 all staff related matters. 

The following should also be noted -  

• addresses will be received at ordinary and extraordinary meetings of Council; 

• applications in respect of current meeting agenda items will be given priority; 

• applicants who have previously addressed Council on a particular issue, cannot address another meeting on the 
same matter; 

• the General Manager will: 

 consider and determine all applications received; 

 have the discretion to approve additional applications in the event of there being more than the maximum 
number of applicants wishing to speak to current agenda and business paper items; 
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 have the discretion to vary the maximum number of speakers on a particular agenda and business paper 
item should the item be addressing an issue of significant community interest. 

• Councillors will be informed of those applications not included for presentation; 

• a list of applicants speaking under the Public Access Forum, together with information on the subject of the 
briefing, is to be made available to Councillors at the meeting. 

Public Address 

• the public forum shall be limited to a period of thirty (30) minutes, unless extended by Council; 

• each address shall be limited to five (5) minutes, ie maximum of six (6) addresses per meeting.  The Chairperson 
will notify speakers when there is 30 seconds remaining; 

• due to time constraints, speakers cannot use technology, however, can distribute hard copies of information prior 
to the commencement of the meeting.  The Minute Clerk can assist with the distribution of such information; 

• there shall be a maximum of two (2) speakers in favour and two (2) speakers against a particular issue and 
groups are required to nominate a representative to speak on their behalf; 

• speakers must only speak in relation to the subject stated on their application; 

• speakers shall not debate the issue with Councillors and staff; 

• Councillors are able to ask questions of the speaker on a point of clarification; 

• all speakers are advised that they do not enjoy any special protection from defamation arising from comments 
made during the presentation before Council and should therefore refrain from voicing defamatory remarks or 
personal defamatory statements against any individual; 

• the Chairperson can order a person to cease speaking if he/she considers that the speaker is making 
inappropriate or offensive comments, is abusive, is making comments that are considered not in the public 
interest or is not complying with the rules of meeting procedure as outlined in Council’s Code of Meeting 
Practice. 

Minutes 

• minutes must include a brief synopsis of the presentation/s; 

• wherever possible, speakers should provide the Minute Clerk with a written summary of their presentation, prior 
to commencement of the meeting.  Following the Council meeting, the written summary will be referred to the 
appropriate division for notation. 

Response 

• if the address relates to an agenda item the issue raised by the speaker shall be dealt with when the particular 
agenda item is considered by Council; 

• no formal response will be provided to the applicant. 

Webcasting 

• all Council meetings, including the Public Access Forum, are broadcast live via the internet. By attending a 
meeting, speakers and other persons consent to the possibility that their image may also be broadcast to the 
public; 

• any personal and health information voluntarily disclosed by any person at Council meetings may be broadcast 
live, held by Council and made available to the public for later viewing. 
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PUBLIC ACCESS FORUM – APPLICATION FORM 

(Applicants must read the Public Access Forum Policy prior to completing this form) 
Note:  Applications must be received by Council by 12 noon on the working day prior to the Council meeting 

 

 
In submitting this application, I understand and agree to abide by the conditions of the Public Access Forum Policy of 
Wollongong City Council.  I also note that Council meetings are broadcast live via the internet and I consent to my 
image and address being broadcast to the public and any personal or health information I disclose during my address 
will be broadcast as part of the Council Meeting, with the broadcast stored and made available to the public for later 
viewing. 

Council Meeting Date  

Name of Applicant  

Telephone  Fax  

Address  Email  

Name of Speaker  Today’s Date  

Organisation (if applicable)  
 

 

CHOOSE FROM 1 OR 2 BELOW -  
 

1 Address of a general nature (not a Business Paper Agenda Item):  (Please specify) 

 ________________________________________________________________________________________  

 ________________________________________________________________________________________  
 

OR 
 

2 Business Paper Item to be addressed – 

Council Agenda Item No:__________  Subject:   _________________________________________________  

I am  for the recommendation in the report   __________________________________________________  

I am  against the recommendation in the report   ______________________________________________  

 
This form can be lodged - 
 

1 Via email to council@wollongong.nsw.gov.au  
2 Faxed to 4227 7277, or 
3 Dropped off at the Customer Service Desk, Ground Floor, Administration Building, 41 Burelli Street, Wollongong. 
 
 
If you are not lodging your application via email, you will need to sign the form (below) before faxing or lodging it with Council’s Customer Service 
Desk on the Ground Floor, Administration Building, 41 Burelli Street, Wollongong.   You can also post the form to Locked Bag 8821, Wollongong 
DC  NSW  2500.  If posting, you need to allow sufficient time for your application to be received by Council, before the close off time of 12 noon on 
the working day prior to the Council meeting. 
 
 
 
Signature of Applicant      __________________________________  

    Signature not required when emailing document 
 

Privacy Notification (Privacy and Personal Information Protection Act 1998 – Section 10) 
The personal information that Council is collecting from you on this application form is personal information for the purposes of the Privacy and 
Personal Information Protection Act 1998 (‘the Act’).  The intended recipients of the personal information are officers within the Council and any 
person wishing to inspect the application in accordance with the Local Government Act 1993.  The supply of the information by you is not voluntary 
and if you cannot provide or do not wish to provide the information sought, the Council will be unable to process your application.  You may make 
application for access or amendment to information held by Council.  You may also make a request that Council suppress your personal information 
from a public register.  Council will consider any such application in accordance with the Act.  Council is to be regarded as the agency that holds the 
information.  Enquiries concerning this matter can be addressed to Council by telephoning 4227 7111. 
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OFFICE USE ONLY 

 
 
 

Has the application been the subject of an official public consultative forum?   

Recommendation to General Manager -   

 
 

 
 
 
 

Determination by General Manager   Yes       No   ___________________________________________  
 
Date: ___________________________________Signature:  ____________________________________________ 
 

 
 

Return to Team Leader, Corporate Support, following determination by General Manager 
 

Applicant advised by Fax   Phone    Email   
 
 
Time:    _________________________________________ Date:  ________________________________________ 
 
 
                         Signature ____________________________________________ 
 
 
 
 
 

Refer to Public Officer in case of any dispute/anomaly.  Public Officer to hear dispute/liaise with applicant and list 
comments below: 

 ____________________________________________________________________________________________  

 ____________________________________________________________________________________________  

 ____________________________________________________________________________________________  

 ____________________________________________________________________________________________  

 ____________________________________________________________________________________________  

 ____________________________________________________________________________________________  

 ____________________________________________________________________________________________  

 ____________________________________________________________________________________________  

 ____________________________________________________________________________________________  
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PUBLIC LIABILITY INSURANCE FOR LESSSEEES/ 
AND LICENSEES/USERS OF COUNCIL OWNED OR 

CONTROLLED LAND, BUILDINGS AND PUBLIC  
ROADS SPORTING FACILITIES 

 
 
 
 

  

CCOOUUNNCCIILL  PPOOLLIICCYY  
  

 
 

BACKGROUND 

 
Council maintains adequate insurance coverage for its liability risks. However,  
CCouncil is unable to exercise direct control over risks associated with Council owned or controlled lands, 
buildings and public rpoads (Council Land) which are occupied by Lessees and, Licensees, Hirers and 
Seasonal Users.. 
 
To impose a measure of responsibility on users of Council owned or controlled??? lands, buildings, public 
roads sporting facilities land to exercise care against liability being incurred which could have an impact on 
Council, Council will require Lessees and, Licensees, Hirers and Seasonal Users users of its 
propertiessporting lands, buildings and public roads facilities to maintain adequate public and product liability 
insurance during the term of the to maintain adequate public and product liability insurance. agreement.  
 
 

OBJECTIVE 

 
To minimise Council's exposure to liability for claims arising from incidents occurring on or within lands, 
buildings and public roads sporting facilities owned and or controlled by Council.Council land 
 
 

POLICY STATEMENT 

 
Council will require all Lessees and, Licensees, Hirers and Sseasonal Uusers and lessees/licensees of 
sporting facilities of Council owned and  or controlled lands, buildings and Public Roads by Council (‘sporting 
groups’) to maintain Ppublic and Product Lliability Iinsurance, covering Council and the sporting group against 
for claims arising from activity carried out within the that facilityproperty. This policy shall also apply to 
Leases and Licences of Crown Land of which Council is appointed Trust Manager or devolved Care Control 
and Management unless notified otherwise by the Minister administering the Crown Lands Act, 1989 and of 
Crown Lands requirements in respect of Public Liability Insurance. 
 
 

Comment [BC1]: What about beaches or 
other facilities that Council controls but 
doesn't own?? 
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SSTTAATTEEMMEENNTT  OOFF  PPRROOCCEEDDUURREESS  
  

 
 
1 All Public liability insurance policies maintained by the sporting groups are to be sufficient to cover a 

single claim for at least $10 million. 
Lessees and, Licensees, Hirers and Seasonal Uusers and lessees/licensees of Council owned or controlled 

lands, buildings and Public Roads (Council land) sporting facilities must maintain for the duration of 
the term of the agreement, public and product liability insurance for a minimum of $10 million (or 
such other greater amount as Council may reasonably nominate require from time to time) issued by 
a reputable and solvent Insurance Company. 

 
2 In applying this policy to casual users of Council land (seasonal sporting bookings, event organisers 

etc), only the following events will be exempt -: 
 
  a) Family picnics 
  b) Weddings ceremonies 
  c) Christenings and Naming ceremonies 
 
 
323 The public liability insurance policies taken out by the sporting groups are to list Council as an 

interested party for the purpose of indemnifying Council against any claim. 
 
 
3 In the case of a licence issued to seasonal hirers/users of Council sporting facilities, evidence of such 

insurance coverage must be provided to Council prior to the event or commencement of each sporting 
season each year. 

 
44443 In the case of Lessees and/ Licensees occupyingand hirers/users under lease or licenceof Council 

owned and or controlled lands,buildingslands under a formal agreement and Public Roads, , evidence 
of such insurance must be provided to Council on either on each the anniversary of the 
commencement date of the Lease/Licence or anniversary of the insurance expiry date each year of 
the Lease/Licence term first day of July of each year or at any other time when requested by Council. 
This requirement is to be included as a condition in the Llease/ or Llicence. or Hire agreement. 

 
554 In the event of failure to provide evidence of such insurance coverage, Council will have the option to 

either-: 
a) Serve a breach notice to occupiers under a formal lease or licence, or  
b) refuseRefuse access to or use of the Council lands, buildings and public roads.   for 

licences issued for short term casual or seasonal use.  
 

This option is to be included as a condition in the appropriate terms and conditions for agreements 
entered into for the use of the Council lands, buildings and public roads. 

 
665 Seasonal users and Llessees/Llicensees of CouncilAll lessees and licensees  owned or controlled 

lands, buildings and public roads  sporting facilities mus must, prior to commencing activities, inspect 
the immediate area to ensure no hazards are evident and take appropriate action to remove those 
hazards or alternatively postpone or relocate the activities and, without undue delay, report to Council 
the hazard or any other hazardous matters observed during the activities that may require Council’s 
attention. 
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PUBLIC LIABILITY INSURANCE FOR LESSEES AND 

LICENSEES OF COUNCIL OWNED OR CONTROLLED LAND, 
BUILDINGS AND PUBLIC ROADS 

COUNCIL POLICY 
 

Adopted by Council:  [Date] P a g e  | 1 Trim No:  Z13/4122 

ADOPTED BY COUNCIL:   [TO BE COMPLETED BY CORP SUPPORT]  
 

BACKGROUND 
Council maintains adequate insurance coverage for its liability risks. However, Council is unable to exercise direct 
control over risks associated with Council owned or controlled lands, buildings and public roads (Council Land) 
which are occupied by Lessees and Licensees. 
 
To impose a measure of responsibility on users of Council land to exercise care against liability being incurred 
which could have an impact on Council, Council will require Lessees and Licensees of its properties to maintain 
adequate public and product liability insurance during the term of the agreement.       

OBJECTIVE 

The main objectives of this policy  is to minimise Council's exposure to liability for claims arising from incidents 
occurring on Council land. 

POLICY STATEMENT 

Council will require all Lessees and Licensees of Council lands  to maintain Public and Product Liability Insurance 
for claims arising from activity carried out within that property. This policy shall also apply to Leases and Licences of 
Crown Land of which Council is appointed Trust Manager or devolved Care Control and Management unless 
notified otherwise by the Minister administering the Crown Lands Act, 1989 of Crown Lands requirements in respect 
of Public Liability Insurance. 
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STATEMENT OF PROCEDURES 
1 All Lessees and Licensees of Council owned or controlled lands, buildings and Public Roads (Council land) 

must maintain for the duration of the term of the agreement, public and product liability insurance for a 
minimum of $10 million (or such other  amount as Council may  nominate  from time to time) issued by a 
reputable and solvent Insurance Company. 

2 In applying this policy to casual users of Council land (seasonal sporting bookings, event organisers etc), 
only the following events will be exempt -: 

  a) Family picnics 

  b) Weddings ceremonies 

  c) Christenings and Naming ceremonies 

3 In the case of a licence issued to seasonal hirers/users of Council sporting facilities, evidence of such 
insurance coverage must be provided to Council prior to the event or commencement of each sporting 
season each year. 

4 In the case of Lessees and Licensees occupying Council lands under a formal agreement, evidence of such 
insurance must be provided to Council on either each  anniversary of the commencement date of the 
Lease/Licence or anniversary of the insurance expiry date each year of the Lease/Licence term  or at any 
other time when requested by Council. This requirement is to be included as a condition in the Lease/ 
Licence. 

5 In the event of failure to provide evidence of such insurance coverage, Council will have the option to either- 

a) Serve a breach notice to occupiers under a formal lease or licence, or  

b) Refuse access to or use of the Council lands for licences issued for short term casual or 
seasonal use.  

This option is to be included as a condition in the appropriate terms and conditions for agreements entered 
into for the use of the Council lands. 

6 All lessees and licensees  must, prior to commencing activities, inspect the immediate area to ensure no 
hazards are evident and take appropriate action to remove those hazards or alternatively postpone or 
relocate the activities and, without undue delay, report to Council the hazard or any other hazardous 
matters observed during the activities that may require Council’s attention. 
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LAND AND EASEMENT ACQUISITION AND DISPOSAL 

COUNCIL POLICY 
 

Adopted by Council:  [Date] P a g e  | 1 Trim No:  Z13/111986 

ADOPTED BY COUNCIL:   [TO BE COMPLETED BY CORP SUPPORT]  
 

BACKGROUND 
Council from time to time acquires and disposes of its land assets.  Council has obligations under a range of 
legislation and this policy has been developed in order to provide the framework for a transparent process that 
adheres to the relevant legislation.   

OBJECTIVE 
The main objectives of this policy are to –  

1 Ensure the City of Wollongong that Wollongong City Council has open and accountable processes to consider 
the acquisition and disposal of land assets. 

2 Ensure best value is achieved in Council land dealings. 

3 Establish the criteria under which Council will consider acquisition and sale of land  and easements. 

POLICY STATEMENT 
Council (as custodian of public assets) acquires and dispose s of all property interests in open market format to 
ensure due probity of process and optimal financial return (and minimal risk).  All dealings in Council land can only 
be achieved through a resolution of Council. 
 
Land Acquisitions:  
 
 Section 186 of the Local Government Act prescribes what purposes Council can acquire land for, as follows: 
 

1 A council may acquire land (including an interest in land) for the purpose of exercising any of its 
functions.  

2  Without limiting subsection (1), a council may acquire:  
 

a. land that is to be made available for any public purpose for which it is reserved or zoned under an 
environmental planning instrument, or  

 
b. land which forms part of, or adjoins or lies in the vicinity of, other land proposed to be acquired 

under this Part.  
  

 
 1.2 Without limiting subsection (1), a council may acquire:  
 
(a) land that is to be made available for any public purpose for which it is reserved or zoned under an 
environmental planning instrument, or  
 
(b) land which forms part of, or adjoins or lies in the vicinity of, other land proposed to be acquired under this 
Part.  
 
Land Disposals:   
 
Where land (including surplus areas of public road) is capable of being sold on the open market and able to be 
developed independently of any other property, the sale shall be by competitive process involving public auction, 
tender or expression of interest unless circumstances warrant sale by Direct Negotiation as set out below .  For 
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public auction, the General Manager will set the reserve price based on a recommendation of an independent 
valuer. 
 
Council can dispose of land by Direct Negotiation under the following circumstances -:,  
 

1 Where the total cost of the public sale process will exceed the expected community benefit.  For 
example, where the land is worth $1,000 and the cost to market the land is $5,000. 

 
2 Where there is only one identifiable purchaser.  For example, where a site is not large enough for 

development in its own right (including a portion of road reserve) and is surrounded by public roads on all 
sides other than the adjoining owner.  Where a site adjoins two owners such as laneways, they will each be 
offered 50%. 

 
3 Where Council is bound by a contractual obligation.  For example, a tenant with a first right of refusal, 

where that tenancy has been entered into as a result of public competition. 
 

4 Disposal of land to a government or utility authority for the purpose of infrastructure provision. 
 

5 Where a public marketing process which has been undertaken within the last 12 months in 
accordance with this policy has failed to achieve the desired outcome. 

 
6 In response to a proposal which achieves specific policy goals of Council.  This exclusion aims to 

allow Council to respond to an approach for the development of a unique project.  Any such proposal must 
comprise a concept plan and description of the project and clear demonstration of the achievement of 
specific policy and strategic goals and objectives of Council, eg a land-swap transaction. 

 
The report to Council covering these sales will identify the reasons why this sale process was chosen. 
 
Easements  
 
Easements can be are a right over a private property for Council to use land for a specific purpose (drainage 
easement, easement in gross for access etc,) can be in the form of a covenant restricting the use of privately owned 
land (restriction as to user for unstable land etc) or can be a positive covenant that requires a land owner to use and 
or maintain the site for a specific use  (maintain detention basins etc). 
 
Where Council requires an easement over a private property and the easement is not created in subdivision or as a 
condition of development consent, compensation may be payable to the land owner and shall be paid to the 
respective land owner where appropriate. The amount of compensation shall be assessed by a consultant 
registered valuer in accordance with the Land Acquisition (Just Terms Compensation) Act 1991. 
 
Where a Council easement over private land is no longer required, Council can agree to the extinguishment of  that 
easement at the request of the affected land owner. Where appropriate, Council can seek compensation from the 
landowner for the benefit of that extinguishment as determined by a consultant valuer. 
 
 
CIRCUMSTANCES FOR AN ALTERNATIVE PROCESS 
 
Council may undertake an alternative process for the disposal of land where, in Council’s opinion, an alternative 
disposal approach will achieve greater benefits to the ratepayers than could be achieved through a public process 
and will entertain a direct sale to the exclusion of a public process. 
 
The circumstances which give rise to an alternative process include: 
 
1 Where the total cost of the public sale process will exceed the expected community benefit.  For 

example, where the land is worth $1,000 and the cost to market the land is $5,000. 
 

2 Where there is only one identifiable purchaser.  For example, where a site is not large enough for 
development in its own right (including a portion of road reserve) and is surrounded by public roads on all 
sides other than the adjoining owner.  Where a site adjoins two owners such as laneways, they will each be 
offered 50%. 

 
3 Where Council is bound by a contractual obligation.  For example, a tenant with a first right of refusal, 

where that tenancy has been entered into as a result of public competition. 
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4 Disposal of land to a government or utility authority for the purpose of infrastructure provision. 

 
5 Where a public marketing process which has been undertaken within the last 12 months in 

accordance with this policy has failed to achieve the desired outcome. 
 

6 In response to a proposal which achieves specific policy goals of Council.  This exclusion aims to 
allow Council to respond to an approach for the development of a unique project.  Any such proposal must 
comprise a concept plan and description of the project and clear demonstration of the achievement of 
specific policy and strategic goals and objectives of Council, eg a land-swap transaction. 

 
The report to Council covering these sales will identify the reasons why this sale process was chosen . 
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STATEMENT OF PROCEDURES 
 
The acquisition or sale of Council-owned land, easements or public road shall be undertaken in accordance with the 
following procedures aimed at ensuring a transparent process and maximising income for Council.  

 

 

ACQUISITION OF LAND 

Acquisition Criteria 

1 Section 186 of the Local Government Act prescribes what purposes Council can acquire land for, as follows: 

A council may acquire land (including an interest in land) for the purpose of exercising any of its functions.  

 1.2 Without limiting subsection (1), a council may acquire:  

(a) land that is to be made available for any public purpose for which it is reserved or zoned 
under an environmental planning instrument, or  

(b) land which forms part of, or adjoins or lies in the vicinity of, other land proposed to be 
acquired under this Part.  

2 Properties are identified taking into consideration the purpose for which they need to be acquired, the strategic 
nature of such properties and the value that such properties have to the community. 

3 Where properties are listed for sale on the open market, council officers negotiate the terms of purchase with 
either the vendor or the vendor’s agent. 

4 Where properties are not listed on the open market, cCouncil officers arrange a valuation report as a basis for 
negotiation and the valuation report be attached to the report submitted to Council , as required. 

5 For all land and easement acquisitions for properties not listed on the open market, the acquisition must be 
undertaken in strict accordance with the Land Acquisition (Just Terms Compensation) Act 1991. 

46 Authority to compulsorily acquire land is granted under the Roads Act 1993 or the Local Government Act 1993.  

57 Any such negotiations be on the basis that a formal offer could notcannot be made until Council has considered 
a report authorising purchase of the property. 

8 In the event of a formal valuation being obtained, this be used as a guide in any negotiations and subsequent 
report to Council. 

69 At the time of acquisition, Council must resolve the classification of the land to be either Operational or 
Community land. 

 

DISPOSAL OF LAND 

Disposal Criteria 

Land and buildings are to be tested against a number of criteria to determine whether the property is retained and 
developed for community use or developed or sold to realise its commercial potential. 

The seven (7) criteria contained in the assessment are: 

1 Statutory influences (restrictions or limitations) – are there statutory reasons for the Council ownership of the 
property?  This will extend to actual or implied trusts that have been established as a result of Council’s 
acquisition of the land. 

2 Existing usage – Is the land used or likely to be used to meet operational, community or recreational needs? 

3 Potential future use – is the land or road likely to be required for Council’s operational needs. 

4 Spatial distribution – are there adequate-like facilities and opportunity to meet future needs in the area and 
serving the local community? 

5 Conservation value – does the land or road have cultural, natural or heritage value that should be maintained?  
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6 Site constraints and opportunities – in addition to conservation value are there other site constraints which may 
extend to [but not restricted to] flood liability, land slip, mine subsidence or other physical impairment? 

7 Maintenance issues – what maintenance requirement does Council have for the land? 

Should the proposed sale be impacted by any of these matters, the request shall be refused unless it can be 
demonstrated that there is a public and/or economic benefit to the sale or the contract conditions can be structured 
to ensure that the issue is addressed. 
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PROCEDURE FOR SALE OF LAND 

1 Council Resolution  

The sale of Council land cannot be delegated and, as required by the Local Government Act 1993, all sales will 
must be aeffected by a resolution of Council. 

2 Classification  

All Council land is classified under the Local Government Act 1993 as either operational or community land.  The 
Act provides that only operational land can be sold and if an area of community land is identified as being surplus, 
the land must first be reclassified to operational prior to that sale proceeding.  The process of reclassification 
involves the making of a draft LEP by Council and must be approved by the Minister for Planning and the Governor 
of NSW.must be undertaken in accordance with the Environmental Planning and Assessment Act 1979.  

3 Probity Plan  

Where land is being sold by direct negotiation, aA probity plan will be developed and willto cover the following 
matters: 

a) obtaining best value for money; 

b) demonstrating accountability and transparency; 

c) dealing with conflict of interest;  

d) providing a fair chance for all to participate; 

e) where Council sells property subject to a development application, that application will be assessed 
independently and submitted to either the Independent Hearing and Assessment Panel or the Joint Regional 
Planning Panel. 

4 Advertisement  

Except for land sold under the Roads Act 1993, which requires advertisement by the Department of Local 
Government, prior to resolution Council will advertise its intention in a local newspaper and seek written 
submissions on the proposal to be made within twenty one [21] days from the date of the advertisement. 

54 Valuation Requirements 

Where Council proposes to sell land by direct negotiation and the value of the land is greater than $1m, Council will 
obtain either -: 

a: 

a two independent valuations where the site has no special value to an adjoining owner and the market value 
based on the highest and best use can be established by analysis of direct comparative sales data; or 

b one valuation undertaken jointly by two consultant valuers or a consultant valuer and land economist, 
quantity surveyor or retail specialist where the sale has a special value either to an adjoining owner or 
where the purchaser is acquiring the land for a specific purpose for which direct comparable sales data is 
not available. 

For all other Council land proposed to be sold other than by public auction, Council will obtain a valuation from an 
independent valuer to establish the market value, taking into account the highest and best use of the site and any 
conditions Council may place on the sale.  For land being sold to an adjoining owner, the valuation shall be carried 
out on an added-value basis and the sale price shall be consistent with the difference in values on a before-and-
after basis. 

Council recognises that valuation advice is not an exact science and it is not unreasonable that a sale price of up to 
10% variation from that valuation may be achieved.  However, where the negotiated outcome results in a sale price 
more than 10% less than the assessed market value, it shall be acknowledged in the report to Council giving reason 
why that variation shall be adopted. 

6 Escalation Fee  

Where the sale is conditional on the determination of a development application, approval of a road closure or the 
making of an LEP to reclassify the land to operational, the agreed value shall increase at a rate of 5% pa (or such 
other amount as determined by Council from time to time) if settlement is not achieved with 12 months from the 
date of the Council resolution authorising the sale  and the delay is not as a result of Council or statutory process..  

7 Form of Contract 

Formatted: Left, Space After:  0 pt



LAND ACQUISITION AND DISPOSAL COUNCIL POLICY 
 

Adopted by Council:  [Date] P a g e  | 7 Trim No:  Z13/111986 
 

Where Council resolves to sell community land (subject to reclassification)  to a prospective purchaser, a Deed of 
Agreement shall be entered into between Council and the prospective purchaser committing each party to entering 
into a contract immediately should the reclassification be finalised. That Deed will be structured so that Council’s 
regulatory responsibilities are not compromised. 

Where Council resolves to sell a portion of public road that is subject to a road closure under the Roads Act 1993 
and the value of that land is less than $100,000, the sale can be by memorandum of transfer. 

All other land sales shall be by contract. 

8 Public Road 

Areas of surplus Public Road must be closed under the Roads Act 19931 to enable the sale to proceed. This 
process is managed by the Department of LandsPrimary Industries – Crown Lands Division. 

For public roads, the proposal shall be also be subject to compliance with local service authorities whose utilities 
are located within the area affected by the proposed sale.  

For classified roads, the approval of the Roads and Maritime Services must be obtained prior to the matter being 
referred to Council for consideration. 

 

PROCEDURE FOR ACQUISITION OF LAND 

1 Council Resolution 

The acquisition of land cannot be delegated and, as required by the Local Government Act 1993, must be 
effected by a resolution of Council. 

2 Classification 

Council must resolve what the classification of the land will be (either Community or Operational) at the time 
of resolving to acquire the land or in accordance with Sec 31 Local Governmant act 1993. The default 
classification is Community. 

3 Method of negotiation 

Where a property is placed for sale on the open market, Council can negotiate the purchase price and 
terms of acquisition to achieve the best possible commercial value. 

All other acquisitions must be negotiated having regard to the provisions of the Land Acquisition (Just 
Terms Acquisition) Act 1991. 

 

 

MAJOR LEGISLATIVE AND CORPORATE REQUIREMENTS 

1 This policy complies with the requirements of the Local Government Act 1993. 

2 Other major legislative requirements that may be relevant include the following: 

§ Real Property Act 1900 

§ Strata Titles Act 1988 

§ Community Titles Act 1996 

§ Roads Act 1993 

§ Crown Lands Act 1989 

§ Land Acquisition (Just Terms Compensation) Act 1991  

3 This policy is to be implemented in conjunction with other relevant Council policies and strategies including 
the following: 

§ Asset Management Policy 

§ Community Consultation Policy 

§ Open Space and Recreation Strategy –Planning People Places and Spaces 

4 The Local Government Act 1993 requires all land vested in a council (except a road or land to which the 
Crown Lands Act 1989 applies) to be classified as either community or operational.  
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The purpose of classification is to identify clearly that land which should be kept for use by the general 
public (community) and that land which need not (operational). The major consequence of classification is 
that it determines the ease or difficulty with which land may be alienated by sale, leasing or some other 
means. 

Classification or reclassification of land does not affect any estate or interest a council has in the land. 

Community land would ordinarily comprise land such as a public park. Operational land would ordinarily 
comprise land held as a temporary asset or as an investment, land which facilitates the carrying out by a 
council of its functions, or land which may not be open to the general public, such as a works depot or a 
council garage. 
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Date of previous adoptions 30 March 2010 
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LAND AND EASEMENT ACQUISITION AND DISPOSAL 

COUNCIL POLICY 
 

Adopted by Council:  [Date] P a g e  | 1 Trim No:  Z13/111986 

ADOPTED BY COUNCIL:   [TO BE COMPLETED BY CORP SUPPORT]  
 

BACKGROUND 
Council from time to time acquires and disposes of its land assets.  Council has obligations under a range of 
legislation and this policy has been developed in order to provide the framework for a transparent process that 
adheres to the relevant legislation.   

OBJECTIVE 
The main objectives of this policy are to –  

1 Ensure  that Wollongong City Council has open and accountable processes to consider the acquisition and 
disposal of land assets. 

2 Ensure best value is achieved in Council land dealings. 

3 Establish the criteria under which Council will consider acquisition and sale of land and easements. 

POLICY STATEMENT 
Council (as custodian of public assets) acquires and disposes of all property interests in open market format to 
ensure due probity of process and optimal financial return (and minimal risk).  All dealings in Council land can only 
be achieved through a resolution of Council. 
 
Land Acquisitions  
 
 Section 186 of the Local Government Act prescribes what purposes Council can acquire land for, as follows: 
 

1 A council may acquire land (including an interest in land) for the purpose of exercising any of its 
functions.  

2  Without limiting subsection (1), a council may acquire:  
 

a. land that is to be made available for any public purpose for which it is reserved or zoned under an 
environmental planning instrument, or  

 
b. land which forms part of, or adjoins or lies in the vicinity of, other land proposed to be acquired 

under this Part.  
  
 
Land Disposals   
 
Where land (including surplus areas of public road) is capable of being sold on the open market and able to be 
developed independently of any other property, the sale shall be by competitive process involving public auction, 
tender or expression of interest unless circumstances warrant sale by Direct Negotiation as set out below.  For 
public auction, the General Manager will set the reserve price based on a recommendation of an independent 
valuer. 
 
Council can dispose of land by Direct Negotiation under the following circumstances -:,  
 

1 Where the total cost of the public sale process will exceed the expected community benefit.  For 
example, where the land is worth $1,000 and the cost to market the land is $5,000. 
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2 Where there is only one identifiable purchaser.  For example, where a site is not large enough for 
development in its own right (including a portion of road reserve) and is surrounded by public roads on all 
sides other than the adjoining owner.  Where a site adjoins two owners such as laneways, they will each be 
offered 50%. 

 
3 Where Council is bound by a contractual obligation.  For example, a tenant with a first right of refusal, 

where that tenancy has been entered into as a result of public competition. 
 

4 Disposal of land to a government or utility authority for the purpose of infrastructure provision. 
 

5 Where a public marketing process which has been undertaken within the last 12 months in 
accordance with this policy has failed to achieve the desired outcome. 

 
6 In response to a proposal which achieves specific policy goals of Council.  This exclusion aims to 

allow Council to respond to an approach for the development of a unique project.  Any such proposal must 
comprise a concept plan and description of the project and clear demonstration of the achievement of 
specific policy and strategic goals and objectives of Council, eg a land-swap transaction. 

 
The report to Council covering these sales will identify the reasons why this sale process was chosen. 
 
Easements  
 
Easements can be are a right over a private property for Council to use land for a specific purpose (drainage 
easement, easement in gross for access etc,) can be in the form of a covenant restricting the use of privately owned 
land (restriction as to user for unstable land etc) or can be a positive covenant that requires a land owner to use and 
or maintain the site for a specific use  (maintain detention basins etc). 
 
Where Council requires an easement over a private property and the easement is not created in subdivision or as a 
condition of development consent, compensation may be payable to the land owner and shall be paid to the 
respective land owner where appropriate. The amount of compensation shall be assessed by a consultant 
registered valuer in accordance with the Land Acquisition (Just Terms Compensation) Act 1991. 
 
Where a Council easement over private land is no longer required, Council can agree to the extinguishment of  that 
easement at the request of the affected land owner. Where appropriate, Council can seek compensation from the 
landowner for the benefit of that extinguishment as determined by a consultant valuer. 
 
 
. 
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STATEMENT OF PROCEDURES 
 
The acquisition or sale of Council-owned land, easements or public road shall be undertaken in accordance with the 
following procedures aimed at ensuring a transparent process and maximising income for Council. 

 

ACQUISITION OF LAND 

Acquisition Criteria 

1 Section 186 of the Local Government Act prescribes what purposes Council can acquire land for, as follows: 

A council may acquire land (including an interest in land) for the purpose of exercising any of its functions.  

 1.2 Without limiting subsection (1), a council may acquire:  

(a) land that is to be made available for any public purpose for which it is reserved or zoned 
under an environmental planning instrument, or  

(b) land which forms part of, or adjoins or lies in the vicinity of, other land proposed to be 
acquired under this Part.  

2 Properties are identified taking into consideration the purpose for which they need to be acquired, the strategic 
nature of such properties and the value that such properties have to the community. 

3 Where properties are listed for sale on the open market, council officers negotiate the terms of purchase with 
either the vendor or the vendor’s agent. 

4 Where properties are not listed on the open market, Council officers arrange a valuation report as a basis for 
negotiation and the valuation report be attached to the report submitted to Council, as required. 

5 For all land and easement acquisitions for properties not listed on the open market, the acquisition must be 
undertaken in strict accordance with the Land Acquisition (Just Terms Compensation) Act 1991. 

6 Authority to compulsorily acquire land is granted under the Roads Act 1993 or the Local Government Act 1993. 

7 Any negotiations be on the basis that a formal offer cannot be made until Council has considered a report 
authorising purchase of the property. 

8 In the event of a formal valuation being obtained, this be used as a guide in any negotiations and subsequent 
report to Council. 

9 At the time of acquisition, Council must resolve the classification of the land to be either Operational or 
Community land. 

 

DISPOSAL OF LAND 

Disposal Criteria 

Land and buildings are to be tested against a number of criteria to determine whether the property is retained and 
developed for community use or developed or sold to realise its commercial potential. 

The seven (7) criteria contained in the assessment are: 

1 Statutory influences (restrictions or limitations) – are there statutory reasons for the Council ownership of the 
property?  This will extend to actual or implied trusts that have been established as a result of Council’s 
acquisition of the land. 

2 Existing usage – Is the land used or likely to be used to meet operational, community or recreational needs? 

3 Potential future use – is the land or road likely to be required for Council’s operational needs. 

4 Spatial distribution – are there adequate-like facilities and opportunity to meet future needs in the area and 
serving the local community? 

5 Conservation value – does the land or road have cultural, natural or heritage value that should be maintained?  

6 Site constraints and opportunities – in addition to conservation value are there other site constraints which may 
extend to [but not restricted to] flood liability, land slip, mine subsidence or other physical impairment? 
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7 Maintenance issues – what maintenance requirement does Council have for the land? 

Should the proposed sale be impacted by any of these matters, the request shall be refused unless it can be 
demonstrated that there is a public and/or economic benefit to the sale or the contract conditions can be structured 
to ensure that the issue is addressed. 

 
PROCEDURE FOR SALE OF LAND 

1 Council Resolution  

The sale of Council land cannot be delegated and, as required by the Local Government Act 1993, all sales must be 
effected by a resolution of Council. 

2 Classification  

All Council land is classified under the Local Government Act 1993 as either operational or community land.  The 
Act provides that only operational land can be sold and if an area of community land is identified as being surplus, 
the land must first be reclassified to operational prior to that sale proceeding.  The process of reclassification must 
be undertaken in accordance with the Environmental Planning and Assessment Act 1979. 

3 Probity Plan  

Where land is being sold by direct negotiation, a probity plan will be developed to cover the following matters: 

a) obtaining best value for money; 

b) demonstrating accountability and transparency; 

c) dealing with conflict of interest;  

d) providing a fair chance for all to participate; 

e) where Council sells property subject to a development application, that application will be assessed 
independently and submitted to either the Independent Hearing and Assessment Panel or the Joint Regional 
Planning Panel. 

4 Valuation Requirements 

Where Council proposes to sell land by direct negotiation and the value of the land is greater than $1m, Council will 
obtain either -: 

a two independent valuations where the site has no special value to an adjoining owner and the market value 
based on the highest and best use can be established by analysis of direct comparative sales data; or 

b one valuation undertaken jointly by two consultant valuers or a consultant valuer and land economist, 
quantity surveyor or retail specialist where the sale has a special value either to an adjoining owner or 
where the purchaser is acquiring the land for a specific purpose for which direct comparable sales data is 
not available. 

For all other Council land proposed to be sold other than by public auction, Council will obtain a valuation from an 
independent valuer to establish the market value, taking into account the highest and best use of the site and any 
conditions Council may place on the sale.  For land being sold to an adjoining owner, the valuation shall be carried 
out on an added-value basis and the sale price shall be consistent with the difference in values on a before-and-
after basis. 

Council recognises that valuation advice is not an exact science and it is not unreasonable that a sale price of up to 
10% variation from that valuation may be achieved.  However, where the negotiated outcome results in a sale price 
more than 10% less than the assessed market value, it shall be acknowledged in the report to Council giving reason 
why that variation shall be adopted. 

6 Escalation Fee  

Where the sale is conditional on the determination of a development application, approval of a road closure or the 
making of an LEP to reclassify the land to operational, the agreed value shall increase at a rate of 5% pa (or such 
other amount as determined by Council from time to time) if settlement is not achieved with 12 months from the 
date of the Council resolution authorising the sale and the delay is not as a result of Council or statutory process. 

7 Form of Contract 

Where Council resolves to sell community land (subject to reclassification) to a prospective purchaser, a Deed of 
Agreement shall be entered into between Council and the prospective purchaser committing each party to entering 
into a contract immediately should the reclassification be finalised. That Deed will be structured so that Council’s 
regulatory responsibilities are not compromised. 
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Where Council resolves to sell a portion of public road that is subject to a road closure under the Roads Act 1993 
and the value of that land is less than $100,000, the sale can be by memorandum of transfer. 

All other land sales shall be by contract. 

8 Public Road 

Areas of surplus Public Road must be closed under the Roads Act 1993 to enable the sale to proceed. This process 
is managed by the Department of Primary Industries – Crown Lands Division. 

For public roads, the proposal shall be also be subject to compliance with local service authorities whose utilities 
are located within the area affected by the proposed sale. 

For classified roads, the approval of the Roads and Maritime Services must be obtained prior to the matter being 
referred to Council for consideration. 

 

PROCEDURE FOR ACQUISITION OF LAND 

1 Council Resolution 

The acquisition of land cannot be delegated and, as required by the Local Government Act 1993, must be 
effected by a resolution of Council. 

2 Classification 

Council must resolve what the classification of the land will be (either Community or Operational) at the time 
of resolving to acquire the land or in accordance with Sec 31 Local Governmant act 1993. The default 
classification is Community. 

3 Method of negotiation 

Where a property is placed for sale on the open market, Council can negotiate the purchase price and 
terms of acquisition to achieve the best possible commercial value. 

All other acquisitions must be negotiated having regard to the provisions of the Land Acquisition (Just 
Terms Acquisition) Act 1991. 

 

MAJOR LEGISLATIVE AND CORPORATE REQUIREMENTS 

1 This policy complies with the requirements of the Local Government Act 1993. 

2 Other major legislative requirements that may be relevant include the following: 

§ Real Property Act 1900 

§ Strata Titles Act 1988 

§ Community Titles Act 1996 

§ Roads Act 1993 

§ Crown Lands Act 1989 

§ Land Acquisition (Just Terms Compensation) Act 1991 

3 This policy is to be implemented in conjunction with other relevant Council policies and strategies including 
the following: 

§ Asset Management Policy 

§ Community Consultation Policy 

§ Open Space and Recreation Strategy –Planning People Places and Spaces 

4 The Local Government Act 1993 requires all land vested in a council (except a road or land to which the 
Crown Lands Act 1989 applies) to be classified as either community or operational.  

The purpose of classification is to identify clearly that land which should be kept for use by the general 
public (community) and that land which need not (operational). The major consequence of classification is 
that it determines the ease or difficulty with which land may be alienated by sale, leasing or some other 
means. 

Classification or reclassification of land does not affect any estate or interest a council has in the land. 
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1 INTRODUCTION 

The Audit Committee has been established to promote good corporate governance. The Council is responsible for the 
governance of the agency that is Wollongong City Council.  The Council, as a corporate entity, has the responsibility 
for managing and controlling the affairs of the entity.  

Good corporate governance of the Council ensures that the people of Wollongong receive the services that they need 
in an effective and efficient manner, delivered with honesty and integrity. 

The focus of the Audit Committee is to assist Council work towards effective internal control of the Council’s financial 
and related records and activities, which are an important element of good governance. 

The Audit Committee comprises people interested in furthering these aims.  The Audit Committee is one of the two 
Council Committees that operate to promote good governance.  The other Committee is the Corporate Governance 
Committee. 

Advisory Committees provide advice to Council and staff in the form of expert feedback on actions and proposals; 
suggestions for inclusion in projects and the products of projects such as policy; guidance on matters in which they 
are the experts; information about significant matter in their field of expertise and assessments on the adequacy of 
Council’s actions in that field.  It is expected that advice given by an expert advisory committee would be given 
significant and transparent consideration by staff.  All recommendations made to Council by staff on matters 
considered by an Advisory Committee must make it clear to Council what the Advisory Committee recommended. 

The Committee is advisory to Council and will at times make recommendations that should be considered by full 
Council.  If this is the case they would make the referral part of their recommendation and the matter would be 
referred to the next Council meeting agenda.  

2 AUTHORITY 

The Audit Committee is a Committee (Advisory) of Council established by resolution at the Ordinary Meeting of 
Council on 26 August 2008. The charter and functions of the Committee were specified by the same resolution. 

The Audit Committee Terms of Reference Charter were was amended by administrative decision of the Administrators 
of the Council, dated 18 May 2010. 

3 RESPONSIBILITIES AND FUNCTIONS 

The primary responsibility for financial and other reporting, for internal controls, for compliance with laws, for ethical 
behaviour, and for risk management rests with the executive management of the Council. 

The Council has the responsibility to oversight the functions of executive management in relation these activities. The 
Audit Committee assists the Council in carrying out their oversight responsibilities. 

 The Audit Committee and the (Internal and External) Auditors shall maintain professional independence when 
assessing management’s performance of its responsibilities. 

The Internal Auditor shall be responsible to the General Manager, but have a direct reporting line to the Audit 
Committee.  

The Audit Committee shall serve as an independent and objective party to assist Council in determining whether 
management complies with relevant laws and standards, including policy directions of the Department of Local 
Government, in relation to the relevant audit standards. 

The Council shall ensure that adequate resources are available to allow for the proper functioning of the Committee. 
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The Audit Committee shall: 

1 Financial Reporting 

Advise Council whether the financial information reported by management reasonably portrays the Council’s financial 
position, results of operations and significant commitments.   

In fulfilling this responsibility the Committee shall:  

 Review quarterly financial statements and consider whether they are complete and consistent with information 
known to Committee members.  

 Review the annual financial statements and consider whether they are complete, consistent with information 
known to Committee members, and reflect appropriate accounting policies and principles. 

2 Internal and External Audit 

Have oversight of the functions of both internal audit and external audit, including where appropriate: 

 Auditor engagement letters;  

 Determination of fees; 

 Coordination of audit activities; 

 Monitor audit results and follow up activities; 

 Review of auditor performance; 

 Annual review of the Internal Audit Charter; 

 Appointment and removal of Auditors. 

In fulfilling these responsibilities the Committee shall:  

 Recommend to the Council the appointment of both the internal auditor and the external auditor. Both 
appointments are to follow competitive selection processes involving the Audit Committee.   

 Consider, approve and monitor the annual audit plan for internal audit activities. 

 Ensure that all systems, processes, operations, functions, and activities of the Council are subject to internal 
audit evaluation at regular intervals based on risk assessment. 

 Authorise special audits and performance audits in consultation with the General Manager. 

 Monitor, through the results of internal and external audits, the internal auditor’s review of the adequacy and 
effectiveness of the Council’s internal control structure. This shall include review of management responses to 
audits.  

 Review the Council’s risk profile as developed by the Internal Auditor. The Committee shall monitor the 
performance of management in dealing with risk and will provide advice to the Corporate Governance 
Committee, which shall monitor the Council’s Risk Management Plan.  

 Review draft audit reports and the practicality of any recommendations. The Committee shall receive reports on 
the implementation by management of recommendations of audit reports.  

 Review the external auditor’s management letter and management’s response to that letter.  

 Provide input and feedback on external audit coverage and performance. 
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3 Other Responsibilities 

Provide advice and assistance to the Corporate Governance Committee of Council in relation to matters of ethics, 
conflict of interests, misconduct, or fraud that may come to notice during the activities of the Audit Committee or 
Internal Audit. 

Consider, as appropriate, the contents of any special reports received from external regulatory agencies e.g. 
Department of Local Government, Independent Commission Against Corruption, and Ombudsman.  

The Committee has no executive functions.  

4 PRIORITIES 

The priorities of the Audit Committee will be determined in accordance with the Strategic Three Year Rolling Internal 
Audit Plan and Annual Internal Audit Plan.   

5 COMPOSITION OF THE COMMITTEE 

The Audit Committee is to be made up of five (5) persons, comprising: 

 Two Councillors – appointed annually by Council or as otherwise determined by Council. 

 Three independent members – to be appointed by Council 

At least one of the independent members shall have recent and relevant financial experience. 

The Chairperson will be appointed by Council from the independent representatives. 

The instrument appointing the members shall nominate the Chair, who is to be one of the three independent 
members. 

Vacancies that occur on the Audit Committee will be filled by public advertisement and selection by Council. 

A vacancy for an independent member of the Committee may occur upon the resignation of the member, death of the 
member, failure to attend without cause three consecutive meetings, or by removal by resolution of the Council. 

Vacancies for independent members on the Audit Committee will be filled following public advertisement inviting 
Expressions of Interest. A selection panel will be formed comprising the Audit Committee Chairperson and/or 
nominated independent representative and a Councillor representative on the Audit Committee.  The selection panel 
will submit their recommendation to a Council meeting for determination. 

Council’s General Manager, [Manager's title] will Director Corporate and Community Services, Manager Finance and 
Internal and External Auditors will attend [Name of Committee/Group]  Audit Committee meetings as an ex-officio 
members and will provide professional advice to the [Name of Committee/Group].  Committee.  Other Council staff, 
Government officers, advisors or individuals may be invited to attend meetings from time to time to provide expert 
advice, information or presentations in relation to the [Name of Committee/Group]  Audit Committee business. These 
individuals will act as ex-officio members. 

6 TERM OF APPOINTMENT 

The independent members of the Committee will serve a term of up tobe appointed for a term of three years and are 
eligible for reappointment for an additional term of three years, subject to approval by the General Manager following 
consultation with the Committee Chairperson and/or Councillor members on the Committee. .Thereafter Expressions 
of Interest will be invited and the outgoing representative will be eligible to reapply.  

In order to retain experience and knowledge, there will be an opportunity for annual incremental renewal of 
independent members. 
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Councillor members of the Committee will be appointed annually by the Council. 

7 OBLIGATIONS OF MEMBERS 

Members of the Audit Committee, in performing their duties, shall: 

 Act honestly and in good faith; 

 Participate in the work of the Committee; 

 Perform their duties in a manner that public trust in the integrity, objectivity, and impartiality of the Committee is 
conserved and enhanced; 

 Advise the Chair of the Committee of any perceived, potential, or actual conflict of interest in relation to any 
matter before the Committee; 

 Exercise the care, diligence and skill that would be expected of a reasonable person in comparable 
circumstances; 

 Advise of any change in employment status; 

 Comply with the charter of the Committee. 

8 PRIVACY AND CONFLICT OF INTEREST 

The Committee shall comply with Council policies in relation to confidentiality, privacy and reporting. Members of the 
Committee shall not disclose matters dealt with by the Committee to third parties except with the approval of the 
Committee.  

A member of the committee who may have a pecuniary interest in any matter before the committee  must disclose the 
nature of the interest to the meeting as soon as practicable and must not be present at, or in sight of, the Committee 
meeting: 

 at any time during which the matter is being considered or discussed by the Committee, or 

 at any time during which the Committee is voting on any question in relation to the matter.  

This Clause does not apply where the member’s interest in a matter is of a kind referred to in Section 448 of the Local 
Government Act – refer to Attachment 1. 

9 AGENDA AND BUSINESS PAPERS 

A Draft Agenda will be prepared and discussed with the Committee Chairperson prior to the Business Paper close off. 

The close off for submission of Agenda items is 12noon on the Thursday twelve days prior to the meeting. 

The final Agenda and Business Paper will be provided to Committee members at least five days prior to the 
Committee meeting. 

Committee members and the Auditors, in Closed Session with no staff present, will receive and discuss a report from 
the Professional Conduct Coordinator and are able to discuss the other Agenda and Business Paper Items informally 
prior to each meeting.  The Committee agenda also includes a Closed Session where Committee members may 
discuss an agenda item, or part of an agenda item, with no staff present. 
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10 MEETINGS 

The Audit Committee shall meet on at least four occasions each financial year, one of which shall consider the annual 
financial statements of the Council.  Committee members may from time to time meet on an informal basis, with no 
staff present, to discuss relevant issues. 

A special meeting of the Audit Committee may be called by resolution of three members of the Committee. Business 
may also be considered out of session eg electronically and teleconference in order to deal with pressing matters. 

A Committee member must be physically present at the meeting in order to participate in the meeting. 

Attendances at the Committee meetings shall be at the discretion of the Committee, except for the General Manager, 
Director Corporate and Community Services and the Manager Finance who shall attend as of right.  The internal 
auditors and external auditors are to be invited to attend on a regular basis. 

The Audit Committee may call upon any employee to attend before the Committee to answer questions related to the 
functions of the Committee.   

The Council will arrange for an Executive Officer and  Secretary to the Committee to be appointed to the Committee 
and for secretarial support to the Committee. 

Ordinary Meetings of the Committee for the following year will be set at the December Committee meeting. 
ExtraOrdinary Meetings of the Committee shall be called by the Cchair of the Committee with notice of the meeting 
being forwarded to members with an agenda and at least five days’ notice. 

Committee members will have an original vote and tThe Chairperson will have a casting vote, as well as an original 
vote, whenever the voting on a motion is equal. Ex-Officio members of the Committee have no voting rights. 

The Secretary shall ensure that Minutes of Committee meetings are kept to the satisfaction of the Committee. The 
Minutes shall contain an Action Summary relating to matters dealt with by the Committee. 

The Minutes are to be approved for distribution by the Chair and confirmed at the next ordinary meeting of the 
Committee. The Minutes will be distributed to all Committee members, and all members of Council’s Senior 
Management Group and posted to the Information Folder. 

The quorum for meetings of the Audit Committee shall be three members. If the chairperson is absent from a meeting, 
the first business of every such meeting is to elect a chairperson from the independent members present to preside 
over such meeting. 

 

11 WORKING PARTIES 

The Audit Committee may co-opt members and other persons on matters raised by the Committee from time to time. 

12 REPORTING 

The minutes of meetings will be provided to Councillors and Council’s Executive Management for information. Minutes 
will also be distributed to all members. 

The Audit Committee reports to the Council on significant matters relating to the audit function and the adequacy of 
the systems of internal controls. The Committee may make recommendations to the Council. 

The Audit Committee shall submit an annual report of its activities to the Council. The Committee’s annual report will 
form part of the Council’s annual report. 
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Any matters arising that require a separate decision of Council may be reported to Council at the discretion of the 
Manager Director [complete title].  Corporate and Community Services.  

13 INDEPENDENT PROFESSIONAL ADVICE 

The Committee may, at the Council’s expense, obtain such legal, accounting or other professional advice as it 
reasonably considers necessary for the performance of its duties.  

14 EVALUATION AND REVIEW 

A review of the Audit Committee will be undertaken every 12 months to ensure the effectiveness of the Committee as 
a whole, its purpose, membership and operation of the Committee is effective and to make appropriate changes. 

The conduct of the assessment will be undertaken in accordance with the criteria determined by Council. These 
criteria must include compliance with specific elements of the Committee’s Terms of Reference  Charter and 
particularly those responsibilities and functions as detailed in the Terms of Reference Charter. 

The Audit Committee and the Corporate Governance Committee as a joint exercise shall, in December of each year, 
evaluate the assessments undertaken and determine the adequacy of the Terms of Reference Charter for each 
Committee. 

15 REMUNERATION AND EXPENSES 

The independent members of the Audit Committee shall be entitled to remuneration on the basis of a Committee 
meeting fee as determined by the Council. The meeting fee is for the period 1 July to 30 June and shall include all 
expenses incurred by the independent members in relation to their responsibilities as members of the Committee. The 
fee will be the subject of review by Council on an annual basis. The fee will be subject to annual review in accordance 
with the percentage increase in the fee payable to the Councillors as determined by the Local Government 
Remuneration Tribunal. 

The fee will be payable following each meeting of the Committee upon receipt of an invoice. 
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ATTACHMENT 1 

 

Section 448 What interests do not have to be disclosed?  

 

The following interests do not have to be disclosed for the purposes of this Chapter: 

 

(a)  an interest as an elector, 

(b)  an interest as a ratepayer or person liable to pay a charge, 

(c)  an interest in any matter relating to the terms on which the provision of a service or the supply of goods or 
commodities is offered to the public generally, or to a section of the public that includes persons who are not 
subject to this Part, 

(d)  an interest in any matter relating to the terms on which the provision of a service or the supply of goods or 
commodities is offered to a relative of the person by the council in the same manner and subject to the same 
conditions as apply to persons who are not subject to this Part, 

(e)  an interest as a member of a club or other organisation or association, unless the interest is as the holder of 
an office in the club or organisation (whether remunerated or not), 

(f)  an interest of a member of a council committee as a person chosen to represent the community or as a 
member of a non-profit organisation or other community or special interest group if the committee member 
has been appointed to represent the organisation or group on the committee, 

(g)  an interest in a proposal relating to the making, amending, altering or repeal of an environmental planning 
instrument other than an instrument that effects a change of the permissible uses of:  

(i)  land in which the person or a person, company or body referred to in section 443 (1) (b) or (c) has a 
proprietary interest (which, for the purposes of this paragraph, includes any entitlement to the land at 
law or in equity and any other interest or potential interest in the land arising out of any mortgage, lease, 
trust, option or contract, or otherwise), or 

(ii)  land adjoining, adjacent to or in proximity to land referred to in subparagraph (i), 

 if the person or the person, company or body referred to in section 443 (1) (b) or (c) would by reason of the 
proprietary interest have a pecuniary interest in the proposal, 

(h)  an interest relating to a contract, proposed contract or other matter if the interest arises only because of a 
beneficial interest in shares in a company that does not exceed 10 per cent of the voting rights in the 
company, 

 (i)  an interest of a person arising from the proposed making by the council of an agreement between the council 
and a corporation, association or partnership, being a corporation, association or partnership that has more 
than 25 members, if the interest arises because a relative of the person is a shareholder (but not a director) of 
the corporation or is a member (but not a member of the committee) of the association or is a partner of the 
partnership, 

(j)  an interest of a person arising from the making by the council of a contract or agreement with a relative of the 
person for or in relation to any of the following, but only if the proposed contract or agreement is similar in 
terms and conditions to such contracts and agreements as have been made, or as are proposed to be made, 
by the council in respect of similar matters with other residents of the area:  

(i)  the performance by the council at the expense of the relative of any work or service in connection with 
roads or sanitation, 

(ii)  security for damage to footpaths or roads, 
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(iii)  any other service to be rendered, or act to be done, by the council by or under any Act conferring 
functions on the council or by or under any contract, 

(k)  an interest relating to the payment of fees to councillors (including the mayor and deputy mayor), 

(l)  an interest relating to the payment of expenses and the provision of facilities to councillors (including the 
mayor and deputy mayor) in accordance with a policy under section 252, 

(m)  an interest relating to an election to the office of mayor arising from the fact that a fee for the following 12 
months has been determined for the office of mayor, 

(n)  an interest of a person arising from the passing for payment of a regular account for wages or salary of an 
employee who is a relative of the person, 

(o)  an interest arising from being covered by, or a proposal to be covered by, indemnity insurance as a councillor 
or member of a council committee, 

(p)  an interest arising from appointment of a councillor to a body as representative or delegate of the council, 
whether or not a fee or other recompense is payable to the representative or delegate. 
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1 INTRODUCTION 

The Corporate Governance Committee has been established to promote good governance within Council.  

The focus of the Corporate Governance Committee is to assist Council to work towards ensuring that the people of 
Wollongong receive the services that they need in an effective and efficient manner and delivered with honesty and 
integrity. The Corporate Governance Committee comprises people interested in furthering these aims. 

2 AUTHORITY 

The Corporate Governance Committee is an Advisory Committee established by resolution at the Ordinary Meeting of 
Council on 26 August 2008. The Committee Charter and functions were specified by the same resolution and provides 
advice, feedback and support to Council in developing, implementing and monitoring policies and strategies which 
relate to the governance of Council. 

The Corporate Governance Committee does not have decision making authority, the power to bind the Council, nor 
the power to incur expenditure. 

3 RESPONSIBILITIES AND FUNCTIONS 

The primary responsibility for corporate governance, management of the financial affairs of Council, for compliance 
with laws and policy directions of the Division of Local Government, for ethical behaviour and for risk management 
rests with Executive Management of the Council. The Council has the responsibility to oversight the function of 
Executive Management in relation to these activities and the Corporate Governance Committee assists the Council in 
this role. 

A The responsibilities and functions of the Corporate Governance Committee in relation to Financial Monitoring are 
to - 

 Review and monitor Council’s financial performance against the Budget as approved by Council, both 
operating and capital budgets 

 Develop, review and monitor of management to achieve budget balance 

 Review long term financial strategies developed by management 

 Review any project proposals which involve significant expenditure or joint project delivery (e.g. joint 
venture). 

B The responsibilities and functions of the Corporate Governance Committee in relation to Planning and 
Performance Monitoring are to - 

 Monitor the development of the Council’s annual management plan 

 Review and monitor progress of Council’s five year strategic plans 

 Review the Council’s progress against key performance indicators 

C The responsibilities and functions of the Corporate Governance Committee in relation to Risk Management are 
as follows – 

The Committee is to provide assurance to the Council that a comprehensive risk management plan is in place 
and management has a program to manage all significant risks by identification, prioritisation, and 
implementation of strategies, and that there are clear and specific internal accountabilities for individual 
Managers. 

The Committee will closely monitor the risk management program to ensure a strong focus by management.  

In particular, the Committee shall: 

 Review reports on risk assessments and controls 
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 Review risk management policies and procedures 

 Review the risk management systems and compliance processes for adequacy 

 Ensure that risk assessments are reviewed by Executive Management when there are significant changes to 
work practices. 

D The responsibilities and functions of the Corporate Governance Committee in relation to Ethical Conduct are to – 

The Committee will review and provide advice to management on a framework for ethical conduct by Council and 
Council employees. 

The Committee shall review managements approach to ethical behaviour across the entity. 

The Committee shall review the Council’s Codes of Conduct at regular intervals to ensure consistency with the 
model code of the Department of Local Government. 

The Committee shall review the Council’s approach to: 

 Managing conflicts of interest; 

 Secondary employment policies; 

 Fraud prevention strategies; 

 Corruption risk management; 

 Developing and maintaining staff awareness of ethical conduct, risk management and corruption prevention. 

E The responsibilities and functions of the Corporate Governance Committee in relation to the Annual Review of 
Performance of General Manager is to ensure that the review is undertaken by the Performance Review 
Committee and that Corporate Governance Committee Members are available for advice on governance issues, 
if required. 

4 PRIORITIES 

The main priority of the Corporate Governance Committee is to effectively undertake its responsibilities and functions 
in order to protect Council as an entity and its reputation within the community. Council shall ensure that adequate 
resources are available to allow for the proper functioning of the Committee.  

Other priorities will be determined by the Corporate Governance Committee from time to time. 

5 COMPOSITION OF THE COMMITTEE 

The Corporate Governance Committee is to be made up of five (5) persons, comprising: 

 Two Councillors – appointed annually by Council or as otherwise determined by Council. 

 Three independent members – to be appointed by Council. 

The independent members of the Committee are to be appointed by the Council. 

The instrument appointing the members shall nominate the Chair, who is to be one of the three independent 
members. 

The Chairperson will be appointed by Council from the independent representatives. 

A vacancy for an independent member of the Committee may occur upon the resignation of the member, death of the 
member, failure to attend without cause  

Vacancies for independent members on the Corporate Governance Committee will be filled following public 
advertisement inviting Expressions of Interest. A selection panel will be formed comprising the Corporate Governance 
Committee Chairperson and/or nominated independent representative and a Councillor representative of the 
Corporate Governance Committee. The selection panel will submit a recommendation to a Council meeting for 
determination. 
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Council’s General Manager, Director Corporate and Community Services, Manager Governance and Administration 
and Internal Auditors [Manager's title] will attend Corporate Governance Committee meetings as an ex-officio 
members and will provide professional advice to the Corporate Governance Committee.  Other Council staff, 
Government officers, advisors or individuals may be invited to attend meetings from time to time to provide expert 
advice, information or presentations in relation to the Corporate Governance Committee’s business. These individuals 
will act as ex-officio members. 

6 TERM OF APPOINTMENT 

The independent members of the Committee shall servewill be appointed for a term of up to three years and are 
eligible for reappointment for an additional term of three years, subject to approval by the General Manager following 
consultation with the Committee Chairperson and/or Councillor members on the Committee. Thereafter Expressions 
of Interest will be invited and the outgoing representative will be eligible to reapply.. 

 In order to retain experience and knowledge, there will be an opportunity for annual incremental renewal of 
independent members. 

Councillor members will be appointed annually by Council. 

7 OBLIGATIONS OF MEMBERS 

Members of the Corporate Governance Committee, in performing their duties, shall: 

 Act honestly and in good faith; 

 Participate in the work of the Corporate Governance Committee; 

 Perform their duties in a manner that ensures public trust in the integrity, objectivity, and impartiality of the 
Corporate Governance Committee; 

 Advise the Chair of the Committee of any perceived, potential, or actual conflict of interest in relation to any 
matter before the Committee; 

 Exercise the care, diligence and skill that would be expected of a reasonable person; 

 Advise of any change in employment status; 

 Comply with the Corporate Governance Committee’s Charter; and 

 Comply with Council’s Codes of Conduct. 

8 PRIVACY AND CONFLICT OF INTEREST 

The Committee shall comply with Council policies in relation to confidentiality, privacy and reporting. Members of the 
Committee shall not disclose matters dealt with by the Committee to third parties except with the approval of the 
Committee.  

A member of the Ccommittee who may have a pecuniary interest in any matter before the Ccommittee  must disclose 
the nature of the interest to the meeting as soon as practicable and must not be present at, or in sight of, the 
Committee meeting: 

 at any time during which the matter is being considered or discussed by the Committee, or 

 at any time during which the Committee is voting on any question in relation to the matter.  
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This Clause does not apply where the member’s interest in a matter is of a kind referred to in Section 448 of the Local 
Government Act – refer to Attachment 1. 

9 AGENDA AND BUSINESS PAPERS 

A Draft Agenda will be prepared and discussed with the Committee Chairperson prior to the Business Paper close off.  

The close off for submission of Agenda items is 12 noon on the Thursday twelve days prior to the meeting. 

The final Agenda and Business Paper will be provided to Committee members at least five days prior to the meeting. 

Committee members and the Auditors, in Closed Session with no staff present, will receive and discuss a report from 
the Professional Conduct Coordinator and are able to discuss the Agenda and Business Paper informally prior to each 
meeting. The Committee agenda also includes a Closed Session where Committee members may discuss an agenda 
item, or part of an agenda item, with no staff present. 

10 MEETINGS 

The Corporate Governance Committee shall meet on at least four occasions each financial year.  Committee 
members may from time to time meet on an informal basis, with no staff present, to discuss relevant issues. 

A special meeting of the Corporate Governance Committee may be called by resolution of three members of the 
Committee.  Business may also be considered out of session eg electronically and teleconference in order to deal with 
pressing matters. 

A Committee member must be physically present at the meeting in order to participate in the meeting. 

Attendances at the Committee meetings shall be at the discretion of the Committee, except for the General Manager, 
Director Corporate and Community Services and the Manager Governance and Information who shall attend as of 
right.  

The Corporate Governance Committee may call upon any employee to attend before the Committee to answer 
questions related to the functions of the Committee. 

The Council will arrange for an Executive Officer and Secretary to the Committee to be appointed and for secretarial 
support to the Committee. 

Ordinary Meetings of the Committee for the following year will be set at the November Committee meeting. 
ExtraOrdinary Meetings of the Committee shall be called by the Committee Chairperson with notice of the meeting 
being forwarded to members with an agenda and at least five days notice. 

Committee members will have an original vote and tThe Chairperson will have a casting vote, as well as an original 
vote, whenever the voting on a motion is equal. Ex-Officio members of the Committee have no voting rights. 

The Secretary shall ensure that Minutes of Committee meetings are kept to the satisfaction of the Committee.  The 
Minutes shall contain an Action Summary relating to matters dealt with by the Committee. 

The Minutes are to be approved for distribution by the Chair and confirmed at the next ordinary meeting of the 
Committee. The Minutes will be distributed to all Committee members and all members of Council’s Senior 
Management Group and posted to the Information Folder.. 

The quorum for meetings of the Corporate Governance Committee shall be three members.  Meetings are to be 
rescheduled if a quorum is not present. Meetings will be chaired by the Council appointed chairperson.  If the 
chairperson is absent from a meeting, the first business of every such meeting is to elect a chairperson from the 
independent members present to preside over such meeting. 

The Corporate Governance Committee has an advisory role to Council and will make recommendations by 
consensus. In the absence of consensus, advice from the Corporate Governance Committee may be presented with 
supporting and dissenting views of Corporate Governance Committee members. 
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A Draft Agenda will be prepared and discussed with the Committee Chairperson prior to the Business Paper close off. 

The close off for submission of Agenda items is 12noon on the Thursday twelve days prior to the meeting. 

The final Agenda and Business Paper will be provided to Committee members at least five days prior to the 
Committee meeting. 

Committee members and the Auditors(? Is this correct or a carry-over from the Audit Committee Charter), with no staff 
present, are able to discuss the Agenda and Business Paper informally prior to each meeting.  The Committee 
agenda also includes a Closed Session where Committee members may discuss an agenda item, or part of an 
agenda item, with no staff present. 

11 WORKING PARTIES 

The Corporate Governance Committee may co-opt members and other persons on matters raised by the Committee 
from time to time. 

12 REPORTING 

The minutes of meetings will be provided to Councillors and Council’s Executive Management for information. Minutes 
will also be distributed to all members. 

Advice and decisions of the Corporate Governance Committee relating to specific Council projects will be reported to 
Council as part of the project reporting process. 

The Committee shall submit an annual report of its activities to the Council. The Committee’s annual report will form 
part of the Council’s annual report. 

The Committee receives regular reports from Senior Mmanagement, the Council’s Enterprise Risk Management 
Committee, Audit Committee, and Professional Conduct Coordinator. 

The report from the Professional Conduct Coordinator will be considered in Closed Session and is to comprise 
detailed information on the number of investigations undertaken, a summary of the issues and risks identified, any 
external notifications deemed necessary and any other information considered appropriate. 

Any matters arising that require a separate decision of Council may be reported to Council at the discretion of the 
Manager [complete title]Director Corporate and Community Services.  

13 INDEPENDENT PROFESSIONAL ADVICE 

The Committee may, at the Council’s expense, obtain such legal, accounting or other professional advice as it 
reasonably considers necessary for the performance of its duties.  
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14 EVALUATION AND REVIEW 

A review of tThe Corporate Governance Committee will, on an annual basis, be undertaken every twelve months to  
assess the effectiveness of the Committee as a whole as well as the performance of the individual Committee 
members. 

The conduct of the assessment will be undertaken in accordance with the criteria determined by Council. These 
criteria must include compliance with specific elements of the Committee’s Terms of Reference Charter and 
particularly those responsibilities and functions as detailed in the Terms of Reference Charter. 

The Corporate Governance Committee and the Audit Committee as a joint exercise shall, in December of each year, 
evaluate the assessments undertaken and determine the adequacy of the Terms of Reference Charter for each 
Committee. 

 

15 REMUNERATION AND EXPENSES 

The independent members of the Corporate Governance Committee shall be entitled to remuneration on the basis of 
a Committee meeting fee as determined by the Council. The meeting fee is for the period 1 July to 30 June and shall 
include all expenses incurred by the independent members in relation to their responsibilities as members of the 
Committee. The fee will be the subject of review by Council on an annual basis. The fee will be subject to annual 
review in accordance with the percentage increase in the fee payable to the Councillors as determined by the Local 
Government Remuneration Tribunal. 

 

The fee will be payable following each meeting of the Committee upon receipt of an Invoice.  
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ATTACHMENT 1 

 

Section 448 What interests do not have to be disclosed?  

 

The following interests do not have to be disclosed for the purposes of this Chapter: 

 

(a)  an interest as an elector, 

(b)  an interest as a ratepayer or person liable to pay a charge, 

(c)  an interest in any matter relating to the terms on which the provision of a service or the supply of goods or 
commodities is offered to the public generally, or to a section of the public that includes persons who are not 
subject to this Part, 

(d)  an interest in any matter relating to the terms on which the provision of a service or the supply of goods or 
commodities is offered to a relative of the person by the council in the same manner and subject to the same 
conditions as apply to persons who are not subject to this Part, 

(e)  an interest as a member of a club or other organisation or association, unless the interest is as the holder of 
an office in the club or organisation (whether remunerated or not), 

(f)  an interest of a member of a council committee as a person chosen to represent the community or as a 
member of a non-profit organisation or other community or special interest group if the committee member 
has been appointed to represent the organisation or group on the committee, 

(g)  an interest in a proposal relating to the making, amending, altering or repeal of an environmental planning 
instrument other than an instrument that effects a change of the permissible uses of:  

(i)  land in which the person or a person, company or body referred to in section 443 (1) (b) or (c) has a 
proprietary interest (which, for the purposes of this paragraph, includes any entitlement to the land at 
law or in equity and any other interest or potential interest in the land arising out of any mortgage, lease, 
trust, option or contract, or otherwise), or 

(ii)  land adjoining, adjacent to or in proximity to land referred to in subparagraph (i), 

 if the person or the person, company or body referred to in section 443 (1) (b) or (c) would by reason of the 
proprietary interest have a pecuniary interest in the proposal, 

(h)  an interest relating to a contract, proposed contract or other matter if the interest arises only because of a 
beneficial interest in shares in a company that does not exceed 10 per cent of the voting rights in the 
company, 

 (i)  an interest of a person arising from the proposed making by the council of an agreement between the council 
and a corporation, association or partnership, being a corporation, association or partnership that has more 
than 25 members, if the interest arises because a relative of the person is a shareholder (but not a director) of 
the corporation or is a member (but not a member of the committee) of the association or is a partner of the 
partnership, 

(j)  an interest of a person arising from the making by the council of a contract or agreement with a relative of the 
person for or in relation to any of the following, but only if the proposed contract or agreement is similar in 
terms and conditions to such contracts and agreements as have been made, or as are proposed to be made, 
by the council in respect of similar matters with other residents of the area:  

(i)  the performance by the council at the expense of the relative of any work or service in connection with 
roads or sanitation, 
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(ii)  security for damage to footpaths or roads, 

(iii)  any other service to be rendered, or act to be done, by the council by or under any Act conferring 
functions on the council or by or under any contract, 

(k)  an interest relating to the payment of fees to councillors (including the mayor and deputy mayor), 

(l)  an interest relating to the payment of expenses and the provision of facilities to councillors (including the 
mayor and deputy mayor) in accordance with a policy under section 252, 

(m)  an interest relating to an election to the office of mayor arising from the fact that a fee for the following 12 
months has been determined for the office of mayor, 

(n)  an interest of a person arising from the passing for payment of a regular account for wages or salary of an 
employee who is a relative of the person, 

(o)  an interest arising from being covered by, or a proposal to be covered by, indemnity insurance as a councillor 
or member of a council committee, 

(p)  an interest arising from appointment of a councillor to a body as representative or delegate of the council, 
whether or not a fee or other recompense is payable to the representative or delegate. 
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Financial Commentary 2012/2013 
 
 
 

2012/2013 Financial Statements 

This report provides an overview of Council’s 2012/2013 Financial Statements. The Financial Statements are 
prepared by Council to provide information in relation to Council’s financial performance and position.  The 
Statements are prepared in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards, the NSW Local Government 
Act 1993 and the NSW Local Government Code of Accounting Practice and Financial Reporting (Update 
No 21).  The Statements are independently audited by Hill Rogers Spencer Steer Pty Ltd, reported to Council, 
placed on public exhibition and lodged with the Division of Local Government.

The Financial Statements are made up of five key financial reports (Primary Financial Statements) and 
explanatory notes.  The Primary Financial Statements are: 

 Income Statement 
 Statement of Comprehensive Income 
 Balance Sheet 
 Statement of Changes in Equity 
 Statement of Cash Flows 

2012/2013 Highlights

 Total Assets $2.53B from $2.45B (2012)  Unrestricted current ratio of 2.01:1 (2012: 
1.79:1)

 Expenditure on Infrastructure, Property, Plant & 
Equipment [New/Renewal] $53.9M (2012: 
$64.7M) 

 Debt Service Ratio at 1.71% (2012: 1.47%)

 Recognition of contributed assets including 
infrastructure $26.1M (2012: $8.3M) 

 Cash assets of $116.8M 

 Net Operating Result $25.1M Surplus (2012: 
Surplus $6M) 

 Secured subsidised loan of $20M under the 
Local Infrastructure Renewal Scheme  

 Net Operating Result before Capital Grants 
and Contributions $13.9M Deficit (2012:  
$13.6M Deficit) 
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2012/2013 Financial Overview 

Assets

Council’s Balance Sheet shows the vast extent of assets managed by Council for the Community.  The total 
value of Council’s assets at 30 June 2013 was $2.53B.  The composition of assets is shown below. 

 

 

Infrastructure, Property, Plant & Equipment (IPPE)

With a carrying value of $2.38B, Infrastructure, Property, Plant and Equipment (IPPE) is Council’s most 
significant asset and represents 94% of the total value of assets. 

During 2012/2013 Council completed a capital works program of $53.9M including the construction and 
purchase of $20.1M of new assets and renewal of existing assets of $33.8M. 

After accounting for annual depreciation expense, the overall value of IPPE increased by $50.8M during 
2012/2013. The increase was primarily due to asset additions [$53.9M], contributed assets [$26.1M] and a 
further [$37.8M] as a result of assets transferred in and adjustments to the useful lives of assets. Further 
financial details of IPPE are shown in Note 9. 
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Cash and Investments

In 2012/2013, Council maintained a strong position in cash and investments, with holdings of $116.8M at 
30 June 2013.  Council’s cash and investment positions over recent years are as follows: 

External restrictions are funds held by Council that must be spent for a specific purpose and cannot be used 
by Council for general operations.  Internal restrictions are funds that Council has determined will be used for 
a specific future purpose. Cash holdings have continued to track higher than anticipated throughout the 
2012/2013 financial year as a result of additional external funds including the $20M Local Infrastructure 
Renewal Scheme loan and $6M Building Better Regional Cities Program Grant.  Further details on the 
composition of reserves are shown in Note 6. 

At 30 June 2013, Council achieved an available funds position of $31.5M, which was higher than the Financial 
Strategy target of between $7.6M and $12M.  This is primarily due to the early payment of the Financial 
Assistance Grant [$8.7M], the additional impact of the expected settlement of the Law Cover case [$2M] and a 
range of operational improvements compared to budget. 

Receivables 

Receivables are the amount of money owed to Council or funds that Council has paid in advance. At June 
2013, receivables totalled $25.3M, an increase of $7.6M compared to the 2012 reporting period. This increase 
compared to the previous year is mainly due to the revised Law Cover receipt [$2M], capital grant funding for 
the Crown Street Mall upgrade [$1.7M] and general timing of rates payments and other receipts. Full details of 
receivables are provided in Note 7. 

The Unrestricted Current Ratio measures Council’s 
Cash/Liquidity Position or its ability to satisfy 
obligations in the short term from the unrestricted 
activities of Council. 

Council’s strategy is to maximise the use of 
available funds and target a lean unrestricted 
current ratio.  Cash assets held for future waste 
facility requirements and carbon price are held in 
the unrestricted ratio. As the requirements to hold 
funds for the waste facility and carbon price is 
significant the measure is expected to increase 
until payments are required. 

As Council’s performance is on par with the Local 
Government Benchmark of >2:1, it is reflective of a 
deliberate strategy to better utilise cash. 



Financial Commentary 2012/2013 

 4

Receivables (continued) 

                                                                                                                                                                              

 

Liabilities

At 30 June 2013 Council’s Total Liabilities were $144M.  The composition of Council’s Total Liabilities is 
shown below. 

Provisions

Provisions increased during 2013 by $5.7M. The increase is primarily attributable to the recognition of carbon 
price [$2.1M] which was not previously required, an increase for the future remediation works at Whytes Gully 
waste facility [$1.7M] and the recognition of land remediation works [$0.9M] on Council’s Flinders Street 
property.

Total Liabilities 2012/13

Provisions
($86.2M)

Payables
($23.2M)

Borrowings
($34.6M)

This measure assesses the impact of uncollected 
rates and other charges on liquidity and the 
adequacy of recovery efforts. There has been an 
increase in the reported outstanding rates and 
annual charges percentage during the reporting 
period which represents a deterioration in this 
measure. Council’s Debt Recovery Policy aims to 
bring Council in line with the industry standard of 
<5%. It is noted that this ratio is negatively 
impacted by some rates notices issued late in the 
reporting period and Council’s Policy to exempt 
pensioners from debt recovery proceedings. 

Provisions account for 59.9% of 
Council’s Liabilities with the most 
significant provisions relating to 
Employee Leave Entitlements 
[$38.5M], Waste Depot Remediation 
Provision [$37.6M] and Workers’ 
Compensation Provision [$6.7M].

Payables account for 16.1% of 
Council’s Liabilities.  The majority of 
payables relate to goods and services 
received and capital expenditure 
incurred but not yet paid for. 

Borrowings account for 24% of 
Council’s Liabilities and relate to the 
interest free Infrastructure Loan from 
the State Government secured in 2010 
and the subsidised Local Infrastructure 
Renewal Scheme loan secured at the 
end of 2012. 
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Borrowings

One of Council’s financial strengths is a relatively low level of borrowing.  In 2010 Council secured a $26M 
interest free Infrastructure Loan from the NSW State Government for West Dapto Access works. This will 
continue to be spent over and the next financial year and paid back over the next eight years. At the end of 
2012 Council also secured a $20M subsidised loan under Local Government Infrastructure Renewal Scheme 
that will be used over a five year period to accelerate the Citywide Footpaths and Shared Path Renewal and 
Missing Links Construction Program. 

The Debt Service Ratio measures the proportion of revenues that is required to meet Council’s annual loan 
repayments. 

 

Operational Performance - Income & Expenses 

Council’s headline financial performance in 2013 was up on the prior year, achieving a Net Operating Surplus 
from Continuing Operations of $25.1M, compared to a prior year Surplus of $6M.  The 2012/2013 Surplus has 
been substantially improved by the receipt of $26.1M worth of assets contributed to Council as income.  
Contributed assets generally relate to non-cash dedications of land and transport assets by developers and 
the RMS (formally RTA).  Council’s ability to control the timing of income resulting from these assets is low.  
Council’s underlying measure of longer term operational performance, the Operational Result before Capital 
Grants and Contributions shows a deficit of $13.9M, compared to a deficit of $13.6M in 2011/12. 

Income

Council’s Income from Continuing Operations for 2013 was $263.4M, an improvement on the prior year of 
$238.6M.  The significant increase in income is due to the unusually large amount of Capital Grants and 
Contributions in 2012/2013 of $39M compared to $19.6M in 2012/2013. In addition, Other Revenues for 
2012/2013 were inflated by proceeds from the settlement of a significant insurance claim.  The other sources 
of revenue for Council remained steady based on prior financial years, as shown in the following table. 

A low level of debt is reflected in Council’s Debt 
Service Ratio which is 1.71%. This is exceptionally 
low in comparison to the Local Government 
benchmark ratio of <10%. 

The Debt Service Ratio has increased in 
2012/2013 and this reflects a decision to borrow 
under the Local Government Infrastructure Scheme 
(LIRS) and the State Government Infrastructure 
interest free loan program. The financial strategy 
allows for a ratio of 4% and Council continues to 
operate within this strategy. 



Financial Commentary 2012/2013 

 6

Income (continued) 

Income from Rates and Annual Charges in 2013 totalled $148.8M, an increase of $5.7M on the prior year. 

  

Interest and Investment Income of $5.4M was recognised, representing a consistent result when compared to 
the prior year result of $5.7M. There was a decrease in Operating Grants & Contributions from $32.6M in 
2011/12 to $29.1M in 2012/2013. This is primarily due to the timing of instalments paid in relation to the 
Financial Assistance Grant. During 2012/2013, Council received a total of four instalments [$16.8M] in 
comparison to five instalments in the prior financial year totalling $20.8M. 

Expenses
Council’s Expenses from Continuing Operations for 2013 totalled $238.2M, compared to prior year 
expenditure of $232.6M.  The majority of the increase relates to other expenses where carbon price [$2.1M] 
was recognised for the first time. Other variations from the prior year include depreciation and impairment 
expense [$1.5M] and net loss from the disposal of assets [$3.2M]. It is noted that a significant portion of the 
loss from the disposal of assets relates to Infrastructure assets such as Roads and Stormwater that are 
replaced but have no resale value.  

Year ended Year ended Year ended
30/06/2009 30/06/2011 30/06/2013

INCOME FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS $'000 % $'000 % $'000 % $'000 % $'000 %

Rates & Annual Charges 121,872 63% 130,741 61% 138,239 51% 143,083 60% 148,777 56%
User Charges & Fees 22,298 12% 25,451 12% 27,744 10% 29,036 12% 29,899 11%
Interest & Investment Revenues 2,116 1% 12,884 6% 5,930 2% 5,736 2% 5,431 2%
Other Revenues 7,613 4% 7,859 4% 9,374 3% 8,292 3% 10,864 4%
Grants & Contributions - Operating 27,118 14% 23,989 11% 27,839 10% 32,561 14% 29,107 11%
Grants & Contributions - Capital 12,644 7% 12,437 6% 61,405 23% 19,586 8% 39,042 15%
Profit on Disposal of Assets 0 0% 209 0% 0 0% 0 0% 0 0%
Net Share of interests in Joint Ventures & 
Associated Entities using the equity method 0 0% 0 0% 141 0% 298 0% 244 0%

193,661 100% 213,570 100% 270,672 100% 238,592 100% 263,364 100%

Year ended
30/06/2012

REVENUE SOURCES

Year ended
30/06/2010

Total Income from Continuing Operations
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Grant & Contributions - Capital
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Operating

Other Revenues

Investment Revenues

User Charges and Fees

Rates and Annual Charges

The Rates and Annual Charges Coverage Ratio 
assesses the degree of Council's dependence 
upon revenue from rates and annual charges and 
the security of Council's income. 

The decrease in 2012/2013 is primarily due to the 
proportion of revenue from contributed assets 
[2011/12: $8.3M, 2012/2013: $26.1M when 
compared to rating income 
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Material variations from the 2012/2013 for both income and expenditure items are detailed in Note 16 of the 
statements. 

Future Challenges

While Council is well positioned financially in the short to medium term, Council does not have sufficient 
funding to provide for the renewal and maintenance of long-lived assets such as roads, bridges, buildings and 
recreation facilities in the longer term with. As the population continues to grow and with a greater number of 
people aged 65 years there will be increased pressure on physical infrastructure. Council’s challenge will be to 
ensure long-term financial sustainability whilst providing services that meet the current and future community 
needs and expectations. 

Resourcing Wollongong 2022 was developed in 2011/12 as part Council’s Strategic Management Plans. 
Through the development of Wollongong 2022, Council worked with the community to develop a long term 
vision and goals. The strategy commits Council to a 10 year savings program which will enable more funds to 
be directed towards the renewal and refurbishment of Community assets. For 2012/2013 the savings target 
was $3M and approximately an additional $1M each future year of the 10 year plan.  

Council has resolved to undertake a review of all services currently provided in consultation with the 
Community. This work aims to determine service levels, create efficiencies and consider funding levels to 
improve this result in the short term and create a balanced result in future years. 
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Actual Actual Actual Actual Actual
2008/09 2009/10 2010/11 2011/12 2012/13

Notes $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Income from Continuing Operations
Revenue:
Rates & Annual Charges 3a 121,872 130,741 138,239 143,083 148,777
User Charges & Fees 3b 22,298 25,451 27,744 29,036 29,899
Interest and Investment Revenue (1) 3c 2,116 12,884 5,930 5,736 5,431
Other Revenues 3d 7,613 7,859 9,374 8,292 10,864
Grants & Contributions provided for Operating Purposes   3e,f 27,118 23,989 27,839 32,561 29,107
Grants & Contributions provided for Capital Purposes (2)   3e,f 12,644 12,437 61,405 19,586 39,042
Other Income:
Net Gains from the Disposal of Assets 5 - 209 - - -
Profit from interests in Joint Ventures & Associates 19 - - 141 - -
Entities using the equity method 298 244
Total Income from Continuing Operations 193,661 213,570 270,672 238,592 263,364

Expenses from Continuing Operations
Employee Benefits & On-Costs
Employee Benefits & On-Costs 4a 76,330 80,846 87,218 93,681 91,043
Borrowing Costs 4b 1,954 1,938 3,274 3,236 3,367
Materials & Contracts 4c 41,502 40,012 40,073 41,424 43,139
Depreciation & Amortisation 4d 45,331 57,060 59,469 60,434 61,240
Impairment 4d - - - 346 990
Other Expenses 4e 26,281 27,442 28,362 32,353 34,135
Net Losses from the Disposal of Assets 5 20 - 2,183 1,153 4,311
Total Expenses from Continuing Operations 191,418 207,298 220,579 232,627 238,225

Operating Result from Continuing Operations 2,243 6,272 50,093 5,965 25,139

NET OPERATING RESULT FOR THE YEAR 2,243 6,272 50,093 5,965 25,139

Less:
Grants & Contributions provided for Capital Purposes   3e,f 12,644 12,437 61,405 19,586 39,042

(10,401) (6,165) (11,312) (13,621) (13,903)

This Statement is to be read in conjunction with the Notes in the body of the financial statements and with consideration to Notes (1) and (2) below.

(1) Interest and Investment Income includes the recognition of the discount ($8.7M) on the interest free loan from the State Government during 2009/10. This transaction is unique and 

unlikely to be repeated in future years.

(2) Capital Grants and Contributions increased in 2011 and 2013 primarliy as a result of contributed assets treated as income.

    Wollongong City Council

    Income Statement

    Historical Financial Data

Net Operating Result for the year before Grants and 
Contributions provided for Capital Purposes
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Wollongong City Council

General Purpose Financial Statements
 for the financial year ended 30 June 2013

Contents

1. Statement by Councillors & Management

2. Primary Financial Statements:

- Income Statement
- Statement of Comprehensive Income
- Statement of Financial Position
- Statement of Changes in Equity
- Statement of Cash Flows

3. Notes to the Financial Statements

4. Independent Auditor's Reports:

 - On the Financial Statements (Sect 417 [2])

 - On the Conduct of the Audit (Sect 417 [3])

Overview

(i) These financial statements are General Purpose Financial Statements and cover the consolidated operations
for Wollongong City Council.

(ii) Wollongong City Council is a body politic of NSW, Australia - being constituted as a Local Government area
by proclamation and is duly empowered by the Local Government Act (LGA) 1993 of NSW.

Council's Statutory Charter is detailed in Paragraph 8 of the LGA and includes giving Council;

the ability to provide goods, services & facilities, and to carry out activities appropriate to the current & future
needs of the local community and of the wider public,

the responsibility for administering regulatory requirements under the LGA and

a role in the management, improvement and development of the resources in the area.

A description of the nature of Council's operations and its principal activities are provided in Note 2(b).

(iii) All figures presented in these financial statements are presented in Australian Currency.

(iv) These financial statements were authorised for issue by the Council on 15 October 2013.
Council has the power to amend and reissue these financial statements.

7

8

82
84

Page

3

5
6

4

2
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Wollongong City Council

Income Statement
 for the financial year ended 30 June 2013

$ '000

Income from Continuing Operations
Revenue:
Rates & Annual Charges
User Charges & Fees
Interest & Investment Revenue
Other Revenues
Grants & Contributions provided for Operating Purposes

Grants & Contributions provided for Capital Purposes

Other Income:
Net Share of interests in Joint Ventures & Associated
Entities using the equity method

Total Income from Continuing Operations

Expenses from Continuing Operations
Employee Benefits & On-Costs
Borrowing Costs
Materials & Contracts
Depreciation & Amortisation
Impairment
Other Expenses
Net Losses from the Disposal of Assets

Total Expenses from Continuing Operations

Operating Result from Continuing Operations

Discontinued Operations

Net Profit/(Loss) from Discontinued Operations

Net Operating Result for the Year

Net Operating Result attributable to Council

Net Operating Result attributable to Non-controlling Interests

Net Operating Result for the year before Grants and

Contributions provided for Capital Purposes

Original Budget as approved by Council - refer Note 16

990

43,139

(13,621)

-

Actual 

2013

3,367

39,042

148,777
29,899

Actual 

2012

29,036
5,736
8,292

32,561

5,431
10,864

91,043

263,364

29,107

143,083

(13,903)

238,225

25,139

25,139

-

25,139

61,240

4,311

-

(1)

(15,482)  

-

(27,804)

(15,482)

3,286
51,400

148,944

-

-

237,670

(15,482)

-

222,188

89,973

62,059
-

30,952

2013

3,499

12,322

29,818

8,192
19,413

3b

Notes

3a

3d

3c

3e,f

19,586

4d

4b

24

5

Budget (1)

244

346

4c

3e,f

32,353

5,965

5,965

34,135

232,627

19

4a

4d

1,153

238,592

93,681

298

3,236
41,424
60,434

5,965

-

4e
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Wollongong City Council

Statement of Comprehensive Income
 for the financial year ended 30 June 2013

$ '000

Net Operating Result for the year (as per Income statement)

Other Comprehensive Income:

Amounts which will not be reclassified subsequently to the Operating Result 
Gain (loss) on revaluation of I,PP&E

Other Movements in reserves (Revaluation Error - 2012)

Total Items which will not be reclassified subsequently

to the Operating Result

Amounts which will be reclassified subsequently to the Operating Result
when specific conditions are met
Nil

Total Other Comprehensive Income for the year

Total Comprehensive Income for the Year

Total Comprehensive Income attributable to Council
Total Comprehensive Income attributable to Non-controlling Interests

49,093

49,093

Actual 

43,128

-

2012

1,414

1,414 43,128

5,965

-

26,553

Actual 

43,128

1,414

26,553

-

2013

-

25,139

Notes

20b (ii)

20b (ii)
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Wollongong City Council

Statement of Financial Position
 as at 30 June 2013

$ '000

ASSETS
Current Assets
Cash & Cash Equivalents
Investments
Receivables
Inventories
Other
Non-current assets classified as 'held for sale'
Total Current Assets

Non-Current Assets
Investments
Receivables
Inventories
Infrastructure, Property, Plant & Equipment
Investments accounted for using the equity method
Investment Property
Intangible Assets
Non-current assets classified as 'held for sale'
Other
Total Non-Current Assets

TOTAL ASSETS

LIABILITIES
Current Liabilities
Payables
Borrowings
Provisions
Total Current Liabilities

Non-Current Liabilities
Payables
Borrowings
Provisions
Total Non-Current Liabilities

TOTAL LIABILITIES

Net Assets

EQUITY
Retained Earnings
Revaluation Reserves
Council Equity Interest

Non-controlling Interest

Total Equity

114,093

2,242,643

2,242,643

1,054,489
1,188,154
2,242,643

-

56,793

3,725
-

21,912

-

1,843
33,545
57,300

40,289

2,356,736

2,245,723

-
-

16,504

291

Actual 

2011

75,211
9,207

-

-

2,238,391

111,013

16,743
8,826

3,316

14,221

722

-

-
1,026

-

-

10

22

23,201

2,533,975

-

2,334,8132,396,873

-
634

7

8

739
2,376,962

8,940

6b

9

25

Actual 

83,506
7,189

2013

99,502

Actual 

2012

7,294

Notes

6a

6b

8,900

-
4,839

-
2,326,193

10,000

14

114,538

3,522

3,332
40,833

3,7253,725
364

10

10

-

45,401
31,236

64,671

42,645
14,986

2,449,351

25,112

37,900
1,659

67,366

7

8

8

22 -
137,102

20,481

885

10

8

98319

-

10

2,327,049

-

20 1,103,844

2,389,972

2,389,972

144,003

57,631

1,163,160

-

1,223,2051,226,812

122,302

2,327,049
-

2,327,0492,389,972

20

76,637

10
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Wollongong City Council

Statement of Changes in Equity
 for the financial year ended 30 June 2013

$ '000

Opening Balance (as per Last Year's Audited Accounts)

a. Correction of Prior Period Errors

b. Changes in Accounting Policies (prior year effects)

Revised Opening Balance (as at 1/7/12)

c. Net Operating Result for the Year

d. Other Comprehensive Income

 - Revaluations : IPP&E Asset Revaluation Rsve

 - Revaluations: Other Reserves

 - Transfers to Income Statement

 - Impairment (loss) reversal relating to I,PP&E

 - Other Movements (Revaluation Error - 2012)

Other Comprehensive Income

Total Comprehensive Income (c&d)

e. Distributions to/(Contributions from) Non-controlling Interests

f. Transfers between Equity

Equity - Balance at end of the reporting period

$ '000

Opening Balance (as per Last Year's Audited Accounts)

a. Correction of Prior Period Errors

b. Changes in Accounting Policies (prior year effects)

Revised Opening Balance (as at 1/7/11)

c. Net Operating Result for the Year

d. Other Comprehensive Income

 - Revaluations : IPP&E Asset Revaluation Rsve

 - Revaluations: Other Reserves

 - Transfers to Income Statement

 - Impairment (loss) reversal relating to I,PP&E

 - Other Movements (enter details here)

Other Comprehensive Income

Total Comprehensive Income (c&d)

e. Distributions to/(Contributions from) Non-controlling Interests

f. Transfers between Equity

Equity - Balance at end of the reporting period

Retained Reserves Total

Non-

26,553

2,389,972

1,414

-

-

1,226,812

-

1,414

controlling
Interest

Council

-

-

-

1,223,205

-

-

-

25,139

2,327,049

Equity

25,139

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

1,414

1,414

2,363,419

36,370

-

43,128

5,965

2,242,643

-

-

36,370 -

-

2,242,643

2,277,956

-

2,193

1,414

-

1,223,205

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

8,077

- -

Reserves Council controlling

43,128

Total

-

35,313

-

49,093-

2,327,049

-

-

-

43,128

-

-

-

-

-

-

5,965

-

20b (ii)

43,128 49,093

20b (ii)

20b (ii)

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

Interest

-

Retained

20b (ii) -

Notes

1,089,802

20 (c) 35,313

-

(2,193)

1,163,160

35,313

Interest

Interest(Refer 20b)

-

1,414

-

2,327,049

20b (ii)

(8,077)

-

20b (ii) -

-

43,128

-

-

43,128-

-

1,103,844 1,223,205 -

-

-

20b (ii)

-

-

25,139

20b (ii)

2012

-5,965

1,054,489

-

1,188,154

1,188,154

-

20 (d) -

Earnings (Refer 20b)

2013

-

20b (ii)

20b (ii)

36,37020 (c)

-

1,103,844

-

25,139

1,140,214

-20 (d)

Earnings

Non-

Notes

-

5,965

Equity

43,128

2,277,956

- -

26,553

1,414

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

2,389,972

2,363,419

2,327,049
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Wollongong City Council

Statement of Cash Flows
 for the financial year ended 30 June 2013

$ '000

Cash Flows from Operating Activities
Receipts:

Rates & Annual Charges
User Charges & Fees
Investment & Interest Revenue Received
Grants & Contributions
Bonds, Deposits & Retention amounts received
Other
Payments:

Employee Benefits & On-Costs
Materials & Contracts
Borrowing Costs
Other

Net Cash provided (or used in) Operating Activities

Cash Flows from Investing Activities
Receipts:

Sale of Investment Securities
Sale of Infrastructure, Property, Plant & Equipment
Deferred Debtors Receipts
Payments:

Purchase of Investment Securities
Purchase of Infrastructure, Property, Plant & Equipment
Contributions Paid to Joint Ventures & Associates

Net Cash provided (or used in) Investing Activities

Cash Flows from Financing Activities
Receipts:

Proceeds from Borrowings & Advances
Payments:

Repayment of Borrowings & Advances
Repayment of Finance Lease Liabilities

Net Cash Flow provided (used in) Financing Activities

Net Increase/(Decrease) in Cash & Cash Equivalents

plus: Cash & Cash Equivalents - beginning of year

Cash & Cash Equivalents - end of the year

Additional Information:

plus: Investments on hand - end of year

Total Cash, Cash Equivalents & Investments

Please refer to Note 11 for additional cash flow information.

6b

147,009

2012

Actual 

-

30,407

(34,572)

4,593
31,868
5,645

(89,320)

14,489

48,796

143,122

(48,556)

15,723

(33,678)

Actual 

1,750

(68,793)

18
1,660

-

-

(57,721)
(10,052)

11a

(135)

64,913

(12,041)

(1,287)

76,954

(65,930)

11a

(80,679)

(3,037)

8,013

1,338

55,176
-

Budget 

149,718

-
31,735

2013

29,818
3,493

576

2013

42,534

Notes

(86,793)

90,695

(291)

83,506

(2,760)

(150)-

(61,004)

-

116,796

17,294

(66,095)

20,000

99,502

(989)

(3,178)
(140)

75,211

(3,051)

8,295

7,189

83,506

15,996

16,682

65,409 72,350

3,02729
1,631 1,114

11b

(129) (16)(336)
(51,290)
(89,235)

(64,021)

15
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Wollongong City Council

Notes to the Financial Statements
 for the financial year ended 30 June 2013

Contents of the Notes accompanying the Financial Statements

Details

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Council Functions / Activities - Financial Information
Council Functions / Activities - Component Descriptions
Income from Continuing Operations
Expenses from Continuing Operations
Gains or Losses from the Disposal of Assets
Cash & Cash Equivalent Assets
Investments
Restricted Cash, Cash Equivalents & Investments - Details
Receivables
Inventories & Other Assets
Infrastructure, Property, Plant & Equipment
Externally Restricted Infrastructure, Property, Plant & Equipment
Infrastructure, Property, Plant & Equipment - Current Year Impairments
Payables, Borrowings & Provisions
Description of (and movements in) Provisions
Statement of Cash Flows - Additional Information
Commitments for Expenditure
Statement of Performance Measures:
13a (i) Local Government Industry Indicators  (Consolidated)

13a (ii)  Local Government Industry Graphs    (Consolidated)

Investment Properties
Financial Risk Management
Material Budget Variations
Statement of Developer Contributions
Contingencies and Other Liabilities/Assets not recognised
Controlled Entities, Associated Entities & Interests in Joint Ventures
Equity - Retained Earnings and Revaluation Reserves

Financial Result & Financial Position by Fund
"Held for Sale" Non Current Assets & Disposal Groups
Events occurring after the Reporting Period
Discontinued Operations
Intangible Assets
Reinstatement, Rehabilitation & Restoration Liabilities

Additional Council Disclosures

Council Information & Contact Details

n/a  -  not applicable

57

79 n/a

60

73

66

78

68

78 n/a

76

81

80
79

78 n/a

9
29
30
31

7

8

9(a)

9(b)

27

36

41

51

71

61

Page

1

25

19

15

16

20

21

55

53

47

48

18

12

13

23

26

Note

22

14

10(a)

10(b)

17

6(a)

4

6(c)

9(c)

11

24

45

40

41
43

50

48 n/a

49

46

2(a)

3

2(b)

6(b)

5
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Note 1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
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The principal accounting policies adopted by Council 
in the preparation of these consolidated financial 
statements are set out below in order to assist in its 
general understanding.

Under Australian Accounting Standards (AASB's), 
accounting policies are defined as those specific 
principles, bases, conventions, rules and practices 
applied by a reporting entity (in this case Council) in 
preparing and presenting its financial statements.

(a) Basis of preparation

(i) Background

These financial statements are general purpose 
financial statements which have been prepared in 
accordance with;

Australian Accounting Standards and 
Interpretations issued by the Australian 
Accounting Standards Board, 

the Local Government Act (1993) & Regulation,
and

the Local Government Code of Accounting 
Practice and Financial Reporting.

For the purpose of preparing these financial 
statements, Council has been deemed to be a not-
for-profit entity.

(ii) Compliance with International Financial 
    Reporting Standards (IFRSs)

Because Australian Accounting Standards (AASB's)
are sector neutral, some standards either: 

(a) have local Australian content and 
prescription that is specific to the Not-For-
Profit sector (including Local Government) 
which are not in compliance with IFRS’s, or

(b) specifically exclude application by Not for 
Profit entities.

Accordingly, in preparing these financial statements 
and accompanying notes, Council has been unable 
to comply fully with International Accounting 
Standards, but has complied fully with Australian 
Accounting Standards.

Under the Local Government Act (LGA), Regulations 
and Local Government Code of Accounting Practice 
& Financial Reporting, it should be noted that 
Councils in NSW only have a requirement to comply 
with Australian Accounting Standards.

(iii) New and amended standards adopted by 
      Council

None of the new standards and amendments to 
standards that are mandatory for the first time for the 
financial year beginning 1 July 2012 affected any of 
the amounts recognised in the current period or any 
prior period and are not likely to affect future periods. 

(iv) Early adoption of Accounting Standards

Council has not elected to apply any 
pronouncements before their operative date in the 
annual reporting period beginning 1 July 2012. 

Refer further to paragraph (ab) relating to a summary 
of the effects of Standards with future operative 
dates.

(v) Basis of Accounting

These financial statements have been prepared 
under the historical cost convention except for: 

(i) financial assets and liabilities at fair value 
through profit or loss, available-for-sale financial 
assets and investment properties which are all 
valued at fair value,

(ii) the write down of any Asset on the basis of 
Impairment (if warranted) and

(iii) certain classes of Infrastructure, property, plant 
& equipment that are accounted for at fair 
valuation.

The accrual basis of accounting has also been 
applied in their preparation.

(vi) Changes in Accounting Policies

Council’s accounting policies have been consistently 
applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise 
stated.
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There have also been no changes in accounting 
policies when compared with previous financial 
statements unless otherwise stated [refer Note 20(d)].

(vii) Critical Accounting Estimates

The preparation of financial statements requires the 
use of certain critical accounting estimates (in 
conformity with AASB's).

Accordingly this requires management to exercise its 
judgement in the process of applying the Council's 
accounting policies.

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated 
and are based on historical experience and other 
factors, including expectations of future events that 
may have a financial impact on the entity and that 
are believed to be reasonable under the 
circumstances.

Critical accounting estimates and assumptions    

Council makes estimates and assumptions 
concerning the future.

The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition, 
seldom equal the related actual results.

The estimates and assumptions that have a 
significant risk of causing a material adjustment to 
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within 
the next financial year are set out below.

(i) Estimated fair values of investment properties

(ii) Estimated fair values of infrastructure, property, 
plant and equipment.

(iii) Estimated tip remediation provisions.

Critical judgements in applying the entity's 
accounting policies

(i) Impairment of Receivables - Council has made 
a significant judgement about the impairment of 
a number of its receivables in Note 7.

(b) Revenue recognition

Council recognises revenue when the amount of 
revenue can be reliably measured, it is probable that 

future economic benefits will flow to the entity and 
specific criteria have been met for each of the 
Council’s activities as described below.

Council bases any estimates on historical results, 
taking into consideration the type of customer, the 
type of transaction and the specifics of each 
arrangement.
Revenue is measured at the fair value of the 
consideration received or receivable.

Revenue is measured on major income categories as 
follows:

Rates, Annual Charges, Grants and Contributions

Rates, annual charges, grants and contributions 
(including developer contributions) are recognised as 
revenues when the Council obtains control over the 
assets comprising these receipts.

Control over assets acquired from rates and annual 
charges is obtained at the commencement of the 
rating year as it is an enforceable debt linked to the 
rateable property or, where earlier, upon receipt of 
the rates.

A provision for the impairment on rates receivables 
has not been established as unpaid rates represent a 
charge against the rateable property that will be 
recovered when the property is next sold.

Control over granted assets is normally obtained 
upon their receipt (or acquittal) or upon earlier 
notification that a grant has been secured, and is 
valued at their fair value at the date of transfer.

Revenue from Contributions is recognised when the 
Council either obtains control of the contribution or 
the right to receive it, (i) it is probable that the 
economic benefits comprising the contribution will 
flow to the Council and (ii) the amount of the 
contribution can be measured reliably.

Where grants or contributions recognised as 
revenues during the financial year were obtained on
condition that they be expended in a particular 
manner or used over a particular period and those 
conditions were undischarged at balance date, the 
unused grant or contribution is disclosed in Note 
3(g).
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Note 3(g) also discloses the amount of unused grant 
or contribution from prior years that was expended 
on Council’s operations during the current year.
The Council has obligations to provide facilities from 
contribution revenues levied on developers under 
the provisions of S94 of the EPA Act 1979.

Whilst Council generally incorporates these amounts 
as part of a Development Consents Order, such 
developer contributions are only recognised as 
income upon their physical receipt by Council, due to 
the possibility that individual Development Consents 
may not be acted upon by the applicant and 
accordingly would not be payable to Council.

Developer contributions may only be expended for 
the purposes for which the contributions were 
required but the Council may apply contributions 
according to the priorities established in work 
schedules.

A detailed Note relating to developer contributions 
can be found at Note 17.

User Charges, Fees and Other Income

User charges, fees and other income (including 
parking fees and fines) are recognised as revenue 
when the service has been provided, the payment is 
received, or when the penalty has been applied, 
whichever first occurs.

A provision for the impairment of these receivables 
is recognised when collection in full is no longer 
probable.

A liability is recognised in respect of revenue that is 
reciprocal in nature to the extent that the requisite 
service has not been provided as at balance date.

Sale of Infrastructure, Property, Plant and 
Equipment

The profit or loss on sale of an asset is determined 
when control of the asset has irrevocably passed to 
the buyer.

Interest and Rents

Rents are recognised as revenue on a proportional 
basis when the payment is due, the value of the 
payment is notified, or the payment is received, 
whichever first occurs.

Interest Income from Cash & Investments is 
accounted for using the Effective Interest method in 
accordance with AASB 139 Financial Instruments: 
Recognition and Measurement.

(c) Principles of Consolidation

These financial statements incorporate (i) the assets 
and liabilities of Council and any Entities (or 
operations) that it controls (as at 30/6/13) and (ii) all 
the related operating results (for the financial year 
ended the 30th June 2013).

The financial statements also include Council’s share 
of the assets, liabilities, income and expenses of any 
Jointly Controlled Operations under the 
appropriate headings.

In the process of reporting on Council’s activities as a 
single unit, all inter-entity year end balances and 
reporting period transactions have been eliminated in 
full between Council and its controlled entities.

(i) The Consolidated Fund

In accordance with the provisions of Section 409(1) 
of the LGA 1993, all money and property received by 
Council is held in the Council’s Consolidated Fund 
unless it is required to be held in the Council’s Trust 
Fund.

The Consolidated Fund and other entities through 
which the Council controls resources to carry on its 
functions have been included in the financial 
statements forming part of this report.

Council has significant influence over the following 
entities but do not consolidate due to their immaterial 
value and nature.

Illawarra Performing Arts Centre Limited
Wollongong City of Innovation Limited

(ii) The Trust Fund

In accordance with the provisions of Section 411 of 
the Local Government Act 1993 (as amended), a 
separate and distinct Trust Fund is maintained to 
account for all money and property received by the 
Council in trust which must be applied only for the 
purposes of or in accordance with the trusts relating 
to those monies.
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Trust monies and property subject to Council’s 
control have been included in these statements.

Trust monies and property held by Council but not 
subject to the control of Council, have been 
excluded from these statements.

A separate statement of monies held in the Trust 
Fund is available for inspection at the Council office 
by any person free of charge.

(iii) Joint Ventures

Jointly Controlled Entities

Any interests in Joint Venture Entities & Partnerships
are accounted for using the equity method and is 
carried at cost.

Under the equity method, the share of the profits or 
losses of the partnership is recognised in the income
statement, and the share of movements in retained 
earnings & reserves is recognised in the balance 
sheet. 

(iv) Associated Entities

Council has not entered into any associated entities 
at balance date.

(v) County Councils

Council is not a member of any County Councils.

(vi) Additional Information

Note 19 provides more information in relation to 
Joint Venture Entities, Associated Entities and Joint 
Venture Operations where applicable.

(d) Leases

All Leases entered into by Council are reviewed and 
classified on inception date as either a Finance 
Lease or an Operating Lease.

Finance Leases

Leases of property, plant and equipment where the 
Council has substantially all the risks and rewards of 
ownership are classified as finance leases.

Finance leases are capitalised at the lease’s 
inception at the lower of the fair value of the leased 
property and the present value of the minimum lease 
payments.

The corresponding rental obligations, net of finance 
charges, are included in borrowings.

Each lease payment is allocated between the liability 
outstanding and the recognition of a finance charge.

The interest element of the finance charge is costed
to the income statement over the lease period so as 
to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the 
remaining balance of the liability for each period.

Property, plant and equipment acquired under 
finance leases is depreciated over the shorter of 
each leased asset’s useful life and the lease term.

Operating Leases

Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and 
rewards of ownership are retained by the lessor are 
classified as operating leases.

Payments made under operating leases (net of any 
incentives received from the lessor) are charged to 
the income statement on a straight-line basis over 
the period of the lease.

Lease income from operating leases is recognised in 
income on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

(e) Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents includes;

cash on hand,
deposits held at call with financial institutions,
other short-term, highly liquid investments with 
original maturities of three months or less that 
are readily convertible to known amounts of cash 
and which are subject to an insignificant risk of 
changes in value, and
bank overdrafts.

Bank overdrafts are shown within borrowings in 
current liabilities on the balance sheet but are 
incorporated into Cash & Cash Equivalents for 
presentation of the Cash Flow Statement.



Financial Statements 2013_

Wollongong City Council

Notes to the Financial Statements
for the financial year ended 30 June 2013

Note 1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
 

page 13

(f) Investments and Other Financial Assets

Council (in accordance with AASB 139) classifies 
each of its investments into one of the following 
categories for measurement purposes:

financial assets at fair value through profit or 
loss,

loans and receivables, 

held-to-maturity investments, and

available-for-sale financial assets.

Each classification depends on the purpose/intention 
for which the investment was acquired & at the time 
it was acquired.

Management determines each Investment 
classification at the time of initial recognition and re-
evaluates this designation at each reporting date.

(i) Financial assets at fair value through profit 
   or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 
include financial assets that are “held for trading”.

A financial asset is classified in the “held for trading”
category if it is acquired principally for the purpose of 
selling in the short term.

Assets in this category are primarily classified as 
current assets as they are primarily held for trading 
&/or are expected to be realised within 12 months of 
the balance sheet date.

(ii) Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non derivative financial 
assets with fixed or determinable payments that are 
not quoted in an active market.

They arise when Council provides money, goods or 
services directly to a debtor with no intention (or in 
some cases ability) of selling the resulting 
receivable.
They are included in current assets, except for those 
with maturities greater than 12 months after the 
balance sheet date which are classified as non-
current assets.

(iii) Held-to-maturity investments

Held-to-maturity investments are non-derivative 
financial assets with fixed or determinable payments 
and fixed maturities that the Council’s management 
has the positive intention and ability to hold to 
maturity.

In contrast to the “Loans & Receivables” 
classification, these investments are generally 
quoted in an active market.

Held-to-maturity financial assets are included in non-
current assets, except for those with maturities less 
than 12 months from the reporting date, which are 
classified as current assets.

(iv) Available-for-sale financial assets

Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivatives 
that are either designated in this category or not 
classified in any of the other categories.

Investments must be designated as available-for-sale 
if they do not have fixed maturities and fixed or 
determinable payments and management intends to 
hold them for the medium to long term.

Accordingly, this classification principally comprises 
marketable equity securities, but can include all types 
of financial assets that could otherwise be classified 
in one of the other investment categories.

They are generally included in non-current assets 
unless management intends to dispose of the 
investment within 12 months of the balance sheet 
date or the term to maturity from the reporting date is 
less than 12 months.

Financial Assets – Reclassification

Council may choose to reclassify a non-derivative 
trading financial asset out of the held-for-trading 
category if the financial asset is no longer held for the 
purpose of selling it in the near term.

Financial assets other than loans and receivables are 
permitted to be reclassified out of the held-for-trading 
category only in rare circumstances arising from a 
single event that is unusual and highly unlikely to 
recur in the near term.
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Council may also choose to reclassify financial 
assets that would meet the definition of loans and 
receivables out of the held-for-trading or available-
for-sale categories if it has the intention and ability to 
hold these financial assets for the foreseeable future 
or until maturity at the date of reclassification.

Reclassifications are made at fair value as of the 
reclassification date. Fair value becomes the new 
cost or amortised cost as applicable, and no 
reversals of fair value gains or losses recorded 
before reclassification date are subsequently made.

Effective interest rates for financial assets 
reclassified to loans and receivables and held-to-
maturity categories are determined at the 
reclassification date. Further increases in estimates 
of cash flows adjust effective interest rates 
prospectively.

General Accounting & Measurement of Financial 
Instruments:

(i) Initial Recognition

Investments are initially recognised (and measured) 
at fair value, plus in the case of investments not at 
“fair value through profit or loss”, directly attributable 
transactions costs

Purchases and sales of investments are recognised 
on trade-date - the date on which the Council 
commits to purchase or sell the asset.

Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to 
receive cash flows from the financial assets have 
expired or have been transferred and the Council 
has transferred substantially all the risks and 
rewards of ownership.

(ii) Subsequent Measurement

Available-for-sale financial assets and financial 
assets at fair value through profit and loss are 
subsequently carried at fair value.

Loans and receivables and held-to-maturity
investments are carried at amortised cost using the 
effective interest method.
Realised and unrealised gains and losses arising 
from changes in the fair value of the financial assets 
classified as “fair value through profit or loss”

category are included in the income statement in the 
period in which they arise.
Unrealised gains and losses arising from changes in 
the fair value of non monetary securities classified as 
"available-for-sale" are recognised in equity in the 
available-for-sale investments revaluation reserve.

When securities classified as "available-for-sale"
are sold or impaired, the accumulated fair value 
adjustments are included in the income statement as 
gains and losses from investment securities.

Council does not hold any monetary securities in a 
foreign currency.

Impairment

Council assesses at each balance date whether 
there is objective evidence that a financial asset or 
group of financial assets is impaired.

A financial asset or a group of financial assets is 
impaired and impairment losses are incurred only if 
there is objective evidence of impairment as a result 
of one or more events that occurred after the initial 
recognition of the asset (a ‘loss event’) and that loss 
event (or events) has an impact on the estimated 
future cash flows of the financial asset or group of 
financial assets that can be reliably estimated.

In the case of equity securities classified as 
available-for-sale, a significant or prolonged decline 
in the fair value of a security below its cost is 
considered in determining whether the security is 
impaired.

If any such evidence exists for available-for-sale 
financial assets, the cumulative loss - measured as 
the difference between the acquisition cost and the 
current fair value, less any impairment loss on that 
financial asset previously recognised in profit and 
loss - is removed from equity and recognised in the 
income statement.

Impairment losses recognised in the income 
statement on equity instruments are not reversed 
through the income statement.

(iii) Types of Investments

Council has an approved Investment Policy in order 
to undertake its investment of money in accordance 
with (and to comply with) Section 625 of the Local 
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Government Act and S212 of the LG (General) 
Regulation 2005.

Investments are placed and managed in accordance 
with the Policy and having particular regard to 
authorised investments prescribed under the 
Ministerial Local Government Investment Order.

Council maintains its investment Policy in
compliance with the Act and ensures that it or its
representatives exercise care, diligence and skill that 
a prudent person would exercise in investing Council
funds.

Council amended its policy following revisions to the 
Ministerial Local Government Investment Order 
arising from the Cole Inquiry recommendations. 
Certain investments that Council holds are no longer 
prescribed (eg. managed funds, CDOs, and equity 
linked notes), however they have been retained 
under grandfathering provisions of the Order. These 
will be disposed of when most financially 
advantageous to Council.

(g) Fair value estimation

The fair value of financial assets and financial 
liabilities must be estimated for recognition and 
measurement or for disclosure purposes.

The fair value of financial instruments traded in 
active markets is based on quoted market prices at 
the balance sheet date.

The fair value of financial instruments that are not 
traded in an active market is determined using 
valuation techniques.

Council uses a variety of methods and makes 
assumptions that are based on market conditions 
existing at each balance date.

Quoted market prices or dealer quotes for similar 
instruments are used for long-term debt instruments 
held.

If the market for a financial asset is not active (and 
for unlisted securities), the Council establishes fair 
value by using valuation techniques.

These include reference to the fair values of recent 
arm’s length transactions, involving the same 

instruments or other instruments that are 
substantially the same, discounted cash flow 
analysis, and option pricing models refined to reflect 
the issuer’s specific circumstances.
The nominal value less estimated credit adjustments 
of trade receivables and payables are assumed to 
approximate their fair values.

The fair value of financial liabilities for disclosure 
purposes is estimated by discounting the future 
contractual cash flows at the current market interest 
rate that is available to the Council for similar 
financial instruments.

(h) Receivables

Receivables are initially recognised at fair value and 
subsequently measured at amortised cost, less any 
provision for impairment.

Receivables (excluding Rates & Annual Charges) are 
generally due for settlement no more than 30 days 
from the date of recognition.

The collectability of receivables is reviewed on an 
ongoing basis. Debts which are known to be 
uncollectible are written off in accordance with 
Council’s policy.

A provision for impairment (ie. an allowance account) 
relating to receivables is established when there is 
objective evidence that the Council will not be able to 
collect all amounts due according to the original 
terms of each receivable.

The amount of the provision is the difference 
between the asset’s carrying amount and the present 
value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at 
the effective interest rate.

Impairment losses are recognised in the Income 
Statement within other expenses.

When a receivable for which an impairment 
allowance had been recognised becomes 
uncollectible in a subsequent period, it is written off
against the allowance account.
Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written 
off are credited against other expenses in the income 
statement.
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(i) Inventories

Raw Materials and Stores, Work in Progress and 
Finished Goods

Raw materials and stores, work in progress and 
finished goods in respect of business undertakings 
are all stated at the lower of cost and net realisable 
value.

Cost comprises direct materials, direct labour and an 
appropriate proportion of variable and fixed 
overhead expenditure, the latter being allocated on 
the basis of normal operating capacity.

Costs are assigned to individual items of inventory 
on the basis of weighted average costs.
Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in 
the ordinary course of business less the estimated 
costs of completion and the estimated costs 
necessary to make the sale.

Inventories held in respect of non-business 
undertakings have been valued at cost subject to 
adjustment for loss of service potential.

Land Held for Resale/Capitalisation of Borrowing 
Costs

Land held for resale is stated at the lower of cost 
and net realisable value.

Cost is assigned by specific identification and 
includes the cost of acquisition, and development 
and borrowing costs during development.

When development is completed borrowing costs 
and other holding charges are expensed as incurred.

Borrowing costs included in the cost of land held for 
resale are those costs that would have been avoided 
if the expenditure on the acquisition and 
development of the land had not been made.

Borrowing costs incurred while active development 
is interrupted for extended periods are recognised as 
expenses.

(j) Infrastructure, Property, Plant and 
Equipment (I, PP&E)

Council’s non-current assets have been 
progressively revalued to fair value in accordance 
with a staged implementation program as required by 
the Division of Local Government.

At balance date, the following classes of I, PP&E 
were stated at their Fair Value;

- Investment Properties – refer Note 1(p),

- Operational Land (External Valuation) [Initial Valuation: 
2009, Current Valuation: 2012]   

- Buildings – Specialised/Non Specialised 
(Internal Valuation) [Initial Valuation: 2009, Current Valuation:
2012]

- Plant and Equipment
(as approximated by depreciated historical cost)

- Roads Assets incl. roads, bridges & footpaths 
(Internal Valuation) [Initial Valuation: 2010, Current Valuation:
2012]

- Drainage Assets (Internal Valuation) (Internal 
Valuation) [Initial Valuation: 2010, Current Valuation: 2012]

- Community Land (Internal Valuation) [Initial Valuation: 
2011, Current Valuation: 2012]

- Land Improvements (Internal Valuation) [Initial 
Valuation: 2011, Current Valuation: 2012]

- Other Structures (Internal Valuation) [Initial Valuation: 
2011, Current Valuation: 2012]

- Other Assets (Internal Valuation) [Initial Valuation: 2011, 
Current Valuation: 2012]

The term internal valuation refers to the utilisation of 
in-house expertise to value Council’s assets.

Initial Recognition

On initial recognition, an assets cost is measured at 
its fair value, plus all expenditure that is directly 
attributable to the acquisition.

Where settlement of any part of an asset’s cash 
consideration is deferred, the amounts payable in the 
future are discounted to their present value as at the 
date of recognition (ie. date of exchange) of the asset 
to arrive at fair value.
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The discount rate used is the Council’s incremental 
borrowing rate, being the rate at which a similar 
borrowing could be obtained from an independent 
financier under comparable terms and conditions.

Where infrastructure, property, plant and equipment 
assets are acquired for no cost or for an amount 
other than cost, the assets are recognised in the 
financial statements at their fair value at acquisition 
date - being the amount that the asset could have 
been exchanged between knowledgeable willing 
parties in an arm’s length transaction.

Subsequent costs

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s 
carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, 
as appropriate, only when it is probable that future 
economic benefits associated with the item will flow 
to Council and the cost of the item can be measured 
reliably.

All other repairs and maintenance are charged to the 
income statement during the financial period in 
which they are incurred.

Asset Revaluations (including Indexation)

In accounting for Asset Revaluations relating to 
Infrastructure, Property, Plant & Equipment:

Increases in the carrying amounts arising on 
revaluation are credited to the asset revaluation 
reserve.

To the extent that the increase reverses a
decrease previously recognised via the profit or 
loss, then increase is first recognised in profit or 
loss.

Decreases that reverse previous increases of the 
same asset are first charged against revaluation 
reserves directly in equity to the extent of the 
remaining reserve attributable to the asset, with 
all other decreases charged to the Income 
statement.

For all assets, Council assesses at each reporting 
date whether there is any indication that a revalued 
asset’s carrying amount may differ materially from 
that which would be determined if the asset were 
revalued at the reporting date.

If any such indication exists, Council determines the 
asset’s fair value and revalues the asset to that 
amount. A revaluation exercise on Operational land, 
Buildings, Road Assets including roads, bridges and 
footpaths, Drainage assets, Community Land, Land 
Improvements, Other Structures and Other Assets 
was last undertaken in 2012.  

Full revaluations are undertaken for all assets on a 5 
year cycle. The next scheduled revaluation by asset 
class is outlined in the table below.

Asset Class Due
Operational Land, 
Buildings

30 June 2014

Roads, Bridges, 
Footpaths, Drainage, 
Bulk Earths

30 June 2015

Community Land, Other 
Assets, Land 
Improvements

30 June 2016

Capitalisation Thresholds

Items of infrastructure, property, plant and equipment 
are not capitalised unless their cost of acquisition 
exceeds the following;

Land
- council land 100% Capitalised 
- open space 100% Capitalised
- land under roads (purchases after 30/6/08) 100% Capitalised

Plant & Equipment
Office Equipment 100% Capitalised
Office Furniture > $5,000
Other Plant &Equipment > $5,000

Buildings & Land Improvements
Building
- construction/extensions 100% Capitalised
- renovations > $5,000

Other Structures > $5,000

Stormwater Assets
Drains & Culverts > $5,000
Other > $5,000

Roads, Bridges & Footpaths
Construction & reconstruction 100% Capitalised
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Reseal/Re-sheet & major repairs: > $5,000

Depreciation

Depreciation on Council's infrastructure, property, 
plant and equipment assets is calculated using the 
straight line method in order to allocate an assets 
cost (net of residual values) over its estimated useful 
life.

Land is not depreciated.

Estimated useful lives for Council's I,PP&E include:

Plant & Equipment
- Office Equipment 5 to 10 years
- Furniture & Fittings 6 to 10 years
- Vehicles 5 to 7 years
- Earthmoving Equipment 10 to 20 years
- Rural Fire Service Equipment 5 to 10 years
- Other plant and equipment 5 to 20 years

Other Equipment
- Playground equipment 10 to 15 years

Buildings
- Buildings 15 to 50 years
- Public Amenities 10 to 50 years                      

Stormwater Drainage
- Stormwater Drainage Infrastructure 50 to 100 years

Transportation Assets
- Roads - Infrastructure 20 to 80 years
- Bridges - Concrete 30 to 80 years

Other Infrastructure Assets
- Land Improvements 10 to 50 years
- Bulk earthworks Infinite
- Land – Council owned Infinite
- Land – Council controlled Infinite

Other Assets
- Swimming Pools 50 years
- Library Books 6 years

All asset residual values and useful lives are 
reviewed and adjusted (where appropriate), at each 
balance sheet date.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down 
immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s 
carrying amount is greater than its estimated 
recoverable amount – refer Note 1(s) on Asset
Impairment.

Disposal and De-recognition

An item of property, plant and equipment is
derecognised upon disposal or when no further 
future economic benefits are expected from its use or 
disposal.

Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the asset 
(calculated as the difference between the net 
disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the 
asset) is included in Council’s Income Statement in 
the year the asset is derecognised.

(k) Land

Land (other than Land under Roads) is in 
accordance with Part 2 of Chapter 6 of the Local 
Government Act (1993) classified as either 
Operational or Community. 

This classification of Land is disclosed in Note 9(a).

(l) Land under roads

Land under roads is land under roadways and road 
reserves including land under footpaths, nature strips 
and median strips.

Council has elected not to recognise land under 
roads acquired before 1 July 2008 in accordance 
with AASB 1051.

Land under roads acquired after 1 July 2008 is 
recognised in accordance with AASB 116 – Property, 
Plant and Equipment. Of the 3 methods available 
Council has used the average unit value of the land 
contained within Council’s area of control to 
determine the value.



Financial Statements 2013_

Wollongong City Council

Notes to the Financial Statements
for the financial year ended 30 June 2013

Note 1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
 

page 19

(m) Intangible Assets

Council has classified IT development and software 
assets as intangible during 2012/13 and recognised 
2011/12 comparatively.

IT development and software
Costs incurred in developing products or systems 
and costs incurred in acquiring software and 
licenses that will contribute to future period financial 
benefits through revenue generation and/or cost 
reduction are capitalised to software and systems. 

Costs capitalised include external direct costs of 
materials and service, direct payroll and payroll 
related costs of employees’ time spent on the 
project. Amortisation is calculated on a straight line 
bases over periods generally ranging from 3 to 5 
years.

(n) Crown Reserves

Crown Reserves under Council’s care and control 
are recognised as assets of the Council.

While ownership of the reserves remains with the 
Crown, Council retains operational control of the 
reserves and is responsible for their maintenance 
and use in accordance with the specific purposes to 
which the reserves are dedicated.

Improvements on Crown Reserves are also 
recorded as assets, while maintenance costs 
incurred by Council and revenues relating the 
reserves are recognised within Council’s Income 
Statement.

Representations are currently being sought across 
State and Local Government to develop a consistent 
accounting treatment for Crown Reserves across 
both tiers of government.

(o) Rural Fire Service assets

Under section 119 of the Rural Fires Act 1997, “all 
fire fighting equipment purchased or constructed 
wholly or from money to the credit of the Fund is to 
be vested in the council of the area for or on behalf 
of which the fire fighting equipment has been 
purchased or constructed”.

At present, the accounting for such fire fighting 
equipment is not treated in a consistent manner 
across all Councils.

Until such time as discussions on this matter have 
concluded and the legislation changed, Council will 
continue to account for these assets as it has been 
doing in previous years, which is to incorporate the 
assets, their values and depreciation charges within 
these financial statements.

(p) Investment property

Investment property comprises land &/or buildings 
that are principally held for long-term rental yields, 
capital gains or both that is not occupied by Council.

Investment property is carried at fair value, 
representing an open-market value determined 
annually by external valuers.

Annual changes in the fair value of Investment
Properties are recorded in the Income Statement as 
part of “Other Income”.

Full revaluations are carried out every three years 
with an appropriate index utilised each year in 
between the full revaluations.

The last full revaluation for Council’s Investment 
Properties was dated 30/06/11 by R.F Aubin, 
Certified Practising Valuer.

(q) Provisions for close down, restoration 
and for environmental clean up costs –
including Tips and Quarries

Close down, Restoration and Remediation costs 
include the dismantling and demolition of 
infrastructure, the removal of residual materials and 
the remediation of disturbed areas.

Estimated close down and restoration costs are 
provided for in the accounting period when the 
obligation arising from the related disturbance 
occurs, whether this occurs during the development 
or during the operation phase, based on the net 
present value of estimated future costs.
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Provisions for close down and restoration costs do 
not include any additional obligations which are 
expected to arise from future disturbance.

Costs are estimated on the basis of a closure plan.

The cost estimates are calculated annually during 
the life of the operation to reflect known 
developments, eg updated cost estimates and 
revisions to the estimated lives of operations, and 
are subject to formal review at regular intervals.

Close down, Restoration and Remediation costs are 
a normal consequence of tip and quarry operations, 
and the majority of close down and restoration 
expenditure is incurred at the end of the life of the 
operations.

Although the ultimate cost to be incurred is 
uncertain, Council estimates the respective costs 
based on feasibility and engineering studies using 
current restoration standards and techniques.

The amortisation or ‘unwinding’ of the discount 
applied in establishing the net present value of 
provisions is charged to the income statement in 
each accounting period.

This amortisation of the discount is disclosed as a 
borrowing cost in Note 4(b).

Other movements in the provisions for Close down, 
Restoration and Remediation costs including those 
resulting from new disturbance, updated cost 
estimates, changes to the estimated lives of 
operations and revisions to discount rates are 
capitalised within property, plant and equipment. 

These costs are then depreciated over the lives of 
the assets to which they relate.

Where rehabilitation is conducted systematically 
over the life of the operation, rather than at the time 
of closure, provision is made for the estimated 
outstanding continuous rehabilitation work at each 
balance sheet date and the cost is charged to the 
income statement.

Provision is made for the estimated present value of 
the costs of environmental clean up obligations 
outstanding at the balance sheet date.

These costs are charged to the income statement.

Movements in the environmental clean up provisions 
are presented as an operating cost, except for the 
unwind of the discount which is shown as a 
borrowing cost.

Remediation procedures generally commence soon 
after the time the damage, remediation process and 
estimated remediation costs become known, but may 
continue for many years depending on the nature of 
the disturbance and the remediation techniques.

As noted above, the ultimate cost of environmental 
remediation is uncertain and cost estimates can vary 
in response to many factors including changes to the 
relevant legal requirements, the emergence of new 
restoration techniques or experience at other 
locations.

The expected timing of expenditure can also change,
for example in response to changes in quarry 
reserves or production rates.

As a result there could be significant adjustments to 
the provision for close down and restoration and 
environmental clean up, which would affect future 
financial results.

Specific Information relating to Council's provisions 
relating to Close down, Restoration and Remediation 
costs can be found at Note 26.

(r) Non-Current Assets (or Disposal Groups) 
“Held for Sale” & Discontinued
Operations

Non-current assets (or disposal groups) are 
classified as held for sale and stated at the lower of 
either (i) their carrying amount and (ii) fair value less 
costs to sell, if their carrying amount will be 
recovered principally through a sale transaction 
rather than through continuing use.

The exception to this is plant and motor vehicles 
which are turned over on a regular basis. Plant and 
motor vehicles are retained in Non Current Assets 
under the classification of Infrastructure, Property, 
Plant and Equipment - unless the assets are to be 
traded in after 30 June and the replacement assets 
were already purchased and accounted for as at 30 
June.
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For any assets or disposal groups classified as Non-
Current Assets “held for sale”, an impairment loss is 
recognised at any time when the assets carrying 
value is greater than its fair value less costs to sell.

Non-current assets “held for sale” are not 
depreciated or amortised while they are classified as 
“held for sale”.

Non-current assets classified as “held for sale” are 
presented separately from the other assets in the 
balance sheet.

A Discontinued Operation is a component of the 
entity that has been disposed of or is classified as 
“held for sale” and that represents a separate major 
line of business or geographical area of operations,
is part of a single co-ordinated plan to dispose of 
such a line of business or area of operations, or is a 
subsidiary acquired exclusively with a view to resale.

The results of discontinued operations are presented 
separately on the face of the income statement.

(s) Impairment of assets

All Council's I,PP&E is subject to an annual 
assessment of impairment.

Assets that are subject to amortisation are reviewed 
for impairment whenever events or changes in 
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may
not be recoverable.
An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by 
which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its 
recoverable amount.

The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s 
fair value less costs to sell and value in use.

For non-cash generating assets of Council such as 
roads, drains, public buildings etc - value in use is 
represented by the “deprival value” of the asset 
which is approximated as its written down 
replacement cost.

Other assets are tested for impairment whenever 
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the 
carrying amount may not be recoverable.

Goodwill & other Intangible Assets that have an 
indefinite useful life and are not subject to 
amortisation are tested annually for impairment.

(t) Payables

These amounts represent liabilities and include 
goods and services provided to the Council prior to 
the end of financial year which are unpaid.

The amounts for goods and services are unsecured 
and are usually paid within 30 days of recognition.

(u) Borrowings

Borrowings are initially recognised at fair value, net 
of transaction costs incurred. 

Borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised 
cost.

Amortisation results in any difference between the 
proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the 
redemption amount being recognised in the Income 
Statement over the period of the borrowings using 
the effective interest method.

Borrowings are removed from the balance sheet 
when the obligation specified in the contract is 
discharged, cancelled or expired.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless 
the Council has an unconditional right to defer 
settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after 
the balance sheet date.

(v) Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs incurred for the construction of any 
qualifying asset are capitalised during the period of 
time that is required to complete and prepare the 
asset for its intended use or sale. Other borrowing 
costs are expensed

The capitalisation rate used to determine the amount 
of borrowing costs to be capitalised is the weighted 
average interest rate applicable to the Council’s 
outstanding borrowings during the year.
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(w) Provisions

Provisions for legal claims, service warranties and 
other like liabilities are recognised when:

Council has a present legal or constructive 
obligation as a result of past events;

it is more likely than not that an outflow of 
resources will be required to settle the obligation; 
and

the amount has been reliably estimated. 

Provisions are not recognised for future operating 
losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the 
likelihood that an outflow will be required in 
settlement is determined by considering the class of 
obligations as a whole.

A provision is recognised even if the likelihood of an 
outflow with respect to any one item included in the 
same class of obligations may be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of 
management’s best estimate of the expenditure 
required to settle the present obligation at the 
reporting date.

The discount rate used to determine the present 
value reflects current market assessments of the 
time value of money and the risks specific to the 
liability.

The increase in the provision due to the passage of 
time is recognised as interest expense.

(x) Employee benefits

(i) Short Term Obligations

Short term employee benefit obligations include 
liabilities for wages and salaries (including non-
monetary benefits), annual leave and vesting sick 
leave expected to be settled within the 12 months 
after the reporting period.

Leave liabilities are recognised in the provision for 
employee benefits in respect of employees’ services 
up to the reporting date with other short term 

employee benefit obligations disclosed under 
payables.

These provisions are measured at the amounts 
expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled. 

Liabilities for non vesting sick leave are recognised at 
the time when the leave is taken and measured at 
the rates paid or payable, and accordingly no Liability 
has been recognised in these reports.

Wages & salaries, annual leave and vesting sick 
leave are all classified as Current Liabilities.

(ii) Other Long Term Obligations

The liability for all long service and annual leave in 
respect of services provided by employees up to the 
reporting date (which is not expected to be settled 
within the 12 months after the reporting period) are 
recognised in the provision for employee benefits.

These liabilities are measured at the present value of 
the expected future payments to be made using the 
projected unit credit method.

Consideration is given to expected future wage and 
salary levels, experience of employee departures 
and periods of service.

Expected future payments are then discounted using 
market yields at the reporting date based on national 
government bonds with terms to maturity and 
currency that match as closely as possible the 
estimated future cash outflows.

Due to the nature of when and how Long Service 
Leave can be taken, all Long Service Leave for 
employees with 5 or more years of service has been 
classified as Current, as it has been deemed that 
Council does not have the unconditional right to defer 
settlement beyond 12 months – even though it is not 
anticipated that all employees with more than 5 years 
service (as at reporting date) will apply for and take 
their leave entitlements in the next 12 months.

(iii) Retirement benefit obligations

All employees of the Council are entitled to benefits 
on retirement, disability or death. 
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Council contributes to various defined benefit plans 
and defined contribution plans on behalf of its 
employees.

Defined Benefit Plans

A liability or asset in respect of defined benefit 
superannuation plans would ordinarily be recognised 
in the balance sheet, and measured as the present 
value of the defined benefit obligation at the 
reporting date plus unrecognised actuarial gains 
(less unrecognised actuarial losses) less the fair 
value of the superannuation fund’s assets at that 
date and any unrecognised past service cost.

The present value of the defined benefit obligation is 
based on expected future payments which arise 
from membership of the fund to the reporting date, 
calculated annually by independent actuaries using 
the projected unit credit method. Consideration is 
given to expected future wage and salary levels, 
experience of employee departures and periods of 
service.

However, when this information is not reliably 
available, Council can account for its obligations to 
defined benefit plans on the same basis as its 
obligations to defined contribution plans – i.e. as an
expense when they become payable.

Council is party to an Industry Defined Benefit Plan 
under the Local Government Superannuation 
Scheme, named the “Local Government 
Superannuation Scheme – Pool B”                                  

This Scheme has been deemed to be a “multi 
employer fund” for the purposes of AASB 119. 

Sufficient information is not available to account for 
the Scheme as a defined benefit plan (in accordance 
with AASB 119) because the assets to the scheme 
are pooled together for all Councils.
Accordingly, Council’s contributions to the scheme 
for the current reporting year have been recognised 
as an expense and disclosed as part of 
Superannuation Expenses at Note 4(a).

The Local Government Superannuation Scheme has 
advised member councils that, as a result of the 
global financial crisis, it has a significant deficiency 
of assets over liabilities. The position has been 
monitored during the reporting period and the 

Actuary has estimated that as at 30 June 2013 a 
deficit still exists.

As a result, they have asked for significant increases 
in future contributions to recover that deficiency.

Council’s share of that deficiency cannot be 
accurately calculated as the Scheme is a mutual 
arrangement where assets and liabilities are pooled 
together for all member councils.

For this reason, no liability for the deficiency has 
been recognised in these financial statements.

Council has, however, disclosed a contingent liability 
in note 18 to reflect the possible obligation that may 
arise should the Scheme require immediate payment 
to correct the deficiency.  

Defined Contribution Plans

Contributions to Defined Contribution Plans are 
recognised as an expense as they become payable. 
Prepaid contributions are recognised as an asset to 
the extent that a cash refund or a reduction in the 
future payments is available. 

(iv) Employee Benefit On-Costs

Council has recognised at year end the aggregate 
on-cost liabilities arising from employee benefits, and 
in particular those on-cost liabilities that will arise 
when payment of current employee benefits is made 
in future periods.

These amounts include Superannuation and Workers 
Compensation expenses which will be payable upon 
the future payment of certain Leave Liabilities 
accrued as at 30 June 2013.

(y) Self insurance

Council has determined to self-insure for various 
risks including public liability and professional 
indemnity.

A provision for self-insurance has been made to 
recognise outstanding claims the amount of which is 
detailed in Note10.
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Council also maintains cash and investments to 
meet expected future claims and these are detailed 
in Note 6(c).

(z) Allocation between current and
non-current assets & liabilities

In the determination of whether an asset or liability is 
classified as current or non-current, consideration is 
given to the time when each asset or liability is 
expected to be settled.

The asset or liability is classified as current if it is 
expected to be settled within the next 12 months, 
being the Council’s operational cycle.

Exceptions

In the case of liabilities where Council does not have 
the unconditional right to defer settlement beyond 12 
months (such as vested long service leave), the 
liability is classified as current even if not expected 
to be settled within the next 12 months.

In the case of inventories that are “held for trading”, 
these are also classified as current even if not 
expected to be realised in the next 12 months.

(aa) Taxes

The Council is exempt from both Commonwealth 
Income Tax and Capital Gains Tax.

Council does however have to comply with both 
Fringe Benefits Tax and Goods and Services Tax 
(GST).

Goods & Services Tax (GST)

Income, expenses and assets are all recognised net 
of the amount of GST, except where the amount of 
GST incurred is not recoverable from the Australian 
Tax Office (ATO).
In these circumstances the GST is recognised as 
part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part 
of the revenue / expense.

Receivables and payables within the Balance Sheet 
are stated inclusive of any applicable GST.

The net amount of GST recoverable from or payable 
to the ATO is included as a current asset or current 
liability in the Balance Sheet.

Operating cash flows within the Cash Flow 
Statement are on a gross basis, ie. they are inclusive 
of GST where applicable.

Investing and Financing cash flows are treated on a 
net basis (where recoverable form the ATO), ie. they 
are exclusive of GST. Instead, the GST component 
of investing and financing activity cash flows which 
are recoverable from or payable to the ATO are 
classified as operating cash flows.

Commitments and contingencies are disclosed net of 
the amount of GST recoverable from (or payable to)
the ATO.

(ab) New accounting standards and UIG 
interpretations

Certain new (or amended) accounting standards and 
interpretations have been published that are not 
mandatory for reporting periods ending 30 June 
2013.

Council has not adopted any of these standards 
early.

Council’s assessment of the impact of these new 
standards and interpretations is set out below.

Applicable to Local Government with 
implications:

AASB 9 Financial Instruments, AASB 2009 11 
Amendments to Australian Accounting 
Standards arising from AASB 9 and AASB 2010-7
Amendments to Australian Accounting 
Standards arising from AASB 9 9 (December 
2010) (effective from 1 January 2013) and AASB 
2012-6 Amendments to Australian Accounting 
Standards – Mandatory Effective Date of AASB 9 
and transitional disclosures(effective from 1 
January 2015)
AASB 9 Financial Instruments addresses the 
classification, measurement and de-recognition of 
financial assets and financial liabilities.

The standard is not applicable until 1 January 2015
but is available for early adoption.
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When adopted, the standard will affect in particular 
the Council’s accounting for its available-for-sale 
financial assets, since AASB 9 only permits the 
recognition of fair value gains and losses in other 
comprehensive income if they relate to equity 
investments that are not held for trading. Fair value 
gains and losses on available-for-sale debt 
investments, for example, will therefore have to be 
recognised directly in profit or loss although there is 
currently a proposal by the IASB to introduce a Fair 
value through Other Comprehensive Income 
category for debt instruments.

There will be no impact on Council’s accounting for 
financial liabilities, as the new requirements only 
affect the accounting for financial liabilities that are 
designated at fair value through profit or loss and 
Council does not have any such liabilities.

The de-recognition rules have been transferred from 
AASB 139 Financial Instruments: Recognition and 
Measurement and have not been changed.

AASB 13 Fair Value Measurement and AASB 
2011-8 Amendments to Australian Accounting 
Standards arising from AASB 13 (effective 1 
January 2013)

AASB 13 was released in September 2011.

It explains how to measure fair value and aims to 
enhance fair value disclosures. Council has yet to 
determine which, if any, of its current measurement 
techniques will have to change as a result of the new 
guidance.

It is therefore not possible to state the impact, if any, 
of the new rules on any of the amounts recognised 
in the financial statements. However, application of 
the new standard will impact the type of information 
disclosed in the notes to the financial statements. 

Council does not intend to adopt the new standard 
before its operative date, which means that it would 
be first applied in the annual reporting period ending 
30 June 2014.
Applicable to Local Government but no
implications for Council;

AASB 2012-2 Amendments to Australian 
Accounting Standards – Disclosures – Offsetting 
Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities [AASB 
132 & AASB 7] (effective 1 January 2013)

This Standard amends the required disclosures in 
AASB 7 to include information that will enable users 
of an entity’s financial statements to evaluate the 
effect or potential effect of netting arrangements, 
including rights of set-off associated with the entity’s 
recognised financial assets and recognised financial 
liabilities, on the entity’s financial position.

This Standard also amends AASB 132 to refer to the 
additional disclosures added to AASB 7 by this 
Standard.

The adoption of this standard will not change the 
reported financial position and performance of the 
entity, there are no impact on disclosures as there 
are no offsetting arrangements currently in place.   

AASB 2012-3 Amendments to Australian Accounting 
Standards – Offsetting Financial Assets and 
Financial Liabilities [AASB 132] (effective 1 January 
2014).

This Standard adds application guidance to AASB 
132 to address inconsistencies identified in applying 
some of the offsetting criteria of AASB 132, including 
clarifying the meaning of “currently has a legally 
enforceable right of set-off” and that some gross 
settlement systems may be considered equivalent to 
net settlement.

The adoption of this standard will not change the 
reported financial position and performance of the 
entity, there are no impact on disclosures as there 
are no offsetting arrangements currently in place.

Applicable to Local Government but not relevant 
to Council at this stage;

AASB 10 - Consolidated Financial Statements, 
AASB 11 - Joint Arrangements, AASB 12 -
Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities, revised 
AASB 127 - Separate Financial Statements and 
AASB 128 - Investments in Associates and Joint 
Ventures and AASB 2011-7 Amendments to 
Australian Accounting Standards arising from 
the Consolidation and Joint Arrangements 
Standards (effective 1 January 2013)

In August 2011, the AASB issued a suite of five new 
and amended standards which address the 
accounting for joint arrangements, consolidated 
financial statements and associated disclosures. 
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AASB 10 replaces all of the guidance on control and 
consolidation in AASB 127 Consolidated and 
Separate Financial Statements, and Interpretation 
12 Consolidation – Special Purpose Entities.

The core principle that a consolidated entity presents 
a parent and its subsidiaries as if they are a single 
economic entity remains unchanged, as do the 
mechanics of consolidation.

However, the standard introduces a single definition 
of control that applies to all entities.

It focuses on the need to have both power and rights 
or exposure to variable returns.

Power is the current ability to direct the activities that 
significantly influence returns. Returns must vary 
and can be positive, negative or both. Control exists 
when the investor can use its power to affect the 
amount of its returns.

There is also new guidance on participating and 
protective rights and on agent/principal relationships. 
Council does not expect the new standard to have a 
significant impact on its composition.

AASB 11 introduces a principles based approach to 
accounting for joint arrangements.

The focus is no longer on the legal structure of joint 
arrangements, but rather on how rights and 
obligations are shared by the parties to the joint 
arrangement.

Based on the assessment of rights and obligations, 
a joint arrangement will be classified as either a joint 
operation or a joint venture.
Joint ventures are accounted for using the equity 
method, and the choice to proportionately 
consolidate will no longer be permitted.

Parties to a joint operation will account their share of 
revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities in much 
the same way as under the previous standard.
AASB 11 also provides guidance for parties that 
participate in joint arrangements but do not share 
joint control.

Council's investment in the joint venture partnership 
will be classified as a joint venture under the new 
rules.

As Council already applies the equity method in 
accounting for this investment, AASB 11 will not have 
any impact on the amounts recognised in its financial 
statements.

AASB 12 sets out the required disclosures for entities 
reporting under the two new standards, AASB 10 and 
AASB 11, and replaces the disclosure requirements 
currently found in AASB 127 and AASB 128. 

Application of this standard by Council will not affect 
any of the amounts recognised in the financial 
statements, but will impact the type of information 
disclosed in relation to Council's investments. 

Amendments to AASB 128 provide clarification that 
an entity continues to apply the equity method and 
does not remeasure its retained interest as part of 
ownership changes where a joint venture becomes 
an associate, and vice versa. The amendments also 
introduce a “partial disposal” concept. Council is still 
assessing the impact of these amendments.

Council does not expect to adopt the new standards 
before their operative date. They would therefore be 
first applied in the financial statements for the annual 
reporting period ending 30 June 2014.

Revised AASB 119 Employee Benefits, AASB 
2011-10 Amendments to Australian Accounting 
Standards arising from AASB 119 (September 
2011) and AASB 2011-11 Amendments to AASB 
119 (September 2011) arising from Reduced 
Disclosure Requirements (effective 1 January 
2013)

In September 2011, the AASB released a revised 
standard on accounting for employee benefits.

It requires the recognition of all re-measurements of 
defined benefit liabilities/assets immediately in other 
comprehensive income (removal of the so-called 
'corridor' method) and the calculation of a net interest 
expense or income by applying the discount rate to 
the net defined benefit liability or asset.

This replaces the expected return on plan assets that 
is currently included in profit or loss.

The standard also introduces a number of additional 
disclosures for defined benefit liabilities/assets and 
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could affect the timing of the recognition of 
termination benefits.

The amendments will have to be implemented 
retrospectively.

Council does not recognise defined benefit assets 
and liabilities for the reasons set out in note 1 (x)(iii) 
and so these changes will not have an impact on its 
reported results.

(vi) AASB 2012-3 Amendments to Australian 
Accounting Standards – Offsetting Financial Assets 
and Financial Liabilities [AASB 132] (effective 1 
January 2014)

This Standard adds application guidance to AASB 
132 to address inconsistencies identified in applying 
some of the offsetting criteria of AASB 132, including 
clarifying the meaning of “currently has a legally 
enforceable right of set-off” and that some gross 
settlement systems may be considered equivalent to 
net settlement.

The adoption of this standard will not change the 
reported financial position and performance of the 
entity, there are no impact on disclosures as there 
are no offsetting arrangements currently in place.

(vii) AASB 2012-5 Amendments to Australian 
Accounting Standards arising from Annual 
Improvements 2009–2011 Cycle (effective 1 January 
2013) AASB 1 - this standard clarifies that an entity 
can apply AASB 1 more than once. An entity can 
elect to apply AASB 123 from the transition date or 
an earlier date.

AASB 101 - clarifies that a third statement of 
financial position is required when the opening 
statement of financial position is materially affected 
by any adjustments.

AASB 116 - clarifies the classification of servicing 
equipment.
AASB 132 and Interpretation 2 - Clarifies that 
income tax relating to distributions to holders of an 
equity instrument and to transaction costs of an 
equity transaction shall be accounted for in 
accordance with AASB 112 Income Taxes

AASB 134- provides clarification about segment 
reporting.

The amendments arising from this standard are not 
expected to change the reported financial position or 
performance of the Council.

Not applicable to Local Government per se;

AASB 2012-5 Amendments to Australian 
Accounting Standards arising from Annual 
Improvements 2009–2011 Cycle (effective 1 
January 2013)

AASB 1 - this standard clarifies that an entity can 
apply AASB 1 more than once. An entity can elect to 
apply AASB 123 from the transition date or an earlier 
date.

AASB 101 - clarifies that a third statement of financial 
position is required when the opening statement of 
financial position is materially affected by any 
adjustments.

AASB 116 - clarifies the classification of servicing 
equipment.

AASB 132 and Interpretation 2 - clarifies that income 
tax relating to distributions to holders of an equity 
instrument and to transaction costs of an equity 
transaction shall be accounted for in accordance with 
AASB 112 Income Taxes

AASB 134 - provides clarification about segment 
reporting.

The amendments arising from this standard are not 
expected to change the reported financial position or 
performance of the Council.

There are no other standards that are not yet 
effective and that are expected to have a material 
impact on the entity in the current or future 
reporting periods and on foreseeable future 
transactions.

(ac) Rounding of amounts

Unless otherwise indicated, amounts in the financial 
statements have been rounded off to the nearest 
thousand dollars.
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(ad) Comparative Figures

To ensure comparability with the current reporting 
period’s figures, some comparative period line items 
and amounts may have been reclassified or 
individually reported for the first time within these
financial statements and/or the notes.

(ae) Disclaimer

Nothing contained within these statements may be 
taken to be an admission of any liability to any 
person under any circumstance.
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1. Includes: Rates & Annual Charges (incl. Ex-Gratia), Untied General Purpose Grants & Unrestricted Interest & Investment Income.

F
inancial S

tatem
ents 2013

232,627  

2012

Actual  

2012 2013

$ '000 Income, Expenses and Assets have been directly attributed to the following Functions / Activities.

Details of these Functions/Activities are provided in Note 2(b).

Income from Continuing 
Operations

Expenses from Continuing 
Operations

Total Assets held 
(Current &             

Non-current) Functions/Activities

20132012

Actual  Actual  Actual  

Grants included in 
Income from 
Continuing 
Operations

Operating Result from Continuing 
Operations

Original  

Budget  

Original  

Actual  

2013 20122013 2013

Actual  

(12,492)

(35,894)  (39,301)

8,052

2013

Actual  

Original  

Budget  

2013

Actual  Budget  

(32,353)42,948

13,447 14,679

5,001 7,365

49,614

14,828

50,240

15,10217,4934,188

13,720 52,748

 Community Services/Facilities

 Recreation and Open Space 9,827

10,813 46,762

7,567 8,296

10,793 43,166 Transport Services/Infrastructure

 Planning and Engagement

 Environment

(29,083)38,910

15,5976,246

9,026 39,65439,803

(9,134)

8,372 32,449

15,264

32,660

15,640

(25,093)32,444

9,615 6,262

9,140

37,429 Governance & Internal Services 6,599

7,107 Regulatory Services and Safety 6,130

(30,830)37,54238,229

Actual  

2013

-

2012

5,099 8,187 1,933,871

466,980

(24,153)

(38,710)

3,027

13(10,640)  

(35,561)

(7,737)

Actual  

2,657

110 -

11,686 11,906

17,053

18,802

-

504,725832 50

(32,155)  

4,403(24,072)  4,395

570

(31,280)  

40 -

620 -

1,981,518

18,285

16,778(30,663) (30,628)  

(28,614)

(8,533) (9,351)

26,141

-

(147,830)

-

-

232,627  

298

14,034(165,673)  

5,965

--

(178,286)

(15,482)

-244

25,139

-

171,340  162,804 172,725

15,969 2,448,612

-

2,532,992

--8,347

2,449,351

983

-

2,533,975

-

38,490

739

18,517

32,551

-

22,521

Contributed Assets

59,384 Total Functions & Activities

-

171,340  162,804  

263,364  222,188  238,225  237,670  238,592  

-

298 -

- -

244

-

-

26,141 8,347

66,954 237,670  238,225  
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90,395

 Share of gains/(losses) in Associates

 General Purpose Income 1

 Continuing Operations

172,725  

  & Joint Ventures (using the Equity Method)

 Operating Result from

-
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Note 2(b). Council Functions / Activities - Component Descriptions

Details relating to the Council's functions / activities as reported in Note 2(a) are as follows:

Planning and Engagement

Infrastructure Planning and Support, City Centre Management, Land Use Planning, Public Relations, Economic
Development, Strategy and Planning

Environment

Waste Management, Stormwater Services, Natural Area Management, Environmental Planning and Programs

Transport Services/Infrastructure

Community Services/Facilities

Recreation and Open Space

Regulatory Services and Safety

Governance & Internal Services

Transport Services and Infrastructure works

Libraries, Cultural Services, Community Facilities, Age and Disability Services, Crematorium and Cemeteries,
Community Programs, Youth Services

Parks and Sports fields, Aquatic Services, Tourist Parks, Leisure Centres, Botanic Gardens

Emergency Management, Development Assessment, Regulatory Control, Public Health

Governance and Administration, Human Resources, Financial Services, Customer Service, Property Services,
Information Technology, Internal Services



Financial Statements 2013

page 31

Wollongong City Council

Notes to the Financial Statements
 for the financial year ended 30 June 2013

Note 3. Income from Continuing Operations

$ '000

(a) Rates & Annual Charges

Ordinary Rates
Residential
Farmland
Mining
Business

Total Ordinary Rates

Special Rates
City Centre
Mall

Total Special Rates

Annual Charges (pursuant to s.496, s.496A, s.496B, s.501 & s.611)

Domestic Waste Management Services
Stormwater Management Services

Total Annual Charges

TOTAL RATES & ANNUAL CHARGES

Council has used 2010 year valuations provided by the NSW Valuer General in calculating its rates.

118,385

867

879

27,511
1,719

29,230

148,777

1,162

Actual 

80,035

37,088

395

Actual 

114,005

1,328

26,039

844

2012

382

Notes 2013

76,610

36,169

904
424

143,083

27,750

1,711

283
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Note 3. Income from Continuing Operations (continued)

$ '000

(b) User Charges & Fees

Specific User Charges (per s.502 - Specific "actual use" charges)

Waste Management Services (non-domestic)

Total User Charges

Other User Charges & Fees
(i) Fees & Charges - Statutory & Regulatory Functions (per s.608)

Inspection Services
Planning & Building Regulation
Registration Fees
Section 149 Certificates (EPA Act-Planning Certificate)
Section 603 Certificates (Rating Certificate)
Section 611 Charges (Occupation of Land)
Contestable Building Services
Other

Total Fees & Charges - Statutory/Regulatory

(ii) Fees & Charges - Other(incl. General User Charges (per s.608)

Car Parking
Crematorium & Cemeteries
Hire Charges
Leaseback Fees - Council Vehicles
Leisure Centre
Library
Marketing
Parking Meters
Pools & Beaches
Recreation
Tourist Parks
Other

Total Fees & Charges - Other

TOTAL USER CHARGES & FEES

4,927

430 451

714 694
2,167 2,302

514 513

47

641

433

Notes

823 787

563

45

3,967

170

36

1,9221,972

349
2

2,311

233

2,249

15,092

29,036

3,837

10,221

22

10,840

Actual 

435

10,221

Actual 

547

20122013

421

10,840

197

152
256
141

566

1,231 1,198
4,949

1,243 1,210

14,978

29,899

11
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Note 3. Income from Continuing Operations (continued)

$ '000

(c) Interest & Investment Revenue (incl. losses)

Interest & Dividends
 - Interest on Overdue Rates & Annual Charges (incl. Special Purpose Rates)

 - Interest earned on Investments (interest & coupon payment income)
Fair Value Adjustments
 - Fair Valuation movements in Investments (at FV or Held for Trading)
Amortisation of Premiums & Discounts
 - Interest Free (& Interest Reduced) Loans provided
TOTAL INTEREST & INVESTMENT REVENUE

Interest Revenue is attributable to:

Unrestricted Investments/Financial Assets:
Overdue Rates & Annual Charges (General Fund)

General Council Cash & Investments

Restricted Investments/Funds - External:
Development Contributions
 - Section 94
Infrastructure Loan
Other Externally Restricted Assets

Total Interest & Investment Revenue Recognised

(d) Other Revenues

Rental Income - Investment Properties
Rental Income - Other Council Properties
Fines
Fines - Parking
Legal Fees Recovery - Rates & Charges (Extra Charges)

Diesel Rebate
Insurance Claim Recoveries
Sales - General
Sponsorship & Promotional Income
LawCover Legal Claims Reimbursement
Energy Saving Certificates
Other
TOTAL OTHER REVENUE

2,000
273 278

402

697

8,292

134381

662
-53

3,439
665

2,167

10,864
588

430
1,917

3,175
406

156
171

5,7365,431

82

81

5,431

651

820

508

127

519

3,253

44214

3,142

1,068
502

755

461

6
5,736

Notes 2012

Actual 

4,588

71

4,840

Actual 

820

2013

755

5
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Note 3. Income from Continuing Operations (continued)

$ '000

(e) Grants

General Purpose (Untied)
Financial Assistance
Pensioners' Rates Subsidies - General Component

Total General Purpose

Specific Purpose
Pensioners' Rates Subsidies:
  - Domestic Waste Management
Arts & Culture
Building Better Regional Cities Program
Car Parks
Community Development & Support
Economic Development
Emergency Services
Environmental Management & Enhancement
Environmental Protection
Floodplain & Stormwater Management
Footpaths & Cycleways
HACC Community Transport
Healthy Communities
Heritage & Cultural
Illawarra Dementia Respite Service
Library
Local Bus Route Subsidy
Natural Area Management
People & Learning
Strategic City Planning
Street Lighting
Transport (Roads to Recovery)

Transport (Other Roads & Bridges Funding)

Voluntary Purchase Scheme
Waste Performance Improvement
Wollongong Multi Service Outlet
Infrastructure Renewal
Buildings

Total Specific Purpose
Total Grants

Grant Revenue is attributable to:

- Commonwealth Funding
- State Funding

1,475

- -
-

-

5,722

- -

214610

-

699

-

3,062

-457

-129

123 - -

-

-

-

-20,821

-

25
- 6,000

- 3

-

--

Capital Capital 

20122013

371

135

-

8,099

814
-

30,620

30,620

7,318

2012

533

Operating 

1,138

-

-
323

448

566

5,381

15

-

196

477

200
570

161
8

-

5

500

26,829

-

59

57

-

57 59

-

402

23,302

1,907

432

89 109

5

19

460

1,251
886
195

9

16 5

-

-

1,686
16,831

1,700

22,52118,517

21,448

8,312

-

70
536

26,829

286
1,924

409

Operating 

2013

-

541

7,870

-

--

-

-

-

6,128

-

-

5,722

-

7,870

-

-

-

-

7,870

-

-

-

-

-
-

432

617

-

-

-

658

-

1,742

-

4,247

-

-
-

-

5,722

731
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Note 3. Income from Continuing Operations (continued)

$ '000

(f) Contributions

Developer Contributions:
(s93 & s94 - EP&A Act, s64 of the LGA):
S 94A - Fixed Development Consent Levies
S 94  West Dapto

Total Developer Contributions

Other Contributions:
Community Development & Support
Community Services & Facilities
Contributed Transport Assets (RMS)
Dedications (other than by S94)

Footpaths & Cycleways
Parks, Gardens and Sportsfields
Roads & Bridges
RMS Contributions (Regional Roads, Block Grant)

Strategic City Planning
Wollongong City Gallery Collection
Pollution Minimisation
Contributed Bushfire Assets
Sandon Point Surf Club

Total Other Contributions
Total Contributions

TOTAL GRANTS & CONTRIBUTIONS

$ '000

(g) Restrictions relating to Grants and Contributions

Certain grants & contributions are obtained by Council on condition
that they be spent in a specified manner:

Unexpended at the Close of the Previous Reporting Period

add: Grants & contributions recognised in the current period but not yet spent:
less: Grants & contributions recognised in a previous reporting period now spent:

Net Increase (Decrease) in Restricted Assets during the Period

Unexpended and held as Restricted Assets

Comprising:
  - Specific Purpose Unexpended Grants
  - Developer Contributions
  - Other Contributions

Operating 

-

39,042

2012

496

-

-

-

- -

62 -

6,914

7,179

33,320

-

4,588

-
-

8,347

6,474

1,331

2013

-

-

-

27

1,941

1,234

2,278
1,941

71

29,107

4,841

348

47 47
521

Actual 

238

-

17 -

16

-

10,910

51

-

2,278

-

-

24

--

-

1,582
13

-

28

2013

Operating 

-

32,561

2012

2,038

Capital 

19,586

-

11,716

-

147

-
-

Capital 

34

96

-

Actual 

-
-

1,839

11,758

18,202

20,709

-

215

2013

22,906 18,202

16,788

18,202

1,414

10,628
7,359

-

-

4,704

10,607
(5,903)

-

-

(5,500)

22,906

2012

3,369

26,141

2,591
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Note 4. Expenses from Continuing Operations

$ '000

(a) Employee Benefits & On-Costs

Salaries and Wages
Employee Leave Entitlements (ELE)
Superannuation
Workers' Compensation Insurance
Fringe Benefit Tax (FBT)
Payroll Tax
Training Costs (other than Salaries & Wages)

Protective Clothing
Workers Compensation Provision
Workers Compensation - Self Insurance
Other

Total Employee Costs
less: Capitalised Costs
TOTAL EMPLOYEE COSTS EXPENSED

Number of "Equivalent Full Time" Employees at year end

(b) Borrowing Costs

(i) Interest Bearing Liability Costs
Interest on Overdraft
Interest on Loans
Charges relating to Finance Leases

Total Interest Bearing Liability Costs Expensed

(ii) Other Borrowing Costs
Discount adjustments relating to movements in Provisions (other than ELE)

 - Remediation Liabilities
Interest applicable on Interest Free (& favourable) Loans to Council

Total Other Borrowing Costs
TOTAL BORROWING COSTS EXPENSED

11,521

Notes

76,912

(1,259) 626
268

-

26

247

2,843

2012

41

9,525
63

2013

336

260

996               

1,871

1

Actual 

16

3,220

983               

19

385

719

-

3,236

-

1,349

9,526

(8,420)
91,043

(9,646)

1,790

2,183

789

399

-

38

102,101

73,352

Actual 

100,689

3,367

1,241

3,031

14,048

-

336
15

285

93,681
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Note 4. Expenses from Continuing Operations (continued)

$ '000

(c) Materials & Contracts

Raw Materials & Consumables
Contractor & Consultancy Costs
Auditors Remuneration (1)

Legal Expenses:
 - Legal Expenses: Planning & Development
 - Legal Expenses: Other
Operating Leases:
 - Operating Lease Rentals: Minimum Lease Payments (2)

Total Materials & Contracts
less: Capitalised Costs
TOTAL MATERIALS & CONTRACTS

1. Auditors Remuneration

   During the year, the following fees were incurred for services provided by

   the Council's Auditors (external and internal):

(i) Audit and Other Assurance Services

     - Audit & review of financial statements: Council's Auditor (external)
Remuneration for audit and other assurance services

(ii) Other Services

     - Other Services (internal audit)

Remuneration for other services

Total Auditors Remuneration

2. Operating Lease Payments are attributable to:

Computers
Other

148

276

264

155

(36,036)
43,139

104
104

109

99

240

61,400

276

(40,785)
41,424

128

155

63,776

82,209

203

517

126

517

99

16,442

117
1,154

Notes

15,683

2013

1,312

264

Actual Actual 

2012

391

79,175

203

109
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Note 4. Expenses from Continuing Operations (continued)

$ '000

(d) Depreciation, Amortisation & Impairment

Plant and Equipment
Office Equipment
Furniture & Fittings
Buildings - Non Specialised
Buildings - Specialised
Other Structures
Infrastructure:
  - Roads, Bridges & Footpaths
  - Stormwater Drainage
Other Assets
  - Library Books
  - Other
Asset Reinstatement Costs
Intangible Assets
TOTAL DEPRECIATION &
IMPAIRMENT COSTS EXPENSED

Depreciation/Amortisation 

-

Impairment Costs    

Actual 

2013

-

-

-

-
53

-

Notes

-

-
-

-

- -

937

-
-

-

990

469

2013

-
-

-

346

Actual 

-

2012

-

14,390

1,846
-9 & 26

25

8,043

1,074

363

60,434

2,730

14,242

346

568

973
2,751

1,004

253

61,240

8,818

1,290

3,7854,170

2012

1,373

Actual Actual 

23,617

750

1,648

25,433

1,863

221
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Note 4. Expenses from Continuing Operations (continued)

$ '000

(e) Other Expenses

Other Expenses for the year include the following:

Advertising
Bad & Doubtful Debts
Bank Charges
Carbon Tax Expense
Contributions/Levies to Other Levels of Government
 - Emergency Services Levy
 - Lake Illawarra Authority
 - NSW Fire Brigade Levy
 - NSW Rural Fire Service Levy
 - Waste & Environment Levy
Councillor Expenses - Mayoral Fee
Councillor Expenses - Councillors' Fees
Councillors' Expenses (incl. Mayor) - Other (excluding fees above)

Donations, Contributions & Assistance to other organisations (Section 356)

 - Illawarra Performing Arts Centre
 - Illawarra Regional Information Service
 - Illawarra Surf Life Saving
 - Neighbourhood Youth Program
 - Southern Councils Group
 - Wollongong City Centre Ltd.
 - Wollongong City Of Innovation
 - Other
Elections
Insurance
Lighting, Electricity & Heating
Postage
Provision for Self Insurance Claims
Street Lighting
Sustainability Programs
Telephone & Communications
Valuation Fees
Water Rates
Other

Total Other Expenses
less: Capitalised Costs
TOTAL OTHER EXPENSES

404

Notes

285

-

287

1,953

917

579

199

606

Actual 

2,134

10,589

(351)

(17)
484

200

354
75

256

225

2,504

379

34,135

428

Actual 

-
-

11,481
402

-

274

34,486

-

33,142
(789)

32,353

2,619

(220)

703 649
355

2,7962,879

3,316 2,974

2012

59

2,540

489
144

442

2,168

490

588

215

5

857

2013

81

2,472

1

-

-

487

253

380

706

65

61

1,537

914

79

62

61

1,403
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Note 5. Gains or Losses from the Disposal of Assets

$ '000

Property (excl. Investment Property)

Proceeds from Disposal - Property
less: Carrying Amount of Property Assets Sold / Written Off

Net Gain/(Loss) on Disposal

Plant & Equipment
Proceeds from Disposal - Plant & Equipment
less: Carrying Amount of P&E Assets Sold / Written Off

Net Gain/(Loss) on Disposal

Infrastructure
Proceeds from Disposal - Infrastructure
less: Carrying Amount of Infrastructure Assets Sold / Written Off

Net Gain/(Loss) on Disposal

Financial Assets*
Proceeds from Disposal / Redemptions / Maturities - Financial Assets
less: Carrying Amount of Financial Assets Sold / Redeemed / Matured

Net Gain/(Loss) on Disposal

NET GAIN/(LOSS) ON DISPOSAL OF ASSETS

* Financial Assets disposals / redemptions include:
- Net Gain/(Loss) from Financial Instruments "At Fair Value through profit & loss"

Net Gain/(Loss) on Disposal of Financial Instruments
-                        

(51)

(51)

29

(592)(1,180)

2012

(29)

2013

(3,415)

238

Notes

-

(1,109)

346

-

-

(1,347)

1,393

(4,311)

Actual 

213

(3,415) (940)

(51)                    

761

3,027

(338)

169

(1,153)

Actual 

7

(933)

(684)

(3,078)
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Note 6a. - Cash Assets and Note 6b. - Investments

$ '000

Cash & Cash Equivalents (Note 6a)
Cash on Hand and at Bank
Cash-Equivalent Assets1

- Deposits at Call
- Short Term Deposits

Total Cash & Cash Equivalents

Investments (Note 6b)
- Managed Funds
- NCD's, FRN's (with Maturities > 3 months)

- Mortgage Backed Securities
- Other Long Term Financial Assets

Total Investments
TOTAL CASH ASSETS, CASH
EQUIVALENTS & INVESTMENTS

1
Those Investments where time to maturity (from date of purchase) is < 12 mths or can be liquidated at short notice with little or no cost.

Cash, Cash Equivalents & Investments were
classified at year end in accordance with
AASB 139 as follows:

Cash & Cash Equivalents
a. "At Fair Value through the Profit & Loss"

Investments
a. "At Fair Value through the Profit & Loss"
- "Held for Trading"

b. "Held to Maturity"
Investments

Current 

10,000

83,506

7,189

Non Current 

-

2,032
996

10,000
7,189

20,273

1,203

Actual 

2013

7,189

-

7,294

7,294

99,502

7,294

106,796  

-

10,000

83,506

1,115

-

Notes

-

6(b-i)

10,000

1,871
1,019
1,344

3,046

90,695

-

99,502

10,000

-

76,030

6(b-ii) -

3,060

-

62,030
22,081

1,391

2013

-

-

2012

Current 

Actual Actual 

-

Actual 

-

2012

-

Non Current 

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-
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Note 6b. Investments (continued)

$ '000

Note 6(b-i)
Reconciliation of Investments classified as
"At Fair Value through the Profit & Loss"
Balance at the Beginning of the Year

Revaluations (through the Income Statement)

Additions

Disposals (sales & redemptions)

Balance at End of Year

Comprising:

- Managed Funds

- NCD's, FRN's (with Maturities > 3 months)

- Mortgage Backed Securities

- Other Long Term Financial Assets

Total

Note 6(b-ii)
Reconciliation of Investments
classified as "Held to Maturity"
Additions

Balance at End of Year

Comprising:

- Long Term Deposits

Total

Note 6(b-iii)
Reconciliation of Investments
classified as "Loans & Receivables"
Nil

Note 6(b-iv)
Reconciliation of Investments
classified as "Available for Sale"
Nil

10,000

71

-

(29)

1,344

-

1,871

-

2,032
996

2013

7,189

Actual 

989

2012

-

-

-

Actual 

3,046

(3,078)

Non Current 

Actual 

1,115

Current 

-

-

3,060

1,019

7,294

7,294

-

82

2013

-

10,000

10,000

52
-

-

Current 

-

-

10,000

9,207

-

-

-

7,189

-

-

-

-

-

-

7,189

-

-

-
-

-

2012

-
-

Non Current 

Actual 

-

-
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Note 6c. Restricted Cash, Cash Equivalents & Investments - Details

$ '000

Total Cash, Cash Equivalents
and Investments

attributable to:

External Restrictions (refer below)

Internal Restrictions  (refer below)

Unrestricted

$ '000

Details of Restrictions

External Restrictions - Included in Liabilities
Nil

External Restrictions - Other
Developer Contributions - General (A)

RMS (formerly RTA) Contributions (B)

Specific Purpose Unexpended Grants (C)

Domestic Waste Management (D)

Stormwater Management (D)

Private Subsidies

Special Rates Levy - Wollongong Centre Imp. Fund

Unexpended Loan (E)

Special Rates Levy - Wollongong Mall

Special Rates Levy - City Centre

Local Infrastructure Renewal Scheme (F)

External Restrictions - Other

Total External Restrictions

A Development contributions which are not yet expended for the provision of services and amenities in accordance

with contributions plans (refer Note 17). 

B RMS Contributions which are not yet expended for the provision of services and amenities in accordance with

those contributions. 

C Grants which are not yet expended for the purposes for which the grants were obtained  (refer Note 1). 

D Domestic Waste Management (DWM) & other Special Rates/Levies/Charges are externally

restricted assets and must be applied for the purposes for which they were raised.

E State Government interest free loan to be administered on infrastructure as part of the West Dapto development.

F State Government subsidised loan to be administered on infrastructure projects over the local government area.

(409)

10,910

(3,282)

(1,345)
723

944
16,062

48,041

20,000

48,041

106,796

53,961

Transfers to 

-

Balance 

364

11,758
(2,460) 238

10,628
2,483215

42,281

28,452
-

-
24,383

90,695

90,695

Current Non Current 

Actual Actual 

10,000

2013

487

42,281

Restrictions 

106,796  

42,281

56
-

Balance 

Opening 

7,6817,359

4,116

2013

Restrictions 

11,319
2,292

(11,038)
-

(1,209)

(1,180)

(26,362)

650

6,408

2,401 827
(1,604)

-
12,877

251
11

(3,835)

18,791

234 (234)

1,715
1,883

834

63,961(26,362)

63,961

-

Current Non Current 

-
10,000 -

Closing Transfers from 

-

29,433
18,981

2013 2012

-
10,000

2012

Actual Actual 
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Note 6c. Restricted Cash, Cash Equivalents & Investments - Details (continued)

$ '000

Internal Restrictions
Car Parking Strategy

Property *

Darcy Wentworth Park

MacCabe Park Development

Sports Priority Program

Telecommunications Reserve

Waste Disposal Facility

Carbon Price

West Dapto Development

Total Internal Restrictions

TOTAL RESTRICTIONS

* Property was previously reported under the title Community Infrastructure. This reserve has a negative balance

at 30 June 2013 as expenditure has been incurred relating to works carried out, however planned property sales

(which will generate income) have not yet occurred. In future years, as property sales occur, the negative 

balance will be eliminated. At balance date borrowings have effectively been made from other internal reserves,

to fund the short-fall.

61,262

Transfers from 

71

31
4,114

7,230

- 2,176

105

-

17,635

240

18,981 24,383

Balance 

Opening 

384

272
151

937

-
31

(253)
(1)

(1,828)

(28,190) 88,344

248

69

2013

55,271

Restrictions 

Transfers to 

71

850

-

-

-

279-

489

Closing 

Balance 

(1,468) 20,281

(359)

99
(253)

- 2,176

391

Restrictions 

-
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Note 7. Receivables

$ '000

Purpose
Rates & Annual Charges
Interest & Extra Charges
User Charges & Fees
Accrued Revenues
  - Interest on Investments
  - Other Income Accruals
Government Grants & Subsidies
Deferred Debtors
Net GST Receivable

Total

less: Provision for Impairment

User Charges & Fees

Total Provision for Impairment - Receivables

TOTAL NET RECEIVABLES

Externally Restricted Receivables

There are no restrictions applicable to the above receivables.

Notes on Debtors above:
(i)   Rates & Annual Charges Outstanding are secured against the property.

(ii)  Doubtful Rates Debtors are provided for where the value of the property is less than the debt outstanding.

      An allowance for other doubtful debts is made when there is objective evidence that a receivable is impaired.

(iii) Interest was charged on overdue rates & charges at 10.00% (2012 11.00%).

Generally all other receivables are non interest bearing.

(iv) Please refer to Note 15 for issues concerning Credit Risk and Fair Value disclosures.

-

3,158

-

-(351)

-2,082

-1,766

(334)

1,642 -
-

4,839

-

2,831

4,718

-
-2,003

15

974
3,865

-

Current 

5,957

14,572

14,221

-
15 12

4,839

796

-

(351) -

3,522

3,522

Non Current 

2,714

2012

1,183

-

478
5,340

2,625

1,083

Current 

20,481

(334)

20,815

491

Non Current 

2013

Notes
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Wollongong City Council

Notes to the Financial Statements
 for the financial year ended 30 June 2013

Note 8. Inventories & Other Assets

$ '000

Inventories
Real Estate for resale (refer below)

Stores & Materials

Total Inventories

Other Assets
Prepayments

Total Other Assets

TOTAL INVENTORIES / OTHER ASSETS

Externally Restricted Assets

There are no restrictions applicable to the above assets.

(i) Other Disclosures

(a) Details for Real Estate Development
Residential

Total Real Estate for Resale
(Valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value)

Represented by:

Acquisition Costs

Total Costs

Total Real Estate for Resale

Movements:

Real Estate assets at beginning of the year

Total Real Estate for Resale

(b) Current Assets not anticipated to be settled within the next 12 months
The following Inventories & Other Assets, even though classified
as current are not expected to be recovered in the next 12 months;

Real Estate for Resale

(c) Inventories recognised as an expense for the year included:
- Stores & Materials

-

-

8,611

-

-

-

8,611

8,940

8,611
329

-

2013

--

-

2012

Non Current 

289

Current 

-

8,900

-

Non Current Current Notes

8,611

9,622

722

-

-

722-

-

8,611

8,611

-

885

-

9,825

8,611-

-

8,611

8,611

8,611

8,611

8,611

1,285 1,302

5,734

5,734

2013

5,734

2012

8,611

5,734

8,611 - -

-

-

-8,611

-

-

8,611

885



Wollongong City Council

Notes to the Financial Statements
 for the financial year ended 30 June 2013

Note 9a. Infrastructure, Property, Plant & Equipment

At At Carrying At At Carrying

$ '000 Cost Fair Value Dep'n Impairment Value Cost Fair Value Dep'n Impairment Value

 Capital Work in Progress 20,941 - - - 20,941 12,041 - - - (16,217) - 16,765 - - - 16,765
 Plant & Equipment - 36,405 15,110 - 21,295 3,674 (1,180) (4,170) - - 1,050 - 36,536 15,867 - 20,669
 Office Equipment - 7,145 2,432 - 4,713 684 - (1,373) - - - - 7,016 2,992 - 4,024
 Furniture & Fittings - 4,985 3,931 - 1,054 165 - (469) - - - - 2,949 2,199 - 750
 Plant & Equipment (under Finance Lease) - 636 319 - 317 - - - - - (317) - - - - -
 Land:

   -  Operational Land - 390,213 - - 390,213 1,728 (640) - - - - - 391,301 - - 391,301
   -  Community Land - 370,098 - - 370,098 1,254 - - - - - - 371,352 - - 371,352
   -  Land under Roads (post 30/6/08) - 22,980 - - 22,980 1,586 - - - - - - 24,566 - - 24,566
 Land Improvements - non depreciable - 67,045 - - 67,045 1 - - - - - - 67,046 - - 67,046
 Buildings - Non Specialised - 21,434 11,985 - 9,449 709 (627) (1,290) - 28 - - 21,544 13,275 - 8,269
 Buildings - Specialised - 563,639 278,222 346 285,071 3,316 (63) (14,390) (53) 13,379 1,110 - 577,237 288,468 399 288,370
 Other Structures - 53,225 36,172 - 17,053 881 (17) (1,863) - - 732 - 54,078 37,292 - 16,786
 Infrastructure:

   -  Roads, Bridges, Footpaths - 1,526,490 945,397 - 581,093 42,333 (2,808) (25,433) (937) 1,875 19,441 - 1,555,312 938,809 937 615,566
   -  Stormwater Drainage - 814,794 323,466 - 491,328 8,305 (582) (8,818) - 42 4,883 - 827,019 331,861 - 495,158
 Other Assets:

   -  Heritage Collections - 11,103 - - 11,103 212 - - - - 95 - 11,410 - - 11,410
   -  Library Books - 7,514 4,075 - 3,439 1,233 - (1,004) - - - - 6,730 3,062 - 3,668
   -  Other - 70,170 53,076 - 17,094 2,668 (25) (1,846) - 893 10,792 - 73,752 44,176 - 29,576

Reinstatement, Rehabilitation & 
Restoration Assets (refer Note 26)

   - Tip Asset - 19,738 7,831 - 11,907 - - (221) - - - - 19,738 8,052 - 11,686

TOTAL INFRASTRUCTURE,
PROPERTY, PLANT & EQUIP.

Additions to Depreciable Land Improvements, Buildings, Other Structures & Infrastructure Assets are made up of Asset Renewals ($25,671) and New Assets ($16,530).

Renewals are defined as the replacement of existing assets (as opposed to the acquisition of new assets).

page 47
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16,765 4,047,586 1,686,053 1,336- 2,376,96280,790 (5,942) (60,877) (990) 37,786

Impairment  
Loss 

(recognised
in P/L)

WIP
Transfers

Adjustments
& Transfers

20,941 3,987,614 1,682,016 346 2,326,193

as at 30/6/2012
Asset Movements during the Reporting Period

as at 30/6/2013

Asset 
Additions

WDV
of Asset 

Disposals

Depreciation 
Expense AccumulatedAccumulated
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Notes to the Financial Statements
 for the financial year ended 30 June 2013

Note 9b. Externally Restricted Infrastructure, Property, Plant & Equipment

$ '000

Council has no Externally Restricted Infrastructure, Property, Plant & Equipment.

Note 9c. Infrastructure, Property, Plant & Equipment - Current Year Impairments

$ '000

Impairment Losses recognised in the Income Statement include:

    - Mt Keira Summit Park Cafe

    - RFS Bushfire Control Centre

    - Stream Hill Cottage West Dapto

    - Scarborough Cemetery Toilet Block

    - Mount Keira Road

Total Impairment Losses

IMPAIRMENT of ASSETS - GAINS/(LOSSES) in P/L (990)

(990)

(346)

4(d)

(5)

Actual 

Notes

(15)
(19)

Actual 

2012

(346)

-

2013

(14)

-

-
-

(346)

(937)
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Wollongong City Council

Notes to the Financial Statements
 for the financial year ended 30 June 2013

Note 10a. Payables, Borrowings & Provisions

$ '000

Payables
Goods & Services - operating expenditure
Goods & Services - capital expenditure
Payments Received In Advance
Accrued Expenses:
 - Other Expenditure Accruals
Security Bonds, Deposits & Retentions
Other

Total Payables

Borrowings
Loans - Secured 1

Finance Lease Liabilities

Total Borrowings

Provisions
Employee Benefits;

Annual Leave
Sick Leave
Long Service Leave
Other Leave

Sub Total - Aggregate Employee Benefits

Self Insurance - Workers Compensation
Self Insurance - Claims Incurred
Asset Remediation/Restoration (Future Works)

Carbon Tax
Land Remediation

Total Provisions

Total Payables, Borrowings & Provisions

(i) Liabilities relating to Restricted Assets

There are no restricted assets (external or internal) applicable to the above liabilities.

1. Loans are secured over the General Rating Income of Council

   Disclosures on Liability Interest Rate Risk Exposures, Fair Value Disclosures & Security can be found in Note 15.

100

-

Current 

Non Current Notes

8,039 -
2,134

-

427

2013

-

3,614

2012

-7,042

1,772

3,370

-

1,611

3,332

-2,063

-

26

2013

38,110           

76,637

710

912

804

5,080

-

Non Current 

57,631

Non Current 

40,833

Current 

64,671

-

8,013

45,401

2,134

2012

-
-

-

37,570-
200

140
1,519

-

352

37,900

14,9861,659

-

-

200

417                

612
417

-

-

-

-

-

-

14,986

-

-

7,785

31,236
-

503

6,848

Current 

23,201

Current 

-

31,236

42,645

67,366

3,332

543
28,750

-

36,244           

-

6,394

35,799
100

27,137

1,556

Non Current 

1,487

-
11,014

352                

25,112

-
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Notes to the Financial Statements
 for the financial year ended 30 June 2013

Note 10a. Payables, Borrowings & Provisions (continued)

$ '000

(ii) Current Liabilities not anticipated to be settled within the next 12 months

The following Liabilities, even though classified as current, are not expected
to be settled in the next 12 months.

Provisions - Employees Benefits
Payables - Security Bonds, Deposits & Retentions

Note 10b. Description of and movements in Provisions

a. Employees Leave Entitlements & On-Costs represents those benefits accrued and payable and an estimate of those

that will become payable in the future as a result of past service.

b. Self Insurance Provisions represent both (i) Claims Incurred but Not reported and (ii) Claims Reported & Estimated

as a result of Council's being a self insurer up to certain levels of Excess.

c. Asset Remediation, Reinstatement & Restoration Provisions represent the Present Value estimate of future costs 

Council will incur in order to remove, restore & remediate assets &/or activities as a result of past operations.

d. Workers Compensation - Self Insurance Provision represents Wollongong City Council's liability in respect of its

self- insured outstanding claims incurred up to 30 June 2013. Actuarial estimates were provided by David

A Zaman Pty Ltd. Wollongong City Council is a licensed self-insurer under the Workers' Compensations 

Act in NSW.  The licence commenced with effect from 30 June 1983.

Unused 
amounts 
reversed

- 2,134

-

26,402

6,691

-

Actual

822

-

27,427

-

(9,962)

-

28,921

-
6

-

-14,789

-

3

-

1,171

-

-

-

1,025

-

2013

29,167

400

27,750

37,570

(83)
31

912

Sick Leave 8

Additional 
Provisions

251 (160)

Class of Provision
Decrease due to 

Payments

Opening
Balance

as at 1/7/12

710
3,355

7,785
612

7,398 (7,201)

2012

Other Leave

Annual Leave

912

1,79035,799

7,950

(19)Asset Remediation

- Workers Compensation

Carbon Tax - 2,134
Land Remediation

-

- -

(1,259)

-

Self Insurance

- Claims Incurred 200 200 -

(2,499)Long Service Leave 27,489

TOTAL 80,545 862

Closing
Balance

as at 30/6/13

543

2013

8,013

86,234

2012

804

Remeasurement 
effects due to 

Discounting

Actual
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 for the financial year ended 30 June 2013

Note 11. Statement of Cash Flows - Additional Information

$ '000

(a) Reconciliation of Cash Assets
Total Cash & Cash Equivalent Assets
Less Bank Overdraft

BALANCE as per the STATEMENT of CASH FLOWS

(b) Reconciliation of Net Operating Result
     to Cash provided from Operating Activities

Net Operating Result from Income Statement
Adjust for non cash items:

Depreciation & Amortisation
Net Losses/(Gains) on Disposal of Assets
Non Cash Capital Grants and Contributions
Impairment Losses Recognition - I,PP&E
Losses/(Gains) recognised on Fair Value Re-measurements through the P&L:
  - Investments classified as "At Fair Value" or "Held for Trading"
Amortisation of Premiums, Discounts & Prior Period Fair Valuations
  - Interest on all fair value adjusted Interest Free Advances made by Council
  - Interest Exp. on Interest Free Loans received by Council (previously Fair Valued

Unwinding of Discount Rates on Reinstatement Provisions
Share of Net (Profits) or Losses of Associates/Joint Ventures

+/- Movement in Operating Assets and Liabilities & Other Cash Items:

Decrease/(Increase) in Receivables
Increase/(Decrease) in Provision for Doubtful Debts
Decrease/(Increase) in Inventories
Decrease/(Increase) in Other Assets
Increase/(Decrease) in Payables
Increase/(Decrease) in other accrued Expenses Payable
Increase/(Decrease) in Other Liabilities
Increase/(Decrease) in Employee Leave Entitlements
Increase/(Decrease) in Other Provisions

NET CASH PROVIDED FROM/(USED IN)

OPERATING ACTIVITIES from the STATEMENT of CASH FLOWS

(244)

99,502

(8,347)

269

(6)

943

314

72,350

4,526

1,790

(194)

(298)

2,162

1,931

(17)

2012

65,409

1,153

83,506

(163)

1,014
244

83,506
-

(40)

990

60,434

346

(5)

1,871

304

1,968

-

Notes

Actual 

10

1,365

Actual 

25,139

(7,572)

(82)

(26,141)

1,349

2013

61,240

6a

1,241

4,311

(71)

5,965

(74)
144

99,502
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Notes to the Financial Statements
 for the financial year ended 30 June 2013

Note 11. Statement of Cash Flows - Additional Information (continued)

$ '000

(c) Non-Cash Investing & Financing Activities

Contributed Transport Assets - RMS
Contributed Art Works
Other Dedications
Contributed Bush Fire Assets
Other Non Cash Items

Total Non-Cash Investing & Financing Activities

(d) Financing Arrangements

(i) Unrestricted access was available at balance date to the
     following lines of credit:

Bank Overdraft Facilities (1)

Credit Cards / Purchase Cards

Total Financing Arrangements

Amounts utilised as at Balance Date:
- Credit Cards / Purchase Cards

Total Financing Arrangements Utilised

1. The Bank overdraft facility may be drawn at any time and may be terminated by the bank without notice.

   Interest rates on overdrafts are Interest Rates on Loans & Other Payables are disclosed in Note 15.

(ii) Secured Loan Liabilities

Loans are secured by a mortgage over future years Rate Revenue only.

348

73

34
1,839

835

20,709

96

1,135

300

61

73

147

61

985

8,347

1,285

-
6,474

2012

-

Notes

4,841

2013

Actual 

300

Actual 

26,141



Financial Statements 2013

page 53

Wollongong City Council
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 for the financial year ended 30 June 2013

Note 12. Commitments for Expenditure

$ '000

(a) Capital Commitments (exclusive of GST)

Capital expenditure committed for at the reporting date but not
recognised in the financial statements as liabilities:

Property, Plant & Equipment
Buildings
Plant & Equipment
Infrastructure

Total Commitments

These expenditures are payable as follows:

Within the next year
Later than one year and not later than 5 years

Total Payable

Sources for Funding of Capital Commitments:

Unrestricted General Funds
Future Grants & Contributions
Sect 64 & 94 Funds/Reserves
Unexpended Grants
Externally Restricted Reserves
Internally Restricted Reserves
Unexpended Loans

Total Sources of Funding

178 125

3,024

3,024

59
2,635

-

152
26,101

3,024

330

27,178

4,946

Notes

27,178

2013 2012

Actual 

25,401

Actual 

27,178

3,024

8,048

-373
40

2,718

-
-

10,875

925

1,777

2,899
-

-
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Note 12. Commitments for Expenditure (continued)

$ '000

(b) Finance Lease Commitments

(i) Commitments under Finance Leases at the Reporting Date
    are payable as follows:

Within the next year
Later than one year and not later than 5 years
Later than 5 years

Total Minimum Lease Payments
less: Future Finance Charges

Amount Recognised as a Liability

(ii) Finance Lease Liability Recognised represent;

Current Liabilities

Total Finance Lease Liabilities Disclosed

(iv) General Details

Council Leases the following Property, Plant & Equipment under
Finance Leases:

Purchase

Heavy Plant - Carrying Value

Total Carrying Value at Year End

(c) Operating Lease Commitments (Non Cancellable)

a. Commitments under Non Cancellable Operating Leases at the
     Reporting date, but not recognised as Liabilities are payable:

Within the next year
Later than one year and not later than 5 years
Later than 5 years

Total Non Cancellable Operating Lease Commitments

b. Non Cancellable Operating Leases include the following assets:
 Computer / IT Equipment & Fitness Equipment
 Contingent Rentals may be payable depending on the condition of items or usage during the lease term.

Conditions relating to Finance & Operating Leases:
- All Finance & Operating Lease Agreements are secured only against the Leased Asset.
- No Lease Agreements impose any financial restrictions on Council regarding future debt etc.

(d) Investment Property Commitments

Nil

-

140

4

-
-

2013

Actual 

2012

N

-

140

Notes

140

-

-

-

1,724

1,195

140

Term

156

(Years)

Actual 

-

99

-

-

140

373

-

1,041

Contingent

140

140

Option to

Y

1,520

380

Rent Clauses

-

-
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Note 13a(i). Statement of Performance Measurement - Indicators (Consolidated)

$ '000

Local Government Industry Indicators - Consolidated

1. Unrestricted Current Ratio
Current Assets less all External Restrictions (1)

Current Liabilities less Specific Purpose Liabilities (2,3)

2. Debt Service Ratio
Debt Service Cost

Income from Continuing Operations

(excl. Capital Items & Specific Purpose Grants/Contributions)

3. Rates & Annual Charges
    Coverage Ratio
Rates & Annual Charges

Income from Continuing Operations

4. Rates, Annual Charges, Interest &
    Extra Charges Outstanding Percentage
Rates, Annual & Extra Charges Outstanding

Rates, Annual & Extra Charges Collectible

5. Building & Infrastructure Renewals Ratio
Asset Renewals(4)

Depreciation, Amortisation & Impairment

Notes

(1) Refer Notes 6-8 inclusive.

   Also excludes any Real Estate & Land for resale not expected to be sold in the next 12 months
(2) Refer to Note 10(a).
(3) Refer to Note 10(a)(ii) - excludes all payables & provisions not expected to be paid in the next 12 months (incl. ELE).
(4) Asset Renewals represent the replacement &/or refurbishment of existing assets to an equivalent capacity/performance

as opposed to the acquisition of new assets (or the refurbishment of old assets) that increases capacity/performance.

Asset Renewals include building and infrastructure assets only.

1.79

51.07%

2.01 : 1

Prior Periods

20112012

1.47%

77,407     

148,777   

1.81

59.97%

Indicator

45.06% 53.89%

2013

48.97%

1.71%

6.16%

0.77%

56.49%

Amounts

50,921     

38,445     

2013

7.09%

263,364   

11,287     

3,654       

24,936     

6.08%

213,732   

159,262   



Financial Statements 2013

page 56
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Notes to the Financial Statements
 for the financial year ended 30 June 2013

Note 13a(i). Statement of Performance Measurement - Indicators (Consolidated)

$ '000

TCorp Performance Measures - Consolidated

a. Operating Performance (pre capital)
Operating Revenue (excl. Capital Grants & Contributions)

- Operating Expenses

Operating Revenue (excl. Capital Grants & Contributions)

b. Own Source Operating Revenue
Rates & Annual Charges + User Charges & Fees

Total Operating Revenue (incl. Capital Grants & Contributions)

c. Unrestricted Current Ratio
Current Assets less all External Restrictions 

Current Liabilities less Specific Purpose Liabilities 

d. Debt Service Cover Ratio
Operating Result before Interest & Depreciation (EBITDA)

Principal Repayments (from the Statement of Cash Flows)

+ Borrowing Interest Costs (from the Income Statement)

e. Capital Expenditure Ratio
Annual Capital Expenditure

Annual Depreciation

f. Infrastructure Backlog Ratio
Estimated Cost to bring Assets to a

Satisfactory Condition

Total value of Infrastructure, Building, Other Structures

& Depreciable Land Improvement Assets

g. Asset Maintenance Ratio
Actual Asset Maintenance

Required Asset Maintenance

h. Building & Infrastructure Renewals Ratio
Asset Renewals

Depreciation of Building and Infrastructure Assets 

i. Cash Expense Cover Ratio
Current Year's Cash & Cash Equivalents

(Total Expenses - Depreciation - Interest Costs)

j. Interest Cover Ratio
Operating Results before Interest & Depreciation (EBITDA)

Borrowing Interest Costs (from the income statement)

224,240   

67.86%

Prior Periods

50,622     

61,240     

160,762   

15.03

Not
Applicable

Not
Applicable

0.49

0.11

Not
Applicable

Indicator

263,282   

3,367       

Not
Applicable

14,468     

50,622     

Not
Applicable

Not
Applicable

2.01

Not
Applicable

Not
Applicable

Not
Applicable

Not
Applicable

Not
Applicable

99,502     

(13,985)   

6,685       

178,676   

Amounts

2013

Not
Applicable

13,394     

19,255     

Not
Applicable

Not
Applicable

24,936     

Not
Applicable

Not
Applicable

Not
Applicable

Not
Applicable

1,424,149

2013

/12

74,848     

6.88

7.57

1.22

20112012

0.70

38,445     

-6.24%

77,407     

50,921     

Not
Applicable

Not
Applicable
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Note 13a(ii). Local Government Industry Indicators - Graphs (Consolidated)

Commentary on 2012/13 Result

Purpose of Asset 
Renewals Ratio

Commentary on 2012/13 Result

Purpose of Debt 
Service Ratio

Commentary on 2012/13 Result

Commentary on 2012/13 Result

The ratio increase reflects a decision to borrow 
under the Local Government Infrastructure Scheme 

(LIRS) and the State Government Infrastructure 
interest free loan program. The financial strategy 
allows for a ratio of 4% and Council continues to 

operate within this strategy. 

2012/13 Ratio      7.09%

To assess the impact 
of uncollected rates 
and annual charges 
on Council's liquidity 
and the adequacy of 

recovery efforts.

To assess the impact 
of loan principal & 

interest repayments 
on the discretionary 
revenue of council.

To assess the degree 
of Council's 

dependence upon 
revenue from rates 
and annual charges 
and to assess the 

security of Council's 
income.

Purpose of Rates & 
Annual Charges 

Outstanding Ratio

Council continues to increase the funds available 
for the renewal program.

1. Council's strategy is to maximise the use of 
available funds and target a lean unrestricted 

current ratio. 2. Cash assets held for future waste 
facility requirements and carbon price are held in 
the unrestricted ratio. As the requirements to hold 

funds for the waste facility rehabilitation and carbon 
price is significant the measure is expected to 

increase until payments are required.

2012/13 Ratio      48.97%

To assess the rate at 
which these assets 
are being renewed 

relative to the rate at 
which they are 
depreciating.

There has been as increase in the reported 
outstanding rates and annual charges percentage 

during the reporting period. The figure includes 
0.6M of rates notices issued in late May. 

Ratepayers were advised that they could pay over a 
longer period. The percentage also includes 2.5M of 
pensioner rates that is exempt from debt recovery 

proceedings.

To assess the 
adequacy of working 
capital and its ability 
to satisfy obligations 
in the short term for 

the unrestricted 
activities of Council.

The decrease is primarily due to the proportion of 
revenue from contributed assets [2011/12: $8.3M, 

2012/13: $26.1M] when compared to rating income.

2012/13 Ratio      2.01 : 1

Commentary on 2012/13 Result

2012/13 Ratio      56.49%

Purpose of Rates & 
Annual Charges 
Coverage Ratio

2012/13 Ratio      1.71%

Purpose of 
Unrestricted Current 

Ratio
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Note 13a(ii). TCorp Performance Measures - Graphs (Consolidated)

The result provides that Council's level of 
capital expenditure was greater than 

depreciation for the 2012/13 reporting period. 
It is noted that this performance measure 
includes non-cash contributed assets that 

impact the result.

Commentary on 2012/13 Result

The result of this measure is as expected. 
Overall it reflects the short term position of 
Council's investment portfolio at the end of 

2012/13.

This ratio measures 
the availability of 
operating cash to 

service debt including 
interest, principal and 

lease payments 

The result provides an indication that Council 
can adequately service its outstanding debt. It 

is noted that this performance measure 
includes non-cash accounting entries relating 

to the unwinding of the interest free 
infrastructure loan that impact the result.

Purpose of Cash 
Expense Cover 

Ratio

This ratio measures 
Council’s 

achievement of 
containing operating 
expenditure within 
operating revenue.

This ratio assesses 
the extent to which a 
Council is expanding 
its asset base with 
capital expenditure 

(on new assets, 
replacement & renewal 

of existing assets). 

Commentary on 2012/13 Result

2012/13 Ratio      7.57 x

Purpose of 
Operating 

Performance Ratio

Commentary on 2012/13 Result

Commentary on 2012/13 Result

2012/13 Ratio      67.86%

The performance of this ratio is as expected. It 
is noted that total revenue includes non-cash 

contributed assets that lowers own source 
revenue as a percentage.

Purpose of Debt 
Service Cover Ratio

Purpose of Capital 
Expenditure Ratio 2012/13 Ratio      1.22 x

Commentary on 2012/13 Result

2012/13 Ratio      6.88 mths

Council has resolved to undertake a review of 
all services currently provided in consultation 

with the Community. This work aims to 
determine service levels, create efficiencies 
and consider funding levels to  improve this 

result in the short term and create a balanced 
result in the future years. 

2012/13 Ratio      -6.24%

This liquidity ratio 
indicates the number 
of months a Council 
can continue paying 

for its immediate 
expenses without 

additional cash inflow. 

Purpose of Own 
Source Operating 

Revenue Ratio

This ratio measures 
fiscal flexibility. It is 

the degree of reliance 
on external funding 

sources such as 
operating grants & 

contributions.
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Note 13a(ii). TCorp Performance Measures - Graphs (Consolidated) continued

2012/13 Ratio      15.03 x

Commentary on 2012/13 Result

The result reflects low borrowings and the 
capacity for additional borrowings if required.

Purpose of Interest 
Cover Ratio

This ratio indicates 
the extent to which a 
Council can service 
(thru operating cash) 
its interest bearing 

debt & take on 
additional borrowings.
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Note 14. Investment Properties

$ '000

(a) Investment Properties at Fair value

Investment Properties on Hand

Reconciliation of Annual Movement:
Opening Balance

CLOSING BALANCE - INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

(b) Valuation Basis

The basis of valuation of Investment Properties is Fair Value, being the amounts for which the properties could
be exchanged between willing parties in arms length transaction, based on current prices in an active market
for similar properties in the same location and condition and subject to similar leases.

The 2013 revaluations are based on an Independent Assessment and Valuation, performed by R F Aubin Certified
Practising Valuer.

(c) Contractual Obligations at Reporting Date

Refer to Note 12 for disclosures relating to any Capital and Service obligations that have been contracted.

(d) Leasing Arrangements

Details of leased Investment Properties are as follows;

Future Minimum Lease Payments receivable under
non-cancellable Investment Property Operating Leases
not recognised in the Financial Statements are due:
Within 1 year
Later than 1 year but less than 5 years
Later than 5 years

Total Minimum Lease Payments Receivable

(e) Investment Property Income & Expenditure - summary

Rental Income from Investment Properties:

- Minimum Lease Payments
Direct Operating Expenses on Investment Properties:

- that generated rental income

Net Revenue Contribution from Investment Properties

Total Income attributable to Investment Properties 338

(104)

3,7253,725

406

695

442

3,725

341

290

290

(116)

272

-
354

3,725

338

3,725

395

20122013Notes

Actual 

3,725

123

Actual 

-
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Note 15. Financial Risk Management

$ '000

Risk Management

Council's activities expose it to a variety of financial risks including (1) price risk, (2) credit risk, (3) liquidity risk
and (4) interest rate risk.

The Council's overall risk management program focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks
to minimise potential adverse effects on the financial performance of the Council.

Council does not engage in transactions expressed in foreign currencies and is therefore not subject to foreign
currency risk.

Financial risk management is carried out by Council's Finance Section under policies approved by the Council.

A comparison by category of the carrying amounts and fair values of Council's Financial Assets & Financial
Liabilities recognised in the financial statements is presented below.

Financial Assets
Cash and Cash Equivalents
Investments
 - "Held for Trading"
Receivables

Total Financial Assets

Financial Liabilities
Payables
Loans / Advances
Lease Liabilities

Total Financial Liabilities

Fair Value is determined as follows:

- Cash & Cash Equivalents, Receivables, Payables - are estimated to be the carrying value which approximates mkt value.

- Borrowings & Held to Maturity Investments - are based upon estimated future cash flows discounted by the current

  market interest rates applicable to assets & liabilities with similar risk profiles, unless quoted market prices are available.

- Financial Assets classified (i) "at fair value through profit & loss" or (ii) Available for Sale - are based upon quoted

  market prices (in active markets for identical investments) at the reporting date or independent valuation.

2013

7,189

142,116

Fair Value            

25,320

21,067
34,568

39,985

140-

2012

21,067

140

39,985

17,743

55,635

142,116

7,294

-

17,743

7,189

108,438

23,340

55,635

16,505 34,568 16,505

23,340

108,438

25,320
7,294

83,506

2013

Carrying Value     

109,50299,502

2012

83,506
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Note 15. Financial Risk Management (continued)

$ '000

(a) Fair Value Measurements

The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities must be estimated in accordance with Accounting
Standards for either recognition and measurement requirements or for disclosure purposes.

AASB 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures, requires the disclosure of how fair valuations have been arrived at
for all financial assets and financial liabilities that have been measured at fair value.

Arriving at fair values for financial assets & liabilities can be broken up into 3 distinct measurement hierarchies:

Level 1: Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities
Level 2: Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability,

either directly (as prices) or indirectly (derived from prices) 
Level 3: Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs)

The following table presents the financial assets and financial liabilities that have been measured & recognised
at fair values: 

2013
Financial Assets
Investments
- "Held for Trading"
Total Financial Assets

Financial Liabilities
- Loans / Advances
Total Financial Liabilities

2012
Financial Assets
Investments
- "Held for Trading"
Total Financial Assets

Financial Liabilities
- Other (enter details here)
Total Financial Liabilities

34,568

16,505

4,042

-

- -

Level 3

7,189-

-

Total

Total

7,189

34,568

7,294

3,215

16,505
16,505

4,079
4,079

3,215

34,568

Level 2Level 1

Level 1

-4,042

16,505

Level 2

3,147

34,568

3,147

-

-

-

7,294

Level 3

--

-
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Note 15. Financial Risk Management (continued)

$ '000

(b) Cash & Cash Equivalents, Financial assets 'at fair value through the profit & Loss'
     "Available-for-sale" financial assets & "Held-to-maturity" Investments

Council's objective is to maximise its return on cash & investments whilst maintaining an adequate level of
liquidity and preserving capital.

Council's Finance area manages the Cash & Investments portfolio with the assistance of independent advisors.
Council seeks advice from its independent advisors before placing any funds in Cash Equivalents & Investments.

Council has an Investment Policy which complies with the Local Government Act & Minister's Investment Order.
This Policy is regularly reviewed by Council and it's staff and an Investment Report is tabled before Council on
a monthly basis setting out the portfolio breakup and its performance.

The major risk associated with Investments is price risk - the risk that the capital value of Investments may
fluctuate due to changes in market prices, whether there changes are caused by factors specific to individual
financial instruments or their issuers or are caused by factors affecting similar instruments traded in a market.

The investment types primarily affected by price risk at balance date are Council's FRN, MBS and T-Corp
holdings. Council views market adjustments made to these securities as the result of the global credit crisis 
which has highlighted the lack of liquidity in the market. This subsequently led to rating downgrades to some of 
these assets.

Cash & Investments are also subject to interest rate risk - the risk that movements in interest rates could affect
returns and income. Council manages interest rate risk by investing in a range of short term fixed rate and longer
term variable rate deposits. Interest rate risk is minimised as the short term fixed deposits allow for regular
reinvestment in line with interest rate movements whilst the variable deposits reset on a quarterly basis in line
with published interest rates.

A further risk associated with Cash & Investments is credit risk - the risk that the investment counterparty) will
not complete their obligations particular to a financial instrument, resulting in a financial loss to Council - be it
of a capital or income nature. Credit risk is managed by ensuring all deposits are with highly rated institutions,
diversifying the portfolio and using advice provided by Council's investment advisors prior to placing funds.

The following represents a summary of the sensitivity of Council's Income Statement and Accumulated Surplus
(for the reporting period) due to a change in either the price of a financial asset or the interest rates applicable.

It is assumed that the change in interest rates would have been constant throughout the reporting period. 

2013

Possible impact of a 10% movement in Market Values

Possible impact of a 1% movement in Interest Rates

2012

Possible impact of a 10% movement in Market Values

Possible impact of a 1% movement in Interest Rates

1,095

Equity 

1,095

719

(729)

Increase of Values/Rates

(729)

(835)835 (835)835
(719)

(1,095)(1,095)
729

Decrease of Values/Rates

Profit Equity 

719 (719)

Profit 

729
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Note 15. Financial Risk Management (continued)

$ '000

(c) Receivables

Council's major receivables comprise (i) Rates & Annual charges and (ii) User Charges & Fees.

The major risk associated with these receivables is credit risk - the risk that debts due and payable to Council
may not be repaid in full.

Council manages this risk by monitoring outstanding debt and employing stringent debt recovery procedures.
The level of outstanding receivables is monitored against benchmarks set for acceptable collection performance.
It also encourages ratepayers to pay their rates by the due date through incentives.

Credit risk on rates and annual charges is minimised by the ability of Council to secure a charge over the land
relating to the debts - that is, the land can be sold to recover the debt. Council is also able to charge interest
on overdue rates & annual charges at higher than market rates which further encourages the payment of debt.

Council makes suitable provision for doubtful receivables as required and carries out credit checks on most
non-rate debtors.

There are no material receivables that have been subjected to a re-negotiation of repayment terms.

A profile of Council's receivables credit risk at balance date follows:

(i) Ageing of Receivables
Current (not yet overdue)
Overdue

(ii) Movement in Provision for Impairment
     of Receivables
Balance at the beginning of the year
+ new provisions recognised during the year
- previous impairment losses reversed
Balance at the end of the year

-

2013

2012

100%

144

Annual 

Charges Receivables 

Other 

Charges 

0%
24%

100%
100%

Rates & 

Annual 

2012

Other 

Receivables 

76% 57%

334

100%

207

2013

351
-

2013

(17)

100%

2012

100%
43%

0%

Rates & 

351
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Note 15. Financial Risk Management (continued)

$ '000

(d) Payables & Borrowings

Payables & Borrowings are both subject to liquidity risk - the risk that insufficient funds may be on hand to meet
payment obligations as and when they fall due.

Council manages this risk by monitoring its cash flow requirements and liquidity levels and maintaining an
adequate cash buffer.

Payment terms can (in extenuating circumstances) also be extended & overdraft facilities utilised as required.

The contractual undiscounted cash outflows (ie. principal and interest) of Council's Payables & Borrowings are
set out in the Liquidity Table below:

$ '000

Trade/Other Payables

Loans & Advances

Total Financial Liabilities

Trade/Other Payables

Loans & Advances

Lease Liabilities

Total Financial Liabilities

Borrowings are also subject to interest rate risk - the risk that movements in interest rates could adversely
affect funding costs & debt servicing requirements. Council manages this risk through the diversification of
borrowing types, maturities & interest rate structures.

The following interest rates were applicable
to Council's Borrowings at balance date:

Trade/Other Payables
Loans & Advances - Fixed Interest Rate
Lease Liabilities

Value

-           

Interest Rate

Carrying

34,568

55,635
-

1.5%

-           

22,640  2,760 2,760

2013

2,760 2,760

-           

8,840

Interest Rate

2,760

Value

Average

-           -           

Average

23,340  

8,840

0.0%

-           

17,175  

Carrying

46,120  

-           140      

2,760

0.0%23,34021,067

16,505  

23,340  

39,985  

17,175  

-           

2012

140

55,635  

1,487 24,753  

-           

2,760

140      

-           

-           

2,7602,760-           

-           21,853  

5,435

4-5 Yrs

1,487

5,5752,063 5,5755,435

34,568  

ActualTotal

2,063

65,698  

5,4355,435

-           

2013

1-2 Yrs

Subject

maturity 2-3 Yrs Values3-4 Yrs Outflows

2012

5,575 5,575

-           19,005  

44,630  

to no

-           

5,435

24,440  

-           

21,067  21,068  

CarryingCashpayable in:

> 5 Yrs

0.0%

-           

0.0%16,505

39,985
6.4%140
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Note 16. Material Budget Variations

$ '000

Council's Original Financial Budget for 12/13 was adopted by the Council on 25 December 2012.

While the Income Statement included in this General Purpose Financial Report must disclose the Original
Budget adopted by Council, the Local Government Act requires Council to review its Financial Budget on a
Quarterly Basis, so that it is able to manage the various variations between actuals versus budget that
invariably occur throughout the year.

This Note sets out the details of MATERIAL VARIATIONS between Council's Original Budget and its Actual
results for the year as per the Income Statement - even though such variations may have been adjusted for
during each Quarterly Budget Review.

Note that for Variations* of Budget to Actual :

Material Variations represent those variances that amount to 10% or more of the original budgeted figure.
F = Favourable Budget Variation, U = Unfavourable Budget Variation

$ '000

REVENUES
Rates & Annual Charges

User Charges & Fees

Interest & Investment Revenue
Additional external funds received and not fully expended, along with timing of capital works program and earlier loan 

drawdowns have contributed to increased levels of cash holdings. External funds included the receipt of $6M

under the Building Better Regional Cities  in June 2012  that was not included in the original cash holdings projections. 

In addition Council's original budget was premised on a multi year staged drawdown of loan funding under  the Local 

Infrastructure Renewal Scheme  that was subsequently accelerated to meet the requirements of this program.

Other Revenues
During the year a long standing legal action against Lawcover relating to a drafting error of a lease agreement by

Council's solicitor was settled and an amount of $2M was awarded as compensation to Council. In previous year 

financial reports this matter was recognised in Note 18 as an unvalued contingent asset.  Improved penalty

income and various other minor additional revenues have further contributed to the favourable variance.

Operating Grants & Contributions
This variation is predominantly the early payment of the first two instalments of the 2013/14 Financial Assistance

 Grant ($8.7M) and additional grants received compared to original budget.

Capital Grants & Contributions
Recognition of the value of contributed roads and drainage assets from sub divisions of $26M along with timing of  

grants and developer contributions have impacted on this variation. The second instalment of Regional Development 

Australia Fund grant for the Mall upgrade ($1.7M) was budgeted to be received in the next financial year with the 

earlier project.  The impact of this was partially offset  by a delay in receipt of Section 94 developer contributions for

West Dapto ($1M). 

2013 2013

Budget

39,042

5,4313,499

8,192

12,322

19,413

148,777

29,107

148,944

29,818

10,864

29,899

F

2,672

2013

F

F

(0%)(167)

9,694

33% F

1,932

26,720

0%

U

217%

55%

Actual

F

81

50%

---------- Variance* ----------
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Note 16. Material Budget Variations (continued)

$ '000

EXPENSES
Employee Benefits & On-Costs

Borrowing Costs

Materials & Contracts
This positive variation is largely the result of timing of expenditure and changes in the nature of resources used to

complete projects and activities. The principle variation areas are:

Operational savings target notionally budgeted in other expenses, however, achieved on materials and contracts $3M

Use of additional labour and overtime to complete projects and programs in place of external contracts $1M

Externally funded projects in progress and to be completed in future periods $0.9M 

IT projects in progress at end of year  and maintenance and support agreements $1.1M

Insurance claims excess payments $0.4M

Various other operational savings.

Depreciation & Amortisation

Impairment Expenses
This is due to the recognition of the impairment of Mt Keira Rd.

Other Expenses
The unfavourable variation is due to:

Original budget included a saving target that was notionally budgeted as other expenses but was achieved on 

materials and contracts $3.0M.

Electricity, street lighting and insurance greater then originally expected $0.7M and other minor variances.

Offset by a reduction in contribution to RFS and Fire Brigade $0.3M.

Net Losses from Disposal of Assets
This unfavourable variance is mainly due to the write off of residual values on assets that were replaced during the

year.

$ '000

Budget Variations relating to Council's Cash Flow Statement include:

Cash Flows from Operating Activities

Cash Flows from Investing Activities

Cash Flows from Financing Activities

91,043

Actual

2013

51,400

3,286

Budget

3,367

89,973

43,139

2013

62,059

0%

F

2013

61,240

U

55,176 65,409

Budget Actual

2013

(1,287)

U(66,095)

17,969

990

34,135

-

- (990)

4,311 0%(4,311)

U30,952

#######

0.3%

16,682

(65,930) (165)

U

---------- Variance* ----------

(3,183)

18.5%10,233 F

U

(10%)

1%819

---------- Variance* ----------

(1%)

(81) U

8,261

F

(1,070)

F

(2%)

16%

20132013
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Note 17. Statement of Developer Contributions

$ '000

Council recovers contributions, raises levies & enters into planning agreements on development works that are subject to a development consent issued by Council.

All contributions must be spent/utilised for the specific purpose they were levied and any interest applicable to unspent funds must be attributed to remaining funds.

The following tables detail the receipt, interest and use of the above contributions & levies and the value of all remaining funds which are "restricted" in their future use.

SUMMARY OF CONTRIBUTIONS & LEVIES

Drainage

Roads

Open Space

Community Facilities

Administration

Public Transport

-                                                                                      

Funding

still

InternalOver or

outstanding

Restricted

Asset

CumulativeProjections

due/(payable)

Future Borrowings(under)

income

304

Exp

-

9,897

11,758

- 140

-

Held as

6,868

1,131

1,359

11,758

1,861

-

-

95

-

-

(to)/from

F
inancial S

tatem
ents 2013

-

page 68

7,359

-

Total Contributions

-

(3,282)

(3,217)

4

(65)

(3,282) -

Internal

-

52

earned during

-

received during the Year Borrowing

-

S94A Levies - under a Plan

5 -

Year

Expenditure

Total S94 Revenue Under Plans

S94 Contributions - under a Plan

Interest

PURPOSE Opening

Balance

-

209 1,098

286

Non Cash

2,592

43

23 68 -

249

400

41

Contributions

in Year

-817

-

2,254

-

7,179

2,384

34 101 -

-

4,587

502

4,393

7,179

-

273

Cash

(65)

-

7,359

4,975

-

12

502

102
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Note 17. Statement of Developer Contributions (continued)

$ '000

S94 CONTRIBUTIONS - UNDER A PLAN

CONTRIBUTION PLAN - WEST DAPTO

Drainage

Roads

Open Space

Community Facilities

Administration

Public Transport

Figures provided at left relate to the West Dapto 
S94 Plan. This Plan was adopted in 2010 and 

resulted in the Horsley S94 Plan being repealed 
and all remaining balances being absorbed into 

the West Dapto Plan.

(under)

Over or Internal

Borrowings

outstanding Funding due/(payable)

Cumulative

F
inancial S

tatem
ents 2013

Projections

-

68 -

Asset

Restricted

4

Held as

-

-

Expenditure

-

1,131

Borrowing

-

earned

(65)

during

Year (to)/from

Internal

41

in Year

still

Exp

-

-

6,869

95

140

-

401

2,254 287

-

page 69

Total

PURPOSE

4,393

Opening

(65) 9,898

-

304

-

52

12

- 5 -

1,359

-

- -249 -

4,975

1,098

Contributions

273

43

Non Cash

23

Cash

34 101

209

817

-

4,587

Balance

Interest

received during the Year Future

income
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Note 17. Statement of Developer Contributions (continued)

$ '000

S94A LEVIES - UNDER A PLAN

CONTRIBUTION PLAN NUMBER - WOLLONGONG

City Wide

City Centre

Figures provided at left include amounts collected 
under the Section 94A Plan as well as contributions 

received from relevant development consents 
approved prior to 2006 that contained conditions for 

contributions to be made under now repealed Section 
94 plans. These  are now transferred and applied 
towards items within the Section 94A Plan works 

schedule as the Section 94A is the replacement for 
the plans repealed in June 2006.

due/(payable)

Cumulative

still

(to)/from

Internal

outstanding

Borrowings

Asset

Restricted

Funding

Exp

(5,640)

Held asInternal

income

(under)

Over or

Total

Balance

-

76

2,516

PURPOSE

2,384

7,410

page 70

F
inancial S
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ents 2013

1,861

-

102 (3,217)- -

(256)

358 (2,783)

-

7,501

Projections

FutureBorrowingduring

Cash

earned

(434)

Year

Expenditure

-

in Year

Contributions Interest

2,592

Non Cash

(5,026)

received during the YearOpening
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Note 18. Contingencies & Other Assets/Liabilities Not Recognised

$ '000

The following assets and liabilities do not qualify for 3. S94 Plans (continued)
recognition in the Balance Sheet, but their knowledge
& disclosure is considered relevant to the users of future years or where a shortfall exists by the use of
Council's Financial Report. Council's General Funds.

LIABILITIES NOT RECOGNISED: These future expenses do not yet qualify as liabilities
as of the Reporting Date, but represent Councils

1. Bank Guarantees intention to spend funds in the manner and timing
set out in those Plans.

Council has provided security to Work Cover for
outstanding workers compensation claims liability in 4.  Defined Benefit Superannuation
the form of  a bank guarantee to the sum of      Contribution Plans
$7,711,000.

Council participates in an employer sponsored
In addition to the above, Council has provided Defined Benefit Superannuation Scheme, and makes
Bank Guarantees totalling $461,662 as security over contributions as determined by the Superannuation
damages for work that may impact a third party. Scheme's Trustees.

Council is also Guarantor on a mortgage for a Member Councils bear responsibility of ensuring
third party up to $250,000. there are sufficient funds available to pay out the

required benefits as they fall due.
2. Third Party Claims

The Schemes most recent full actuarial review
The Council is involved from time to time in various indicated that the Net Assets of the Scheme were
claims incidental to the ordinary course of business not sufficient to meet the accrued benefits of the
including claims for damages relating to its services. Schemes Defined Benefit member category with

member Councils required to make significantly
Council believes that it is appropriately covered higher contributions from 2009/10 & beyond. These 
for all claims through its Insurance Coverage and contributions amounted to $2.81M in 2010/11,
does not expect any material liabilities to eventuate. $1.76M in 2011/12 and $1.76M in 2012/13.

3. S94 Plans The Local Government Superannuation Scheme
however is unable to provide Council with an

Council levies Section 94/94A Contributions upon accurate estimate of its share of the net deficit and
various development across the Council area through accordingly Council has not recorded any net liability
the required Contributions Plans. As part of these from its Defined Benefit Scheme obligations in
Plans, Council has received funds for which it will be accordance with AASB 119.
required to expend the monies in accordance with 
those Plans. Future contributions made to the defined benefit

scheme to rectify the net deficit position will be
As well, these Plans indicate proposed future recognised as an expense when they become
expenditure to be undertaken by Council, which will payable - similar to the accounting for Defined
be funded by making levies and receipting funds in Contributions Plans.
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Note 18. Contingencies & Other Assets/Liabilities Not Recognised (continued)

$ '000

ASSETS NOT RECOGNISED:

1. Liability Insurance - Independent Insurance 
    Company

Council placed its liability insurance with Independent
Insurance Company of London (Independent) in 1996.
During 2000/2001 Independent was placed in 
liquidation. Independent remains responsible for 
payment of their portion of each Council claim 
incurred which exceeded Council's insurance excess.
The total of Council's unrecovered liability claims is
currently estimated at $2,785,947. At this time 
the liquidator is unable to determine how much
of Council's claims will be recovered from the
remaining assets of Independent.

2. Property Insurance - HIH

Council placed its property insurance with HIH. During
2000/2001 HIH went into liquidation. HIH remains 
responsible for payment of their portion of each 
Council claim incurred which exceeded Council's
insurance excess. The total of Council's unrecovered 
property damage claims is currently $689,193. At this
time the liquidator is unable to determine how much of 
Council's claims will be recovered from the remaining 
assets of HIH.

3. Land Under Roads

As permitted under AASB 1051, Council has elected
not to bring to account Land Under Roads that it
owned or controlled up to & including 30/6/08.
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Note 19. Controlled Entities, Associated Entities & Interests in Joint Ventures

$ '000

Council's objectives can and in some cases are best met through the use of separate entities & operations.

These operations and entities range from 100% ownership and control through to lower levels of ownership
and control via co-operative arrangements with other Councils, Bodies and other Outside Organisations.

The accounting and reporting for these various entities, operations and arrangements varies in accordance
with accounting standards, depending on the level of Councils (i) interest and (ii) control and the type (form) of
entity/operation, as follows;

Subsidiaries Note 19(a)
Operational Arrangements where Councils Control (but not necessarily Interest) exceeds 50%

Associated Entities & Joint Venture Entities Note 19(b) (i)&(ii)

Arrangements in the form of a Separate Entity that deploys the resources of the operation itself.

Under Associated Entities, Council significantly influences the operations (but does not control

them, whilst for JV Entities, Council Jointly Controls the Operations with other parties.

Joint Venture Operations Note 19(c)
Arrangements that do not comprise an actual individual entity which can deploy the resources

of the individual participants. Under JV Operations, Council Jointly Controls the operations with

the Other Parties involved.

Subsidiaries, Associated Entities and Joint Ventures Not Recognised Note 19(d)

Accounting Recognition:

(i) Subsidiaries disclosed under Note 19(a), and Joint Venture Operations disclosed at Note 19(c), are accounted

     for on a Line by Line Consolidation basis within the Income Statement and Statement of Financial Position.

(ii) Associated Entities and Joint Venture Entities as per Notes 19(b)(i) & (ii) are accounted for using the Equity

Accounting Method - and are disclosed as a 1 line entry in both the Income Statement and Statement of

Financial Position.

Associated Entities
Joint Venture Entities

Total 298 983

2012 2013

244

2013

298 983

Actual Actual

244

--

739

739

Council's Share of Net Income  

-

Actual

Council's Share of Net Assets  

2012

-

Actual
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Note 19. Controlled Entities, Associated Entities & Interests in Joint Ventures

$ '000

(a) Subsidiaries (ie. Entities & Operations controlled by Council)

Council has no interest in any Subsidiaries.

(b) Associated Entities & Joint Venture Entities

(i) ASSOCIATED ENTITIES

Council has no interest in any Associated Entities.

(ii) JOINT VENTURE ENTITIES

(a) Carrying Amounts

Name of Entity

Total Carrying Amounts - Joint Venture Entities

(b) Relevant Interests

Name of Entity

(c) Movement in Carrying Amounts

Opening Balance
Share in Operating Result
New Capital Contributions

Council's Equity Share in the Joint Venture Entity

2013

1%

150

739

228

Proportion ofInterest in

OwnershipOutputs

Insurance 833

983

833

511
322 392

511

13% 11%

Voting Power

20122013

2013

2012

511

Principal Activity

13%

1% 1%

2013 2012

Westpool Insurance
2013

1% 1%

11%

United Independent Pools (UIP)

172
2013

150

(94)
228
(78)

13%

Westpool

- 150

United Independent Pools (UIP) 11%

Westpool

2012

Interest in

1%

2012

119
2012

--

228

United Independent Pools 
(UIP)
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Note 19. Controlled Entities, Associated Entities & Interests in Joint Ventures

$ '000

(b) Associated Entities & Joint Venture Entities (continued)

(d) Share of Joint Ventures Assets & Liabilities

(e) Share of Joint Ventures Revenues, Expenses & Results

(c) Joint Venture Operations

Council has no interest in any Joint Venture Operations.

(d) Subsidiaries, Associated Entities & Joint Venture Operations Not Recognised

All Subsidiaries, Associated Entities & Joint Ventures have been recognised in this Financial Report as required.

983

833

375

-

Liabilities

127

Non CurrentCurrent

185

-

406

956

2012

739- 214

2012

144

Assets

Current

1,225

22829-444

915

Westpool

Totals

United Independent Pools (UIP)

164

20

1,359

1,297 322

511219

(94)1,158

Expenses ResultRevenues

975

Net Assets

150297

Non Current

-

248

2013

Totals

Westpool
United Independent Pools (UIP)

1,522

Westpool
Result

1,537 1,615

United Independent Pools (UIP)

Revenues

187

244Totals 2,834 2,590 2,208

(78)

Expenses

2013

2,506 298

3921,348

1,252

-
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Note 20. Equity - Retained Earnings and Revaluation Reserves

$ '000

(a) Retained Earnings

Movements in Retained Earnings were as follows:
Balance at beginning of Year (from previous years audited accounts)

a. Correction of Prior Period Errors

b. Net Operating Result for the Year

c. Transfers between Equity (1)

Balance at End of the Reporting Period

(1) On disposal of assets which are revalued in prior years, the balance in the Asset Revaluation 

      Reserve relating to those assets is transferred to Retained Earnings.

(b) Reserves

(i) Reserves are represented by:

- Infrastructure, Property, Plant & Equipment Revaluation Reserve
Total

(ii) Reconciliation of movements in Reserves:

Infrastructure, Property, Plant & Equipment Revaluation Reserve
- Opening Balance
- Revaluations for the year
- Transfer to Retained Earnings for Asset disposals
- Correction of Prior Period Errors (revaluation error - 2012)

- Balance at End of Year

(iii) Nature & Purpose of Reserves

Infrastructure, Property, Plant & Equipment Revaluation Reserve

The Infrastructure, Property, Plant & Equipment Revaluation Reserve is used to record
increments/decrements of Non Current Asset values due to their revaluation.

1,226,812

2,193

1,163,160

43,128

-

1,223,205

(8,077)

35,313

2012

8,077
1,103,844

Notes

(2,193)
25,139

-

1,226,812  

1,223,205
9(a)

20 (c)

1,054,489

1,414

Actual 

1,188,154

1,223,205

36,370

Actual 

2013

1,226,812
1,223,205  

5,965

1,103,844
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Note 20. Equity - Retained Earnings and Revaluation Reserves (continued)

$ '000

(c) Correction of Error/s relating to a Previous Reporting Period

Correction of errors disclosed in this year's financial statements:

Council had not previously reassessed the useful life of its other
structures and other assets and, as a result, was found to have
understated their depreciation.

It was also found that land, buildings and transport assets that Council
owned had not been previously recognised and transport assets that
had been recognised was disposed of in previous years. A revaluation
exercise during the year and an adjustment has been made against the
current balances of IPPE and Retained Earnings because it was found
to be impractical to restate the prior year comparatives.

Details of the amounts and the financial statement lines affected
are outlined below:

- Depreciation Adjustment as a result of an assessment of useful lives
- Land not recognised in previous years
- Artworks not recognised in previous years
- Buildings not recognised in previous years
- Transport not recognised in previous years
- Stormwater not recognised in previous years
- Transport disposed of in previous years but still recorded
- Buildings disposed of in previous years but still recorded
- Stormwater disposed of in previous years

In accordance with AASB 108 - Accounting Policies, Changes in
Accounting Estimates and Errors, the above Prior Period Errors
have been recognised retrospectively.

These amounted to the following Equity Adjustments:

- Adjustments for the 30/06/12 reporting year end

- Adjustments for the 30/06/13 reporting year end

Total Prior Period Adjustments - Prior Period Errors

(d) Voluntary Changes in Accounting Policies

     Council made no voluntary changes in any accounting policies during the year.

35,313

Notes

Actual Actual 

2013

(56)

260

30,874

(17)
4,334

885

-

(69)
2,625
2,779

1,137
95 -

(5)

- 35,313

(112)

9,824

19,129

2012

36,370 -

(112)

36,370
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Note 21. Financial Result & Financial Position by Fund

$ '000

Council utilises only a General Fund for its operations.

Note 22. "Held for Sale" Non Current Assets & Disposal Groups

Council did not classify any Non Current Assets or Disposal Groups as "Held for Sale".

Note 23. Events occurring after the Reporting Period

Events that occur between the end of the reporting period (ending 30 June 2013) and the date when the
financial statements are "authorised for issue" have been taken into account in preparing these statements.

Council has adopted the date of receipt of the Auditors' Report as the applicable "authorised for issue" date
relating to these General Purpose Financial Statements.

Accordingly, the "authorised for issue" date is 15/10/13.

Events that occur after the Reporting Period represent one of two types:

(i) Events that provide evidence of conditions that existed at the Reporting Period

These financial statements (and the figures therein) incorporate all "adjusting events" that provided evidence of
conditions that existed at 30 June 2013.

(ii) Events that provide evidence of conditions that arose after the Reporting Period

These financial statements (& figures therein) do not incorporate any "non-adjusting events" that have occurred
after 30 June 2013 and which are only indicative of conditions that arose after 30 June 2013.

Council is unaware of any material or significant "non-adjusting events" that should be disclosed.
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Note 24. Discontinued Operations

$ '000

Council has not classified any of its Operations as "Discontinued".

Note 25. Intangible Assets

Intangible Assets represent identifiable non-monetary asset without physical substance.

Intangible Assets are as follows;

Opening Values:
Gross Book Value (1/7/12)

Accumulated Amortisation (1/7/12)

Accumulated Impairment (1/7/12)

Net Book Value - Opening Balance

Movements for the year
- Purchases

- Amortisation charges

- Gross Book Value written off
- Accumulated Amortisation charges written off

Closing Values:
Gross Book Value (30/6/13)

Accumulated Amortisation (30/6/13)

Accumulated Impairment (30/6/13)

TOTAL INTANGIBLE ASSETS - NET BOOK VALUE 1

1. The Net Book Value of Intangible Assets represent:

- Software

Actual 

-

887

(782)

634

2012

(801)

(1,035)

597

Amount 

(253)

Amount 

1,669

93

(1,035)
1,6691,165

-

1,669

-

Carrying 

Actual 

634

634

364

364
364

634

(363)

(597)

2013

-

- -

Carrying 
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Note 26. Reinstatement, Rehabilitation & Restoration Liabilities

$ '000

Council has legal/public obligations to make restore, rehabilitate and reinstate the following assets/operations:

Asset/Operation

Waste Facility Remediation - Whytes Gully

Balance at End of the Reporting Period

Under AASB 116 - Property, Plant & Equipment, where the use of an asset results in the obligation to dismantle
or remove the asset and restore the site on which the asset stands, an estimate of such costs is required to be
included in the cost of the asset.

An equivalent liability must be recognised under AASB 137 - Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent
Assets.

The provision has been calculated by determining the present value of the future expenditures expected to be
incurred. The discount rate used is the risk free borrowing rate applicable to Council.

Reconciliation of movement in Provision for year:

Balance at beginning of year
Amounts capitalised to new or existing assets:
- Effect of a change in other calculation estimates used - Helensburgh Waste Facility

- Effect of a change in other calculation estimates used - Whytes Gully Waste Facility

Amortisation of discount (expensed to borrowing costs)

Expenditure incurred attributable to Provisions
Total - Reinstatement, rehabilitation and restoration provision

Amount of Expected Reimbursements
Of the above Provisions for Reinstatement, Rehabilitation and Restoration works, those applicable to Garbage
Services & Waste Management are able to be funded through future charges incorporated within Council's
Annual Domestic Waste Management Charge.

(204)-

37,570

35,799

37,570 35,799
(19) -

1,8711,790

35,799

- 112

34,020

10(a) 37,570
35,799

2013

Estimated

2012restoration

year of NPV of Provision       

2054
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Note 27. Council Information & Contact Details

Principal Place of Business:
41 Burelli Street
Wollongong NSW 2500

Contact Details
Mailing Address: Opening Hours:
Locked Bag 8821 Administration Building: 8:30am - 5:00pm
Wollongong NSW 2500

Telephone: (02) 4227 7111 Internet: www.wollongong.nsw.gov.au
Facsimile: (02) 4227 7277 Email: council@wollongong.nsw.gov.au

Officers Elected Members
GENERAL MANAGER MAYOR
David Farmer Gordon Bradberry

RESPONSIBLE ACCOUNTING OFFICER COUNCILLORS
Brian Jenkins Leigh Colacino

Janice Kershaw
PUBLIC OFFICER Jill Merrin
Lyn Kofod Greg Petty

Michelle Blicavs
AUDITORS David Brown
Hill Rogers Spencer Steer John Dorahy

George Takacs
Chris Conner
Bede Crasnich
Vicki Curran
Ann Martin

Other Information
ABN: 63 139 525 939
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Wollongong City Council

Special Purpose Financial Statements
 for the financial year ended 30 June 2013

Contents

1. Statement by Councillors & Management

2. Special Purpose Financial Statements:

Income Statement - Water Supply Business Activity
Income Statement - Sewerage Business Activity
Income Statement - Other Business Activities

Statement of Financial Position - Water Supply Business Activity
Statement of Financial Position - Sewerage Business Activity
Statement of Financial Position - Other Business Activities

3. Notes to the Special Purpose Financial Statements

4. Auditor's Report

Background

These Special Purpose Financial Statements have been prepared for the use by both Council and the Division of
Local Government in fulfilling their requirements under National Competition Policy.

The principle of competitive neutrality is based on the concept of a "level playing field" between persons/entities
competing in a market place, particularly between private and public sector competitors.

Essentially, the principle is that government businesses, whether Commonwealth, State or Local, should operate
without net competitive advantages over other businesses as a result of their public ownership.

For Council, the principle of competitive neutrality & public reporting applies only to declared business activities.

These include (a) those activities classified by the Australian Bureau of Statistics as business activities being
water supply, sewerage services, abattoirs, gas production and reticulation and (b) those activities with a turnover
of over $2 million that Council has formally declared as a Business Activity (defined as Category 1 activities).

In preparing these financial statements for Council's self classified Category 1 businesses and ABS defined
activities, councils must (a) adopt a corporatisation model and (b) apply full cost attribution including  tax equivalent
regime payments & debt guarantee fees (where the business benefits from councils borrowing position by
comparison with commercial rates).

(iv)

7

5
n/a

(i)

(ii)

11

(iii)

n/a

Page

n/a
n/a
3

2
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Income Statement of Council's Other Business Activities
 for the financial year ended 30 June 2013

$ '000

Income from continuing operations
User charges
Fees
Interest
Grants and contributions provided for non capital purposes
Other income
Total income from continuing operations

Expenses from continuing operations
Employee benefits and on-costs
Borrowing costs
Materials and contracts
Depreciation and impairment
Loss on sale of assets
Calculated taxation equivalents
Debt guarantee fee (if applicable)
EPA Levy
Other expenses
Total expenses from continuing operations
Surplus (deficit) from Continuing Operations before capital amounts

Grants and contributions provided for capital purposes
Surplus (deficit) from Continuing Operations after capital amounts

Surplus (deficit) from discontinued operations
Surplus (deficit) from ALL Operations before tax

less: Corporate Taxation Equivalent (30%) [based on result before capital]

SURPLUS (DEFICIT) AFTER TAX

plus Opening Retained Profits (1)
plus Adjustments for amounts unpaid:
- Taxation equivalent payments
- Debt guarantee fees
- Corporate taxation equivalent
add:
- Subsidy Paid/Contribution To Operations
Closing Retained Profits

Return on Capital %
Subsidy from Council

(1) income not previously included in these statements. This relates to notional income for the processing and 
disposal of non commercial waste collected through Council's DWM arrangements. While income was 
collected through Council's rates and charges to cover this cost it was not applied to the SPFR's during the 
period 2000 - 2009. On the other side, the cost of processing the Domestic Waste was included during this
time which negatively impacted the income result during the period.

Category 1 Category 1

-1.3%

11,388  

-4.9%
589

11,301  

1,222

(692)
--

-
--

779

(177)

327
-
--

--

630

10,84811,30125,134

(692)

1,307

4,357

-
4,357

4,357
-

24,228

428
-

25,851  

3,050

(1,307)

21,494  
-

-

-

(1,233)

-
(1,233)

(1,233)
-

16,134  11,481  

762

(177)

2,232

-

-

819

219

-

3,263

(1,233)

428 327
-

-1,8711,790

545
-

-

1,472 789
873

22,360  
2,300

21,127  

- -

2013

Actual 

2012

Actual Actual 

20122013

-

133

--
7276

5,022

-

-

24,361  
-
-
-

1,490

1,354

1,243

5,029

-

1,646

13.5%

Waste Disposal Tourist Parks

29,013  
-

713

24,228  

-
1.4%

4,953

-

(692) (177)

779 630
--

2,286

20,908  
-
-

-

Actual 

4,950

-

5,199
756861

(177)

5,721

-

(692)
-
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Wollongong City Council

Income Statement of Council's Other Business Activities
 for the financial year ended 30 June 2013

$ '000

Income from continuing operations
Access charges
User charges
Fees
Interest
Grants and contributions provided for non capital purposes
Profit from the sale of assets
Other income
Total income from continuing operations

Expenses from continuing operations
Employee benefits and on-costs
Borrowing costs
Materials and contracts
Depreciation and impairment
Loss on sale of assets
Calculated taxation equivalents
Debt guarantee fee (if applicable)
Other expenses
Total expenses from continuing operations
Surplus (deficit) from Continuing Operations before capital amounts

Grants and contributions provided for capital purposes
Surplus (deficit) from Continuing Operations after capital amounts

Surplus (deficit) from discontinued operations
Surplus (deficit) from ALL Operations before tax

less: Corporate Taxation Equivalent (30%) [based on result before capital]

SURPLUS (DEFICIT) AFTER TAX

plus Opening Retained Profits
plus/less: Prior Period Adjustments
plus Adjustments for amounts unpaid:
- Taxation equivalent payments
- Debt guarantee fees
- Corporate taxation equivalent
add:
- Subsidy Paid/Contribution To Operations
less:
- TER dividend paid
- Dividend paid
Closing Retained Profits

Return on Capital %
Subsidy from Council

Category 1 Category 1

(7,390)

- -

5,468
-
-

1,579

(147)

80

5,531
- -

-

(1,101)

-

-

328

(8,163)

-

-

-

- -
- -

(1,101)

(7,390)

(1,187)
3,485 3,516

-
861

332

(1,101)

896

(1,187)

-

16

-

1,464
-

2,032

-

- -
84

-

-
245

- -
324

-

1,556

-
32

2,009

2,246

-

2,329

-

-
29

292

-

328

-

2,384

278

-

-
-
-

2,371

2012

Actual Actual 

-
2,246

2013

-

Crematorium & 
Cemeteries

-

-
2,300

2012

-

Actual 

2,352

Health & Fitness

Actual 

2013

2,371
- -

-
-

114

- -

11
-

405

-

34

(1,187)

-
(1,187)

-
(1,101)

332

- -
(6,535)

(34)-

(147)

84

5,531

- -

- -

114(147)

2,2572,393
(147) 114

-

-
9

-

11

301
-8.0% -9.2% -1.1%
1,619

-

0.8%

85

-

669

-

-

85

413

5,332

-
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Wollongong City Council

Statement of Financial Position - Council's Other Business Activities
 as at 30 June 2013

$ '000

ASSETS
Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Investments
Receivables
Inventories
Other
Non-current assets classified as held for sale
Total Current Assets

Non-Current Assets
Investments
Receivables
Inventories
Infrastructure, property, plant and equipment
Investments accounted for using equity method
Investment property
Other
Total Non-Current Assets
TOTAL ASSETS

LIABILITIES
Current Liabilities
Bank Overdraft
Payables
Interest bearing liabilities
Provisions
Total Current Liabilities

Non-Current Liabilities
Payables
Interest bearing liabilities
Provisions
Other Liabilities
Total Non-Current Liabilities
TOTAL LIABILITIES
NET ASSETS

EQUITY
Retained earnings
Revaluation reserves
Council equity interest
Non-controlling equity interest
TOTAL EQUITY

3,067

2,563

150

11,30111,388

1,982

72

2,132

570

-
-

11,30124,228

14,090

29,013

29,013
-

-

-

29,013 24,228
-

35,907

11,388
-

-

-

-

38,974

-

38,136

-

11,388

35,891

11,388

-

Waste Disposal

-

-

1,760

-

-

Category 1

-

Actual 

-
1,404

Tourist Parks

Category 1

-

2013

-

2012

29

Actual 

2012

11,301

36,376
485

2,702

24,228

35,907

24,22829,013

984

-

13,591

-

-

-

-
-

-

28

14,061

-

-

-

-

-

44,583

63,202

- - -

-

14,061
--

-

-

2,318
11,301

1,561

403

1,417
144

-
-

757

13,619

-

Actual 

498
-

-

354

-

13,591

28

-

-
1,108

44,58345,464
67,149

-

504

-

-

-

-

-
45,464

-

-

-

21,685
-

-

-
-

Actual 

2013

20,281 17,635

29

-

-
-

18,619

652

-

-
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Wollongong City Council

Statement of Financial Position - Council's Other Business Activities
 as at 30 June 2013

$ '000

ASSETS
Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Investments
Receivables
Inventories
Other
Non-current assets classified as held for sale
Total Current Assets

Non-Current Assets
Investments
Receivables
Inventories
Infrastructure, property, plant and equipment
Investments accounted for using equity method
Investment property
Other
Total Non-Current Assets
TOTAL ASSETS

LIABILITIES
Current Liabilities
Bank Overdraft
Payables
Interest bearing liabilities
Provisions
Total Current Liabilities

Non-Current Liabilities
Payables
Interest bearing liabilities
Provisions
Other Liabilities
Total Non-Current Liabilities
TOTAL LIABILITIES
NET ASSETS

EQUITY
Retained earnings
Revaluation reserves
Council equity interest
Non-controlling equity interest
TOTAL EQUITY

- - - -

5,531(7,390) 5,468(8,163)

7,622
21,934

(8,163)

8,231
8,367

(8,163) (7,390)

19,85021,543
8,51120,373

(7,390) 5,468

5,468

-
5,468(7,390)

- --
(8,163)

-

-

21,412 19,719

-
- -

-
131 131

12237

--

8,130 7,524
98

- -
101

745

- -
243 623
280523391

13,771

358 413

12,983

- -
33 110

13,734 12,928 13,852

Category 1

127

-
--

- - - -

2013

-
13,852

127

13,688

210

-
-

-

37
-

-

210

2012

13,688

-
--

-

-

-

55

55
-

-
-

- -

-
-

Category 1

Actual 

-

Actual 

2013 2012

-

Health & Fitness

13,734

-

12,928

-
-

Crematorium & Cemeteries

--
-

Actual Actual 

-

- -

- -

37

-

13,898

-

-

-

5,531

5,531
-

5,531

-

13,979

-
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Wollongong City Council

Special Purpose Financial Statements
 for the financial year ended 30 June 2013

Contents of the Notes accompanying the Financial Statements

Details

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Water Supply Business Best Practice Management disclosure requirements

Sewerage Business Best Practice Management disclosure requirements n/a3

Note Page

1

2

8

n/a
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Wollongong City Council

Notes to the Special Purpose Financial Statements
for the financial year ended 30 June 2013

Note 1. Significant Accounting Policies
 

page 8 

These financial statements are a Special Purpose 
Financial Statements (SPFS) prepared for use by 
Council and the Division of Local Government. 

For the purposes of these statements, the Council is 
not a reporting entity.

The figures presented in these special purpose 
financial statements have been prepared in 
accordance with the recognition criteria of;

applicable Australian Accounting Standards,

other authoritative pronouncements of the 
Australian Accounting Standards Board,

Australian Accounting Interpretations, 

The disclosures in these special purpose financial 
statements have been prepared in accordance with;

the Local Government Act and Regulation, and

the Local Government Code of Accounting 
Practice and Financial Reporting. 

The statements are also prepared on an accruals 
basis. They are based on historic costs and do not 
take into account changing money values or except 
where specifically stated, current values of non-
current assets.

Certain taxes and other costs appropriately 
described have been imputed for the purposes of the
National Competition Policy. 

National Competition Policy

Council has adopted the principle of ‘competitive 
neutrality’ to its business activities as part of the 
national competition policy which is being applied 
throughout Australia at all levels of government.

The framework for its application is set out in the 
June 1996 Government Policy statement on the 
“Application of National Competition Policy to Local 
Government”.

The “Pricing & Costing for Council Businesses A 
Guide to Competitive Neutrality” issued by the 
Division of Local Government in July 1997 has also 
been adopted.

The pricing & costing guidelines outline the process 
for identifying and allocating costs to activities and
provide a standard of disclosure requirements. 
These disclosures are reflected in Council’s pricing 
and/or financial reporting systems and include 
taxation equivalents; Council subsidies; return on 
investments (rate of return); and dividends paid.

Declared Business Activities

In accordance with Pricing & Costing for Council 
Businesses - A Guide to Competitive Neutrality,
Council has declared that the following are to be 
considered as business activities:

Category 1

(where gross operating turnover is over $2 million)

a. Waste Disposal
Manages the disposal of solid waste generated 
within the city.

b. Tourist Parks
Operation, management & development of tourist 
parks at Bulli, Corrimal & Windang.

c. Health & Fitness
Responsible for the management and upkeep of   
Council’s Leisure Centres.

d. Crematorium & Cemeteries
Provision of quality crematorium, cemetery &    
memorial facilities & services

Category 2

(where gross operating turnover is less than $2 million)

None

Monetary Amounts

Amounts shown in the financial statements are in 
Australian currency and rounded to the nearest one 
thousand dollars. 
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Wollongong City Council

Notes to the Special Purpose Financial Statements
for the financial year ended 30 June 2013

Note 1. Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
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(i) Taxation Equivalent Charges

Council is liable to pay various taxes and financial 
duties. Where this is the case, they are disclosed as 
a cost of operations (General Purpose Financial 
Statements) just like all other costs. However, where
Council does not pay some taxes which are 
generally paid by private sector businesses, such as
income tax, these equivalent tax payments have 
been applied to all Council nominated business
activities and are reflected in the SPFS.

For the purposes of disclosing comparative 
information relevant to the private sector equivalent 
the following taxation equivalents have been applied 
to all council nominated business activities (this does 
not include council’s non-business activities):

Notional Rate Applied %

Corporate Income Tax Rate – 30%

Land Tax – The first $406,000 of combined land 
values attracts 0%. From $406,001 to $2,482,000 the 
rate is 1.6% + $100. For the remaining combined 
land value that exceeds $2,482,000, a premium 
marginal rate of 2.0% applies.

Payroll Tax – 5.45% on the value of taxable salaries 
and wages in excess of $689,000.

Income Tax

An income tax equivalent has been applied on the 
profits of the business.

Whilst income tax is not a specific cost for the 
purpose of pricing a good or service, it needs to be 
taken into account of in terms of assessing the rate 
of return required on capital invested.

Accordingly, the return on capital invested is set at a 
pre-tax level (gain/(loss) from ordinary activities 
before capital amounts) as would be applied by a 
private sector competitor – that is, it should include a 
provision equivalent to the corporate income tax rate, 
currently 30%.

Income Tax is only applied where a positive 
gain/(loss) from ordinary activities before capital
amounts has been achieved.

Since this taxation equivalent is notional - that is, it is 
payable to the “Council” as the owner of business 
operations, it represents an internal payment and 
has no effect on the operations of the council.

Accordingly, there is no need for disclosure of
internal charges in Council's GPFR. The rate applied 
of 30% is the equivalent company tax rate prevalent 
as at balance date. No adjustments have been made 
for variations that have occurred during the year.

Local Government Rates & Charges

A calculation of the equivalent rates and charges 
payable on all Category 1 businesses has been 
applied to all land assets owned or exclusively used 
by the business activity.

Loan & Debt Guarantee Fees

The debt guarantee fee is designed to ensure that 
council business activities face “true” commercial
borrowing costs in line with private sector 
competitors. 

In order to calculate a debt guarantee fee, council 
has determined what the differential borrowing rate 
would have been between the commercial rate and 
the council’s borrowing rate for its business activities.

(ii) Subsidies

Government policy requires that subsidies provided 
to customers and the funding of those subsidies
must be explicitly disclosed.

Subsidies occur where council provides services on 
a less than cost recovery basis. This option is 
exercised on a range of services in order for council 
to meet its community service obligations. The 
overall effect of subsidies is contained within the 
Income Statement of Business Activities.
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Wollongong City Council

Notes to the Special Purpose Financial Statements
for the financial year ended 30 June 2013

Note 1. Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
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(iii) Return on Investments (Rate of Return)

The Policy statement requires that councils with 
Category 1 businesses “would be expected to
generate a return on capital funds employed that is 
comparable to rates of return for private businesses
operating in a similar field”.

Funds are subsequently available for meeting 
commitments or financing future investment 
strategies.

The Rate of Return is disclosed for each of Council’s 
business activities on the Income statement.

(iv) Dividends

Council is not required to pay dividends to either 
itself as owner of a range of businesses or to any
external entities.
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Wollongong City Council

Special Schedules
 for the financial year ended 30 June 2013

Contents

Special Schedules1

Net Cost of Services

Statement of Long Term Debt (all purposes)

Statement of Internal Loans (Sect. 410(3) LGA 1993)

Water Supply - Income Statement
Water Supply - Statement of Financial Position

Sewerage Service - Income Statement
Sewerage Service - Statement of Financial Position

- Notes to Special Schedules No. 3 & 5

Condition of Public Works

Financial Projections

1 Special Purpose Schedules are not audited.

Background

These Special Schedules have been designed to meet the requirements of special purpose users such as;

the NSW Grants Commission
the Australian Bureau of Statistics (ABS),
the NSW Office of Water,
the Department of Environment, Climate Change and Water, and
the Division of Local Government (DLG).

The financial data is collected for various uses including;

the allocation of Financial Assistance Grants,
the incorporation of Local Government financial figures in national statistics,
the monitoring of loan approvals,
the allocation of borrowing rights, and
the monitoring of the financial activities of specific services.

(ii)

- Special Schedule No. 6

7

5- Special Schedule No. 7

n/a

n/a

- Special Schedule No. 8

(i)

- Special Schedule No. 5 n/a

Page

2

4

n/a

- Special Schedule No. 1

- Special Schedule No. 2(a)
n/a

- Special Schedule No. 4

- Special Schedule No. 2(b)

- Special Schedule No. 3
n/a
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Wollongong City Council

Special Schedule No. 1 - Net Cost of Services
 for the financial year ended 30 June 2013

$'000

Governance

Administration

Public Order and Safety

Beach Control
Enforcement of Local Govt. Regulations
Animal Control
Other
Total Public Order & Safety

Health

Environment
Noxious Plants and Insect/Vermin Control
Other Environmental Protection
Solid Waste Management
Street Cleaning
Drainage
Stormwater Management
Total Environment

Community Services and Education
Administration & Education
Social Protection (Welfare)
Aged Persons and Disabled
Children's Services
Total Community Services & Education

Housing and Community Amenities
Public Cemeteries
Public Conveniences
Street Lighting
Town Planning
Other Community Amenities
Total Housing and Community Amenities

Water Supplies

Sewerage Services

Expenses from. 
Continuing. 
Operations. Non Capital.

2,051

-

-
2,069

Capital.

Income from
continuing operations

2,261

629

1,218
-

40,639

3,404

43,926

6,073

604 348

-

-

-

1,3232,312

-

13,644

4,348
1,084

-

460

-- -

-

(989)

(63)
(634)

4,408
(2,859)

(1,452)

2,779

2,247

17,674

-

44,873

4,840

6,847

2 (50)
(9,896)

- (1,059)

348

1,688

1,368
52

13,648

Function or Activity

5

Fire Service Levy, Fire Protection, 
Emergency Services

5,337

2,536

3,319
9,236

Net Cost.
of Services.

210
(5,332)
(3,888)

(9,143)

(10,322)
-

- - - -

(836)-
-

(38,026)

-

532

-

1,082

7,770

634

482
-

-

-
-

17,811

2,310

4,271
11,212

32,692

54,248
-

-

-

-

-
-

(1,331)
-

(600)

3

-

(137)

(3,422)

4,110
42

-

-

-

-

(39)

-

7,947
-

-

-
(4,855)

(4,271)

-
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Wollongong City Council

Special Schedule No. 1 - Net Cost of Services (continued)
 for the financial year ended 30 June 2013

$'000

Recreation and Culture
Public Libraries
Museums
Art Galleries
Community Centres and Halls
Performing Arts Venues
Other Performing Arts
Other Cultural Services
Sporting Grounds and Venues
Swimming Pools
Parks & Gardens (Lakes)
Other Sport and Recreation
Total Recreation and Culture

Fuel & Energy

Agriculture

Mining, Manufacturing and Construction

Building Control
OtherMining,Manufacturing&Construction
Total Mining, Manufacturing and Const.

Transport and Communication
Urban Roads (UR) - Local
Urban Roads - Regional
Sealed Rural Roads (SRR) - Local
Sealed Rural Roads (SRR) - Regional
Unsealed Rural Roads (URR) - Local
Unsealed Rural Roads (URR) - Regional
Bridges on UR - Local
Bridges on SRR - Local
Bridges on URR - Local
Bridges on Regional Roads
Parking Areas
Footpaths
Aerodromes
Other Transport & Communication
Total Transport and Communication

Economic Affairs
Camping Areas & Caravan Parks
Other Economic Affairs
Total Economic Affairs

Totals – Functions

General Purpose Revenues(2)

Share of interests - joint ventures &
associates using the equity method

NET OPERATING RESULT (1)

(1) As reported in the Income Statement (2) Includes: Rates & Annual Charges (incl. Ex Gratia, excl. Water & Sewer), Non Capital General Purpose Grants,

      Interest on Investments (excl. Ext. Restricted Assets) & Interest on overdue Rates & Annual Charges

Income from
continuing operations

147
--

481

807

163

238,225

-

37,651 5,149

10,636
5,690

237,338

9,731

5,0314,946

139,969

238,225

4,700

244

97,125

-
-

26,025

-

1,246

-

806
-

-

-
-

1,614

-
-

5,513 -

-

-

- -

25,530

Function or Activity

-

-

-

25,530

-

- -

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-
-

-

14749,900
3,043 2,385

5,417

--

-

-

-

- -
- -

1,938

-

Non Capital.

2,719

Expenses from. 
Continuing. 
Operations.

19,171

1,092
5,989

597

463

15
-

-
-

-
-

30,524 3,097

-

-

567

-

(4,707)

(5,508)

-
(582)

(2,719)

(44,336)

-536

-

Capital.

-

-

-

-

-
--

26,025

-
-
-
-

25,138

244

(115,075)

(905)

85

(6,972)
-

(990)

-

(368)

-

-

-

139,969

10,007
-

-

(9,200)
-

5,344

-

(1,628)

-

(525)

(4,881)

-

Net Cost.
of Services.

-

-

-

-

(1,897)

-

-

(658)
(18,635)



Wollongong City Council

Special Schedule No. 2(a) - Statement of Long Term Debt (all purpose)
 for the financial year ended 30 June 2013

$'000

Notes: Excludes (i) Internal Loans & (ii) Principal Inflows/Outflows relating to Loan Re-Financing.

           This Schedule is prepared using the face value of debt obligations, rather than fair value (which are reported in the GPFS).page 4

Total Long Term Debt 140         140         

Total Debt

-              

22,780    

140         

20,000    3,318      -              

-              
Deferred Payments

-              
-              

2,900      

-              

19,880    

-              -              -              -              
-              

-              -              

2,760      

-              -              -              

39,462    

-              -              -              

36,702    

-              

336         -              

-              

140         
Government Advances -              
Finance Leases -              

-              
-              -              140         
-              

-              
-              

140         
-              -              -              

2,760      19,880    Total Loans
-              

22,640    
Other

-             -              -              
Other Long Term Debt
Ratepayers Advances -              -              -              

-              -              

-              
-              

20,000    

-              

-              3,178      
-              -              -              

-              
-              -              -              -              

Treasury Corporation
3,178      

-              

-              -              

Public Subscription -              -              

-              -              -              
20,000    

-              
-              

Financial Institutions -              -              -              

-              -              
336         Other State Government 2,760      19,880    22,640    

-              -              
-              

S
pecial S

chedules 2013

Transfers
to Sinking 

Funds

Principal outstanding
Interest

applicable
for Year Total

Non
Current

at the end of the year

-              

-              

36,702    
-              -              

-              

-              -              -              -              

39,462    

39,462    
-              

-              -              -              
-              

-              

-              -              -              

-              -              -              

Debt redemption 
during the year

From
Revenue

Sinking
Funds

-              

2,760      
-              -              

336         
-              
-              

-              

36,702    
-              

2,760      

-              

-              

-              

Principal outstanding New
Loans
raised
during

the year

at beginning of the year

Classification of Debt
Current

Non
Current

Total

Loans (by Source)
Commonwealth Government

Current

-              -              -              -              -              -              -              



Wollongong City Council

Special Schedule No. 7 - Condition of Public Works
 as at 30 June 2013

$'000

19,255    

765         32,548     
32,548     765         495,158     827,019     2,769      

722         431         
616,503     85,041     

3             
218,040     

169,014      
38,626        51,561       

3             

127,830     1,588      1,495      

5,971      301,743      

standard (1)

4,200      

225,157     

66,998     

22,330     

3,709      -            

2,920       
8,927      

20,843     

Other Transport Assets
11,463     

938,809      25,433    

2,183      

6,934      

Transport Road & Road Related Assets

AnnualAmount
(WDV)

Current(3)

Maintenance

<<<<<<<<<<<< per Note 9 >>>>>>>>>>>>

Required(2)

Estimated

Carrying
Accum.

Depreciation
Amortisation
& Impairment

bring up to a

Condition#.
condition / 

satisfactory

301,743      
-            

56,143       

297,038     

46,362       

Valuation Maintenance

Asset

cost to

Annual

15,680    598,781     
per Note 1

(%)
Rate

per Note 4

($)

Other Assets Recreation & Other

Dep'n

Buildings Buildings 1-10%

15,680    

1-10% 3,709      

598,781     

Expense

Asset Category
Cost

sub total

Dep'n.

ASSET CLASS

sub total& Structures 81,468        
127,830     81,468        46,362       

290,759     

1-3%

1,653,881   1,455,061

Stormwater 1-5% 8,818      
sub total 8,818      

TOTAL - ALL ASSETS

827,019     
331,861      

13,394    

3             

160,7623,108,942

495,158     331,861      

53,640    -            

-            
Stormwater

1-10% 6,539      474,842     256,802      

3             3,660       1,007      

1,495      3             20,843     1,588      

5,015      3             

2,769      

1,089      90,187       
1-5% 13,703    765,126     474,367      

1,002      4,102      
73           Bridges, Boardwalk & Jetties

5,428      
1-10%

1,555,312-            

Footpaths & Cycleways

page 5
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297,038     3             22,330     5,971      4,200      

sub total



Wollongong City Council

Special Schedule No. 7 - Condition of Public Works
 as at 30 June 2013

Notes:

(1) Cost to bring up to satisfactory standard' refers to estimated cost to replace the nominated percentage of each asset type which is deemed to be below satisfactory standard.  Satifactory standard

is generally defined as condition 1 - 4 (see Asset Condition Definitions) however, service levels identified in Council's Draft Asset Management Plans have been used where available.   The cost 

estimates are based on adopted valuation methodologies, and do not generally include the cost of enhancements/upgrades to existing assets. The nominated percentage of each asset type below

satisfactory standard is detailed under Condition of Public Works in the Annual Report.

(2) Required Annual Maintenance is what should be spent to maintain assets in a satisfactory standard and to ensure that the estimated remaining life of the asset is achieved.

(3) Current Annual Maintenance is what has been spent in the current year to maintain assets. It does not include operational costs (eg. energy or water supply, cleaning, administration staff) or capital

replacement costs.

(4) Asset class groupings have been modified from previous years.  Below is a summary of asset types included in each group:

Buildings : Community Facilities, Cultural Facilities, Childcare Centres, Public Toilets, Exeloos, Grandstands, Surf Life Saving Clubs, Amenities, Office/Shops, Industrial, Residences, Cabins and Leisure Ce

Roads and Road Related Assets : Road seal, base, sub-base, kerb and gutter, guardrails and traffic facilities (roundabouts, speedhumps, medians etc)

Bridge, Boardwalks and Jetties : Road Bridges, Pedestrian Bridges, Boardwalks and Jetties

Footpaths and Cycleways : Footpaths and cycleways (excluding off road footpaths in parks)

Other Transport Assets : Carparks, Boatramps, Bus Shelters, Retaining Walls and roadside furniture (fences, signage and bollards)

Stormwater : Pits, Pipes, Headwalls, Culverts and Riparian Assets

Recreation : Pools, Playgrounds, Sport Courts, Park Furniture, Picnic Shelters and Landscaping

Other : Waste Facilities and Off-road Footpaths

Condition of Public Assets

In assessing the condition of Public Assets, Council has considered the existing condition and function of each asset. The results shown for the condition of assets within each
category are an average. Therefore, significant numbers of assets in each category are above and below the average result. Council recognise that the ratings scale used (as 
outlined below) may be different from those used by other Councils, but has been based on the rating scale in the International Infrastructure Management Manual.

Asset Condition Definitions #

Rating Status Definitions

Excellent 91 -100% of asset life remaining. Asset is near new and in excellent condition and fit for current usage.
Good 61-90% of asset life remaining. Asset is in good condition and fit for current usage.
Fair 41-60% of asset life remaining. Asset is in fair condition and fit for current usage.
Adequate 11-40% of asset life remaining. Asset is an adequate condition and maintenance requirements are increasing to keep the asset fit for current usage. 
Poor 0-10% of asst life remaining. Asset is in poor condition and due to be replaced. Significant maintenance required to keep the asset fit for current usage.

S
pecial S

chedules 2013

1
2
3
4
5

page 6



Wollongong City Council

Special Schedule No. 8 - Financial Projections
 as at 30 June 2013

$'000

(i) OPERATING BUDGET
Income from continuing operations
Expenses from continuing operations

Operating Result from Continuing Operations

(ii) CAPITAL BUDGET
New Capital Works (2)

Replacement/Refurbishment of Existing Assets
Total Capital Budget

Funded by:
– Loans
– Asset sales
– Reserves
– Grants/Contributions
– Recurrent revenue
– Other

Notes:

(1) From 12/13 Income Statement.

(2) New Capital Works are major non-recurrent projects, eg new Leisure Centre, new Library, new Swimming pool etc.

(3) Financial projections should be in accordance with Council’s Integrated Planning and Reporting framework. 

NO DATA NO DATA

21/22

302,463 

306,699 

(4,236)

7,538    
46,527

-            

Actual(1)

54,065

1,809    

9,671    
51,861

-            
64,98061,932

9,671    
48,813

-            

Forecast(3)

22/23

311,279 

314,706 

(3,427)

7,958    
48,590
56,548

-            

Forecast(3)

-            -            
1,809    
1,639    1,639    

Forecast(3)

20/21

293,562 

298,421 

(4,859)

20,442

Forecast(3)

19/20

284,994 

289,200 

(4,206)

20,075
41,857
61,932

44,538
64,980

572       
1,427    
9,832    

43,882
-            

-            

55,713

Forecast(3)

18/19

275,488 

280,979 

(5,491)

19,648
39,055
58,703

-            
1,809    
1,549    
9,761    

45,584
-            

58,703

Forecast(3)

17/18

266,330 

272,530 

(6,200)

18,178
37,535
55,713

57,77579,990  73,401
-            

77,629  65,258
26,045  -            -            -            

11,859
41,126

10,636  10,690
13,4097,968    

33,710  40,179
15,326

40,330  40,362

15,859
9,679    

24,536
1,322    1,808    

40,312  30,839

-            

57,775

-            

65,258

3,468    

79,990  73,401  77,629

-            -            
2,073    

-            
1,631    2,037    

26,936

263,364 239,224

249,675 

28,578

(4,357)  (3,767)

265,632 

(5,765)

256,542 
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16/17
Forecast(3)Forecast(3)

15/16

250,777 245,967 261,865

12/13
Forecast(3)

14/1513/14
Forecast(3)

33,809  45,951  49,051

238,225 243,581

25,139  (3,708)

46,181  27,450  24,946
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4.3.2 Traffic Management Plan 
4.3.1 Overview  
This Traffic Management Plan for the main PKC stack demolition event has been prepared by Traffic 
Management Services and the Fifith Estate. The plan sets out the way in which traffic will be managed 
before, during and after the stack demolition. 

The objective of the plan is to minimize the impact of the stack demolition on the local community whilst 
ensuring the safe demolition of the stack during the time the Exclusion Zone is in force. 

It relates to condition 16 of the Project Approval, specifically for the stack demolition event, which sets out: 

16. The Traffic Management Plan must:  

(a) Describe the traffic volumes and movements to occur during demolition;  

(b) Detail the proposed measures to minimise the impact of demolition traffic on the surrounding 
network, including route selection, driver behaviour and vehicle maintenance;  

(c) Include measures to manage pedestrian safety and movement;  

(d) Outline proposed ingess and egress points;  

(e) Outline any proposed road closures and detour options during the demolition;  

(f) Details of a truck and equipment washing area and how this would be managed; and  

(g) Detail the procedures to be implemented in the event of a complaint from the public regarding 
demolition traffic. 

4.3.2 Traffic volumes and movements 
The stack demolition event will not create any additional traffic movements. There is minimal equipment 
related to the stack demolition, with the small quantity of explosives pre-loaded prior to the day of demolition.  

After the demolition, the rubble will be tested and, if it meets the relevant regulations, crushed for reuse as fill 
on site. It is estimated that of the approximately 10,000 tonnes of total mass in the stack, none will be 
removed for disposal. 

4.3.3 Reduction of Impact 

There are not considered to be any network impacts due to the stack demolition because no additional truck 
movements will be generated.  

Network  

During the demolition event, nearby roads will be closed in order to establish the Exclusion Zone. Pedestrian 
access will be limited during this time. As soon as the roads are reopened, pedestrians will be able to access 
the area immediately. 

Pedestrians 

No other impact on pedestrians will occur as a result of the stack demolition. 

4.3.4 Contingency Planning 
Should the stack demolition not proceed as planned, the contingency measures outlined in the SDPTP 
(Precision Demolition 10 October 2013) will be followed.  



 

9 October 2013 
Report No. 087663019- R- Rev5   

 

 

4.3.5 Ingress and egress points 
During the Exclusion Zone being in force: No ingress or egress will be permitted. 

During normal demolition activities: The main site entry will remain the Military Road entrance. 

4.3.6 Road closures and detours 
The parts of roads which will fall within the Exclusion Zone will be temporarily closed. These will include: 

 Darcy Road south from the intersection of Old Port Road 

 Military Road between Old Port Road and First Avenue 

 Wentworth Street east of number 164 

 Allan Street north of Wentworth Street 

 Fitzwilliam Street north of Wentworth Lane 

 Church Street north of Wentworth Lane 

 Military Lane north of number 17 

 Third Avenue north of number 16 

 Second Avenue north of number 2 

 Reservoir Street north of number 17 

 Marne Street north of number 7 

 Electrolytic Street - all 

 Reservoir Street 

 Third Avenue 

 Church Street 

During the enforcement of the Exclusion Zone (ie while roads are closed) detours will be established to 
enable road users to utilise nearby roads to traverse the Exclusion Zone. The final figure in Appendix G 
shows the detour routes which will be indicated with signs during the Exclusion Zone. 

The Exclusion Zone will also necessitate the detour of the local bus service operated by Premier Illawarra. 
The bus operator has been contacted to advise that Route 43 will be disrupted for the duration of road 
closures. Once the date for the demolition has been set, the operator will be informed of the date and time of 
the disruption, and detours will be suggested in line with the detour plan in Appendix G." 

Appendix G contains additional detail and plans which will be used by the traffic contractor on the day. 

It is noted that the Traffic Management Plan described in the DMP (Golder, 16 December 2010) will be 
reinstated as soon as the Exclusion Zone is no longer in force. 

4.3.7 Management of Road Closures 
Two weeks prior to the demolition, virtual message boards will be established which will warn the public of 
the detours which will be in place during the enforcement of the Exclusion Zone. 
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 A website with information about the stack demolition (www.stackinfo.com.au) with a feedback form. 
The website will be updated to include contact names, numbers and postal details for PKC staff to allow 
the public to lodge enquiries or complaints. This information will also be displayed on boards and fences 
surrounding the site. It is noted that these contact details have already been provided to residents in the 
two letters sent advising of the stack demolition. 

Contact with members of the public is recorded and any follow up actions noted. PKC will respond to 
complaints within 48 hours. 

  

http://www.stackinfo.com.au/�
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APPENDIX G  
Traffic Management Information  
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Attachment 2. 

 

STANDARD CONDITIONS APPLYING TO SPECIAL EVENTS AND  
WORK-RELATED ACTIVITIES WITHIN COUNCIL ROAD RESERVES 

 

A road closure, following approval by the Traffic Committee, is subject to the following additional Council 
conditions: 

1 The applicant must apply to the Council’s Regulation and Enforcement Division in the ‘Integral Building’ 
situated at 81-83 Burelli Street, Wollongong, for a section 138 permit to occupy the road reserve. The 
application must include: 

a A copy of these conditions signed as accepted 
b A copy of a letter from the Traffic Committee authorising the closure 
c The TMP 
d The ROL (if required) 
e Police approval 
f Public liability insurance 

2 The applicant must obtain written approval from the NSW Police Service. 

3 The applicant must obtain an ROL (Road Occupancy Licence) from the Roads and Maritime Services if 
the closure is on a classified road or within 100m of any traffic control signals. 

4 The applicant must advise all affected residents and business owners within the closure area of the 
closure dates and time in writing, seven days prior to the intended date of works.  

5 The applicant must advise the Emergency Services (Ambulance, Fire Brigade, NSW Police), Taxi Co-op 
and Bus Companies of the closure dates and times in writing, seven days prior to the intended date of 
works. The applicant must endeavour to minimise the impact on bus services during the closure.  

6 The closure must be set up in accordance with a Traffic Management Plan (TMP) prepared by an 
appropriately qualified traffic control person.  A copy of the person’s qualifications must be detailed within 
the TMP.  

7 The TMP must be physically set-up by appropriately qualified traffic control persons or the NSW Police. 

8 Access for affected business owners and residents must be maintained where possible.  Where direct 
access cannot be achieved an alternative arrangement must be agreed to by both the applicant and 
affected person/s. 

9 The applicant must advertise the closure in the Public Notice section of the local newspaper, detailing the 
closure dates and times. This advertisement must appear no less than seven days prior to the closure. 

10 The applicant must provide Council with a copy of a current public liability insurance policy to a value no 
less than 10 million dollars which covers Wollongong City Council against any claims arising from the 
closure. 
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